
 

 
County Hall, New Road, Oxford, OX1 1ND 

www.oxfordshire.gov.uk  Fax: 01865 783195  Media Enquiries 01865 323870 
 

 
 
To: Members of the Planning & Regulation Committee 

 

Notice of a Meeting of the Planning & Regulation 
Committee 

 

Monday, 27 November 2017 at 2.00 pm 
 

Rooms 1&2 - County Hall, New Road, Oxford OX1 1ND 
 
 

 

Membership 
 

Chairman – Councillor Les Sibley 
Deputy Chairman - Councillor Jeannette Matelot 

 
Councillors 
 

Mrs Anda Fitzgerald-
O'Connor 

Mike Fox-Davies 
Stefan Gawrysiak 

Dr Kirsten Johnson 
 

Bob Johnston 
Mark Lygo 

Glynis Phillips 
G.A. Reynolds 

 

Judy Roberts 
Dan Sames 

Alan Thompson 
 

Notes: 
• Site visits are required for Item 6 (Fullamoor Farm) and 7 (New Barn Farm). These will 

be held on Friday 24 November. 
• Date of next meeting: 8 January 2018 
 

 
Peter G. Clark  
Chief Executive November 2017 
  
Committee Officer: Graham Warrington 

Tel: 07393 001211; E-Mail: 
graham.warrington@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
 

 

Members are asked to contact the case officers in advance of the committee meeting if 
they have any issues/questions of a technical nature on any agenda item. This will 
enable officers to carry out any necessary research and provide members with an 
informed response. 
 

Public Document Pack

http://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/


 

 

 

Declarations of Interest 
 
The duty to declare….. 
Under the Localism Act 2011 it is a criminal offence to 
(a) fail to register a disclosable pecuniary interest within 28 days of election or co-option (or re-

election or re-appointment), or 
(b) provide false or misleading information on registration, or 
(c) participate in discussion or voting in a meeting on a matter in which the member or co-opted 

member has a disclosable pecuniary interest. 

Whose Interests must be included? 
The Act provides that the interests which must be notified are those of a member or co-opted 
member of the authority, or 

 those of a spouse or civil partner of the member or co-opted member; 

 those of a person with whom the member or co-opted member is living as husband/wife 

 those of a person with whom the member or co-opted member is living as if they were civil 
partners. 

(in each case where the member or co-opted member is aware that the other person has the 
interest). 

What if I remember that I have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest during the Meeting?. 
The Code requires that, at a meeting, where a member or co-opted member has a disclosable 
interest (of which they are aware) in any matter being considered, they disclose that interest to 
the meeting. The Council will continue to include an appropriate item on agendas for all 
meetings, to facilitate this. 

Although not explicitly required by the legislation or by the code, it is recommended that in the 
interests of transparency and for the benefit of all in attendance at the meeting (including 
members of the public) the nature as well as the existence of the interest is disclosed. 

A member or co-opted member who has disclosed a pecuniary interest at a meeting must not 
participate (or participate further) in any discussion of the matter; and must not participate in any 
vote or further vote taken; and must withdraw from the room. 

Members are asked to continue to pay regard to the following provisions in the code that “You 
must serve only the public interest and must never improperly confer an advantage or 
disadvantage on any person including yourself” or “You must not place yourself in situations 
where your honesty and integrity may be questioned…..”. 

Please seek advice from the Monitoring Officer prior to the meeting should you have any doubt 
about your approach. 

List of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests: 
Employment (includes“any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit 
or gain”.), Sponsorship, Contracts, Land, Licences, Corporate Tenancies, Securities. 
 
For a full list of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and further Guidance on this matter please see 
the Guide to the New Code of Conduct and Register of Interests at Members’ conduct guidelines. 
http://intranet.oxfordshire.gov.uk/wps/wcm/connect/occ/Insite/Elected+members/ or contact 
Glenn Watson on 07776 997946 or glenn.watson@oxfordshire.gov.uk for a hard copy of the 
document.  

 
 

If you have any special requirements (such as a large print version of 
these papers or special access facilities) please contact the officer 
named on the front page, but please give as much notice as possible 
before the meeting. 

http://intranet.oxfordshire.gov.uk/wps/wcm/connect/occ/Insite/Elected+members/
mailto:glenn.watson@oxfordshire.gov.uk


 

 

 

AGENDA 
 
 

1. Apologies for Absence and Temporary Appointments  
 

2. Declarations of Interest - see guidance note opposite  
 

3. Minutes (Pages 1 - 4) 
 

 To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 16 October 2017 (PN3) and to receive 
information arising from them. 

 

4. Petitions and Public Address  
 

5. Chairman's Updates  
 

6. Proposed extraction of sand, gravel and clay including the creation 
of new access road, processing plant, offices with welfare 
accommodation, weighbridge and silt water lagoon system with site 
restoration to agriculture and nature conversation including lakes 
with recreational afteruses and the permanent diversion of footpath 
171/15 and creation of new footpaths on land at Fullamoor 
Plantation, Clifton Hampden, Abingdon, OX14 3DD - Application No. 
MW.0039/16 (Pages 5 - 118) 
 

 Report by the Director for Planning & Place (PN6). 
 
This is an application for extraction of 2.5 million tonnes of sand and gravel from an 
area north of the River Thames between Clifton Hampden and Culham, in South 
Oxfordshire. The land would be restored to a mixture of agriculture, lakes and mosaic 
wetland. No imported waste would be needed to achieve the proposed restoration. Clay 
would also be extracted for onsite engineering operations.  Permission is sought for a 
10 year period. There would also be a new plant site and a new access onto the A415. 
The site is currently in agricultural use.  
 
The application is being reported to this Committee as a large number of objections 
have been received, including from the local Parish Councils, South Oxfordshire District 
Council, the local County Councillor, Oxford Green Belt Network and CPRE. Over 500 
letters of objection from local residents were received during the initial consultation 
period.   
 
The Transport Development Control team has also objected to the application, as the 
development would have severe traffic impacts in terms of delays, safety and amenity. 
The Transport Strategy and Policy team has objected to the application on the basis of 
the potential conflict with the protection of a potential route for a new road and river 



- 2 - 
 

 

crossing.  
 
Other than the transport concerns the proposal is considered to generally  accord with 
development plan policies. Previous concerns regarding the landscape and visual 
impacts have been overcome by the provision of an improved landscape mitigation 
scheme. The proposal is not fully consistent with policy directing development to the 
areas of least flood risk.  However a site specific flood risk assessment has 
demonstrated that the development would not increase the risk of flooding.  
 
It is RECOMMENDED that Application MW.0039/16 (P16/S1192/CM) be refused 
planning permission for the following reasons: 
 
i) The additional vehicle movements arising from the development would 

lead to severe highways impacts contrary to paragraph 32 of the NPPF; 
would not maintain the safety of road users and the efficiency of the road 
network contrary to OMWCS policy C10 and would contribute to 
congestion, disruption and delays on the road network, contrary to LTP 
policy 02.  

 
ii) The additional vehicle movements arising from the development would 

worsen queuing at the local junctions leading to stationary vehicles with 
associated air emissions, causing unacceptable adverse impacts on 
environmental amenity, contrary to OMWCS policies C5 and C10.  

 
 
 
 

7. Proposed extraction of sand and gravel with associated processing 
plant, conveyors, office and weighbridge, parking areas. 
Construction of new access onto the A4130. Restoration to 
agriculture, incorporating two ponds, using imported inert materials 
on land at New Barn Farm, Cholsey, Nr Wallingford, Oxfordshire, 
OX10 9HA - Application No. MW.0094/16 (Pages 119 - 178) 
 

 Report by the Director for Planning & Place (PN7). 
 
This application is for the extraction of 2.5 million tonnes of sand and gravel at a new 
quarry between Cholsey and Wallingford in South Oxfordshire. The land would be 
restored to agriculture using imported inert infill material. The development would take 
18 years to complete extraction and a further two years to complete restoration.  A new 
plant site and access onto the A4130 is proposed. 
 
The application site is currently an open field in agricultural use.  
 
The application is being reported to committee because it is accompanied by an 
Environmental Statement and because objections have been received from the local 
Parish, Town and District Councils. 
 
South Oxfordshire District Council have objected on the grounds of prematurity. 
Concerns raised by the Parish and Town Councils include lack of need for the mineral, 



- 3 - 
 

 

working method, potential flooding and impacts on landscape, traffic and amenity. 
There is also an objection from the Chilterns Conservation Board.  
 
The report outlines the relevant planning policies along with the comments and 
recommendation of the Director for Planning and Place.  
 
The development accords with the Development Plan as a whole and with individual 
policies within it, as well as with the NPPF. It is considered to be sustainable 
development in terms of environmental, social and economic terms. The proposed 
development would beneficial in terms of contributing towards Oxfordshire’s supply of 
sharp sand and gravel and providing a high quality restoration. It is considered that 
potential impacts can be adequately addressed through planning condition and legal 
agreement. 
 
It is RECOMMENDED that subject to: 

 
(i) a Section 106 legal agreement to include matters set out in Annex 2; 
(ii) a routeing agreement to ensure that HGV movements associated with the 

new development accord with the County Council’s Lorry Routeing 
Strategy; and that 

(iii) that the Director for Planning and Place be authorised to refuse the 
application if the legal agreement referred to in (i) above is not completed 
within 10 weeks of the date of this meeting on the grounds that it would not 
comply with OMWCS policy M10 and the guidance set out in paragraph 118 
of the NPPF in that there would not be satisfactory provisions for the long 
term management of the restored site. 

 
application no. MW.0094/16 be approved subject to conditions to be determined 
by the Director for Planning and Place to include the matters set out in Annex 1 
to this report. 
 

8. Section 73 application to continue the operation of Dix Pit Recycled 
Aggregate Facility permitted by planning permission no. 
16/04166/CM (MW.0140/16) without complying with condition 6 
thereby allowing an increase in the maximum tonnage of waste 
material imported to site to 175,000 tonnes per annum at Sheehan 
Recycled Aggregates Plant, Dix Pit, Stanton Harcourt, Witney, OX29 
5BB - Application No. MW.0073/17 (Pages 179 - 192) 
 

 Report by the Director for Planning & Place (PN8). 
 
This application is for an increase in the amount of waste imported to the existing 
Recycled Aggregates Facility from 100,000 to 175,000 tonnes per calendar year 
through a variation of condition 6 of planning permission no. 16/04166/CM 
(MW.0140/16). No other changes to the existing conditions are proposed. 
 
The application is being reported to committee because concern had been expressed 
previously by the Local County Councillor with regard to compliance with the routeing 
agreement which will continue to apply should planning permission be granted to this 
application. 



- 4 - 
 

 

 
Objections have been received from three local residents on highway capacity, safety 
and amenity impact grounds. 
 
The report outlines the relevant planning policies along with the comments and 
recommendation of the Director for Planning and Place.  
 
The development accords with the Development Plan as a whole and with individual 
policies within it, as well as with the NPPF. It is considered to be sustainable 
development in terms of environmental, social and economic terms. The proposed 
development would beneficial in terms of contributing towards Oxfordshire’s supply of 
secondary aggregate. It is considered that potential impacts can be adequately 
addressed through planning conditions and the routeing agreement which prohibits 
HGVs associated with the site passing along the B4449 through Sutton during peak 
hours and which will continue to apply. 
 
The Committee is RECOMMENDED to approve Application MW.0073/13 subject to 
the existing conditions other than as may be amended should non-material 
amendment application no. MW.00889/17 be granted and to condition 6  reading 
as follows: 
 
No more than 175,000 tonnes of waste shall be imported to the site in any 
calendar year. Records of imports, sufficient to be monitored by the Waste 
Planning Authority shall be kept on site and made available to the Waste 
Planning Authority's officers on request. Separate records shall be kept on site of 
any topsoil or other soil materials imported solely for use in the restoration of the 
Controlled Reclamation Site permitted subject to planning permission no. 
MW.0141/16 (16/04159/CM). 
 
 

9. Demolition of an existing one and a half classroom prefabricated 
modular building and the installation of a two classroom 
prefabricated modular building, to include drainage and creation of 
fire appliance hard-standing access where the existing prefabricated 
modular building is located at Great Milton (C Of E) Primary School, 
High Street, Great Milton, Oxford, Oxfordshire, OX44 7NT - 
Application No. R3.0064/17 (Pages 193 - 202) 
 

 Report by the Director for Planning & Place (PN9). 
 
This is a planning application to provide 2 classrooms and associated toilets, cloak area 
and store rooms. The proposal would include the demolition of an existing prefabricated 
modular building, containing a single classroom and a withdrawal room, as it has 
reached the end of its economic life. The proposal would allow the admission number 
for the school to rise from 25 to 30. 
 
The proposal is in the Green Belt, and a case for very special circumstance has been 
made by the applicant. No objections have been received and the parish supports the 
proposal. The development is, by nature of being in the Green Belt, a major departure 
from the Development Plan, and Committee approval is therefore required is 



- 5 - 
 

 

permission is to be granted. 
 
It is RECOMMENDED that planning permission for application no. R3.0033/17 be 
approved subject to conditions to be determined by the Director of Planning and 
Place to include the following: 

 
I. Detailed compliance. 

II. Temporary period of 5 years. 
III. School Travel Plan to be submitted and approved within 6 months of the 

date of occupation of the building. The approved scheme to be 
implemented. 

IV. Prior to the first occupation of the development a scheme for the location of 
at least two bird boxes shall be submitted and approved. The approved 
scheme to be implemented. 

 

10. Relevant Development Plan & other Policies (Pages 203 - 232) 
 

 Paper by the Director for Planning & Place (PN10). 
 
The paper sets out policies in relation to Items 6, 7, 8 and 9 and should be regarded as 
an Annex to each report. 
 

  

Pre-Meeting Briefing 

There will be a pre-meeting briefing at County Hall on Monday at 12 midday for the 
Chairman, Deputy Chairman and Opposition Group Spokesman. 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

PLANNING & REGULATION COMMITTEE 
 
MINUTES of the meeting held on Monday, 16 October 2017 commencing at 2.00 pm 
and finishing at 2.20 pm. 
 
Present: 
 

 

Voting Members: Councillor Les Sibley – in the Chair 
 

 Councillor Jeannette Matelot (Deputy Chairman) 
Councillor Mrs Anda Fitzgerald-O'Connor 
Councillor Mike Fox-Davies 
Councillor Stefan Gawrysiak 
Councillor Bob Johnston 
Councillor Glynis Phillips 
Councillor G.A. Reynolds 
Councillor Judy Roberts 
Councillor Alan Thompson 
Councillor Lawrie Stratford (In place of Councillor Dan 
Sames) 
 

  
  
Officers: 
 

 

Whole of meeting G. Warrington & D. Mytton (Law & Governance); C. 
Kenneford, D. Periam, M.Thompson & C. Hodgkinson 
(Planning & Place) 

  
 

  
  

 
The Committee considered the matters, reports and recommendations contained or 
referred to in the agenda for the meeting, and decided as set out below.  Except as 
insofar as otherwise specified, the reasons for the decisions are contained in the 
agenda and reports, copies of which are attached to the signed Minutes. 
 

 
 

37/17 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND TEMPORARY APPOINTMENTS  
(Agenda No. 1) 

 
 

 
Apology for Absence 

 
Temporary Appointment 

 

 
Councillor Dan Sames 
Councillor Mark Lygo 

 
(Councillor Lawrie Stratford) 
(-) 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



PN3 

 

38/17 MINUTES  
(Agenda No. 3) 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 4 September were approved and signed. 
 

39/17 SHEEHAN RECYCLED AGGREGATES PLANT - DIX PIT  
(Agenda No. 6) 

 
Mr Periam gave an oral report regarding persistent breaches of a routeing agreement 
by Sheehans through Sutton village in response to an item requested by Councillor 
Mathew. The matter had arisen from an exchange of e-mails between Councillor 
Mathew and the agent for Sheehans with regard to a planning application which had 
now been received to vary a condition on the current planning permission for the site. 
As that application was yet to be determined members could not consider its merits of 
the application at this meeting and that his report was at this time for information but 
members were welcome to seek clarification. 
 
Outlining the provisions of the current routeing agreement he referred to a number of  
breaches which had taken place between 15 and 22 August and identified from the 
company’s own records based on tracking devices which were installed in each of the 
company’s own vehicles.The agent had also confirmed that there had been a couple 
of clear transgressions which had prompted Sheehan to issue a warning to the 
drivers concerned .The agent had given assurances that the company did take these 
issues very seriously and had introduced a new system to add on to their tracker 
system which would activate a computer generated email to the transport manager in 
real time within seconds of the rules being broken. Since that system had gone live 
no alerts have been received.  The agent had also suggested another check where 
local people were given the name of a Parish Councillor who would have an arranged 
link with the site’s management and be able to advise of any violation. That system 
worked well in other areas.  
 
Mr Periam confirmed that officers had not received any complaints direct from 
members of the public with regard to violations of the routeing agreement since early 
2016, but Councillor Mathew had advised that the routeing agreement continued to 
be breached. Therefore, he was proposing to arrange for county officers to carry out 
monitoring of the situation over the next three weeks. That would  involve two officers 
going out - one to record the registration details of any lorries passing along the 
B4449 through Sutton during the restricted times and the other near the site entrance 
to record the same information so that there would then be clear evidence as to 
whether any vehicle found to be breaching the agreement had visited the site. That 
needed to be done as there were lorries passing along the B4449 which were not 
associated with the site and so were not subject to the requirements of the routeing 
agreement. Any identified breaches identified would be drawn to the attention of 
Sheehan’s who would then be expected to check this against their own records and 
take any necessary action. The routeing agreement required that a driver for a main 
contractor or sub-contractor who breaches the agreement twice within a year be 
prohibited from the site. 
 

Page 2



PN3 

An update on the results of that monitoring would be given at the 27 November 
meeting.  
 
RESOLVED: that the report be noted. 
 

40/17 UPDATE TO LOCAL LIST OF INFORMATION REQUIREMENTS FOR 
VALIDATION OF PLANNING AND RELATED APPLICATIONS.  
(Agenda No. 7) 

 
The Committee considered (PN7) an update of the Local List of Information 
Requirements for the validation of planning and related applications. Updating the list 
every two years was a statutory requirement and as the last publication had been in 
January 2016 the reviewed list was due for republication by January 2018 after a new 
period of consultation. 
 
Page 56 – Councillor Johnston expressed some concern regarding the adequacy of 
after-care and restoration schemes and asked that every effort be made to ensure 
conditions were enforceable. 
 
Page 11 – Responding to Councillor Phillips Mary Thompson confirmed that pre-
application discussions were always carried out “without prejudice” for example 
highlighting instances where applications clearly did not accord with agreed policy but 
needed to. 
 
Councillor Stratford expressed some reservations regarding the robustness of 
restoration schemes. He aslo considered that the section on drainage needed to be 
given greater prominence. 
 
Page 40 - Councillor Reynolds expressed some scepticism regarding the accuracy 
and worth of photomontages and as an example of that cited those which had been 
prepared for the Ardley energy from waste plant. 
 
Councillor Stratford echoed those comments adding that a lot of information supplied 
with regard to that particular facility could be construed as misleading and the County 
Council needed to be more rigorous in its planning deliberations. 
 
Page 27 – Councillor Fox-Davies raised some concern at the lack of information in 
the Surface Water Drainage section of the report which he felt needed greater clarity 
regarding what the guidelines were. 
 
RESOLVED: (on a motion by the Chairman, seconded by Councillor Johnston and 
carried nem con) that: 
 
(a) the draft revised Local List of Information Requirements as set out at Annex 1 

to this report be subject to a three week period of public consultation;  
 
(b)   if after that period and following further consultation with the Chairman and 

Deputy Chairman of the Planning & Regulation Committee, it was considered 
that no significant changes were required to the draft revised Local List of 

Page 3



PN3 

Information Requirements then the Director for Planning and Place be 
authorised to adopt and publish that list;  

 
(c)  if, however, after that period and following further consultation with the 

Chairman and Deputy Chairman of the Planning & Regulation Committee, it 
was considered that significant changes were required to the draft revised 
Local List of Information Requirements, the matter be reported back to the 
Planning and Regulation Committee for further consideration.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 in the Chair 

  
Date of signing   

 
 
 
 

Page 4



PN6 
 

  
For: PLANNING AND REGULATION COMMITTEE – 27 NOVEMBER 2017 
 
By: DIRECTOR FOR PLANNING AND PLACE 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Division Affected:  Berinsfield and Garsington 

 
Contact Officer:  Mary Thompson  Tel: 07393 001 257 
 
Location:  Land at Fullamoor Plantation, Clifton Hampden, 

Abingdon, OX14 3DD 
 
Application No:  MW.0039/16   P16/S1192/CM 
     
District Council Area:  South Oxfordshire 
 
Applicant:   Hills Quarry Products Ltd   
 
Application Received: 23 March 2016 
 
Consultation Periods: 7 April – 13 May 2016 
    26 January – 16 February 2017 
    13 July – 3 August 2017 
    12 October – 2 November 2017 
 
Contents 
Part 1- Facts and Background 
Part 2 – Other Viewpoints 
Part 3 – Relevant Planning Documents  
Part 4 – Assessment and Conclusions 
 
 
 
Recommendation: The report recommends that application MW.0039/16 be 
refused  

Development Proposed: 
 

The extraction of sand, gravel and clay, creation of a new access, 

processing plant, offices with welfare accommodation, weighbridge and 

silt water lagoon system with site restoration to agriculture and nature 

conservation including lakes with recreational afteruses and the 

permanent diversion of footpath 171/15 and creation of new footpaths 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



PN6 
 

PART 1- FACTS AND BACKGROUND 
 
Location (see Plan 1) 

 
1. The application site is located in the south of the county, between the 

A415 and the River Thames, to the west of Clifton Hampden and the 
east of Culham railway station.  The site lies approximately 4 km south 
east of Abingdon and 4km west of Dorchester.   

 
Site and Setting (see Plan 2) 
 
2. The application site area is approximately 104 hectares in area and lies 

47-49 metres above ordnance datum (AOD).  
 
3. The site lies within the Oxford Green Belt.  
 
4. To the west of the site boundary lies agricultural land containing an early 

Bronze Age Barrow cemetery which is a Scheduled Monument (SM) and 
beyond that the Oxford to Didcot railway line. The River Thames forms 
the southern boundary of the western part of the site. To the east and 
south east the site is surrounded by agricultural land. The A415 and 
residential properties along it lie to the north. The application area does 
not extend as far north as the A415, except to allow a new access onto 
that road. The road and properties are situated at the top of a slope 
overlooking the application area, which lies approximately 10 metres 
lower.  

 
5. The closest properties include Fullamoor Farm, South Cottage, Warren 

Farm cottage to the north, Lock Cottage and Home Farm to the East, 
Meadow House and Manor Farm in Appleford to the south and Zouch 
Farm to the West. Warren Farm Cottage is the closest, at 30 metres 
north of the northern application area boundary near the north east 
corner. The second closest is Fullamoor Farmhouse, 140 metres north 
of the northern application area boundary near the north west corner. 
There is also a property immediately opposite the proposed new access 
onto the A415, which is set back 60 metres from the road.  

 
6. The River Thames lies immediately to the south of the application site.  
 
7. The application area includes land in flood zone 2 and flood zone 3, 

including land in zone 3b, the functional floodplain. The southern part of 
the site towards the river contains the land in zone 3. Small areas within 
the site are in zone 1, the area of least risk. The Flood Risk Assessment 
states that, according to the model used,  20% of the site is in FZ1, 24% 
in FZ 2 and 56% in FZ 3. This compares to 5% in FZ1, 42% in FZ 2 and 
53% in FZ 3 according to the Environment Agency definition.  

 
 

 

Page 6



PN6 
 

8. The site comprises agricultural land classified as grades 2, 3a and 3b. 
Grades 1, 2 and 3a are defined as ‘best and most versatile agricultural 
land’ and the application states that 62.5 hectares of the site are best 
and most versatile land. The site also contains some areas of trees, two 
tracks, a drain and a number of hedgerows.  

 
9. The closest SSSI is Little Wittenham, 2.4 kilometres to the south east of 

the application site. This is also designated as a Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC). Culham Brake SSSI lies 2.8 kilometres to the north 
west.  

 
10. Nuneham Park lies 1.3 kilometres to the north of the application site, 

beyond Culham Science Centre. This is a grade 1 registered 18th century 
landscape park surrounding a country house. It covers 480 hectares.  

 
11. The villages of Clifton Hampden and Long Wittenham are designated 

Conservation Areas and each contains a number of listed buildings, the 
closest being grade II listed Lower Town Farmhouse and associated 
barn and granary at the west end of Clifton Hampden High Street 
approximately 220 metres from the north eastern application boundary. 
Culham station overbridge and ticket office 480 metres west of the 
application boundary are also| listed (grade II and II* respectively.) 
Appleford also contains a number of listed buildings, but does not have a 
conservation area.  

 
12. Public footpath 171/15 crosses the site from the north east to the south, 

connecting with the Thames Path. This would need to be diverted. There 
are no other rights of way within the site, but the Thames Path national 
trail runs along the north bank of the Thames immediately to the south.  

 
13. The site is located approximately 11 km (7 miles) from RAF Benson, and 

it is therefore within the statutory safeguarding zone for managing bird 
strike risk.  

 
14. The site is not within an AONB, however, the boundary of the North 

Wessex Downs AONB lies approximately 1.5 kilometres to the south 
east, at Little Wittenham.  Wittenham Clumps lies approximately 3 km 
south east of the site.  

 
15. The site is currently agricultural land and there are no other gravel 

workings in the immediate vicinity. The closest existing quarry is Bridge 
Farm, Appleford, which lies to the south west on the other side of the 
railway line and River Thames.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



PN6 
 

Details of Proposed Development  
 
Mineral Extraction 
 
16. It is proposed to extract 2.5 million tonnes of sand and gravel over a ten 

year period, with an average annual extraction rate of 250 000 tonnes. 
The proposed extraction area covers 76 hectares and would be worked 
in ten phases, each taking between 6 and 18 months to work. The site 
would be progressively restored as working was completed in each 
phase. Clay would be extracted along with the sand and gravel and used 
for onsite engineering works and would not be sold or transported off 
site. Phases would be worked in numerical order starting in the north 
west of the site and then progressing south and east around the plant 
site. The mineral under the plant site would be worked last.  

 
17. The sand and gravel deposit is anticipated to be up to 4 metres deep, 

with Gault Clay lying beneath to be worked to provide an engineering 
material for sealing the sides of the excavations and restoration.   

 
18. The remaining 28 hectares of the site area which would not be subject to 

extraction would be used for access, soil storage, landscaping and other 
operational uses.     

 
19. 44 hectares of best and most versatile agricultural land would be 

disturbed and there would be an overall net loss of 15 hectares of best 
and most versatile agricultural land. 

 
20. The working area would be dewatered by pumping the groundwater, to 

allow the mineral to be extracted dry, maximising recovery. Water would 
be pumped to settlement ponds in the centre of the site and then 
discharged to the adjacent ditch.  

 
21. Soils and overburden would be stripped to expose the mineral and sand 

and gravel would then be dug using a mechanical shovel and 
transported to the plant site using a conveyor. Soil and overburden 
would be stored in noise and visual attenuation bunds up to 10 metres 
high. 

 
22. Upon arrival at the plant site, extracted mineral would undergo initial 

screening at the head of the conveyor and then be processed through 
the wash plant to grade it into various sizes. It would then be stored in 
stocking areas before being exported by road.  

 
23. It is proposed that there would be a 25 metre buffer between the quarry 

workings and the River Thames.  
 
Minerals Processing Plant 
 
24. The sand and gravel processing plant would be located in the central 

north part of the site closest to the access road.   

Page 8



PN6 
 

 
25. The plant site would also include offices, welfare accommodation, and a 

weighbridge. There would be external lighting in this area, operational 
when necessary during working hours. 

 
26. There would be a system of silt lagoons in two silt management areas to 

settle out the particles removed from the mineral in the processing.  A 
clean water pond would also be required to feed the processing plant.  

 
27. There would be parking spaces for 20 cars, 10 HGVs and 6 bicycles. 

The plant site would be surrounded in soil bunds between 5 and 10 
metres high. There would be a 10 metre bund along the western plant 
site boundary, an 8 metre bund north of the silt lagoons, and 7 metre 
bunds to the east of the track running south east from the plant site, 
along which a diverted footpath would run. The bunds along the footpath 
would have gaps with straw bale acoustic barriers behind. The access 
road would have 2 metre high bunds on either side. There would also be 
5m and 7m bunds on the northern plant site boundary, a 7m high bund 
in the north east corner and 5 and 7m high bunds on the plant site 
eastern boundary.  

 
28. The development would create 5 jobs at the quarry and 10 driving jobs, 

for the duration of the development.  
 
29. The processing plant would comprise a series of conveyors and screens. 

The sand and gravel would be screened into different sizes and washed 
using water to produce a variety of products for sale. The processing 
plant would be up to 7.5 metres high, up to 40 metres wide and 130 
metres long.  

 
30. It is proposed to raise land in the area where the access road and site 

office would be located, in order to bring them out of predicted peak 
flood levels. The plant and stockyard would be surrounded by bunds to 
mitigate noise impacts and these would be staggered with gaps between 
them to allow flood waters to flow.  

 
31. The application originally included a concrete plant within the plant site, 

but the application was amended to remove this element of the 
proposals.  

 
Flood compensation 

 
32. An area in the north east corner of the site is identified for compensatory 

flood storage. This would involve the removal of soil over a 1.8 ha area 
to a maximum depth of 1.5m in order to level the area to 48m AOD.  

 
Vegetation Removal and Landscaping  

 
33. Sandy Bury vegetation strip would be removed to allow for mineral 

working. However, Grasshill Covert in the northern part of the site and 

Page 9



PN6 
 

an unnamed wooded area in the south east of the site would be 
retained. The Environmental Statement identifies 43 trees and tree 
groups that would be removed.  

 
34. There would be landscaping works to screen the development from the 

surrounding area. The landscaping works proposed include a quick 
growing tree belt on the eastern boundary and on the northern boundary 
between the site and the residential properties at Fullamoor Farm and 
Barns, gapping up the existing hedge to the west of the application site, 
a hedge along the length of the southern boundary which would screen 
the Thames Path from the workings,  a new hedge along the concrete 
track with the re-routed footpath, improved planting around the site 
access and a tree belt and hedge along sections of the concrete track on 
the  western boundary.  

 
Restoration and Afteruse 
 
35. The quarry void would be restored using materials from within the 

site. It is not proposed to import inert waste to achieve the proposed 
restoration. It is anticipated that restoration would be complete eleven 
years after the commencement of extraction.  

 
36. The north western and north eastern parts of the site would be 

restored to agriculture. There would be a large lake to the south, which 
would be used for a quiet recreational use such as fishing or sailing. 
There would be a smaller wildlife lake surrounded by reed marsh and 
lowland meadow in the central/eastern part of the site. The silt ponds 
would be allowed to revegetate and develop into reed marsh and then 
wet woodland. The restoration would incorporate additional woodland 
planting. The applicant has offered long term (20 years) management of 
the part of the site to be restored to nature conservation.  

 
37. Restoration would include woodland planting to replace vegetation 

removed during the operational phases. The area of woodland and 
length of hedgerows would increase by the completion of restoration 
compared to the current situation.  

 
38. A bird management plan is proposed to minimise bird strike hazard 

from the water bodies left by the restoration.  
 
39. There were some minor changes to the restoration plan following 

comments made during consultation. These changes included amended 
restoration contours in the eastern agricultural area, additional planting 
and minor changes to the shape of the lake.  

 
Rights of Way 

 
40. It is proposed to permanently divert the existing footpath 171/15 along an 

alternative route to the east of the workings to avoid the proposed area 

Page 10



PN6 
 

of mineral extraction. No diversion would be needed to the Thames Path, 
which runs along the edge of the site.  

 
41. New footpath routes would be created as part of the restoration. It is also 

proposed to provide an interpretation board as part of the restoration, 
including around the new lake with access from the Thames Path and 
from Clifton Hampden village. This would be located on the north 
westerly point of the footpath around the southern lake near to the SM. It 
would provide information about the archaeology of the area.  

 
Traffic and Access 
 
42. It is proposed to create a new access from the A415 and a 250m long 

internal road between the access and the plant site. This would have 
space for two vehicles to pass for the first 50 metres and then reduce to 
single track with passing places.  

 
43. The development would typically generate 95 vehicle movements per 

day. The Transport Assessment states that on average there would be 
an additional 4 HGV movements per hour through Abingdon and an 
additional 6 HGV movements per hour along the A415 to the east of the 
site. 

 
44. The applicant has proposed vehicle routeing to ensure that HGVs use 

only suitable routes. They have proposed that vehicles would turn either 
left or right out of the site onto the A415. Other suitable roads would be 
the A34, the A4074 and the A4183. The routeing would therefore ensure 
that construction traffic and HGVs related to the quarry operation would 
not travel on local roads through villages, including Culham, Clifton 
Hampden and Long Wittenham. The B4015 would also be prohibited.  

 
Hours of Operation 

 
45. The proposed hours of operation are 07.00-18.00 Mondays to Fridays 

and 07.00-13.00 on Saturdays. There would be no operations on 
Sundays or on Bank or Public holidays. These hours would apply to the 
quarry, the plant and to vehicle movements.  

 
Highways Mitigation 

 
46. The applicant has proposed improvements to the footway alongside the 

A415 at its junction with High Street in Clifton Hampden. The proposals 
include reclaiming a stretch of the northern verge as footway, widening 
the southern verge from 0.8 metre to 2 metres, installation of bollards to 
provide protection from passing vehicles and relocation of existing road 
signs and telegraph poles to accommodate this. These mitigation works 
would be funded by the applicant.  

 
 

 

Page 11



PN6 
 

Environmental Impact Assessment 
 

47. The application is supported by an Environmental Impact Assessment 
(EIA) and an Environmental Statement (ES) was submitted with the 
application. This covers the range of potential environmental impacts of 
the proposal. A summary of the findings can be found in Annex 2.  

 
PART 2 – OTHER VIEWPOINTS 

 
48. There were four periods of public consultation. The application was 

originally consulted on in April and May 2016. This resulted in a number 
of requests for further information which was submitted and consulted 
on.  

 
49. Amendments made to the application when the further information was 

submitted included minor changes to the plans showing the development 
stages and the restoration plan. Most of the further information 
compromised amended chapters for the Environmental Statement.  

 
50. The full text of the consultation responses can be seen on the eplanning 

website1, using the reference MW.0039/16. These are also summarised 
in Annex 3 to this report. 

 
51. The application is being reported to this Committee as objections have 

been received from a number of Parish and Town Councils, South 
Oxfordshire District Council, the local County Councillor, a local objector 
group, Oxford Green Belt Network, CPRE, Transport Development 
Control and the Transport Strategy and Policy team. 

 
52. A total of 580 third party representations were received during the first 

round of consultation, these are summarised in Annex 4. 273 
representations were received during the second round of consultation, 
primarily from people who had already objected who wished to reiterate 
their concerns. 128 representations were received during the third 
consultation. Objectors had been advised that their original comments 
would be taken into account and they only needed to write again if they 
had specific comments on the new information that was being consulted 
on.  

 
53. The main concerns raised in representations were the impact on the 

countryside and historic environment, traffic, that the mineral provided is 
not necessary, flooding, amenity, inappropriate restoration, inadequate 
engagement with local communities, Green Belt and impact on ecology.  

 
54. In addition to comments made by local residents, objections were 

received from local businesses including UKAEA at Culham Science 
Centre, these are also summarised in Annex 4. Representations were 

                                            
1
 http://myeplanning2.oxfordshire.gov.uk/swiftlg/apas/run/Wphappcriteria.display 

 

Page 12

http://myeplanning2.oxfordshire.gov.uk/swiftlg/apas/run/Wphappcriteria.display


PN6 
 

also received from John Howell MP for Henley, in which area the 
application site lies, and also from Ed Vaizey MP for Didcot and 
Wantage, which covers the villages of Long Wittenham and Appleford 
immediately adjacent to the site but on the other side of the Thames. 
Nicola Blackwood MP for Oxford West and Abingdon also wrote to 
forward a number of objection letters which had been sent to her. Simon 
Hoare MP for North Dorset also forwarded a letter sent to him.  

 
PART 3 – RELEVANT PLANNING DOCUMENTS 

 
Relevant planning documents and legislation (see Policy Annex to 
the committee papers) 

 
55. In accordance with Section 70 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990, planning applications must be decided in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

 
Development Plan Documents 

  
56. The Development Plan for this area comprises: 
 

 Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 
(OMWCS) 

 Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan 1996 (saved policies) 
(OMWLP) 

 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (saved policies) (SOLP) 

 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (adopted 2012) (SOCS) 
 

57. The OMWCS was adopted in September 2017 and covers the period to 
2031. The Core Strategy sets out the strategic and core policies for 
minerals and waste development, including a suite of development 
management policies.  It is anticipated that Part 2 of the Plan will include 
Site Allocations and any further development management policies that 
may be necessary in relation to the allocated sites.  

 
58. The OMWLP was adopted in July 1996 and covered the period to 2006. 

46 policies within the OMWLP were ‘saved’ until the adoption of the 
OMWCS and 16 of these policies continue to be saved until the Part 2 
Site Specific document is adopted. The saved policies are non-strategic 
site-related policies and none of them apply to the area proposed in this 
planning application. Therefore, they are not relevant to the 
determination of this planning application.  

 
Other Policy Documents  

 
59. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is a material 

consideration in taking planning decisions. Relevant sections include 
those on facilitating the sustainable use of minerals, meeting the 
challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change, conserving 
and enhancing the natural environment. 

Page 13



PN6 
 

 
60. The National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) contains specific advice 

on matters including flood risk, minerals, conserving and enhancing the 
historic environment, determining a planning application and natural 
environment. 

 
61. Clifton Hampden and Burcot has been designated as a neighbourhood 

area by South Oxfordshire District Council and Clifton Hampden Parish 
Council is in the process of developing a Neighbourhood Plan. The area 
identified includes the application site and once approved the 
Neighbourhood Plan would form part of the development plan for the 
area.  Clifton Hampden and Burcot have a Village Plan. This is not part 
of the development plan.  

 
62. The publication version of the emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 

2011-2033 (SOLP 2033) was published on the 11th October 2017. 
Following the publicity period it will be submitted to the Secretary of 
State after which there would be an Examination in Public with a view to 
adoption in summer 2018. Therefore, this emerging plan is a material 
consideration and its policies should be given the appropriate weight. 
Therefore, this emerging plan is a material consideration, although as it 
is not yet adopted its policies should be given limited weight. 

 
63. Connecting Oxfordshire: Local Transport Plan 2015 – 2031(LTP) sets 

out Oxfordshire County Council’s policy and strategy for developing the 
transport system in Oxfordshire to 2031 and is a material consideration.  

 
Relevant Development Plan Policies 
 

• OMWCS:  
 

M2 – Provision for working aggregate minerals 
M3 – Principal locations for working aggregate minerals 
M5 – Working of aggregate minerals 
M10 – Restoration of mineral workings  
C1 – Sustainable development 
C2 – Climate Change 
C3 – Flooding  
C4 – Water environment 
C5 – Local environment, amenity and economy 
C6 – Agricultural land and soils  
C7 – Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
C8 – Landscape 
C9 – Historic environment and archaeology 
C10 – Transport 
C11 – Rights of way 
C12 – Green Belt 

 
• The saved policies of the SOLP 2011:  

 

Page 14



PN6 
 

G2 – Protection and enhancement of the environment 
GB4 – Visual Amenity in the Green Belt 
C3 – The River Thames and its valley 
C6 – Biodiversity conservation 
C9 – Landscape features  
CON5 – The setting of listed buildings 
CON7 – Conservation areas 
EP1 – Pollution prevention 
EP2 – Noise and vibrations 
EP3 – Light pollution 
EP6 – Surface water protection 
EP7 – Groundwater protection 
R8 – Public rights of way 
 
•SOCS 
 
CSEN1 – Protection of landscape character 
CSEN2 – Green Belt 
CSEN3 – Historic Environment 
CSB1 – Biodiversity 
CSG1 – Green Infrastructure 
CS1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
 
Relevant Emerging Plan Policies 
 
•South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011-2033 – Final Publication Version 
(SOLP 2033) 
 
TRANS3 – Safeguarding land for strategic transport schemes 
 

 
PART 4 – ASSESSMENT AND CONCLUSIONS 
 
Comments of the Director for Planning and Place 
 
64. The NPPF sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable development 

(paragraph 14), which is supported by policy C1 of the OMWCS and 
CS1 of the SOCS. This means taking a positive approach to 
development and approving an application which accords with the 
development plan without delay, unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. 

 
65. All planning applications must be determined in accordance with the 

Development Plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise, in 
accordance with the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. The key 
planning policies are set out above and discussed below in accordance 
with the key planning issues. 

 
66. The key planning issues are:  

i) Prematurity 

Page 15



PN6 
 

ii) Need for sand and gravel 
iii) Green Belt 
iv) Location 
v) Landscape 
vi) Visual impacts 
vii) AONB 
viii) Traffic 
ix) Rights of way 
x) Potential amenity impacts 
xi) Flood risk and water environment 
xii) Archaeology and historic environment 
xiii) Biodiversity 
xiv) Restoration 
xv) Soils and agriculture 
xvi) Socio- economic 
xvii) Cumulative impact 
 

Prematurity  
 
67. A number of representations have raised an objection to the application 

on the grounds of prematurity, stating that it pre-empts the Oxfordshire 
Minerals and Waste Local Plan. 

 
68. Most of the representations on this topic were received in response to 

earlier rounds of consultation. Prematurity is no longer an issue in 
relation to the Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan Part 1 – Core 
Strategy (OMWCS), which was adopted in September 2017, which was 
after the initial consultation periods but prior to the determination of this 
application.  

 
69. Paragraph 216 of the NPPF states that from the day of publication, 

decision-takers may also give weight to relevant policies in emerging 
plans.’ 

 
70. There is not yet a published draft of the Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste 

Local Plan Part 2, which will include specific sites. Therefore, it is not 
possible to give weight to any policies in that plan and prematurity is not 
a consideration in relation to the Part 2 plan at this stage.  

 
71. The NPPF sets out the presumption in favour of sustainable 

development and the NPPG provides guidance on the circumstances 
where it may be justifiable to refuse planning permission on the grounds 
of prematurity (paragraph 14): 

 
‘…arguments that an application is premature are unlikely to justify a refusal 

of planning permission other than where it is clear that the adverse 
impacts of granting permission would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, taking the policies in the Framework and any 
other material considerations into account. Such circumstances are 
likely, but not exclusively, to be limited to situations where both: 

Page 16



PN6 
 

 
a) the development proposed is so substantial, or its cumulative effect would 

be so significant, that to grant permission would undermine the plan-
making process by predetermining decisions about the scale, location or 
phasing of new development that are central to an emerging Local Plan 
or Neighbourhood Planning; and 

 
b) the emerging plan is at an advanced stage but is not yet formally part of the 

development plan for the area. 
 
72. Refusal of planning permission on grounds of prematurity will seldom be 

justified where a draft Local Plan has yet to be submitted for 
examination, or in the case of a Neighbourhood Plan, before the end of 
the local planning authority publicity period. Where planning permission 
is refused on grounds of prematurity, the local planning authority will 
need to indicate clearly how the grant of permission for the development 
concerned would prejudice the outcome of the plan-making process.’ 

 
73. With regard to part a) the OMWCS paragraph 4.19 identifies a need for 

approximately 5 million tonnes (Mt) of additional sand and gravel 
provision over the plan period). This has since increased to around 5.98 
Mt due to permitted reserves at Thrupp Farm Quarry no longer being 
included in the landbank. The 2.5 Mt of mineral proposed to be produced 
by this development would comprise almost 50% of this identified 
mineral need. Whilst it is considered that the development proposed is 
significant in relation to the provision currently identified within the 
OMWCS, it would not satisfy the entire assessed need. It would not 
prejudice the policies of the OMWCS and a policy concerning sharp 
sand and gravel will be required in any event. 

 
74. Further, it is not considered that part b) is met. The Part 1 plan is 

adopted and the Part 2 plan is not yet published in draft form.  
 
75. The Council sought Counsel’s advice on the concerns relating to 

prematurity. Having taken into account the legal advice as well as the 
NPPG, the NPPF, the ongoing need to plan for mineral extraction, and 
all of the representations concerning prematurity, I do not consider that 
this application would undermine the emerging local plan process in the 
circumstances, particularly in light of the very early stage of Part 2 of the 
Core Strategy, and that a refusal on prematurity grounds would not be 
justified. 

 
Need for the Mineral  

 
76. The NPPF contains a ‘presumption in favour of sustainable 

development,’ and Section 13 specifically promotes ‘facilitating the 
sustainable use of minerals’. It clearly sets out at paragraph 144 that 
when determining planning applications, local planning authorities 
should ‘give great weight to the benefits of mineral extraction, including 
to the economy’, which is one of the strands of sustainable development.  

Page 17



PN6 
 

 
77. Paragraph 142 of the NPPF states that ‘minerals are essential to support 

economic growth and our quality of life.’ The mineral industry plays a 
large part in the construction industry and is vital to support the current 
demand for new housing, schools, roads and major infrastructure 
projects.  

 
78. Paragraph 145 of the NPPF states that minerals planning authorities 

(MPAs) should plan for a steady and adequate supply of aggregates by, 
amongst other things: 

 

 Preparing an annual Local Aggregate Assessment (LAA); 

 Making provision for the land-won and other elements of their LAA in 
their minerals plans…such provision should take the form of specific 
sites, preferred areas and/or areas of search and locational criteria 
as appropriate; 

 Taking account of National and Sub National Guidelines on future 
provision; 

 Using landbanks of aggregate minerals reserves principally as an 
indicator of the security of supply, and to indicate the additional 
provision that needs to be made for new aggregate extraction and 
alternative supplies in mineral plans; 

 Making provision for the maintenance of landbanks of at least 7 
years for sand and gravel… taking into account productive capacity 
of permitted sites;  

 Ensuring that large land banks bound up in very few sites do not 
stifle competition; and 

 Calculating and maintaining separate landbanks for any aggregate 
materials of a specific type or quality which have a distinct and 
separate market. 

 
79. OMWCS policy M2 requires that planning permissions be granted to 

enable a landbank to be maintained for sharp sand and gravel with at 
least 7 years supply in accordance with the annual requirement rate in 
the most recent Local Aggregate Assessment (LAA), taking into account 
the need to maintain sufficient productive capacity to enable that rate to 
be realised. It also states that provision will be made to enable the 
supply of 1.015 million tonnes per annum (mtpa) of sharp sand and 
gravel. 
 

80. OMWCS policy M2 identifies the total requirement over the Plan Period 
2014 to 2031 for sharp sand and gravel to be 18.270 Mt. Taking into 
account sales in 2014 and 2015, permitted reserves at the end of 2015 
(excluding those that are expected to be worked after the plan period) 
and permissions granted in 2016, OMWCS paragraph 4.19 identifies a 
need for a further 5 Mt of sharp sand and gravel over the plan period. 
Taking into account sales from 2016 and permitted reserves at the end 
of 2016, this has now been recalculated as 5.979 Mt. The increase in the 
remaining requirement is due to permitted reserves at Thrupp Farm 

Page 18



PN6 
 

Quarry no longer being included in the landbank due to the planning 
permission going into suspension.  
 

81. The NPPG makes it clear that landbanks are principally a monitoring tool 
to provide MPAs with early warning of possible disruption to the 
provision of an adequate and steady supply of aggregate. It should be 
used as a trigger for a MPA to review the current provision and consider 
a review of the allocation of sites. At paragraph 82, the NPPG says that 
low landbanks may be an indicator that suitable applications should be 
permitted as a matter of importance.  

 
82. The NPPG makes it clear that there is no maximum landbank level and 

each application for minerals extraction must be considered on its own 
merits (paragraph 84). It goes on to set out reasons why an application 
for mineral extraction might be brought forward where an adequate 
landbank exists, these include: 

 Significant future increases in demand that can be forecast with 
reasonable certainty; 

 The location of the consented reserve is inappropriately located 
relative to the main market areas; 

 Known constraints on the availability of consented reserves that 
might limit output over the plan period. 

 
83. The Aggregates Monitoring Survey 2016: Quarry Sales and Reserves in 

Oxfordshire shows that permitted reserves of sharp sand and gravel in 
Oxfordshire totalled 11.383 Mt at the end of 2016. No additional reserves 
have been granted permission so far in 2017. Sales of sharp sand and 
gravel in 2016 are recorded as 651 000 tonnes and although they fell 
back from this level in 2015, from 2009 there has been a trend of 
increasing sales. The average of 10 years sales of sharp sand and 
gravel (2007-2016) was 595 000t and the average of 3 years sales 
(2014-2015) was 686 000t. The current Local Aggregate Assessment 
provision rate for sharp sand and gravel, in the Oxfordshire Local 
Aggregate Assessment 2014, is 1.015 Mt per annum. Based on this 
figure (in line with OMWCS policy M2), the landbank for sharp sand and 
gravel at the end of 2016 was 11.2 years.  
 

84. Therefore, new permissions are not currently needed to maintain a 
landbank of at least 7 years. However, the NPPF is clear that a 7 year 
landbank is a minimum and not a maximum level to be maintained. The 
fact that the landbank is currently more than 7 years is not a reason to 
refuse planning permission. 

 
85. Objections have been raised in representations received regarding the 

lack of need for mineral. However, as set out above, landbanks are a 
minimum and provide an indicator for when reserves are critically low. 
They are not to be used as a reason to refuse applications for further 
mineral extraction.  
 

Page 19



PN6 
 

86. Approximately half of the current permitted reserves of sharp sand and 
gravel are at a single site (Gill Mill Quarry) and those reserves are 
expected to be worked over a period up to 2036.  Therefore, it would not 
be possible for Oxfordshire’s production of sharp sand and gravel to be 
maintained at the LAA level of 1.015 mtpa throughout the theoretical 
period of the current landbank (11.2 years available from the end of 
2016), since the reserves at other sites are expected to be worked out 
within a shorter period. Some quarries are expected to be worked out in 
less than 7 years (the minimum landbank period required by the NPPF), 
which would result in a decrease in production as quarries close. 
Currently, it is expected that production capacity will fall below the policy 
M2 provision level (LAA requirement) of 1.015 mtpa in 2019. In 
accordance with OMWCS policy M2, and the NPPF paragraph 145 
requirement that MPAs should ensure that large landbanks bound up in 
very few sites do not stifle competition, consideration must be given to 
the need to maintain sufficient productive capacity to enable the annual 
requirement rate in the LAA to be realised. 

 
87. In view of this, notwithstanding the current sharp sand and gravel 

landbank being significantly more than 7 years, there is a strong 
argument that there is a need for further reserves to be permitted to 
ensure the continuation of a steady and adequate supply of aggregates 
at the required level established in the LAA, and in accordance with 
OMWCS policy M2. 

 
88. The Inspector’s Report on the Examination of the Core Strategy 

(Appendix A – Interim Report, paragraph 117) noted that Oxfordshire is 
an area likely to experience considerable growth with potential housing 
construction well above recent rates.  

 
89. National policy and guidance make it clear that the existence of a 

landbank greater than 7 years is not in itself justification for a refusal of 
permission. It also indicates that the productive capacities of the sites 
that make up the landbank, and the consequent limitations this imposes 
on overall output, and having a large part of the landbank contained at a 
single site are factors that may justify additional reserves being permitted 
notwithstanding the existence of a landbank of more than 7 years. 
 

90. OMWCS policy M5 (first paragraph) is also relevant. This states the 
circumstances in which permission will be granted for the working of 
aggregate minerals in advance of the Site Allocations Document being 
adopted, these being where it would contribute towards meeting the 
requirement for provision in policy M2, provided the proposal is in 
accordance with the locational strategy in policy M3. The application site 
lies within ‘The Thames and Lower Thame Valleys area from Oxford to 
Cholsey’ sharp sand and gravel strategic resource area that is identified 
in policy M3 as a principal location for aggregate minerals extraction. 
The last paragraph of policy M3 seeks to achieve an approximately 
equal split of production capacity for sharp sand and gravel between 
northern and southern Oxfordshire by 2031. The current situation is that 

Page 20



PN6 
 

significantly more than half of permitted reserves and production 
capacity are at sites in northern Oxfordshire, whereas the split of 
demand between northern and southern Oxfordshire is believed to be 
approximately 50:50. To achieve an equal split of production capacity 
between northern and southern Oxfordshire, policy M3 seeks to locate 
approximately 75% of the additional tonnage requirement in southern 
Oxfordshire and 25% in northern Oxfordshire. The application would 
contribute towards achieving this and would be in line with the spatial 
strategy in policy M3. 
 

91. This is also supported by NPPG paragraph 084, which includes amongst 
the reasons why an application for mineral extraction might be brought 
forward where an adequate landbank exists: ‘The location of the 
consented reserve is inappropriately located relative to the main market 
areas.’ 

 
92. It is not necessary to consider policies relating to clay extraction as clay 

would only be extracted for use in on-site engineering works.  
 
Green Belt  
 
Green Belt Policy 
 
93. NPPF paragraph 79 confirms that the Government attaches great 

importance to Green Belts and states that the essential characteristics of 
Green Belts are their openness and permanence. 

 
94. NPPF paragraph 80 sets out the five purposes that Green Belts serve. 

These are to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas; to 
prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another; to assist in 
safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; to preserve the setting 
and special character of historic towns; and to assist in urban 
regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other urban 
land. 

 
95. NPPF paragraph 87 states that inappropriate development is, by 

definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except 
in very special circumstances. This is also set out in OMWCS policy 
C12. 

 
96. NPPF paragraph 88 states that when considering any planning 

application, local planning authorities should ensure that substantial 
weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt. ‘Very special 
circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt 
by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly 
outweighed by other considerations. 

 
97. NPPF paragraph 90 states that certain forms of development are not 

inappropriate in the Green Belt providing that they preserve the 
openness of the Green Belt and do not conflict with the purposes of 

Page 21



PN6 
 

including land in the Green Belt. Mineral extraction and engineering 
operations are listed as examples of these forms of development that 
are not necessarily inappropriate.  

 
98. SOCS policy CSEN2 states that the special character and landscape 

setting of Oxford will be protected by the Oxford Green Belt.  
 
99. SOLP policy GB4 states that where new development is permitted in the 

Green Belt it should be designed and sited in such a way to minimise its 
impact on the open nature, rural character and visual amenity of the 
Green Belt.  

 
100. OMWCS policy C12 states that proposals that constitute inappropriate 

development in the Green Belt, will not be permitted except in very 
special circumstances. ‘Very special circumstances’ will not exist unless 
the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and 
any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other considerations. 

 
Consideration of whether development is inappropriate in the Green Belt 
 
101. NPPF paragraph 90 states that mineral extraction is not inappropriate in 

the Green Belt, provided that it preserves the openness of the Green 
Belt and does not conflict with the purposes of including land in the 
Green Belt. Therefore, it must be considered whether development 
would preserve the openness of the Green Belt and whether it would 
conflict with the purposes of including land in the Green Belt, in order to 
confirm whether the development proposed for this mineral extraction 
operation is inappropriate development in the Green Belt. This is 
considered below in relation to each element of the proposals. 

 
Mineral Extraction and conveyors 
 
102. It is not considered that the extraction of mineral would conflict with the 

five purposes of including land in the Green Belt as set out in NPPF 
paragraph 80. The development is not urban in nature and would not 
conflict with the purposes of checking unrestricted sprawl of large built 
up areas, preventing towns merging into each other or safeguarding the 
countryside from encroachment. There has been no objection from the 
relevant heritage consultees and it is considered that the development 
would not conflict with the purpose of preserving the setting and special 
character of historic towns, the fourth purpose of including land in the 
Green Belt. The fifth purpose is to assist in urban regeneration by 
recycling derelict and other urban land. The development would not 
conflict with this purpose.  

 
103. Mineral would be extracted from the land using a hydraulic excavator 

and transported on a field conveyor. It is considered that the extraction 
of the mineral and transport within the site would not have an impact on 
the openness of the Green Belt as neither the excavator nor the 
conveyor would enclose any space or land and they would be mobile 

Page 22



PN6 
 

and relatively small and low. The mineral extraction plant and conveyor 
are considered to be reasonably necessary and integral to the extraction 
of mineral in any case.  

 
104. Mineral can only be extracted where it is found and this is one reason 

why it is not necessarily inappropriate in the development in the Green 
Belt. It is also by its nature temporary development, although this does 
not preclude the need to consider whether it would be inappropriate. 

 
105. Therefore, the mineral extraction, mobile plant required to undertake 

mineral extraction and the field conveyor system are not considered to 
be inappropriate development in the Green Belt.  

 
Processing Plant  
 
106. Following extraction, mineral would be transported by conveyor within 

the site and processed for export. The plant site includes the wash plant 
and associated hardstandings and temporary buildings. The height of 
the wash plant would be up to 7.5 metres. Therefore, it is considered 
that this structure would have an impact on the openness of the Green 
Belt. Therefore, it is considered to be inappropriate development in the 
Green Belt.  

 
Soil storage bunds 
 
107. The soil storage bunds would be an integral and necessary part of the 

mineral extraction operation. They would also be temporary and their 
volume and alignment would vary at different phases of the 
development. However, I consider that they would have some impact on 
the openness of the Green Belt whilst they are in place as they would be 
up to 10 metres high and limit views across the site.  Therefore, this 
aspect of the development would also be inappropriate development in 
the Green Belt due to its impact on openness. 

 
Access, hardstandings, silt ponds 
 
108. The development would also involve the formation of a new access, silt 

ponds and hardstandings. It is considered that these would comprise an 
integral part of the mineral extraction development and also comprise 
engineering operations and therefore fall under paragraph 90 of the 
NPPF. They would not enclose space or be high and therefore would not 
have an impact on the openness of the Green Belt. Therefore, these 
elements are not considered to be inappropriate. 

 
Conclusion – inappropriate development 
 
109. As set out above it is concluded that the mineral extraction itself, 

including machinery used to remove the mineral and conveyors used to 
transport it across the site, is not inappropriate development. Neither is 
the proposed access, hardstandings and silt ponds.  

Page 23



PN6 
 

 
110. The proposed processing plant and soil storage bunds are considered to 

be inappropriate development in the Green Belt and therefore NPPF 
paragraphs 87 and 88 must be considered.  

 
Very Special Circumstances 
 
111. NPPF paragraph 87 states that inappropriate development is, by 

definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except 
in very special circumstances. Case law has established that if one 
element of a proposal is inappropriate then the whole development must 
be assessed as if it is inappropriate. Therefore very special 
circumstances are required in relation to the development as a whole, 
not only the specific elements assessed above as inappropriate.  

 
112. NPPF paragraph 88 states that substantial weight should be given to 

any harm to the Green Belt and very special circumstances will not exist 
unless potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, 
or any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other considerations.  

 
Applicant’s position on Green Belt 
 
113. The applicant has provided very special circumstances in relation to the 

processing plant and bunding elements of the proposal, because they 
conclude that these would be inappropriate development in the Green 
Belt, because of the effect on openness and because they could be 
perceived as encroachment for the period of working, contrary to the 
third of the listed purposes of the Green Belt in NPPF paragraph 80. The 
applicant concludes that the other elements of this development are not 
inappropriate development.  

 
114. In summary, the applicant’s very special circumstances comprise:  
 

a. The proposed plant and bunds are necessary infrastructure for a 
quarry and it would be nonsensical for the NPPF to state that 
mineral extraction need not be inappropriate development in the 
Green Belt, if this did not include some associated infrastructure.  

 
b. The buildings have been designed to minimise their physical 

presence and a condition could be used to ensure that they are only 
used for mineral worked from this quarry.  

 
c. On-site processing is necessary because if the mineral dug from 

this site was processed elsewhere it would not be possible to 
implement a satisfactory restoration, because reject material would 
not be available from the processing, also there would be additional 
vehicle movements and a suitable site elsewhere would need to be 
found for processing.  

 

Page 24



PN6 
 

d. Bunds cannot be placed in the quarry voids to eliminate impact on 
openness because this would delay restoration and prevent the 
bunds from mitigating amenity impacts.  

 
e. The temporary nature of the development means that there would 

be no permanent encroachment or impact on openness. 
 

f. The restoration proposals would enhance the beneficial use of the 
Green Belt, by increasing access, opportunity for outdoor recreation 
and biodiversity, as encouraged by NPPF paragraph 81.  

 
Officer view on Green Belt 
 
115. As set out in the section on need, although Oxfordshire currently has 

sufficient permitted reserves of sharp sand and gravel to meet the 
minimum required landbank of 7 years, it is considered that there is a 
need for further reserves to be permitted in order to ensure the 
continuation of a steady and adequate supply of aggregates at the level 
established in OMWCS policy M2.  

 
116. At present over half of the permitted reserves are at a single site (Gill Mill 

Quarry) in the west of the county. The annual production capacity is 
limited by the plant at this site which the operator has stated has an 
output of up to 400,000 tonnes per year and it is estimated that it will 
take at least until 2035 to extract all of the permitted reserves.  

 
117. NPPF paragraph 145 requires that MPAs should ensure that large land 

banks bound up in very few sites do not stifle competition. The large 
permitted reserves at Gill Mill Quarry are due to be worked over a long 
time period, limiting the amount of aggregate that can be supplied to the 
market in each year. Most other permitted sites are expected to be 
worked out within a shorter period than the 7 year minimum landbank 
period required by the NPPF. This would result in a fall in the total 
number of production sites and therefore a fall in production capacity 
within coming years. OMWCS policy M2 states that permission will be 
granted for sharp sand and gravel working to enable a landbank of at 
least 7 years to be maintained in accordance with the annual 
requirement rate in the LAA, taking into account the need to maintain 
sufficient production capacity to enable the rate to be realised. The 
current LAA rate for sharp sand and gravel is 1.015 mtpa. The total 
annual production capacity of quarries with permitted reserves in 
Oxfordshire was estimated to be approximately 1.16 Mt  at the start of 
2017, but on the basis of current permissions this is expected to fall to 
approximately 0.81 Mt  by 2023 towards the end of the 7 year landbank 
period and to approximately 0.55 Mt  within ten years.  

 
118. On the basis of current permitted reserves, despite there being a 

landbank of sharp sand and gravel of more than 7 years, the total 
production capacity would not be sufficient to enable the annual 

Page 25



PN6 
 

requirement rate in the LAA to be maintained at least throughout the 
minimum landbank period, as required by OMWCS policy M2.  

 
119. In addition, quarries sometimes produce mineral at levels under what is 

anticipated and permitted, for example due to temporary factors such as 
being closed due to flooding in winter months, as was the case at Gill 
Mill quarry in early 2014. Therefore, to meet OMWCS policy M2, in 
practice it might be necessary to have permissions equating to a higher 
total production capacity. 

 
120. OMWCS policy M3 states that sites allocated for sharp sand and gravel 

working to meet the requirement in policy M2 will be located such that 
approximately 25% of additional tonnage is in northern Oxfordshire and 
75% of the additional tonnage requirement is in southern Oxfordshire, to 
achieve an approximately equal split of production capacity between 
northern and southern Oxfordshire by 2031. Northern Oxfordshire is 
defined as West Oxfordshire and Cherwell Districts and southern 
Oxfordshire compromises South Oxfordshire and the Vale of White 
Horse Districts.  At the start of 2017 75% of the total permitted reserves 
of sharp sand and gravel were in northern Oxfordshire. 

 
121. OMWCS policy M5 states that, prior to adoption of the Site Allocations 

Document, proposals for aggregate mineral working should be in 
accordance with the locational strategy in OMWCS policy M3. Therefore, 
there is policy support for additional reserves to be permitted in the 
southern part of the county. This application could contribute towards 
that.  

 
122. Taken together, the need for additional permissions to enable annual 

requirement rates to be met at least throughout the minimum landbank 
period and the need to rebalance supply between the north and south of 
the county are considered to comprise a need for new mineral 
permissions in this area of the county. This need for the development is 
considered to be a very special circumstance for this development to 
take place in the Green Belt.  

 
123. Although mineral extraction can be carried out without an on-site 

processing plant, it is usual for sand and gravel extraction operations to 
include on-site processing and extraction would only generally take 
place without on-site processing if there was a specific reason that it 
could not take place. The presence of the processing plant makes the 
development more sustainable as it avoids the additional vehicle 
movements which would be needed to take the mineral to be processed 
elsewhere. Overall, the processing plant is considered to be an integral 
part of the mineral extraction, for which there is a strong need, therefore 
it is considered that very special circumstances also apply to the 
processing plant.  

 
124. The extraction of mineral will inevitably lead to soils which would need to 

be stockpiled during the extraction period prior to use in the site’s 

Page 26



PN6 
 

restoration. The soil storage bunds are proposed be located in a position 
which would mitigate impacts from the quarry, including noise and dust 
and although this would lead to an impact on openness, it is considered 
to be outweighed by the fact that the storage of soils is an integral part of 
the mineral extraction. It is considered that the very special 
circumstances applying to the development as a whole extend to the 
proposed bunds, as the development would not be able to take place 
without them.  

 
Green Belt Conclusions 
 
125. NPPF paragraph 88 and OMWCS policy C12 states that very special 

circumstances will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt 
by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly 
outweighed by other considerations. There would be some harm to the 
Green Belt through inappropriateness of the processing plant and bunds. 
However this harm would be limited by the temporary and phased nature 
of the development and the fact that in the long term the proposals have 
the potential to enhance the beneficial use of the Green Belt, in 
accordance with NPPF paragraph 81. The harm that would be caused 
by the development by reason of inappropriateness would be 
outweighed by the need to rebalance the supply of mineral in the county 
and to provide sufficient processing capacity to meet annual 
requirements. It is not considered that there would be any other harm.  

 
Location 
 
126. The application site lies within ‘The Thames and Lower Thame Valleys 

area from Oxford to Cholsey’ sharp sand and gravel strategic resource 
area that is identified in policy M3 of the OMWCS as a principal location 
for aggregate minerals extraction within which sites for mineral working 
will be allocated in the Part 2 Minerals and Waste Local Plan.  

 
127. Policy M3 seeks to rebalance supply and demand of sharp sand and 

gravel across the County, by setting out that site allocations will be 
located such that approximately 25% of additional tonnage requirements 
will be in northern Oxfordshire and 75% in southern Oxfordshire. The 
current situation is that significantly more than half of permitted reserves 
and production capacity are at sites in northern Oxfordshire (and mainly 
within West Oxfordshire District) whereas the split of demand between 
northern and southern Oxfordshire is believed to be nearer 50:50.  This 
indicates that any additional reserves and production capacity should 
preferably be provided within southern Oxfordshire, as set out in 
paragraphs 4.28 – 4.30 of the OMWCS. This application would therefore 
help to achieve this aim, enabling local supplies of aggregate for 
construction and economic growth in this part of the county, including the 
Science Vale area and therefore accord with policy M3.  

 

Page 27



PN6 
 

128. Mineral can only be worked where it is found. At this time the Site 
Allocations Plan (Part 2 of the Core Strategy) is not yet available, even in 
a draft form.  

 
129. OMWCS policy M5 states that prior to the adoption of the Part 2 

Minerals and Waste Local Plan permission will be granted for the 
working of aggregate minerals where it would contribute towards the 
requirement for provision identified in policy M2 and is in accordance 
with the locational strategy in policy M3 and the core policies for 
minerals and waste (C1-C12). The proposed development would 
contribute towards the requirement for provision as identified within 
policy M2 and as discussed elsewhere in this report, it is also considered 
to accord with policies C1 – C12. 

 
Landscape 
 
130. Policy C8 of the OMWCS requires that minerals development respects 

and where possible enhances local landscape character and are 
informed by landscape character assessment. It states that proposals 
shall include adequate and appropriate measures to mitigate adverse 
impacts.   

 
131. SOLP policy C3 states that the distinctive character of the River Thames 

and its valley will be maintained and where possible enhanced. 
Proposals for any form of development which detracts from its special 
character will not be permitted. SOLP policy C9 states that development 
will not be permitted if it would cause the loss of a landscape feature 
which makes an important contribution to the local scene, or contains 
important wildlife habitat, or has important historical value.  

 
132.  SOLP policy G2 states that the district’s countryside, settlements and 

environmental resources will be protected from adverse developments. 
SOCS policy CSEN1 states that the district’s distinct landscape 
character and key features will be protected against inappropriate 
development and where possible enhanced. The landscapes and 
waterscapes of the River Thames corridor will be maintained and where 
possible enhanced.  

 
133. The application site does not lie within an AONB, but is within 1.5km of 

its boundary and therefore could be considered to be within its setting. 
The southern part of the site is adjacent to the Thames. The land is 
currently agricultural and falls into three Oxfordshire Wildlife and 
Landscape Study (OWLS) landscape types; river meadowlands 
(southern part of site and river corridor), terrace farmland (majority of the 
site), and vale farmland (area to the north including site access).  

 
134. The applicant’s Landscape and Visual Assessment (LVIA) acknowledges 

that without mitigation there would be adverse landscape impacts 
resulting from the disturbance of land, changes to landform, loss of 
hedgerow and diversion of footpath, changes to the landscape character, 

Page 28



PN6 
 

intrusion to scenic beauty and disturbance to the recreational 
experience. However, it concludes that the mitigation measures 
proposed would adequately mitigate most landscape effects. The 
proposed mitigation measures include retention of some woodland, 
advance planting, woodland management, stand-off from the Thames 
Path, progressive restoration, restoration of the field pattern and 
biodiversity gains through the site restoration.  

 
135. The council’s landscape advisor initially raised concerns about the 

methodology and conclusions of the applicant’s LVIA and advised that 
he considered it highly likely that that proposals would lead to significant 
adverse landscape and visual effects over an extended period, leading 
to major and unacceptable impacts.   

 
136. In response to the landscape advisor’s concerns, the applicant amended 

the proposals to provide for increased advance planting to improve the 
screening and mitigation and increase the enclosure of the site during 
the workings. The Landscape Advisor confirmed that subject to minor 
amendments to the detail, to be developed through detailed proposals 
required by condition, the revised landscape mitigation measures were 
sufficient to remove the previous objection.  Therefore, subject to a 
condition requiring the implementation of agreed landscape mitigation 
measures, the development is considered to be acceptable in terms of 
impacts on landscape and it is not considered that there is a conflict with 
policies protecting landscape including OMWCS policy C8; SOLP 
policies C3, C9 and G2 and SOCS policy CSEN1. 

 
Visual Impacts 
 
137. In addition to the impacts on the wider landscape, the proposals would 

have visual impacts for individual properties in close proximity to the site. 
OMWCS policy C5 states that proposals for mineral development shall 
demonstrate that they will not have an unacceptable adverse impact on 
residential amenity, the local environment or the local economy including 
from visual intrusion.  

 
138. The quarry workings themselves would have the potential for visual 

impacts, and so would the proposed screening bunds in the plant site 
area, which would be up to 10 metres high.  

 
139. A number of high soil bunds are proposed in the plant site area in order 

to store soils and reduce the impacts of noise from the processing plant. 
The highest bund would be 10 metres and there would be an 8 metre 
high  bund directly south of the residential properties at Fullamoor 
Farmhouse and bunds. Concerns have been raised about the visual 
intrusion caused by these bunds.  

 
140. These potential visual impacts are also assessed in the LVIA, which 

found that there would be major/moderate adverse effects in the winter 
and spring on properties at Fullamoor Farmhouse and Barns. This would 

Page 29



PN6 
 

be reduced by foliage in the summer and autumn. The visual impact 
would principally come from views of the grassed bunds.  

 
141. The amended advance planting proposals would provide additional 

screening of the quarry and bunds for the properties at Fullamoor Farm 
and Barns as it is proposed to implement a quick growing willow and 
poplar block up to 4.5 metres high between the 8m high bund and the 
properties. A supplement to the LVIA concludes that this would provide 
additional screening of the bunds and would be effective in winter as well 
as summer. It would reduce views across the valley, but these could be 
re-instated if the woodland is removed following restoration.  

 
142. Overall, it is considered that the visual impacts on individual properties 

would be reduced to acceptable levels given the mitigation proposed. 
The advance planting proposals would be secured by planning condition. 
Subject to this, the development is considered to be in accordance with 
OMWCS policy C5, in terms of amenity impacts arising from visual 
intrusion.  

 
 
AONB 
 
143. Paragraph 115 of the NPPF places great weight on conserving 

landscape and scenic beauty in National Parks, the Broads and Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONBs), which have the highest status of 
protection in relation to landscape and scenic beauty. Paragraph 116 
states that planning permission for major development in these areas 
should be refused except in exceptional circumstances. 

 
144. Policy C8 of the OMWCS states that great weight will be given to 

conserving the landscape and scenic beauty of AONBs, with high priority 
given to the enhancement of their natural beauty. Policy CSEN1 of the 
SOCS, requires that planning decisions have regard to the setting of 
AONBs. It goes on to say that proposals which support the economies 
and social well-being of the AONBs and their communities, including 
affordable housing schemes, will be encouraged provided they do not 
conflict with the aims of conservation and enhancement. 

 
145. The application site could be considered to be within the setting of the 

AONB as it is within 1.5km of its boundary. 
 
146. The North Wessex Downs AONB unit raised concerns during the original 

consultation. They were concerned that the development might harm 
views in and out of the AONB, in particular from Wittenham Clumps. 
They were also concerned about the impact on users of the Thames 
Path. They asked for changes to the size and shape of the restoration 
waterbodies and woodland areas. The applicant did not amend the 
waterbodies or woodland in response to these comments and stated that 
the restoration scheme is limited by the availability of restoration material 
and the woodland planting reflects the configuration of existing planting 

Page 30



PN6 
 

on site. The North Wessex Downs AONB unit did not respond to 
subsequent consultations.  

 
147. It is considered that the development has the potential to affect the 

setting of the AONB, however impacts would be limited by the fact that 
extraction would be phased and progressively restored, minimising the 
amount of land in active quarrying use at any point in time. The presence 
of the quarrying operation in the setting of the AONB would also be 
temporary and the restoration to agriculture and lakes is considered 
generally compatible with the location in the setting of an AONB. Overall, 
the proposals are not considered to conflict with development plan policy 
aimed at protecting AONBs and their setting.  

 
Traffic  
 
148. NPPF paragraph 32 states that all development that generates a 

significant amount of movement should be supported by a Transport 
Statement or Transport Assessment. Decisions should take account of 
whether opportunities for sustainable transport modes have been taken 
up, safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved and whether 
improvements can be undertaken within the transport network that cost 
effectively limit the significant impacts of the development. It goes on to 
state that development should only be refused on transport grounds 
where the residual cumulative impacts of the development are severe.  

 
149. Connecting Oxfordshire: Local Transport Plan 2015 – 2031 (LTP) policy 

02 states that Oxfordshire County Council will manage and, where 
appropriate, develop the county’s road network to reduce congestion 
and minimise disruption and delays, prioritising strategic routes. 

 
150. Transport Development Control (commenting in the County Council’s 

statutory role as Local Highway Authority) has objected to this 
application because they consider it does not comply with NPPF 
paragraph 32 and LTP policy 02. They consider that the impacts of the 
development would be severe, so as to justify refusal. They note that 
excessive queuing has been observed at the Clifton Hampden junction 
at peak times and at peak times queuing at the Culham Bridges results 
in blocking of the bridge and adjacent junctions, therefore given the 
existing flows on the local highway network, the addition of even a few 
additional vehicle movements is disproportionate and may add to 
significantly to delays. The Transport Development Control team are 
concerned about the impact on road safety due to the increased 
likelihood of rear end shunt collisions resulting from queuing. They are 
also concerned about amenity and health impacts of the increased 
vehicle movements due to increased particulate and carbon dioxide 
emissions from idling vehicles.  

 
151. Policy C10 of the OMWCS states that minerals development will be 

expected to make provision for safe and suitable access to the advisory 
lorry routes shown on the Oxfordshire Lorry Routes Maps, in ways that 

Page 31



PN6 
 

maintain and, if possible lead to improvements in, the safety of all road 
users, the efficiency and quality of the road network and residential 
amenity including air quality. The objection from Transport Development 
Control indicates that the proposal would not maintain the safety and 
efficiency of the network, or amenity. Therefore, it is considered that the 
proposal is contrary to OMWCS policy C10 in this respect.  

 
152. OMWCS policy C10 also requires that where minerals will be 

transported by road, they should be located so as to minimise road 
distance to locations of demand. The proposals are considered to 
comply with this part of the policy as the proposed quarry would serve 
the local area where there is expected to be demand, including 
Wallingford, Didcot, Abingdon, Oxford and other parts of south 
Oxfordshire. 

 
153. Regarding sustainable transport modes, it is considered that there are 

no practical opportunities for more sustainable transport modes at this 
site. Although it is in close proximity to a railway line, there is no rail 
head or siding to facilitate loading or unloading. Although the site is also 
adjacent to the river, the mineral worked here is bound for local markets 
and so transport by river is not practical to take the mineral to 
construction sites in the local area. 

 
154. A new access road is proposed and measures have been incorporated 

into the design to mitigate the impacts, including a kink to prevent direct 
views into the site and bunds on either side to reduce visual impact. The 
new access road is acceptable in technical terms and it is concluded that 
the development provides suitable access into the site from the highway 
network. 

 
155. The applicant has submitted a plan showing which routes would be used 

by HGVs, these are the A415, A34, A4183 and the A4074. Other roads, 
including the B4015 and minor roads through local villages would not be 
used. Transport Development Control have confirmed that these routes 
are acceptable and that if permission is granted for the development a 
routeing agreement would be needed to ensure that other routes are not 
used.  

 
156. Improvements to the existing transport network have been proposed to 

mitigate the impact of additional HGVs. These include the new access to 
the site and footway improvements in Clifton Hampden. Notwithstanding 
their overall objection, Transport Development Control has welcomed 
the highways mitigation measures proposed.  

 
157. In terms of the new access, the proposed highway mitigation works and 

the routeing arrangements, the proposals, subject to conditions and legal 
agreements, are considered to comply with relevant transport policy, 
including the NPPF and OMWCS policy C10.  

 

Page 32



PN6 
 

158. However, the proposal is contrary to relevant transport policy, including 
NPPF paragraph 32, LTP policy 02 and OMWCS policy C10 in terms of 
the impacts that the proposed additional vehicle movements would have 
on the road network. It is considered that these impacts would be severe 
and would include increased delays, increased likelihood of accidents 
and health and amenity impacts due to emissions from idling vehicles. 
Therefore, overall the proposals are considered to be contrary to policy 
due to severe impacts arising from the proposed additional vehicle 
movements.  

 
Proposed new road and Thames Crossing 

 
159. An objection has been received from Oxfordshire County Council’s 

Transport Strategy and Policy Team, expressing concern that the quarry 
site area could overlap with proposed options for a new road linking the 
A415 with the A4130 in Didcot and incorporating a new bridge over the 
River Thames and this would prejudice the route of a Link Road and 
Thames River Crossing and as such would harm the County Council’s 
ability to deliver its Local Transport Plan and support future growth within 
the County Concerns have also been raised in relation to this by South 
Oxfordshire District Council and Vale of White Horse District Council and 
members of the public. 

 
160. Draft policy TRANS3 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2033 Final 

Publication Version (SOLP 2033) safeguards a route for a new Thames 
road crossing between Culham and Didcot Garden Town. The 
safeguarding map shows two potential routes as safeguarded for this 
development, one of which includes land within the application site. The 
alternative safeguarded route is to the west of the railway line. Parts of 
the potential routes to the south of the River Thames fall within the Vale 
of White Horse District Council area and land in this area has been 
safeguarded by the Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 (VLP 2031). 
However, the application site falls entirely within South Oxfordshire.  

 
161. A consultation on the SOLP 2033 is being held between 11th October 

and 30th November 2017, following which the plan will be submitted for 
independent examination.  Following this there would be an Examination 
in Public with a view to adoption in summer 2018. The draft plan is a 
material consideration, but it is not adopted and therefore at present the 
weight that can be given to policy TRANS 3 and the safeguarding map is 
limited. However, although limited, it should be given enhanced weight 
due to the fact that part of the proposed route is already safeguarded by 
the adopted VLP 2031, and the safeguarded corridor in the Vale of 
White Horse District would not enable a complete route unless land was 
also safeguarded in South Oxfordshire District.  

 
162. The applicant has stated that the quarry proposals have been designed 

around the major road construction proposals and that a new road could 
be accommodated on the site post restoration as most of the land 
affected by the potential alignment would be restored back to original 

Page 33



PN6 
 

ground levels. Any new road would need to be raised on pillars to cross 
the southern lake, however the restoration proposals were amended to 
provide extended peninsulas on the lake banks which could 
accommodate pillars.  

 
163. At present the alignment for the proposed new route has not been 

finalised and there is no adopted policy within South Oxfordshire that 
safeguards specific land for this development. In any case, it is 
considered that the quarry proposals would not prejudice the delivery of 
the new road and river crossing. The timescale for the quarry workings 
means that it is likely that working could be completed and the affected 
area restored before any new road would be built. The restoration plan 
submitted would not prevent a new road and bridge being built on the 
restored site. Therefore, although it is acknowledged that the proposed 
quarry restoration would create a lake which would affect the design and 
engineering requirements of any new road, it is not considered that the 
proposed new road crossing could be sustained as a reason to refuse 
the quarry application, as the quarry proposals would not prevent it from 
going ahead.  

 
Rights of Way 
 
164. NPPF paragraph 75 states that planning policies should protect and 

enhance public rights of way and access and local authorities should 
seek opportunities to provide better facilities for users, for example by 
adding links to existing rights of way networks including National Trails. 

 
165. OMWCS policy C11 states that the integrity and amenity value of the 

rights of way network shall be maintained and where possible routes 
shall be retained in situ in a safe and usable condition. Improvements 
and enhancements will be generally encouraged and public access 
sought to restored mineral workings. 

 
166. SOLP policy R8 states that the retention and protection of the existing 

rights of way network will be sought and where possible proposals to 
improve it will be supported.  

 
167. A representation was received from a local resident who queried the 

dimensions of the proposed disabled kissing gate referred to in the 
supporting statement. They were concerned that the British Standard 
BSI5709 – 2006 kissing gate would be too short and too narrow to 
accommodate the cross county electric scooters which would be needed 
on this type of path. This is a detailed matter which could be dealt with 
through condition on any permission granted. The applicant has 
confirmed that they would be willing to accept a condition specifying that 
the proposed disabled kissing gate must be wide enough to 
accommodate mobility scooters, to allow wheelchair users to access the 
countryside in this location.  

 

Page 34



PN6 
 

168. The Rights of Way Team have no objections. They urged the applicant 
to investigate the possibility of creating an additional footpath link 
between the diverted footpath and the Thames Path. This was also 
suggested by CPRE. However, the applicant was unable to progress this 
as the land is not in their ownership.  

 
169. OMWCS policy C11 states that where possible routes should be retained 

in situ. This is not possible in this case as there is an existing footpath 
route through a proposed extraction area. The policy requires that routes 
are kept safe and usable and it is considered that this would be achieved 
through the proposed diversion and stand-offs between the working and 
rights of way.  

 
170. OMWCS policy C11 also protects the amenity value of the rights of way 

network. The proposals have the potential to change the experience of 
using the Thames Path and footpath 171/15 in this area, particularly at 
the stages of the development when extraction is close to the route. 
Concerns were raised during earlier consultations about a potential 
tunnel effect on the diverted footpath as bunds were proposed on either 
side. Amendments were made to the proposals so that soil bunds would 
be on the east side of the path only, and a hedge would be planted on 
the west side to remove the tunnel effect. allowing views in the other 
direction. The amendments also include the replacement of some of the 
soil bunds with straw bale acoustic screens, which could potentially suit 
the rural context better. Overall, it is considered that the measures 
proposed to protect the amenity of users of the rights of way in the area 
are adequate.  

 
171. Although it is disappointing that the applicant could not do more to 

progress the footpath link sought by the Rights of Way team, it is 
considered that the provision made for rights of way on the site both 
during and after the development, is sufficient to meet the policy 
requirements. The proposed diversion of the existing footpath is suitable 
and additional access is proposed following restoration, in accordance 
with OMWCS policy C11 which encourages improvements, 
enhancements and public access to restored workings. The proposals 
are considered to be in accordance with relevant development plan 
policy.  

 
Potential Amenity and Health Impacts 
 
172. Policy C5 of the OMWCS states that proposals for minerals development 

shall demonstrate that it will not have an adverse effect on the local 
environment; human health and safety; residential amenity; and the local 
economy from impacts including noise, dust, visual intrusion, light 
pollution, traffic and air quality. Where necessary, appropriate separation 
distances or buffer zones between minerals and waste developments 
and occupied residential property or other sensitive receptors and/or 
other mitigation measures will be required, as determined on a site-
specific, case-by-case basis. 

Page 35



PN6 
 

 
173. NPPF paragraph 125 states that by encouraging good design planning 

decisions should limit the impact of light pollution from artificial light on 
local amenity, intrinsically dark landscapes and nature conservation.  

 
174. NPPF paragraph 144 states that when determining planning 

applications, planning authorities should ensure that there are no 
unacceptable adverse impacts on human health and that any 
unavoidable noise, dust and particle emissions are controlled, mitigated 
or removed at source. Local planning authorities should establish 
appropriate noise limits for extraction in proximity to noise sensitive 
properties.  

 
175. NPPF paragraph 143 states that in preparing Local Plans, local planning 

authorities should, when developing noise limits, recognise that some 
noisy short term activities, which might otherwise be regarded as 
unacceptable, are unavoidable to facilitate minerals extraction. In the 
absence of an adopted Local Plan which specifies noise limits, this is 
considered to also be relevant to decision making.  

 
176. SOLP policy EP1 states that proposals which would (by reason of smell, 

fumes, smoke, soot, ash, dust, grit, or other forms of polluting emissions) 
have an adverse effect on people and other living organisms, the 
atmosphere, the land, underground water supplies or watercourses will 
not be permitted, unless effective mitigation measures will be 
implemented. 

 
177. SOLP policy EP2 states that proposals which would have an adverse 

impact on occupiers by reason of noise or vibrations will not be 
permitted, unless effective mitigation measures will be implemented.  

 
178. SOLP policy EP3 states that proposals for new floodlighting or other 

external lighting which would have an adverse effect on neighbouring 
residents, the rural character of the countryside or biodiversity will not be 
permitted, unless effective mitigation measures will be implemented.  

 
179. Objections have been received from a number of local residents, 

concerned about amenity impacts at their properties. There has also 
been an objection on behalf of Culham Science Centre due to concerns 
that dust from the development would have adverse effects on sensitive 
scientific equipment. Details of the concerns of residents of nearby 
properties and Culham Science Centre can be found in Annex 4.  

 
180. Following the submission of further noise monitoring information, the 

Environmental Health Officer confirmed that they have no objection to 
the application in terms of noise. The proposed bunds will be necessary 
to ensure that noise levels can be kept to the limits specified in the 
application and a condition can be applied to ensure that these are 
constructed and maintained. Subject to this, the development is 

Page 36



PN6 
 

acceptable in terms of noise and accords with the NPPF and SOLP 
policy EP2 in this regard.  

 
181. The ES included a lighting strategy, which concludes that external 

lighting on site would comply with the relevant British Standards and spill 
lighting from the site should not exceed 1 Lux through windows. There 
has been no objection from consultees in relation to this, however the 
residents of the properties closest to the plant site have expressed 
concern about the level of detail. Therefore, it is recommended that a 
condition be added to any permission granted requiring full details of 
external lighting to be submitted, approved and implemented. The hours 
of operation would limit the impact of external lighting.  

 
182. The Air Quality Officer has confirmed that the potential dust impact on 

nearby receptors was sufficiently addressed in the original assessment 
and they have no objection subject to the implementation of the 
mitigation set out in the Environmental Statement. This can be secured 
by condition. Public Health England has also confirmed that there is no 
objection to the proposals and there would not be a significant impact on 
public health, subject to good dust management practices. Further 
information was submitted in relation to the concerns that Culham 
Science Centre had not been included in the original dust assessment 
and it is considered that this issue has now been satisfactorily 
addressed. Therefore, subject to the necessary conditions, including for 
a Dust Management Plan for the duration of the operations, the 
development is considered to be in accordance with NPPF paragraph 
144 in terms of dust emissions and the potential impact on amenity and 
health.  

 
183. The buffer zones between the nearest properties and the operational 

areas are considered to be appropriate because the detailed 
assessment work in the ES has shown that there would not be 
unacceptable impacts as a result of working at the distances proposed. 
The development is therefore considered to be in accordance with 
OMWCS policy C5 with respect to buffer zones.  

 
184. Concerns have been raised about adverse impacts on amenity arising 

from increased HGV traffic. Transport Development Control has objected 
to the proposals due to severe impacts and expressed concern that 
idling vehicles would add to particulate and carbon dioxide emissions. 

 
185.  It is acknowledged that the A415 runs through Clifton Hampden village 

and HGVs can create an unpleasant and potentially dangerous 
environment particularly for vulnerable people. The applicant has 
proposed mitigation works in the form of footway improvements and 
bollard installation at the intersection between the A415 and the High 
Street in Clifton Hampden. This is welcomed by Transport Development 
Control.  

 

Page 37



PN6 
 

186. Overall, it is considered that the development would be unacceptable in 
terms of the impacts caused by the additional HGV movements 
associated with this development, contrary to the requirement in 
OMWCS policy C5 that minerals proposals should demonstrate that they 
will not have an unacceptable impact in terms of the local environment, 
human health and safety and residential amenity including from traffic. 

 
187. The development is considered to be acceptable in respect of the other 

criteria listed in OMWCS and other relevant policies protecting amenity, 
including in terms of noise, light nuisance and dust emissions. This is 
subject to planning conditions to ensure that the development is carried 
out as proposed and that the measures in the ES are adhered to.   

 
Flood Risk and Water Environment 

 
Sand and Gravel Extraction 

 
188. OMWCS policy C4 requires that applications demonstrate no 

unacceptable adverse impact on the quantity or quality of surface or 
groundwater resources required for habitats, wildlife and human 
activities; water abstraction; flow of groundwater; and waterlogged 
archaeological remains. It goes on to say that the River Thames and 
other water courses of significant landscape, nature conservation or 
amenity value should be adequately protected from unacceptable 
adverse impacts. 

 
189. Policy EP1 of the SOLP states that proposals should not have an 

adverse effect on underground water supplies or watercourses, similarly 
SOLP policy EP7 protects groundwater resources. Policy EP6 of the 
SOLP requires that development accords with sustainable drainage 
principles. 

 
190. The application is supported by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA). This 

was revised to reflect revisions to the operational and restoration layouts. 
It states that the risk of fluvial flooding from the River Thames to the site 
is high. There is also a minor risk of flooding from groundwater and 
surface water. It identifies elements of the development which could 
affect flood risk, including a decrease in floodplain storage capacity due 
to stockpiling and mineral processing, increase in surface water due to 
new access roads and changes to the drainage and flood regime from 
the removal of soil, overburden and mineral. The FRA also details the 
mitigation measures which have been built into the design of the 
development, including gaps in bunds to allow flood water to pass and 
the retention of separation between the main and secondary floodplain to 
prevent a new flood route opening up. The FRA reports the findings of a 
1D-2D flood model used to assess the impacts of working and 
restoration phases on flood levels and river flows.  

 
191. The FRA concludes that subject to the mitigation proposed, there would 

be no significant effects. It confirms that there would be an increase in 

Page 38



PN6 
 

flood storage during the quarry operation at every level. Risk from 
surface water flooding would remain low and there would be no increase 
in risk of groundwater flooding. Fluvial flood risk is also assessed 
including the differences in peak flood levels and velocities. It is 
confirmed that there would be no increase in peak velocities in most 
locations. No significant effects are recorded. 

 
192. The Environment Agency has responsibility to provide advice on the risk 

of fluvial flooding and does not have an objection to this application. The 
EA initially objected to the application on the basis that the FRA did not 
comply with the NPPF as it did not demonstrate that level for level flood 
plain compensation was not achievable before resorting to a loss of flood 
plain storage at certain levels. The objection was withdrawn, subject to a 
number of conditions, following the submission of the revised FRA. 

 
193. The Lead Local Flood Authority has responsibility for surface water, 

ground water, ordinary watercourses and sustainable drainage and has 
no objection subject to conditions to cover the staggering of bunds to 
allow flood water to pass around them, dewatering to go through 
settlement before discharge, no dewatering in flood conditions and 
provision of information from groundwater monitors. The response on the 
further information confirmed that there should be a condition for 
monitoring boreholes in the Greensand. The applicant confirmed in their 
additional information that they would be prepared to install this and a 
condition is recommended to cover this. Further advice has been sought 
on groundwater in relation to comments made during the consultation 
period. This was not available at the time of finalising this report, but will 
be included in an addendum.  

 
194. OMWCS policy C2 states that proposals for minerals or waste 

development, including restoration proposals, should take account of 
climate change for the lifetime of the development. This includes 
accounting for anticipated more frequent, short duration, high intensity 
rainfall events and periods of long duration rainfall in the future. The FRA 
includes a 15% allowance for climate change during operational phases 
and 35% allowance during restoration phases, in agreement with the 
Environment Agency and in accordance with this policy.   

 
195. Subject to the additional advice with regard to groundwater, it is 

therefore considered that, subject to the mitigation measures as 
proposed, the proposed development would not result in adverse 
impacts to the surface or groundwater quantity or quality and accords 
with OMWCS policies C3 and C4, SOLP policies EP1, EP6 and EP7 and 
the NPPF.  

 
Sequential Test 
 
196. NPPG 066 Reference ID: 7-066-20140306 Table 2 classifies sand and 

gravel working as ‘water compatible’ and Table 3 confirms that this 

Page 39



PN6 
 

means that it is appropriate in all flood zones, including the functional 
floodplain. 

 
197. Regardless of the water compatible classification of sand and gravel 

extraction, the NPPG Notes to Table 3 confirm that the sequential test 
should be applied. OMWCS policy C3 states that mineral development 
will, wherever possible, take place in areas with the lowest probability of 
flooding. Where development takes place in an area of identified flood 
risk this should only be where alternative locations in areas of lower 
flood risk have been explored and discounted using the sequential test 
and where a flood risk assessment is able to demonstrate that the risk of 
flooding is not increased. 

 
198. As set out above, the FRA demonstrates that the risk of flooding is not 

increased. However, OMWCS requires that a Sequential Test is 
undertaken by the County Council to assess whether there are other 
sites reasonably available for the extraction of sand and gravel in an 
area of less flood risk. This is contained in Annex 5 to this report and it 
concludes that there is a potential alternative site located in an area of 
lesser flood risk, at New Barn Farm, Cholsey. 

 
199. The proposal is therefore not in complete accordance with OMWCS 

policy C3, which states that where development takes place in an area 
of identified flood risk this should only be where alternative locations in 
areas of lower flood risk have been explored and discounted. However, it 
should be noted that even if permission was granted for the extraction of 
2.5 million tonnes of sand and gravel at New Barn Farm, there would still 
be the need for additional permissions for sand and gravel extraction 
before the end of the OMWCS plan period. There have been no 
objections from the Environment Agency or Lead Local Flood Authority 
following the provision of a site specific Flood Risk Assessment.  

 
200. The conflict with OMWCS policy C3 needs to be weighed against the 

compliance with other relevant policies and the need for the 
development.  

  
Sand and Gravel Processing 
 
201. Sand and gravel processing is classified as ‘less vulnerable’ rather than 

‘water compatible’ in the NPPG. NPPG 066 Reference ID: 7-066-
20140306 Table 3 shows which land uses are compatible with which 
flood zone and states ‘less vulnerable’ development should not be 
permitted in the functional floodplain (3b).  

 
202. The application does not propose all elements of ‘less vulnerable’ 

development to be restricted to Flood Zone 1. The proposed sand and 
gravel processing area would be partly in Flood Zone 2 and partly in 
Flood Zone 3. The weighbridge and offices and most of the processing 
plant is proposed to be located in flood zone 2, with part of the 
processing plant falling into zone 3a. Some bunds and conveyors in the 

Page 40



PN6 
 

plant site area would fall into the area of highest risk of flooding, zone 
3b. 

 
203. The applicant has stated that due to the high proportion of the site 

covered by floodplain it has not been possible to locate all ‘less 
vulnerable’ development outside of it. They state that where possible 
stockpiles and bunds have been located in Flood Zone 1, however some 
are proposed in Flood Zones 2 and 3 (including 3b) where they are 
required to reduce the noise impact on neighbours around the plant site. 
These bunds are proposed to be staggered with gaps to allow flood 
waters to flow. An area of lower ground would be created to direct 
floodwaters through the gaps and into the quarry void, away from 
residential properties.  

 
204. The applicant has stated that although efforts have been made to locate 

the processing plant within an area of the site with lowest flood risk, it 
was not possible to locate it entirely outside of the floodplain. This is 
because it needed to be located close to the access onto the A415 in 
order to avoid vehicle movements through the site, which would have a 
visual and environmental impact. It also needed to be located in an area 
which could be well screened, as the plant itself would have a landscape 
and visual impact. It has been possible to locate most of the plant in 
flood zone 2, although parts of it fall into flood zone 3.  

 
205. The Environment Agency have stated that they would prefer the 

processing plant to be located in an area at a lower risk of flooding within 
the site and that the planning authority will need to be satisfied with the 
reasons for locating the processing plant partly within zone 3a. However, 
they have also confirmed that they are satisfied with the mitigation 
provided for the location of the processing plant and the development is 
acceptable in terms of flood risk.  

 
206. NPPF paragraph 103 states that development in areas at risk of flooding 

should only be considered where development is appropriately flood 
resilient and resistant, including safe 

access and escape routes where required. There would be no workings in the 
excavation during flood conditions, as it would be a requirement that 
water pumping must cease. The plant site is largely in flood zone 2 and 
access to flood zone 1 could be gained via the proposed access road. 
Therefore, it is considered that this requirement can be met and it is 
recommended that a condition be added to any permission granted 
requiring the submission and approval of a flood management plan 
including details of safe access and escape routes, in order to provide 
the details.  

 
207. Although the location of the processing plant within the application site 

does not follow the sequential approach to locating different landuses 
within the development, it is accepted that it has been located in the area 
of lowest flood risk that was practically possible within the site, given the 
other factors and constraints. The FRA confirms that the location of the 

Page 41



PN6 
 

processing plant does not give rise to an increased risk of flooding and 
there has been no objection from the Environment Agency.  

 
Clay extraction 

 
208. Clay extraction is also classified as ‘less vulnerable’ development, which 

should not be permitted in flood zone 3b. However, in this case the clay 
would be worked from the base of the sand and gravel workings in order 
to provide an engineering material for restoration. It would not be 
removed from the site or sold to the market. It would therefore be an 
integral part of the sand and gravel working and it is not necessary to 
consider it as a separate development for the purpose of applying 
flooding policy, especially given that the flood risk for the development 
has been assessed in the ES and it has been demonstrated that there 
would not be an increased risk of flooding.  

 
Restoration 
 
209. OMWCS policy C3 states that the opportunity should be taken to 

increase flood storage capacity in the flood plain where possible, 
particularly through the restoration of sand and gravel workings. 

 
210. The restoration proposals incorporate areas of lakes and other wetlands, 

which would increase the flood storage capacity in this area of the flood 
plain, in accordance with OMWCS policy C3. Land levels would be 
raised in the area of the access road and site office, in order to bring 
these areas out of the floodplain, however the site specific flood risk 
assessment has demonstrated that the proposal would not increase 
flood risk.  There has been no objection from the Local Flood Authority in 
terms of the effect of the restoration on groundwater levels or quality.  

 
Archaeology and Historic Environment 
 
211. NPPF paragraph 132 states that when considering the impact of a 

development on the significance of a heritage asset, great weight should 
be given to the asset’s conservation. It confirms that significance can be 
harmed or lost through alteration or destruction of the heritage asset, or 
development within its setting. As heritage assets are irreplaceable, any 
harm or loss should require clear and convincing justification. Substantial 
harm to, or loss of, scheduled monuments should be wholly exceptional. 
Paragraph 133 states that consent should be refused, where 
development will lead to substantial harm or total loss of significance of a 
designated heritage asset, unless the substantial harm or loss is 
necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm 
or loss. Paragraph 134 states that where development will lead to less 
than substantial harm, this harm should be weighed against the public 
benefits of the proposal. 

 
Archaeology on-site 
 

Page 42



PN6 
 

212. OMWCS policy C9 states that proposals for minerals and waste 
development will not be permitted unless it is demonstrated, including 
where necessary through prior investigation, that they or associated 
activities will not have an unacceptable adverse impact on the historic 
environment. 

 
213. NPPF paragraph 141 states that planning authorities should require 

developers to record and advance understanding of the significance of 
any heritage assets to be lost. Para 144 of the NPPF states that there 
should be no unacceptable adverse impacts on the historic environment 
from mineral development. 

 
214. Policy CSEN3 of the SOCS seeks to conserve and enhance historic 

assets.  
 
215. An archaeological desk based assessment has been submitted with the 

planning application, including a geophysical survey. Further information 
was requested in relation to archaeology and cultural heritage.  

 
216. Following the submission of further information, the County Archaeology 

team confirmed that they had no objection to this application, subject to 
conditions to ensure that the proposed archaeological investigation is 
implemented.  

 
217. Therefore, it is considered that the proposals make adequate provision 

for the recording of archaeology, as required by the NPPF paragraph 
141.   

 
Scheduled Monument 
 
218. SOCS policy CSEN3 states that designated heritage assets, including 

Scheduled Monuments and conservation areas, will be conserved and 
enhanced for their historic significance and their important contribution to 
local distinctiveness, character and sense of place. 

 
219. Historic England has confirmed that the development is not likely to 

increase the risk of erosion to the monument through changes to the 
hydrology. They consider that there would be some harm to the 
monument, through the impact on the setting. There would be some 
residual impact even following restoration and the planting designed to 
screen the restoration lakes would itself cut across existing open views 
which make a minor contribution to the setting. The archaeology team 
have also expressed concern about the impact of the development on 
the setting of the scheduled monument. However, Historic England has 
concluded that the level of harm would be ‘less than substantial’ and 
have not objected.  

 
220. NPPF policy 134 states that when a development will lead to less than 

significant harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this 
harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal. 

Page 43



PN6 
 

NPPG paragraph 020 (Reference ID: 18a-020-20140306) states that 
public benefits could be anything that delivers economic, social or 
environmental progress.  

 
221. There are some public benefits of the proposal, including the economic 

benefits from a local supply of aggregate and the environmental benefits 
coming from the restoration and long term management. Therefore, 
these need to be balanced against the harm to the setting. Given the 
limited (‘less than substantial’) nature of the harm to the setting and the 
clear need for the mineral and the related economic benefits of the 
proposal, as set out elsewhere in this report, it is considered that the 
harm to the setting is outweighed.  

 
222. Historic England have recommended a planning condition for the 

provision of a heritage interpretation board on the site adjacent to the 
Thames Path, which would provide information about the scheduled 
monument. They have also requested that a viewing gap be maintained 
in the proposed new hedge adjacent to the Thames Path. This would 
allow the public to view the site of the scheduled monument in its wider 
context and to learn about it. This is also considered to be a public 
benefit of the proposal. The applicant has confirmed that they would be 
willing to maintain the gap and provide and maintain the board.  

 
Setting of Listed Buildings  
 
223. Section 66 (1) of the Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas Act 1990 

states that in considering whether to grant planning permission for 
development which affects a listed building or its setting, the local 
planning authority shall have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 

 
224. SOLP policy CON5 states that proposals which would adversely affect 

the setting of a listed building will be refused.  
 
225. The ES included a chapter on cultural heritage, which was updated with 

the further information submitted by the applicant. This includes an 
assessment of the impact of the proposals on listed buildings. The 
assessment found that although there would be some impact on the 
setting of the closest listed buildings (specifically Lower Town Farm, 
barn and associated granary building) the noise and visual intrusion that 
the quarry could potentially cause would be mitigated by the proposed 
7m bunds on the eastern boundary.  The effects of the bunds 
themselves are also considered and it is concluded that the effects of the 
development on the significance of Lower Town Farm and granary would 
be minor adverse during the workings and reduce to negligible/neutral by 
the completion of restoration when the quarry operations would cease 
and the bund would be removed.  

 

Page 44



PN6 
 

226. Overall, it is considered that there would be no significant effects on 
listed buildings or their setting, given the distance between the workings 
and listed buildings, the mitigation proposed and the limited views 
between the site and listed buildings.  

 
Setting of Conservation Areas 
 
227. Policy CON7 of the SOLP states that permission will not be granted 

where development would harm the character or appearance of a 
conservation area. 

 
228. SOCS policy CSEN3 states that designated heritage assets, including 

Scheduled Monuments and conservation areas, will be conserved and 
enhanced for their historic significance and their important contribution to 
local distinctiveness, character and sense of place. 

 
229. The cultural heritage chapter submitted by the applicant states that there 

are no direct views from Clifton Hampden conservation area into the site, 
although there are glimpsed views from the lane outside Lower Town 
Farmhouse, on the western edge of the conservation area. The 
assessment states that there is no meaningful visible or contextual 
relationship between the site and the majority of the conservation area, 
therefore no further assessment of the effects of the development on the 
setting of the conservation area is required.   

 
230. Impacts on Lower Town Farmhouse are assessed, as set out above. 

This found that this listed building and the character of the Conservation 
Area do derive some significance from their setting on a village edge 
defined by the gentle transition into the surrounding farmland. However, 
the proposals would not change this physical relationship. The proposed 
bund on the eastern extraction boundary would provide a visual screen 
to the quarry workings and reduce noise levels. The bund itself would be 
temporary. Overall, the assessment finds that there would be a minor 
adverse effect on the significance of the western edge of the Clifton 
Hampden Conservation Area which would lessen to a negligible/neutral 
impact once restoration is complete.  

 
231. Concerns have also been raised about impacts on Long Wittenham 

conservation area, which lies on the other side of the River Thames. The 
cultural heritage assessment states that there is no functional or 
associative relationship between the villages of Long Wittenham or 
Appleford and the modern farmland separating them and therefore 
detailed consideration of the effects on the heritage assets of these 
villages is not necessary. 

 
232. As the development would not give rise to significant adverse impacts on 

conservation areas or their setting, it is considered to be in accordance 
with the relevant policies, including SOLP policy CON7 and SOCS policy 
CSEN3. 

 

Page 45



PN6 
 

Biodiversity 
 
233. Policy C7 of the OMWCS states that minerals and waste development 

should conserve and where possible provide a net gain in biodiversity. 
The highest level of protection will be given to sites and species of 
international nature conservation importance and in all other cases 
development that would result in significant harm will not be permitted 
unless the harm can be avoided, adequately mitigated or, as a last 
resort, compensated for to result in a net gain in biodiversity. Proposals 
shall demonstrate how the development will make an appropriate 
contribution to the maintenance and enhancement of local habitats, 
biodiversity or geodiversity, including contributing to the objectives of the 
Conservation Target Areas wherever possible. Satisfactory long-term 
management arrangements for restored sites shall be included in 
proposals.  

 
234. SOLP policy G2 states that the district’s countryside and environmental 

resources will be protected from adverse development. SOLP policy C6 
states that the maintenance and enhancement of the diversity resource 
will be sought and full account of the effects on wildlife will be taken. 
Where there is any significant loss in biodiversity new habitat will be 
required to ensure there is no net loss.  

 
235. NPPF paragraph 109 states that the planning system should contribute 

to and enhance the natural and local environment by minimising impacts 
on biodiversity and providing net gains in biodiversity where possible, 
including by establishing coherent ecological networks that are more 
resilient to current and future pressures.  

 
236. NPPF paragraph 118 states that when determining planning 

applications, planning authorities should aim to conserve and enhance 
biodiversity by refusing planning permission if significant harm cannot be 
avoided and by encouraging opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in 
and around developments.  

 
237. NPPF paragraph 118 also states that planning permission should be 

refused for development resulting in the loss or deterioration in 
irreplaceable habitats, including ancient woodland, unless the need for, 
and benefits of, the development in that location clearly outweigh the 
loss. 

 
238. SOCS policy CSB1 states that a net loss of biodiversity will be avoided 

and opportunities for net gain will be sought. The highest level of 
protection will be given to sites and species of international importance 
but damage to nationally and locally important sites and species will be 
avoided unless the importance of the development outweighs the loss. 
Policy CSG1 requires that new development takes into account the 
relationship to existing green infrastructure and where appropriate 
contributes to improvements. Net loss of green infrastructure and 
biodiversity will be avoided. 

Page 46



PN6 
 

 
239. The Ecology Officer is satisfied that there would be a net biodiversity 

gain, in accordance with policy. She is also satisfied with the ecological 
surveys that have been submitted with the application, following the 
submission of further information. Therefore, the Ecology Officer has no 
objection to the development, subject to the conditions and a legal 
agreement securing 20 years of long term management after the 5 year 
statutory aftercare period. 

 
240. Following the submission of an arboricultural assessment with the further 

information, the Arboricultural Officer confirmed that he has no objection 
to the proposals, subject to a condition for a detailed restoration plan for 
trees and hedgerows which should include specifications including 
planting, soil enrichment, replacement, protection and pruning. There 
would be an overall increase in tree cover following restoration.  

 
241. Therefore, it is considered that the proposals comply with relevant 

policies relating to the protection of biodiversity. Although there would be 
an impact on the current ecology, including the loss of trees, the 
potential for an overall biodiversity gain in the longer term has been 
demonstrated. The commitment to an extended management period 
would ensure that the relevant areas of the site could be managed for 
biodiversity for long enough for habitats to establish. Therefore, the short 
term loss of habitat and impact on existing biodiversity is considered to 
be outweighed by the longer term gain in habitats and biodiversity.  

 
242. The development is considered to be in accordance with relevant 

development plan policies and emerging policies relating to biodiversity 
including SOLP policies G2 and C6, SOCS policies CSB1 and CSG1 
and OMWCS policy C7.  

 
Restoration 
 
243. OMWCS policy M10 states that mineral workings shall be restored to a 

high standard and in a timely and phased manner to an afteruse which is 
appropriate to the location and delivers a net gain in biodiversity. It 
contains criteria which the restoration must take into account.  

 
244. NPPF paragraph 144 states that local planning authorities should 

provide for restoration and aftercare at the earliest opportunity, to the 
highest environmental standards.  

 
245. The proposed restoration provides a balance of afteruses including 

agriculture, nature conservation and recreation. Areas of open water 
have been limited in accordance with the Ministry of Defence’s (MOD) 
requirements with regard to bird strike risk. The applicant has agreed to 
fund 20 years of long term management following the statutory aftercare 
period to ensure that the areas restored to nature conservation develop 
successfully. Overall, it is considered that the restoration proposals are 
appropriate and in accordance with the relevant policies, including 

Page 47



PN6 
 

OMWCS policy M10 and NPPF paragraph 144. Conditions would be 
used to ensure that the proposed restoration is implemented to high 
standards.   

 
Birdstrike  
 
246. NPPF paragraph 144 states that mineral development should not result 

in unacceptable adverse effects on aviation safety.  
 
247. The application site lies within the safeguarding zone for RAF Benson 

and therefore the MOD was consulted on the application plans to 
confirm whether they had concerns about an increase in risk of bird 
strike, due to habitat creation.  

 
248. The MOD has reviewed the amended restoration plan and does not 

object to the application. However, they state that the site has the 
potential to support large flocking bird species which could pose a risk of 
birdstrike to RAF Benson and therefore a robust bird hazardous 
management plan would be needed to cover the entire restored site. 
This can be covered by legal agreement. The MOD would also like to be 
consulted on detailed restoration plans for each phase of the working. 
Therefore, a condition can be used for the submission of detailed 
working and restoration plans, prior to the commencement of extraction 
in each phase. Subject to the bird management plan and conditions, the 
development is acceptable in terms of birdstrike and compliant with the 
NPPF in this regard.  

 
Soils and Agriculture 
 
249. OMWCS policy C6 states that the presence of best and most versatile 

(BMV) agricultural land should be taken into account, the permanent loss 
of BMV land will only be permitted where there is an overriding need and 
provision should be made to maintain agricultural land quality, soil 
quality  and for the long-term conservation of soils. 

 
250. The NPPF paragraph 143 states that worked land should be reclaimed 

at the earliest opportunity taking into account the safeguarding of the 
best and most versatile agricultural land to conserve soil resources, 
amongst other considerations including biodiversity and recreation. 
NPPF paragraph 112 states that local planning authorities should take 
into account the economic and other benefits of the best and most 
versatile agricultural land.  

 
251. Following initial comments from Natural England, further information was 

sought to support the agricultural land classification and soil resources 
ES chapter. This information was provided by the applicant, and Natural 
England then confirmed that although there would be a net loss of 15 ha 
best and most versatile agricultural land, they have no objection to the 
proposals subject to conditions to cover soil handling, stripping, storage 
and replacement, and aftercare.  

Page 48



PN6 
 

 
252. Although the application affects a large area of BMV agricultural land, 

most of this (47ha) would be restored back to BMV land following the 
mineral working. The proposals for restoration and aftercare have been 
considered and assessed as suitable for achieving this. Therefore, 
subject to the conditions recommended by Natural England being added 
to any permission granted, the development would be in accordance 
with relevant policies regarding the protection of best and most versatile 
agricultural land, including OMWCS policy C6 and NPPF paragraphs 
112 and 143. 

 
Socio-economic 
 
253. A number of objections have been raised in relation to the impacts on 

tourism in the area, especially in relation to the Thames Path and visitors 
to Clifton Hampden and Abingdon, with associated impacts for local 
businesses.   

 
254. The SOLP contains a number of policies relating to tourist related 

development, including TSM1 which states that the prosperity of the 
area’s tourist industry will be supported through encouraging enterprises 
based on the conservation and enjoyment of the inherent qualities and 
heritage of the area. However, this policy does not directly address the 
consideration of proposals with the potential to have an impact on 
existing tourist attractions and facilities. The concern of objectors is that 
the development proposed here will be detrimental to existing attractions 
which encourage visitors to the area. 

 
255. It is not considered that the proposed development would have direct 

significant detrimental impacts on the attractiveness of the area for 
visitors specifically interested in walking the Thames Path or visiting 
historic villages. It is considered unlikely that potential walkers of the 
Thames Path, which passes through a variety of riverside settings, 
would be put off doing so due to the presence of a quarry along part of 
its length. Similarly it seems unlikely that significant numbers of potential 
visitors looking to explore and enjoy the historic interest and 
attractiveness of local villages would be deterred due to the location of a 
quarry in the vicinity. 

 
256. The quarry would not be worked on Saturday afternoons, Sundays or 

Bank and Public Holidays, when it could be expected that there would be 
more recreational visitors. The quarry would be worked in phases and so 
at any point in time the workings would be small in scale compared to 
the scale of the application site. It is not visible from the historic core of 
Clifton Hampden village.  

 
257. The ES includes a consideration of socio-economic impacts, including 

impacts on tourism. An impact on tourism is identified along the Thames 
Path, but this would be temporary and measures are proposed to 
mitigate the impacts on the Thames Path, including new planting to 

Page 49



PN6 
 

screen the development from the path. The development would affect 
only a short section of the long distance route.  

 
258. Overall, it is not considered that there would be a significant impact on 

the tourism industry in the local area as a result of this development. 
There is the potential for socio-economic benefits from employment and 
aggregate supply.  

 
Cumulative Impact  
 
259. NPPF paragraph 143 states that in relation to minerals, local plans 

should set out environmental criteria to assess planning applications 
against and the cumulative effect of multiple impacts from individual sites 
in a locality should be taken into account.  

 
260. The ES takes into account potential cumulative impacts within the 

different assessments that it contains. Cumulative noise (including traffic 
noise) and dust impacts are assessed in relation to developments 
including the proposed new road crossing over the River Thames, 
proposals at Culham Science Centre and the proposed new quarry at 
New Barn Farm near Wallingford 

 
261. The hydrogeological assessment did not identify any cumulative 

impacts, as the River Thames provides a hydraulic boundary to quarry 
areas south of the river. The archaeological assessment considers the 
potential cumulative impact of the proposed new road alignment.  

 
262. A number of the assessments in the ES identify the proposed new 

Thames crossing road as a development with the potential for 
cumulative impacts, but state that it is not possible to assess these until 
a route is known.  

 
Conclusions 
 
263. The proposed development is contrary to NPPF paragraph 32, OMWCS 

policy C10 and LTP policy 02, as in the context of the existing flows on 
the local network the additional vehicle movements proposed would 
have severe impacts on the safety and efficiency of the highway 
network, leading to increased delays and accident risk. 

 
264. The proposed development is contrary to OMWCS policies C5 and C10 

in relation to the environmental and amenity impacts of the proposed 
additional vehicle movements. These additional movements would affect 
a local network already shown to experience peak time queueing (at the 
Clifton Hampden crossroads and junction of Abingdon Road and 
Tollgate Road) and therefore additional vehicle movements in these 
circumstances would lead to stationary and idling vehicles with 
associated air emissions.  

 

Page 50



PN6 
 

265. The proposed site does not pass the flooding sequential test and 
therefore there is a conflict with OMWCS policy C3. However, this is not 
considered to be a reason for refusing the application as detailed flood 
risk assessment work has shown that the development would not lead to 
an increased risk of flooding and there has been no objection from the 
Environment Agency or Lead Local Flood Authority.  

 
266. The development is in accordance with the Development Plan and the 

NPPF in other respects, subject to conditions and legal agreements. It is 
considered that with the exception of traffic impacts, the potential 
impacts arising from the development could be adequately addressed 
through the use of planning condition and legal agreements. With the 
exception of the severe traffic impacts the proposed development is 
considered to be sustainable development in environmental, social and 
economic terms. The proposed development would be beneficial in 
terms of contributing towards Oxfordshire’s supply of sharp sand and 
gravel and providing a high quality restoration. 

 
267. However, due to the severe traffic impacts and the conflict with 

development plan policy that arises from these impacts, it is 
recommended that the application is refused.   

 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
268.  It is RECOMMENDED that Application MW.0039/16 (P16/S1192/CM) 

be refused planning permission for the following reasons: 
 

i) The additional vehicle movements arising from the 
development would lead to severe highways impacts contrary 
to paragraph 32 of the NPPF; would not maintain the safety of 
road users and the efficiency of the road network contrary to 
OMWCS policy C10 and would contribute to congestion, 
disruption and delays on the road network, contrary to LTP 
policy 02.  

 
ii) The additional vehicle movements arising from the 

development would worsen queuing at the local junctions 
leading to stationary vehicles with associated air emissions, 
causing unacceptable adverse impacts on environmental 
amenity, contrary to OMWCS policies C5 and C10.  

 
 

SUSAN HALLIWELL 
Director for Planning and Place 
 
November 2017

Page 51



PN6 
 

 

 

P
age 52



PN6 
 

 

P
age 53



PN6 
 

Page 54



PN6 
 

 
 

Annex 1 - Compliance with National Planning Policy Framework 
paragraphs 186 & 187 

 
In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF Oxfordshire County 
Council take a positive and proactive approach to decision making focused on 
solutions and fostering the delivery of sustainable development. We work with 
applicants in a positive and proactive manner by:  
- offering a pre-application advice service, as was the case with this 
application, and  
- updating the agent and applicant of issues that have arisen in the 
processing of the application through meetings, phone calls and emails 
suggesting further information that could be submitted to overcome these 
concerns.  
- This application was taken to committee for decision prior to the 
concerns of Transport Development Control being addressed by the applicant 
at the applicant’s own request.  
 

Page 55



PN6 
 

 
 

Annex 2 - Environmental Statement  
 

1. An Environmental Statement was submitted with the planning 
application.  

 
2. Chapter 1 sets out the background to the Environmental Statement. 
 
3. Chapter 2 considers hydrology and hydrogeology. This includes details 

of the predicted effects of the development. Possible effects during the 
working phase which have been assessed include derogation of private 
water supplies and licensed abstraction, reduction in the water resource 
potential of the aquifer, change in stream and river flows, changes to 
groundwater quality and changes to surface water quality. It concludes 
that the predicted effects can be mitigated such that effects would not be 
significant. Mitigation measures are described, including the use of clay 
barriers.  

 
4. Chapter 3 assesses flood risk. It identifies a number of activities with the 

potential to affect flood risk and assesses the potential effect on flood 
risk receptors. Mitigation measures for the operational and restoration 
phases are described. These have been incorporated into the design 
and include the location of stockpiles and noise bunds and scalloping to 
direct flood water towards bund gaps, management of the water level in 
restored lakes and maintenance of hydraulic continuity with the aquifer. 
The chapter concludes that subject to mitigation there would be no 
significant effects.  

 
5. Chapter 4 covers archaeology and the historic environment and was 

revised following the Regulation 22 request. This submission set out the 
desk based assessment, geophysical survey and trial trench evaluation 
which have been carried out across area originally considered for the 
application. An area within the original area site was designated as a 
Scheduled Monument (early Bronze Age Barrow cemetery) and the 
extraction area was reduced to exclude this. The chapter considers the 
significance of the archaeological interest within the site and states that 
there would be a high adverse impact which without mitigation would 
result in a major adverse impact on the historic environment resource. 
However, a mitigation strategy is proposed including a programme of full 
archaeological excavation in the areas of most intensive levels of 
deposits (phases 5, 6 and 8) and a strip, map and sample programme in 
other areas. With mitigation the overall effects of the development, 
including in relation to the setting of Clifton Hampden Conservation Area 
and listed buildings, is assessed as minor. A minor adverse residual 
effect is also predicted in relation to the setting of the SM resulting from 
the alteration to the restored landscape.  

 
6. Chapter 5 assesses the impact on soils and agriculture. This concludes 

that the development would lead to the loss of less than 10 hectares of 

Page 56



PN6 
 

best and most versatile agricultural land and this is considered to be a 
minor adverse impact. 23.5 hectares would be restored to best and most 
versatile agricultural land. The impact on farm holdings within the site is 
assessed as minor adverse following restoration.  

 
7. Chapter 6 considers bird strike. It states that most potential hazards 

relate to the restoration of the site following mineral working. It considers 
the potential impacts of the restored landform on flights in and out of 
RAF Benson. It describes mitigation which has been incorporated into 
the design to reduce the attractiveness of the habitat to potential 
hazardous breeds of bird. For example, no islands have been provided 
in the lakes, a public footpath is proposed around the two larger lakes to 
introduce a level of disturbance, goose proof fencing would be installed 
and the use of reed fringes to the lakes. A bird management plan would 
be needed to manage the site in the long term.  Subject to these 
measures, the chapter concludes that the development would not 
significantly increase bird strike risk.  

 
8. Chapter 7 contains the Landscape and Visual Assessment. This 

identifies the key visual receptors, including public footpaths and 
dwellings. It also sets out proposals to mitigate the potential impacts 
including advance woodland planting and retention of existing woodland 
where possible. Even taking into account the mitigation there would be a 
major adverse impact on visual effects from the Thames Path in the 
short to medium term. However, this only affects a 800 metre stretch of a 
long distance path.  The visual impact on dwellings is considered to be 
minor adverse during the operational period and negligible 15 years post 
restoration.  A supplement to the chapter was submitted to address 
changes to the proposals, which concluded that the removal of the 
concrete plant would have a negligible influence on the landscape and 
visual effects, and the amended advance planting proposals and 
changes to the bunds alongside the diverted footpath would have 
beneficial influences.  

 
9. Chapter 8 considers transport and access and assesses the proposals in 

terms of vibration, severance and pedestrian delay, driver stress and 
delay, pedestrian amenity, fear and intimidation and accidents and 
safety. The residual effect in all cases is found to be negligible during 
construction and operation and will reduce further in the long term once 
the site is restored. 

 
10. Chapter 9 is a noise assessment. This provides the results of noise 

surveys conducted at noise sensitive properties and suggests noise 
limits based on those existing background noise levels and on the advice 
on appropriate noise standards contained in the Planning Practice 
Guidance. In some cases calculated noise levels exceed the suggested 
limits and so mitigation is proposed. This includes noise attenuation 
bunds and barriers. Road traffic noise is assessed and is considered to 
be negligible.  

 

Page 57



PN6 
 

11. Chapter 10 considers biodiversity. This sets out the desk based review, 
Phase 1 Ecology survey, Phase 2 Ecology survey and ecological 
assessment which have been undertaken in relation to the site. This 
states that the only residual adverse impact is the loss of 2350 metres of 
hedgerow. It concludes that in the long term the development would not 
alter the functioning of existing habitats and there would be habitat 
creation as part of the restoration. Overall, it is concluded that the 
residual ecological effect would be positive at the site level with benefits 
potentially becoming significant at the local, district or county scale.  

 
12. Chapter 11 covers geology and mineral resources. This presents the 

results of boreholes and describes the investigations which have 
estimated the total reserves of sand and gravel and the estimated depth 
and thickness of the mineral. This provides an estimate of the mineral 
tonnage by phase with a total of 2.57 million tonnes.  

 
13. Chapter 12 considers air quality and is split into two parts, one covering 

dust and the other traffic. The dust related air quality section concludes 
that the cumulative dust impacts are considered to be localised and of 
negligible significance with appropriate mitigation. Mitigation measures 
include sheeting vehicles, maintaining haul roads, use of a water bowser 
in dry conditions, minimisation of drop heights, screening bunds and 
undertaking temporary operations such as soil stripping only in 
appropriate weather conditions. The traffic related air quality assessment 
considers the impact on air quality on local roads and in air quality 
management areas which vehicles may pass through. It concludes that 
the impact of the quarry traffic on local air quality would not be 
significant.  

 
14. Chapter 13 considers alternative sites, working methods and supply 

options.  It concludes that a meaningful alternative site or supply option 
has not been found and the application site is available for immediate 
development.  

 
15. Chapter 14 considers climate change and explains that the proposals 

have taken climate change into account through site design and 
operation and in the assessment work. 

 
16. Chapter 15 covers the socio-economic impacts of the proposals on the 

local community. It confirms the findings of the individual assessments 
that the proposals would not have an unacceptable impact on the local 
community. It states that there would be benefits in terms of employment 
and the supply of construction materials into the local market.  

 
17. A new Chapter 16 was provided as part of the additional information 

submitted. This contains an Arboricultural Assessment. This provides 
details of trees on site, including their age, condition and classification. It 
then confirms which trees are proposed for removal. It concludes that 
there would be an adverse landscape and environmental impact 
associated with the removal of 43 trees/tree groups, four of which are 

Page 58



PN6 
 

classified as category A (good quality.) It states that a qualified 
arboricultural consultant must be retained during to inspect tree 
protection fencing prior to ground work on each phase commencing.  

 
18. Additional technical work was submitted for a number of chapters in 

response to the  Regulation 22 requests. There were no changes to the 
overall conclusions of the ES as a result of the additional assessment 
work, however, some additional mitigation measures were proposed as a 
result, including a new amenity bund on the north west boundary, an 
amendment to the extraction area to protect trees, additional planting 
and a change to the configuration of the southern lake on the restoration 
plan. Updates to a number of the assessments were also received 
following the amendment of the proposal to remove the concrete plant. 
There were no significant changes to the environmental impacts as a 
result of this change.  

 
 
 
 

Page 59



PN6 
 

 
 
Annex 3 – Consultation Responses Summary 

 
 

South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning 
 

1. S
eptember 2017 – Re-iterates strong objection, particularly in relation to 
the landscaping and bunds proposed. Concerns are reinforced by the 
August comments from OCC’s landscape advisor. Whilst there is scope 
to consider a restoration scheme that is more sensitive to the 
surrounding landscape than currently proposed, it is not clear that harm 
associated with the operation and bunds can be overcome without 
reintroducing harm to amenity. The impact of the height and number of 
bunds is exacerbated by the topography of the site, and its prominence 
within the landscaping setting of the river corridor. Not clear what other 
mitigation could be provided that would satisfactorily safeguard nearby 
occupants from prolonged noise disturbance. Full consideration should 
be given to the ‘in principle’ landscape objection.  
 

2. M
arch 2017 – Object. The proposed development increases the risk of 
adverse impact to initiatives and investment associated with the 
Science Vale UK area and risks jeopardising infrastructure project 
aimed at addressing traffic congestion in the immediate area. The 
proposed bunds intended as mitigation would introduce landscape 
impacts. Also concerned about the removal of trees, noise, emissions 
and vibrations, insufficient information on the effectiveness of the 
proposed bunds, insufficient information regarding heritage assets.  

 
3. May 2016 - Object. The proposals are contrary to development plan 

policy, including in relation to landscape, environmental protection and 
biodiversity. Although the site is within the ‘Thames Valley (Oxford to 
Goring Gap) area identified in the draft Minerals and Waste Core 
Strategy, this application pre-empts the examination of that plan and 
any site allocation plan.  

 
4. Strategic Issues - The site is within a key area of Science Vale, which 

is nationally significant. This has the potential to adversely impact 
emerging plans in both South Oxfordshire and the Vale of White Horse. 
The proposal has the potential to exacerbate traffic congestion and 
impact the delivery of an identified strategic opportunity to relieve that 
congestion and deliver planned growth.  A new north-south link road at 
Clifton Hampden and bridge crossing the Thames is important to the 
delivery of Local Plans for both SODC and Vale of White Horse District 
Council. Allowing mineral extraction at this site could undermine 
identification of opportunities for this. Proposals should therefore 
ensure that the delivery of the river crossing is not prejudiced in any 
way.  

Page 60



PN6 
 

 
5. Landscape – The River Thames is particularly picturesque around 

Clifton Hampden. Large scale development is inappropriate in river 
corridors and this is reflected in SODC Core Strategy policy CSEN1.  
 

6. Historic environment – An assessment of the impact on the setting of 
designated heritage assets should be provided and this should 
demonstrate how the development would conserve and enhance their 
historic significance in line with policy. 
 

7. Green infrastructure and biodiversity – There appears to be a conflict in 
conservation terms and the area is identified as important for birds and 
yet bird fencing and bird scarers are proposed for the restored lake. 
The applicant should undertake baseline surveys of the site to assess 
its current value and demonstrate how the proposals can avoid a net 
loss in biodiversity.  
 

8. Neighbourhood Development Plan – Clifton Hampden has a 
designated Neighbourhood Development Plan area. Whilst gravel 
working is excluded from such plans, we encourage closer working 
between the applicant and the Parish Council.  
 
SODC Environmental Health 

 
9. November 2017 – Requests further information about impact of 

changes to bunds on noise impacts. Indicated verbally that 
clarifications provided by the applicant’s noise consultants adequately 
resolve these concerns, but a written response had not been received 
at the time of drafting this report and will be included in an addendum if 
received.  
 

10. February 2017 – No objection subject to conditions to control noise, 
including the implementation of the proposed bunds, and noise limits in 
accordance with submitted report.  
 

11. May 2016 – Concerned that noise levels recorded at position 8 do not 
represent the background noise existing to the rear of Fullamoor Farm. 
Requires further noise monitoring to be carried out directly to the rear 
of Fullamoor Farm and also at the four houses to the east. Requires 
more detail about temporary operations. Will provide final comments 
once additional information is received.  
 
SODC Air Quality Officer Response  
 

12. May 2016 - The potential dust impact of the development on nearby 
receptors is a concern, however this has been sufficiently addressed in 
the assessment and therefore there are no objections provided the 
mitigation laid out in chapter 12 of the Environmental Statement is 
adhered to. Recommend condition for a detailed dust management 
scheme.  

Page 61



PN6 
 

 
 
Clifton Hampden Parish Council 
Culham Parish Council 
Long Wittenham Parish Council 
Appleford Parish Council 
 

13. T
hese Parish Councils have confirmed that the detailed objection 
submitted by a planning consultant on behalf of the objector group 
Bachport (Burcot and Clifton Hampden for the Protection of the River 
Thames) was also submitted on their behalf. The Bachport response is 
summarised in the representations annex.  
 
Long Wittenham Parish Council 
 

14. L
ong Wittenham Parish Council responded separately to the October 
2017 consultation. They state that the removal of the concrete batching 
plant does not change their opposition to the quarry. Concerned that a 
concrete plant could be developed in the future under permitted 
development rights. Remain concerned about impact on the River 
Thames, Oxford Green Belt, traffic congestion, landscape, proposals 
for a new road and river crossing. Housing requirement figures have 
been revised downwards, undermining argument that the quarry is 
needed to meet additional demand.  
 
 
Little Wittenham Parish Council 

   
15. F

ebruary 2017 – Object – appears that nothing has changed. The noise 
survey does not take account of this side of the river. No survey has 
been carried out to take account of impact on village church and 
school. Concerned that no mitigation can be provided between the 
quarry and the river frontage and this would affect flood prevention.  
 

16. M
ay 2016 - Object. Objection centres on traffic impact on already 
congested road network, particularly the A415. Although it is a 
designated lorry route it seems it cannot safely accommodate much 
additional traffic as it already suffers heavy traffic from Culham Science 
Centre and airfield industrial site. There are safety concerns regarding 
the junction in Clifton Hampden which is immediately adjacent to the 
school and doctors' surgery. The site is in the Green Belt and there 
must be alternative sites that would have less impact. Little confidence 
that Hills would not seek to extend working beyond the initial 10 year 
period. Not clear that the mineral is actually required bearing in mind 
other operational sites and increased supplies of recycled and marine 
aggregate. 

Page 62



PN6 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Abingdon Town Council  

 
17. O

ctober 2017 - In addition to the Town Council’s previous objections, 
members expressed concerns about the volume of traffic through 
Abingdon and damage to buildings caused by vibration of HGVs. 
 

18. A
ugust 2017 – Re-iterates strong objection for reasons previously stated. 
Emphasise serious concerns regarding impact of HGVs on Abingdon 
town centre, which is an air quality management area. HGV restrictions 
should be considered alongside new technologies such as electric 
HGVs. Concerned about impact on the structure of the bridges carrying 
the A415 over the Thames in Abingdon.  
 

19. F
ebruary 2017 – Re-iterates strong objection. Application not within 
Abingdon or in an adjoining parish, however the proposal is to access 
the site via the already busy A415 passing through Abingdon. Serious 
concerns regarding the potential effect of the proposals on Abingdon as 
a result of increased traffic. There will be congestion and a lorry 
breakdown would have the potential to cause long delays. Major 
adverse impact on air quality, noise pollution and overall environment 
in the town centre. Proposal does not take into account the scoping 
opinion which stated there should be a commitment to exclude lorry 
traffic passing through Abingdon town centre.  
 

20. M
ay 2016 - Object. Concerned about the potential increase in traffic. 
Proposed additional lorries would cause congestion, impact air quality, 
cause noise pollution and adversely affect the environment in the 
historic town centre, pedestrians, cyclists, residents, traders and 
motorists. Also concerned about the effect on villages. Oxfordshire 
County Council’s scoping opinion stated that there should be a 
commitment to excluding HGVs from Abingdon town centre. This is not 
reflected in the application.  

 
Drayton St Leonard Parish Council  

 
21. M

ay 2016 - Fully support the application. Impressed by the proposals put 
forward at the public exhibition including the attention to detail and 
phased design. This proposal seems to offer a significant contribution 
to the county's minerals requirement with minimal environmental 
impact. 

Page 63



PN6 
 

 
Sutton Courtenay Parish Council 

 
22. F

ebruary 2017 - Concerned about the impact of the development on the 
immediate rural area and locality. If approved HGVs could cross the 
Thames and travel through Sutton Courtenay. There should be a 
routeing agreement to prevent this.  
 
 
 

Vale of White Horse District Council 
 

23. Response on Further Information – Maintain previous comments and 
endorses the detailed comments made by SODC in March 2017. The 
proposed development would increase the risk of adverse impact to 
initiatives and investment associated with the Science Vale UK area. 
The proposed mitigation bunds introduce further concerns in terms of 
landscape. The Vale Local Plan 2031, Part 1 (adopted in December 
2016) identified the need for a new river crossing as a necessary piece 
of infrastructure to support development in Science Vale UK and land 
to the south of the application site has been safeguarded for road 
development.  
 

24. First Response - The site is not within the Vale District, but adjoins it. 
Would like to endorse the comments of SODC and specifically highlight 
concerns regarding the potential to exacerbate traffic congestion on 
important routes and the implications of this, for example on 
neighbours and air quality.  
 

 
Berkshire, Buckinghamshire and Oxfordshire Wildlife Trust (BBOWT) 
 
25. J

uly 2017 – No objection. Note that a number of survey updates have 
been carried out.  Could not find reptile survey information, but content 
with avoidance mitigation measures proposed for reptiles. Also content 
with mitigation for other habitats and species. Support the comments of 
the County Ecology Officer on biodiversity net gain, extended aftercare 
and conditions. Note that much detail is proposed to be provided at 
later stage under condition. Recommend that the restoration 
management plan is developed sooner rather than later to provide 
confidence that ecological benefits can be achieved as stated and to 
provide clarity on management issues.  
 

26. F
irst Response - Further ecological survey work should be submitted in 
relation to reptiles, water vole, breeding birds, bat roosts and 
foraging/commuting routes. Support the guidance from the Ecologist 
Planner on further surveys needed. Consideration should be given to 

Page 64



PN6 
 

the need to update survey work given that it was undertaken in 
2013/14. The value of the arable margins should be further assessed 
as the report as identified the presence of wild pansy. The site has 
further potential to provide habitats for biodiversity.  

 
Natural England 
 
27. S

eptember 2017– No objection subject to conditions to safeguard soil 
resources. The development will lead to the net permanent loss of 15 
ha best and most versatile agricultural land. However the restoration 
proposals are such that the application should not be considered 
inappropriate. The proposals should lead to the restoration of 47 ha of 
best and most versatile agricultural land.  
 

28. F
ebruary 2017– Additional information does not address all of the 
concerns about agricultural land.  

 
29. J

une 2016 - Soil, Land Quality and Reclamation – Strong reservations 
about the proposal. Unable to advise on the reliability of the Agricultural 
Land Classification data provided unless the applicant provides further 
information. On the basis of the information provided, the development 
could result in the irreversible loss of at least 10 ha of best and most 
versatile agricultural land. The applicant has not provided enough 
evidence to confirm the maximum area of land would be restored to 
BMV agricultural land. Therefore, the submitted proposals do not meet 
with the requirements for sustainable minerals development. Soil 
information should be revised for the proposed site area, as submitted 
information is based on a larger site area. Any changes to restoration 
design resulting from changed soil volumes should be addressed. 
Information on post restoration underdrainage should be provided. 
Soils should not be handled between November and March inclusive. 
The submitted information on aftercare does not contain enough detail 
to meet the requirements of an outline scheme. Notwithstanding strong 
reservations regarding loss of BMV land, the proposed restoration may 
be capable of delivering significant biodiversity and green infrastructure 
benefits.  

 
 

Ministry of Defence - Defence Infrastructure Organisation  
 

30. July 2017 –No objection. The applicant has identified that they will be 
preparing a bird management plan for the management of the entire 
restored site. As per previous response, no objection subject to this 
requirement. 
 

31. M
arch 2017– The revised restoration plan does not appear to introduce 

Page 65



PN6 
 

new habitats but would increase the amount of wetland available to 
gulls and waterfowl. Therefore, as previously advised a robust bird 
management plan would be needed, including remedial action to be 
taken should trigger levels be exceeded. The MOD would also wish to 
review the detailed restoration plans submitted by the applicant, prior to 
the extraction of each phase of extraction.  

 
32. J

une 2016 - No objection. The site falls within the safeguarding 
consultation zone for RAF Benson. The proposed restoration would 
create 3 lakes and restore 8 silt lagoons to a mosaic of open water with 
reed marsh and wet woodland. Concerned that this scheme would 
create wetland habitats attractive to large and flocking birds which are 
hazardous to air traffic. The lakes are devoid of islands which would 
limit breeding habitat. However, the dimensions of the lakes would 
attract waterfowl and provide opportunities for roosting gulls. The lake 
banks would be shallow, but to inhibit the movement of geese, sides 
should be steep and planted with marginal vegetation. Once 
established the proposed reedbeds should reduce the area of open 
water. However, provisions will need to be made for managing these 
habitats to prevent roosting flocks of starlings or nesting geese. 
Therefore, there should be a bird management plan as part of a 
Section 106 legal agreement and this should be implemented for as 
long as RAF Benson remains in use. Would wish to comment on 
detailed restoration plans submitted under conditions.  
 

 
Historic England 
 
33. N

ovember 2017 – No objection. Previous advice remains unchanged. 
One on small point of detail, the revised plans show a new hedge 
adjacent to the Thames Path to screen the quarry. A viewing gap 
should be maintained to allow users of the Thames Path to look 
towards the Scheduled Monument. This would also be an appropriate 
place for an information board about the monument and other heritage 
assets on the site.  This would be in addition to the heritage 
interpretation scheme proposed as part of the restoration. 
 

34. J
uly 2017 – No objection. There would be some harm, but this would be 
less than substantial harm. Consider that there would be some residual 
effect on the scheduled monument due to the change in the landscape 
following restoration and the new woodland which would cut across 
existing open views. The rise in water level predicted is unlikely to have 
any impact on scheduled archaeology.  

 
35. M

arch 2017 – No objection. Groundwater levels would be reduced by 2-3 
metres during quarrying and to a minor extent water levels will also be 

Page 66



PN6 
 

lower after restoration due to evapotranspiration of the lake. These 
lower water levels would not directly impact on the erodibility of the 
monument, but there could be minor increased agricultural impacts due 
to a lower water table, for example plant roots extending deeper. The 
monument lies up-gradient of the proposed quarry, which would 
decrease any impacts. Backfilling the quarry workings with less 
permeable material would result in a rise in water levels up gradient. 
Overall, therefore the quarrying activity would not increase the risk of 
erosion to the monument.   There would be some harm through the 
impact on setting to this monument and the one to the south of the 
river, this harm needs to be considered against public benefit.  
 

36. A
pril 2016 – The quarry would extend to within 40 metres of the Round 
Barrow Cemetery Schedule Monument. There is a risk that the 
development could cause the monument to dry out and erode. 
Specialist advice is being sought on this issue. There would be some 
harm to the significance of the monument and another monument to 
the south of the river, through impact on their settings. There would be 
harm to the monument through the bunds and plant site and probably 
also through the restoration proposals. Permission should not be 
granted until further advice has been received regarding the risk of the 
moment drying out. The harm to the settings of the monument should 
be considered against public benefit by the Minerals Planning 
Authority. 

 
Network Rail 
 
37. August 2017 – No objection in principle, however have some concerns 

and request conditions to cover groundwater monitoring, trigger levels 
and contingency plans, submission of quarterly groundwater monitoring 
reports and provision of a clay lined barrier. Previous comments also 
remain.  
 

38. March 2017- Provides comments and requirements for the safe 
operation of the railway including advice on drainage, safety, design of 
any works adjacent to Network Rail’s property.  
 

39. February 2017– Further information required regarding dewatering 
proposals.  

 
40. M

ay 2016 - No objection provided comments and requirements for the 
safe operation of the railway including advice on drainage, safety, 
design of any works adjacent to Network Rail’s property.  

 
 

Environment Agency 
 

Page 67



PN6 
 

41. November 2017 – No objection. Previous queries have been resolved 
following clarifications from the applicant. Comments and conditions 
from July 2017 response still apply. The proposed bund alignment is 
not likely to significantly affect flood flows and satisfied that biodiversity 
issues have been resolved.  
 

42. October 2017 – Queries for the applicant about the additional 
information. A plan should be provided showing the 16m ecological 
buffer from the River Thames and the 25m standoff between the river 
and the edge of mineral extraction. Concerned about the proposed 
hedgerow parallel to the River Thames as there should not be formal 
landscaping within the buffer zone. It could also act as a barrier to 
habitat connectivity. Would like some clarification regarding the 
removal of bunds and the flood risk modelling.  
 

43. August 2017 – The revised Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 
includes proposals for the Thames Path to be screened from the site by 
a new hedgerow. We would not want to see any formal landscaping 
within the 25 metre buffer from the top bank of the Thames. Formal 
landscaping would include non-native species, trimmed shrubs and 
hedge lines and ornamental planting.  
 

44. July 2017 – No objection. Previous objection on flood risk and 
biodiversity grounds is withdrawn, subject to conditions being imposed 
on any planning permission. Conditions are required to cover 
compliance with the FRA and mitigation measures, scheme to show 
the final design and alignment of bunds and stilts under the aggregate 
plant, plan to show implementation of surface and ground water 
pumping scheme, ecological protection and restoration scheme 
including details of a 25 metre buffer between the Thames and the 
quarry works. The Minerals Planning Authority should be satisfied that 
the sequential test is passed. Clay extraction is classified as ‘less 
vulnerable’ development which is not appropriate in flood zone 3b. 
Would prefer the processing plant to be located at an area of lower risk 
of flooding, however we are satisfied with the flood risk as mitigation is 
proposed.  
 

45. A
pril 2017 – Object to the development in fluvial flood risk and nature 
conservation grounds. The FRA does not comply with the requirements 
of the NPPF. This objection could be overcome by submitting a revised 
FRA. Object on the grounds of nature conservation because the 
assessment and mitigation of the risks to nature conservation is 
inadequate. The applicant should provide further information to 
demonstrate that the risks can be satisfactorily addressed.  
 
 

46. A
ugust 2016 – Object due to flood risk. Further work is needed before 
the flood risk model can be accepted as fit for purpose. Object due to 

Page 68



PN6 
 

nature conservation. The assessment and mitigation of risks to nature 
conservation are inadequate. The applicant should provide further 
information including ecological surveys, impacts of removing ditches, 
impacts on local wildlife sites, impacts of lighting, mitigation for 
protecting the River Thames. Clarifications are also needed to correct 
inconsistencies in the submission. The restoration scheme is 
inadequate and should be revised. 
 

47. M
ay 2016 – Further information about fluvial flood risk modelling required 
before a full formal response can be given.  

 
 

Public Health 
 

48. N
o objection. On the basis of the information provided, and subject to 
good dust management practices, PHE does not anticipate that the 
operation of the site is likely to result in any significant impact on public 
health 
 

North Wessex Downs AONB 
 
49. C

oncerned about the quarry’s location within the setting of the AONB 
and its potential to harm important views and vistas in and out of the 
AONB, in particular from Wittenham Clumps. Didcot Power Station is 
also visible from the clumps but is in the process of being demolished. 
The primary purpose of AONB designation is to conserve and enhance 
the natural beauty of the area and the North Wessex Downs are 
particularly susceptible to developments which are visually prominent, 
noisy, or of an urban, suburban or industrial nature.  

 
50. T

he development has the potential to have a negative impact on the 
Thames Path. It has not been demonstrated that noise levels would be 
appropriate in the very tranquil environment. The proposed advance 
planting would need to be planted significantly in advance to provide 
visual or acoustic screening. The development would alter the 
character of the large open field pattern. The restoration scheme 
should be improved. The bodies of water need to be more naturally 
contoured and reduced in size to create multiple ponds and a natural 
drop towards the Thames. The woodland belt to the north of the larger 
water body should be broken into smaller clumps to conserve views 
into the AONB. There is the potential for restoration of land to 
wildflower meadow or skylark plots. 

 
Transport Development Control 
 

Page 69



PN6 
 

51. November 2017 – Object. Recommend the application is refused in the 
interests of highway safety, convenience and sustainability and in 
accordance with Paragraph 32 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and Policy 02 of the Oxfordshire Local Transport Plan. The 
submitted Transport Statement suggests that new trips from the 
proposed development would be insignificant in terms of highway 
impact given existing flows on the network. Although I previously 
agreed with this, recent County Council traffic surveys and modelling 
show excessive queuing and junction blocking bringing about a 
situation best described as gridlock. In such circumstances the impact 
of additional trips is disproportionate and very few trips may add to 
delay significantly. Frustrated drivers merging and manoeuvring 
indiscriminately will have an adverse impact on road safety as will the 
increased likelihood of rear end shunt collisions resulting from queuing, 
especially where forward visibility may be limited. In addition, idling 
vehicles would add to particulate and carbon dioxide emissions. The 
Local Highway Authority considers the traffic impact of this 
development would be unacceptable and would meet the NPPF criteria 
of ‘severe harm’ so as to justify the refusal of planning permission. 
 

52. The proposed junction with the A415 is acceptable in principle, routeing 
is in accordance with County Council’s Lorry Routeing and footway 
improvements adjacent to Clifton Hampden Primary School are 
welcomed. Therefore, permission be granted conditions and legal 
agreements should be sought to secure these. However, the 
recommended obligations, conditions and informatives would not 
resolve the objection set out.  
 

53. May 2016 - No objection subject to conditions and obligations to ensure 
the proposed routeing (routeing agreement) and the works to highway 
to achieve footway improvements and new access (Section 278 
agreement). Routeing of HGVs is in accordance with OCC’s Lorry 
Routeing Strategy, there would be no significant traffic impact on the 
local highway network. The proposed footway improvements are 
welcomed. Conditions should be attached to ensure the new access 
and visibility splays are in accordance with approved plans and that the 
development takes place in accordance with an approved Construction 
Traffic Management Plan (CTMP). The access proposals comply with 
the required standards.  Traffic impact on the local highway network 
would be minimal, with few trips coinciding with peak network hours. 
Given the background traffic on the local highway network the impact of 
the proposed additional movements is considered to be negligible. In 
relation to Abingdon town centre, the additional trips would not have a 
significant impact on flows but there may be an implication for air 
quality and advice should be sought from the relevant body.  

 
Transport Strategy and Policy 

 
54. November 2017 – Object. The proposal, as submitted, would prejudice 

the route of a Link Road and Thames River Crossing and as such 

Page 70



PN6 
 

would harm the County Council’s ability to deliver its Local Transport 
Plan and support future growth within the County. The response 
provided by the applicant on this issue does not alleviate concerns. 
Three options are offered to protect the alignment of the proposed 
road; to retain an undisturbed corridor, to reinstate the route of the road 
over the proposed water or to make a Section 106 contribution for the 
construction and maintenance of a piled viaduct or piled road.  
 

55. May 2016 - Object. The proposal would prejudice a potential alignment 
for the route of a Link Road and Thames River Crossing and as such 
would harm the County Council’s ability to deliver its Local Transport 
Plan and support growth. The proposed application area fully coincides 
with one of two route options being considered for a new road. The 
three options available are to retain a undisturbed corridor, to reinstate 
the route of the road over the proposed water or to make a Section 106 
contribution for the construction and maintenance of a piled viaduct or 
piled road.  

 
Oxford Green Belt Network 
 
56. February 2017 – Object for the same reasons as given in first 

response. The principle remains the same despite the proposed 
changes.  

 
57. May 2016 - This area is currently one of the most open and unspoilt 

parts of the Oxford Green Belt. It is a landscape of historic importance 
and is enjoyed by the public, for example those walking on the Thames 
Path. The quarry would transform this into an industrial landscape. 
Although it is temporary the landscape would not be the same 
afterwards and afteruses could impact on the openness of the Green 
Belt. The period of working is almost always extended.  

 
58. T

he Core Strategy has not yet been adopted and the examination has 
not been held. This application is premature. Extensive areas of the 
Oxford Green Belt landscape have been affected by quarrying and it 
would be wrong to open up an entirely new site at this point. The site 
contains good quality agricultural land, the development would disrupt 
villages, there would be additional traffic on the A415 and other roads. 
Application is in the wrong place at the wrong time.  
 

CPRE 
 

59. M
arch 2017 – Object. Remain of the view that the application is 
premature given that Core Strategy and sites allocation document have 
not been agreed and there is no urgent need. Other issues of concern 
include impact on the Green Belt, loss of high grade agricultural land, 
loss and damage to trees and hedgerows, major adverse impacts on 
footpaths.  

Page 71



PN6 
 

 
60. R

esponse on footpaths February 2017 – The southern end of the 
circuitous temporary diversion of Clifton Hampden FP15 would run 
parallel and close to the Thames towpath for 400m without linking to it. 
A link would be highly desirable so that walkers do no need to walk 
back and forth along parallel paths.  

 
61. M

ay 2016 - Object. The landbank is well in excess of the recommended 
7 year supply. The need to increase stocks has not been shown. The 
application is premature before the new plan is agreed.   
 

County Councillor for Berinsfield and Garsington - Cllr Lorraine Lindsay-
Gale 

 
62. Object on the grounds of significant increase in existing traffic 

problems, safety of pedestrians, premature to grant permission ahead 
of agreement on the level of need, there are two alternative sites near 
Wallingford that would be more suitable.  

 
 
County Archaeological Services 

 
63. A

ugust 2017 – Re-iterate previous recommendation. 
 

64. F
ebruary 2017 – No objection, subject to conditions for a written scheme 
of archaeological investigation, staged programme of archaeological 
investigation and fencing to protect archaeological interests in the area. 
Following the additional information, there are no longer any significant 
archaeological constraints.  

 
65. A

pril 2016 – Further information is required regarding the potential for 
further cropmarks. Should permission be granted conditions would be 
attached requiring further investigation into features corresponding to 
the cropmarks, advance of extraction. Concerned about the setting of 
the scheduled monument, the impact is not considered to be either 
temporary or minor as set out in the Environmental Statement. Further 
advice is needed from the Historic England Scientific Advisor to 
evaluate the impact on the hydrology of the monument.  

 
Rights of Way and Countryside access 
 

66. T
hames Path Manager May 2016 - It would be unacceptable to divert 
The Thames Path off its bankside position. The proposed 25 metre 
buffer zone would have to be adhered to at all times, and measures for 

Page 72



PN6 
 

screening noise pollution should be applied within the boundary of the 
site and not within the buffer zone. In the interests of public safety there 
should be no driving or crossing over onto the National Trail. Should 
any erosion of the river bank happen along this reach, then we would 
require a guarantee that the company be responsible to undertake any 
in keeping, fit for purpose revetment work and so maintain the 25 metre 
buffer zone. Should the company damage the surface of the National 
Trail they would need to repair and improve the damaged area to 
National Trail standards. Any maintenance along the buffer zone needs 
to be undertaken by the company, including vegetation management in 
accordance to National Trails standards. After extraction, any facilities 
should be open for use by the public and trail users with circular walks 
linking onto the Thames Path National Trail. 

 
67. C

ountryside Access Team – July 2017 – No objection.  Would like the 
applicant to investigate the possibility of creating a new footpath link 
between the Thames Path and the proposed diversion route via the 
‘pinch point’ located at the eastern end of the proposed lake. Previous 
concerns raised have now been addressed by the additional 
information. 
 

68. J
une 2016 - Based on the current proposals, accept the principle of the 
proposed permanent diversion of Clifton Hampden footpath 15. 
However, would like clarification as to whether it is possible to design 
the restoration such that this footpath could be accommodated back on 
its existing line following a temporary diversion during extraction.  
 

69. W
elcome the proposal to dedicate a number of new public footpaths on 
the restored site. The specifications, including structures and surfaces, 
should be agreed prior to implementation. The construction details for 
any bridge crossing points will also need to be agreed prior to 
installation and the landowner will need to take on the maintenance of 
these new structures.  
 

70. T
he applicant should investigate the possibility of creating a footpath link 
between the Thames Path and the proposed diversion route via the 
pinch point at the eastern end of the proposed lake and also of a 
dedication between the proposed diversion route and Clifton Lock. 
 

71. S
tandard conditions should be added to ensure that there are no 
obstructions on the public rights of way, no changes to the rights of way 
and no construction or demolition vehicle access along the rights of 
way.  

 
County Drainage Engineer and Lead Local Flood Authority 

Page 73



PN6 
 

 
72. J

une 2017 – Would like a monitoring borehole in the Greensand as the 
removal of sand and gravel may allow a greater movement of flow 
between this aquifer and the overlying aquifer. Water will not free flow 
down to the river through the proposed backfill material as it does with 
the existing sand and gravel and ground water may rise to different 
heights across the site. This will affect the flow through ditches. The 
applicant show be aware of this when backfilling and material which is 
free flowing must be laid in within the back fill material  to allow the 
passage of water through the back fill material.  
 

73. M
ay 2016 - No objection, subject to: 
- Staggering of noise bunds so as not to cause flooding is required as 

stated 
- Environmental permits are required from the EA for the dewatering 
- All dewatering to go through settlement tanks or systems before 

discharging to the ditches 
- No dewatering in flood conditions as stated 
- All dewatering outfalls to be monitored regularly to measure the 

quality of the flow 
- Information from the network of Ground Water Monitors to be 

supplied for checking 
- Land Drainage Consent will be required for the temporary filling in 

of the Central Ditch from South Oxfordshire District Council 
 

 
County Ecology Officer  
 
74. A

pril 2017 – No objection subject to conditions for an environmental 
management plan, revised restoration and management plan and 
ecological monitoring strategy and a Section 106 agreement for a 
funded 20 year management plan following the statutory 5 years of 
aftercare. Some outstanding detailed points which can be addressed 
through revised documents or condition submissions.  

 
75. M

ay 2016 – Further information required. Concerns regarding the survey 
scope and timings.  

 
 

Arboricultural Officer 
 

76. M
ay 2017 – No objection subject to a condition for a detailed restoration 
scheme for the woodland and hedgerows and an informative to prevent 
removal of trees and hedgerows in bird nesting season. The tree 
survey did not identify any veteran trees. The proposals for tree 

Page 74



PN6 
 

protection fencing are now satisfactory. The applicant has confirmed 
that tree T91 will be retained. The restoration plan shows an overall 
increase in tree cover. On balance, satisfied that the restoration 
proposal is sufficient to overcome the loss of tree cover caused by the 
development.  
 

77. A
pril 2016 – A tree survey is needed to properly assess the proposals.  
 

County Landscape and Green Infrastructure 
 

78. M
ay 2016 - It is recommended that specialist landscape advice is sought 
to further review the landscape and visual impacts arising from the 
development. Concerned that the South Oxfordshire Landscape 
Character Assessment has not been used. It is not clear that new tree 
and hedgerow planting would grow to the point of successfully 
mitigating the development during its operational life, clarifications 
needed on methodology, further consideration of impact on AONB and 
Wittenham Clumps is needed. 
 

79. I
n terms of Green Infrastructure, the development provides for the 
creation of a range of new habitat and new recreational uses. Further 
information about the proposed afteruses would be helpful. 

 
Landscape Advisor 
 

80. O
ctober 2017 – Previous concerns are partially allayed by the further 
mitigation proposals submitted. The ‘in principle’ landscape objection 
can be removed subject to conditions for detailed landscape mitigation 
measures based on those now proposed. Some concerns remain 
regarding the overall landscape and visual effects, and timescales of 
the proposed quarry development and some aspects of the LVIA 
methodology and impact recording processes. However the proposed 
mitigation measures should achieve a more positive balance of 
landscape and visual effects during working stages, and post 
restoration. Lists a number of matters to be accommodated in the 
detailed landscape mitigation proposals.  
 

81. A
ugust 2017 – Maintain an ‘in principle’ objection. The LVIA does not 
appear entirely objective. It seems likely that the proposals would lead 
to significant adverse landscape and visual effects over an extended 
period. Limited additional mitigation measures proposed require 
confirmation from the Environment Agency.  
 

Page 75



PN6 
 

82. M
arch 2017 – Maintain an ‘in principle’ objection due to uncertainty over 
aspects of the LVIA and the need for further supporting data.  

 
83. J

uly 2016 - Objection – There is uncertainty over some aspects of the 
LVIA and a need for further supporting data. 

 
Letters from MPs (2016) 
 

84. J
ohn Howell MP for Henley (2016) – Writing to register concerns on 
behalf of constituents and myself. Do not believe there is a need for a 
quarry as existing quarries are producing sufficient gravel to last 20 
years and demand is in decline. Inappropriate to make a decision at 
this time given the current status of the OCC minerals strategy. 
Extremely concerned about traffic, the area is already congested and 
the large vehicles would present problems with lorries and cars being 
unable to pass each other at the crossroads. The location of the access 
point to the quarry seems to pose a problem as it is near a school. The 
positioning on the Thames floodplain seems very problematic. Risk of 
flooding is very real.  
 

85.  
John Howell MP for Henley (February 2017) – Concerned that issues 
previously raised have not been sufficiently addressed. The residents 
are ably represented by Bachport. Trust that these concerned will be 
taken to heart in the assessment of the application.  

 
86. E

d Vaizey MP for Wantage and Didcot  (2016) – Development would 
have a direct and adverse effect on constituents in Long Wittenham 
and Appleford. There would be a very significant increase in traffic on 
the A415, which is already over capacity. Traffic will also cause 
problems for those accessing Culham Science Centre, the place of 
work for many constituents. This is contrary to the aims of the County’s 
Local Transport Plan 4.  

 
87. N

icola Blackwood MP for Oxford West and Abingdon (2016) – Whilst this 
development falls out of my constituency, a number of my constituents 
are concerned that the large lorries required to carry concrete through 
Abingdon will cause traffic disruption where there is already heavy 
traffic flow and congestion. Would be grateful if the objections in 
attached correspondence could be taken into account.  

 
88. S

imon Hoare MP for North Dorset (2016) – encloses a letter from a 
constituent who formerly resided in Clifton Hampden. 

 

Page 76



PN6 
 

 

Page 77



PN6 
 

 
 

Annex 4 – Representations Summary 
 

1. A total of 580 representations have been received during the first 

period of consultation. These were mostly from individuals living close 

to the site in Clifton Hampden and surrounding villages such as Long 

Wittenham. However, there were also some letters from people who 

visit the site from locations including London, Cambridgeshire and 

Devon and people who are originally from the area but currently reside 

in others areas. All representations received were objections, there 

were no letters of support.  

 

2. 273 representations were received during the second consultation 

period. The majority of the points made in these letters were re-iterating 

or confirming points made during the first period of consultation.  

 

3. 126 representations were received during the third consultation period. 

The majority of these were stating that previous concerns had not been 

addressed by the additional information received and confirming points 

made during previous consultations. 

 
4. 128 representations were received during the fourth period of 

consultation. One of these was in support of the application and the 

others were objections.  

 

5. A petition containing 808 signatures was also received during the first 

round of consultation.  

 

6. The majority of representations were from local residents; however 

letters were also received from local businesses.  

 

7. Representations were received from John Howell MP, Ed Vaizey MP, 

Nicola Blackwood MP and Simon Hoare MP, Culham Science Centre, 

Clifton Hampden Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group and The 

University of Reading. A detailed representation was received on 

behalf of the objector group Bachport including reviews of various 

sections of the Environmental Statement.  

 

8. The points raised in representations during the first and second 

consultations are set out below, accompanied by an officer response.  

 

• Impact on countryside  

- Eyesore in a scenic area 

Page 78



PN6 
 

- Visual impact on the AONB and Thames Path 

- Loss of trees and hedgerows – impact on biodiversity and on 

landscape and intervisibility  

-  Visual impact – worse because of floodplain location restricting 

screening bunds 

- Impact on views from Wittenham Clumps and other sensitive 

viewpoints 

- Impact on the tranquillity of the river 

-  Impact on Green Belt 

- Large size of quarry would be out of proportion with the village 

- Pollution of river 

- Proposed buildings would dominate the skyline 

- Effect on boaters on the Thames 

- Measures to mitigate visual impacts would have their own visual 

impacts 

- Duty to protect the countryside for the future 

- Opposed to all industrial-type development in the countryside 

- Area already blighted by the expansion of Didcot 

- Impact on views should be more thoroughly assessed using a 

computer model 

- Quarry at Sutton Courtenay already creates a nuisance and an eyesore 

and is in close proximity 

 

Officer Response – Mineral workings are usually found in the countryside 

and the impacts would be temporary and phased. The site would be 

restored back to countryside following working. The EIA assesses the 

landscape and visual impacts of the proposals. Impacts on the water 

environment have also been fully assessed.   

 

• Impact on historic landscape 

- Harm to the setting of a listed buildings (e.g. Lower Town Farm House) 

- Clifton Hampden Bridge is listed as a Grade II* building of historic 

interest and importance 

- This whole area is archaeologically rich and therefore unsuitable for 

mineral extraction, due to damage to undiscovered remains 

- Impact on pretty and historic Clifton Hampden village, including on the 

setting of listed buildings and the conservation area 

- Additional HGVs would harm Abingdon’s historic centre 

 

Officer Response – There has been no objection to this application 

from Historic England or the archaeology team. The impact of the 

development on listed buildings and conservation areas is assessed in 

Page 79



PN6 
 

the applicant’s Environmental Statement and covered in the main body 

of this report.  

 

• Increase in HGVS 

- Impact on road surfaces – there are already potholes 

- No local roads are suitable, any proposed route has problems either 

local roads with damages to verges or roads through the already 

congested centres of Abingdon or Clifton Hampden 

- Increased problems of mud and dust 

- Already not safe in the area around traffic lights and school 

- Access near Culham Science Centre could result in accidents, the 

access to CSC already unsafe 

- Cumulative impact on traffic congestion with expansion at Culham 

Science Centre, new housing in Didcot and regeneration in  Berinsfield, 

new housing next to the Science Centre 

- Noise from traffic 

- Air pollution, especially in Abingdon and Clifton Hampden – would 

particularly affect those with breathing difficulties and asthma, impact 

on children outside school. OCC has a statutory responsibility to 

reduce exhaust emissions 

- Danger to pedestrians and cyclists, especially vulnerable pedestrians – 

does not appear to have been properly considered 

- Mud, diesel and oil on the road – dangerous slippery surface – who 

would check this 

- Mud and debris would be thrown up from the road onto pedestrians on 

rainy days 

- Wide vehicles prevent traffic queuing at the lights from forming two 

lanes 

- Undermine strategies to improve movement around the Science Vale 

- HGVs speed on the approach to Clifton Hampden – the police are 

aware of this problem 

- Existing weight and speed restrictions not adhered to despite 

complaints 

- A new bridge over the river is needed to remove traffic from Clifton 

Hampden 

- Impact of HGVs on businesses and residents in Abingdon  

- Impact on residents of The Close nursing home and Masefield House 

care home 

- How will restrictions on Culham and Clifton bridges be enforced? 

- HGV numbers understated in application 

- Material would need to be imported to the site to make concrete, this 

would lead to additional HGVs above what the application suggests 

- Increased congestion might lead to further bus route cuts 

Page 80



PN6 
 

- Near a number of schools – safety and health of children 

- Vibration 

- Pressure on road infrastructure is the reason why housing development 

at north Didcot was refused.  

- Village hall, school and doctors surgery next to congested traffic 

junction 

- Will take even longer to get to doctors’ surgery, which may mean 

people switch surgeries reducing its viability  

- Concerned that parents would think twice about sending their children 

to the school, due to traffic, concerned about losing local school.  

- Likely to be more HGVs than assessed through Clifton Hampden due 

to unsuitability of route through Abingdon 

- HGV numbers likely to be higher than assessed as gravel would need 

to be imported to the  concrete plant due to high sand content of 

indigenous material 

- Hills have misunderstood the problems at the junction in their proposed 

remodelling. Their changes relate to the south side of the junction, 

whereas the issues are now related to the pedestrian crossing on the 

north side. Proposal to reclaim verge on northern footway is welcome, 

but of minor benefit. Main concern is width of footway at the crossing 

on the north side of A415. 

- Queueing traffic bad for emergency vehicles, people trying to use 

village services, people trying to access their properties  and local 

businesses which rely on passing trade 

- Increase in traffic on A415 inconvenient for all users – not only local 

residents 

- Would reduce ease of access to Culham Science Centre – contrary to 

OCC’s aims 

- Dangerous for the motorcyclists who meet at the café on the 

A415/44074 roundabout 

- Effect on Abingdon, Burcot and Maud Hale bridges – historic structures 

- HGV movements underestimated as it assumes all HGVS would be 

fully laden and does not include movements of staff and people visiting 

the concrete plant to pick up 

- Transport assessment contains errors – for example the suggestion 

that Ock Street in Abingdon has two lanes in each direction 

- Hill’s proposals to improve the junction would not address the root 

problem- road is too narrow for HGVs 

- Intimidating effect on pedestrians and cyclists not insignificant as 

claimed.  

- Cyclists prefer to use the A415 rather than the cycle path – safety 

concerns 

Page 81



PN6 
 

- TA not accurate because it is based on averages whereas in fact 

movements would have peaks 

- TA does not take account of fact that large vehicles lead to slower 

vehicle movements in queues or additional delays to queue due to 

lorries crossing the A415 to get into the quarry 

- TA assumes that only Hills vehicles would export from the site but it is 

likely that they would also sell to third parties, adding to vehicle 

movements and which Hills would not control the routeing or timing of 

- The s106 should include that only sand and gravel extracted at 

Fullamoor should be used on the cement plant and only Hills vehicles 

should be used 

- Applicant’s estimate of vehicle movements does not take into account 

vehicles associated with cement making 

- It is a shame that rail cannot be used to export mineral from this site, as 

it is close to the railway line 

- There should be cameras to ensure that lorries do not use the B4015.  

- A415 is a village road 

- Experience with LGVs travelling to Biffa site has shown that GPS 

tracking makes no difference, they consistently exceed the speed limit 

- Should not be permitted until a village bypass is built 

 

Officer Response – Transport Development Control have objected to 

this application as set out in the main report.  

 

• Potential new Thames crossing 

- Application would be acceptable with new Thames crossing but this is 

not proposed 

- Application does not take account of proposed new road and Thames 

crossing/ should not proceed until it is built/ should reinstate land to 

allow for it to proceed.  

-  

Officer Response – At this point in time the alignment for a proposed new 

road and Thames crossing has not been finalised and there is no adopted 

policy safeguarding a particular route within South Oxfordshire District. The 

applicant has stated that the quarry designed would allow for the proposed 

new road, although pillars would need to be built over the southern lake by 

any developer of such a road. This is covered in more detail in the main body 

of the report.  

 

• Additional mineral is not needed 

- Demand in decline despite economic growth 

- 18 year supply planned for already 

- 18 year supply misleading as based on past supply 

Page 82



PN6 
 

- Not clear what contribution recycled aggregate could make, therefore 

need is not clear 

- As there is already sufficient sand and gravel the only objective is 

commercial interests of Hill’s 

- Mineral could be supplied from mothballed sites elsewhere in County 

- Is gravel needed at all? Aren’t there better building materials? 

- Indications that housing demand is to be reviewed and could be 

decreased – this review should feed into consideration of quarry 

applications 

- There are enough mineral permissions for the medium term and 

therefore no urgency to make a decision on increasing provision 

- Mineral would not be used in local area as claimed but transported 

large distances 

- Would be producing a third of the County’s total output – 

disproportionate 

 

Officer Response – This is covered in the main body of the report. The 

landbank requirement is a minimum and not a maximum and in 

Oxfordshire currently approximately half of the permitted reserve 

comes from one site belonging to one operator which is due to be 

worked until 2036.     

 

• Other sites are better 

- For example near Wallingford where access and flooding is better and 

outside Green Belt, access does not include HGVs through villages, 

closer to where the material would be used,  

- Quarry at Sutton Courtenay could continue to supply mineral well into 

the future 

 

Officer Response – The application needs to be considered on its 

merits. It is not a case of comparing it to other proposals or sites.  

 

• Duration of works 

- Believe that it would be extended in the future and the quarry would 

last longer than currently proposed 

- Hills own surplus land on which to expand in future 

- A legal agreement should be used to ensure 10 years is a maximum 

 

Officer Response – The application needs to be determined on the 

basis of the details submitted. This is for a ten year extraction period. 

Any proposal to extend this would need to be the subject of a separate 

planning application which would be assessed on its merits at that 

Page 83



PN6 
 

point.  It would not be possible to seek a legal agreement to prevent an 

application being made in the future.  

 

 

• Flooding 

- Already a problem in the area, causing the closure of the local roads 

e.g. between Clifton Hampden and Long Wittenham and Culham 

Bridge 

- Measures being taken to prevent flooding in Oxford might impact this 

area and this was not taken into account in the modelling 

- Do not trust flood models 

- Proposed banking to prevent flooding might cause a problem 

elsewhere 

- Concerned that changes to the floodplain in this area would increase 

risk of flooding to properties 

- Hill’s confirmed that proposal would not lead to an improvement in 

terms of flood risk 

- Would increase the duration of flooding even if it does not increase 

flood levels 

- Would like written confirmation that compensation would be paid if 

property floods 

- Allowing void to flood could lead to sediment escape 

- Flooding cuts off communities and facilities 

- Do not believe the proposed measures would prevent the site from 

flooding, and if they did the water would go to surrounding villages 

instead. 

- More flood modelling work should be done to allay concerns 

- Dust from HGVs would cause dirty water in the drains and add to 

flooding 

- Development should not take place in the floodplain/this would reduce 

the floodplain 

- Sequential test – does not stand up to scrutiny – rules sites out without 

justification 

- Concerned that the operator would not allow the workings to provide 

flood storage capacity in times of flood as that would require them to 

cease operations for weeks 

 

Officer Response – There has been no objection from the Environment 

Agency or the Lead Local Flood Authority. Flood Risk was assessed in 

the submitted Environmental Statement. This is covered in detail in the 

main body of the report.  

 

• Not compliant with policy 

Page 84



PN6 
 

- Not identified in the 1996 plan 

- Premature to grant planning permission for this prior to the adoption of 

the Minerals Core Strategy, sites should be assessed and selected 

through the minerals strategy 

- The plan inspector has indicated that applications should be refused 

until preferred sites have been identified and if granted permissions 

would be subject to legal challenge (para 37 in letter dated 22nd 

January) 

- OMWCS bias towards extraction in the Thames and Lower Thame 

Valley is not approved, not compliant with government guidelines and 

suggests that the application will not be considered on its merits.  

- OMWCS fails to identify sites, contrary to government guidelines 

- Not appropriate in the Green Belt, particularly the concrete plant  

 

Officer Response – The current policy position is set out in full in the 

main body of the report. Legal advice has been sought and it has been 

confirmed that a refusal on the grounds of prematurity would not be 

legally tenable.  The concrete plant proposal has been removed from 

the application.  

 

• Impact on ecology 

- Otters nearby 

- Lodden Lily 

- Badgers 

- Skylarks and lapwings 

- Loss of trees and hedges, including protected and ancient trees 

- Although site is agricultural many birds can be seen there – kingfisher, 

robin, buzzard 

- Removal of Sandy Bury woodland, which is BAP priority habitat 

- Concerned about deficiencies in the Biodiversity chapter of the ES 

- Impacts on other areas of BAP priority habitat, such as the Earth 

Trust’s meadows 

 

Officer Response – The Ecology Officer has confirmed that the 

restoration proposals would result in a net biodiversity gain as a result 

of this development. The applicant has confirmed that they are willing 

to enter into a legal agreement for 20 years long term management of 

the site (excluding areas restored to agriculture.)  

 

 

• Impact on amenity 

- Impact on rights of way – diversions affecting walkers and cyclists, 

would make the area unpleasant to walk through 

Page 85



PN6 
 

- Impact on the Thames Path – a National Trail and tourist attraction – 

should not be diverted from river 

- Noise impacts – can already sometimes hear the quarry at Appleford 

from Long Wittenham 

- Noise impacts – no noise barrier proposed to protect residents south of 

the Thames 

- Dust impacts, including health implications particularly for residents 

with health problems such as asthma 

- Noise and dust impacts worse in Clifton Hampden  due to prevailing 

south westerly winds 

- Impact on church users – will affect weddings and other events 

- Long operating hours including Saturdays – other Hills sites seem to 

close at 5pm 

- Dust assessment is oversimplified. Details of mitigation measures not 

provided.  

- Noise assessment does not take account of short term variation in 

noise levels 

- Impact on enjoyment of property – restricts outlook, nosiest operations 

nearest houses, long time period, silt ponds near properties would 

remain a quicksand hazard  

 

Officer Response – The impact on amenity is assessed in the 

Environmental Statement and mitigation measures are proposed. 

Conditions can be used to secure these. There has been no objection 

from the Environmental Health Officer, Public Health, or the 

Countryside Access (Rights of Way) team. The hours proposed are 

standard operating hours for minerals sites in Oxfordshire.  

 

 

• Economic Impact 

- Does not create that many jobs compared to the disruption caused 

- Impact on tourism in the immediate area and also in Abingdon 

- Impact on Culham Science Centre which is a major employer – noise, 

dust (many uses particularly sensitive), impact on only road to access it 

(A415) 

- Concerned about effect on local businesses (e.g. Post Office) by 

reducing tourists in village, increasing flood risk, increasing traffic, 

- Loss of community 

- Blow for employers in the area as it is important to have an attractive 

area for people to live 

- Impact on nursery – traffic could make it difficult to recruit,  might not be 

able to provide quiet village location for children, health impacts 

 

Page 86



PN6 
 

Officer Response – The EIA includes a chapter on socio-economic 

impacts. An impact on tourism is identified along the Thames Path, but 

this would be temporary. Impacts on sensitive receptors are assessed 

in the EIA.  

 

• Restoration proposals  

- Not developed with the input of local residents 

- Radical and inappropriate altering of landscape, permanently and in the 

Green Belt 

- Further lakes are not needed in this area, land might be needed in 

future for agriculture, business use or housing 

- Built development including club house and boat storage would have 

permanent visual impacts 

- Access road would remain in constant use 

- Restoration plan aims to attract fishermen and walkers – types of 

visitors that already use the village. Village aspiration is to attract new 

tourist visitors  

- Does not secure public access 

- Not enough detail on the long term ownership of restored site 

- Have financial safeguards been put in place to ensure that long term 

management is secured and the site is not abandoned after the mineral 

is extracted? 

 

Officer Response – The restoration proposals are considered to be 

acceptable and would be secured by condition and long term 

management through a section 106 agreement.  

 

 

 

• Criticism of Hill’s engagement with local communities 

- Misleading and unhelpful information when Hill’s have attended public 

meetings, question honesty of Hill’s for example the claim that no 

significant archaeology was found when there is a nationally significant 

monument  

-  Hills did not engage with the Burcot and Clifton Hampden 

Neighbourhood Plan steering group 

- Exhibition was held too far away from affected communities 

- Lack of consultation by Hills is clear from their not understanding how 

increased traffic would impact sustainability of local businesses 

- Views of locals weren’t taken into account – a footpath between Clifton 

Hampden and Long Wittenham would have offered some 

compensation for loss if ROW on the site 

 

Page 87



PN6 
 

This proposal has been the subject of pre application consultation carried 

out by the applicant. Local views were sought then, and since through the 

Council’s consultations on the planning application, and are considered in 

this report 

 

 

• Green Belt 

- Although the NPPF does not rule out minerals development in the 

Green Belt, it should only be permitted if there are no alternatives 

which does not seem to be the case OCC preliminary site options 

mostly not in the Green Belt 

- Concrete plant not justifiable and could end up requiring imports 

Creeping development associated with commercial uses in the 

restoration scheme – would conflict with Green Belt policy  

 

Green Belt policy is addressed in detail in the main body of the report. 

It is no longer proposed to include a concrete plant.  

 

Miscellaneous  

• Impact on property price, already having problems selling due to the threat 

of the quarry 

 

Property prices are not a material consideration in planning decisions. 

 

• Area has had enough – gravel pits, waste sites, housing development, 

power station, proposed prison, JET project etc. 

 

Each application must be considered on its merits and the specific impacts of 

the proposed development assessed.  

 

• Site is too close to the Thames to be suitable 

 

Sand and gravel is often found in close proximity to rivers. In this case a 

stand-off from the river is proposed, which could be secured by condition. 

 

• High grade agricultural land should not be used when other sites are 

available 

 

This is a relevant issue and is considered in the main report.  

 

• Changes to groundwater could affect foundations at Culham Science Centre  

• Potential impact on private wells 

 

Page 88



PN6 
 

The EIA assessed potential impacts on groundwater and there has been no 

objection on these grounds from the relevant consultees.  

 

• Impact should be assessed alongside proposed new residential 

development next to Culham Science Centre 

• Representation from a company promoting a strategic housing allocation on 

land adjacent to Culham Science Centre – consider the decision is premature 

in relation to the emerging SOLP and further information should be requested 

to assess the impact of the proposals on this land. Also concerned about 

impacts on potential new river crossing and improvements to the railway line.  

 

Land adjacent to the Culham Science Centre has been identified as a 

possible site for 3500 new homes in the South Oxfordshire emerging Local 

Plan 2011-2033 Final Publication Version (October 2017) (policy STRAT7). 

However, any new housing in that area would be further from the site than 

existing residential dwellings and it is not considered that the quarry proposal 

would prejudice future proposals in this area.  This policy has limited weight 

as the plan is not yet adopted.  

 

• Quarry would sterilise the plot for future housing development for Culham 

Science Centre employees 

 

The application submitted for determination is for mineral extraction. There is 

no proposal for housing development on this site, which is in the Green Belt 

and floodplain. There are policies protecting sand and gravel resources from 

sterilisation by other forms of development. The proposed quarry would not 

prevent other land being released for housing nearer the Science Centre.  

 

• Property specific concerns 

- Warren Farm Cottage concerned about flooding to their property and 

septic tank which is controlled by a water pumping system which is 

sensitive to changes in water levels 

 

- Stable House, Fullamoor Barns – background noise measurements 

were not taken from properties on the ridge to the north of the site. 

Concerned about the noise from temporary stripping and soil moving 

operations. LVIA underestimates visual impact from this property – can 

be seen all year not just in winter. Mitigation measures referred to in 

LVIA would not be seen. Challenge other assumptions in this chapter. 

Not clear how a bund will mitigate noise when the house is on a ridge 

above the level of the bund.  

 

- Fullamoor Farmhouse – concerned about working scheme –although it 

was revised so the last phases of working weren’t behind the property, 

Page 89



PN6 
 

the new scheme proposes the noisiest works at the back of the 

property, restricts outlook to large bunds for ten years or potentially 

dangerous silt ponds close to properties.  

 

- Fullamoor Farmhouse – is a heritage asset and the riverside farmland 

to the south is an important part of its setting. 

 

- Lights from lorry headlights illuminating property opposite access (3 

Fullamoor Cottages) 

 

- Old Dairy, Fullamoor Barns – Concerned about noise and dust due to 

close proximity 

 

Consultees with specialist technical expertise have considered the 

proposals and have no objection in terms of flood risk to properties, 

heritage impact or noise and dust impact on dwellings. Silt ponds would 

need to be safe and fenced-off under health and safety legislation. 

Overall, the Landscape Advisor has no objection to the proposals.  

There would be a condition limiting HGV movements to working hours, 

which would ensure that lorry headlights would only be noticeable on 

winter afternoons and would not cause disturbance into the evening. 

The impact on the heritage significance of Fullamoor Farmhouse is 

assessed in the cultural heritage ES chapter, which records a minor 

temporary adverse effect on the significance of the historic farmhouse.  

 

July 2017 consultation – specific points raised in relation to additional 

information  

 

• Additional information fails to address original concerns, for example no 

reduction in hours or alternative method of gravel transport, no winter 

landscape assessment; the applicant has not listened to the community 

• Additional information shows a much greater loss of high grade agricultural 

land than previously stated - no justification for this loss.  

• Hill’s have refused permission for a tree expert to access the site, their 

original assessments on archaeology and agricultural land were shown to be 

wrong so their tree survey might be too. Concern about loss of trees and 

impact on bats. 

• Details of the bunds show that they will be very high – visually intrusive and 

prone to slumping 

• Transport concerns have grown since original consultation, due to proposals 

for housing at Culham, Didcot and Long Wittenham 

• Recent increase in traffic should have been picked up in an updated 

assessment 

• Contrary to the aims of Didcot Garden Town 

Page 90



PN6 
 

 

 

Natural England were consulted on the revised information on agricultural 

land and do not object to the proposals. The landscape impact of the bunds 

has been considered by the Landscape Advisor who does not object, subject 

to mitigation.  Transport Development Control has objected to this application, 

as set out in the main report. The trees on the site were assessed as part of 

the EIA and OCC’s Arboricultural Officer has confirmed that he has no 

objection to the application. There is also no objection from the Ecology 

Officer regarding impact on bats. The site is located some distance from 

Didcot and there are no specific policies related to its Garden Town status 

which are relevant to the determination of this application.  

 

October 2017 consultation – comments in relation to additional 

landscape mitigation proposals and amendment to remove concrete 

batching plant   

 

Most representations during this consultation re-iterated concerns about the 

development which had previously been raised including in relation to the 

conflict with the proposed new road and river crossing and landscape impacts 

of the bunds. These points are addressed above. 

 

• Removal of concrete batching plant does not change anything 

• Expect concrete batching plant will be implemented in future in any case 

 

This application must be assessed on its merits and the application under 

consideration now does not include a concrete batching plant. If the applicant 

did wish to construct one in the future they would need to apply and that 

application would also be considered on its merits. There are some permitted 

development rights for concrete batching plants at quarries, however it is 

proposed that a condition be attached to any permission granted for this 

development to remove permitted development rights. This would ensure that 

any proposed new plant would be the subject of a planning application that 

could be assessed against all relevant policies including those relating to 

Green Belt and amenity.  

 

• Proposed landscaping would destroy openness and limit views with adverse 

impacts on Green Belt and footpaths 

The Landscape Advisor has removed his previous objection, subject to the 

implementation of the proposed landscaping. It is considered that this would 

mitigate the landscape impacts of the development. It is not considered that 

there would be an impact on the openness of the Green Belt.  

 

Page 91



PN6 
 

• Government has recently revised housing needs calculations downwards, no 

need for this quarry 

The relevant figures for need are those relating to the sand and gravel 

landbank requirement, this is fully addressed in the main report.   

 

• Concerned about the impact of HGVs in the village given recent central 

government statements on air quality and noise pollution from road traffic 

 

There has been no objection from the public health team in terms of air 

quality.  

 

Summary of Bachport Objection 

 

1. A detailed objection was submitted by a planning consultant on behalf 

of the objector group Bachport (Burcot and Clifton Hampden for the 

Protection of the River Thames). This response also contains the 

response from four Parish Councils. Clifton Hampden and Burcot, 

Culham, Long Wittenham and Appleford Parish Councils have 

confirmed that the Bachport objection has been submitted on their 

behalf. A number of individual representations also stated that they 

agree with Bachport, including a representation prepared by a planning 

consultant representing the residents of 5 of the closest properties to 

the site.  

 

2. The Bachport objection includes appendices reviewing a number of the 

Environmental Statement chapters including those on hydrology and 

flood risk, agriculture, geology and mineral reserves, alternatives, 

biodiversity and birdstrike. The objections made by Bachport are 

summarised in this section and the full report and appendices is 

available to read on the e-planning website.  

 

3. The Bachport objection is summarised below with an officer response 

in italics beneath each topic. 

 

4. Policy and need - Bachport consider that the proposal is not in 

accordance with development plan policy as it is not in an area 

identified in the OMWLP, it is not needed to maintain the landbank and 

has not been allocated through the new plan. 

 

Compliance with relevant development plan polices and other material 

considerations, including emerging plan policies, are fully considered in 

the main report. This also explains the landbank position and how it 

should be applied to decision making.  

 

Page 92



PN6 
 

5. Balance of supply - The objection states that the objective in the 

OMWCS to rebalance supply between the north and the south of the 

county is intended to be achieved through site allocations not decisions 

on applications, that the balance of supply objective is already met by 

the existing location of quarries in Oxfordshire, that there is no 

immediate need to find new sites to shift the balance of supply, and 

that the application site is not well located to reach the growth areas in 

south Oxfordshire. 

 

Compliance with material considerations, such as the supporting text in 

the submitted OMWCS, is covered in detail in the main report 

 

 

6. Quality and quantity of mineral – The deposit is not gravel rich and 

would only produce a limited range of products and require the import 

of aggregates from elsewhere adding to HGV movements and that  the 

yield per hectare is lower than at other sites meaning more land needs 

to be disturbed for the same amount of mineral. 

 

The applicant has confirmed that they would be willing to accept a 

planning condition preventing the import of minerals from elsewhere to 

this site. The application must be assessed on its merits. The fact that 

other schemes might result in a higher yield per hectare is not relevant 

if it is found that the environmental impacts of this development would 

be acceptable.  

 

7.  Alternative options – The applicant’s assessment of alternatives is 

inadequate and does not appreciate the advances in the quality of 

recycled aggregate. 

 

Following the submission of additional information as requested, the 

applicant’s EIA is considered adequate.  

 

8. Landscape and Visual Impact – The applicant’s LVIA does not take 

proper account of the South Oxfordshire Landscape Assessment or 

North Wessex Downs AONB landscape assessment. Important 

viewpoints have been missed. Length of Thames Path affected by the 

development is more than stated. No proper assessment of the 

landscape impact of soil storage mounds or tree assessment, 

insufficient assessment of hedgerows. 

 

Further information was ought in relation to the LVIA until the 

information provided was sufficient for the Landscape Advisor to 

confirm he no longer objected to the proposals.  

Page 93



PN6 
 

 

9. Historic environment – No assessment of the consequences of 

changes to groundwater on the SM or of the impact on its setting. 

Assessment underplays the impact on heritage assets which derive 

some significance from the surrounding farmland and the impact of the 

7m landscape bund. 

 

Historic England has assessed the impact of changes to groundwater 

to the SM on the basis of the submitted information. They have not 

objected. The impact on the setting on the SM is addressed in the 

report.  

 

10. Green Belt – The development would not maintain the openness of the 

Green Belt and would conflict with the purposes of including land within 

it. Very special circumstances have not been demonstrated to justify 

this as there is no definite and immediate need for the mineral that 

warrants opening up a quarry in this area.  

 

Green Belt policy is fully assessed in the main report 

 

11. Traffic – The Traffic Assessment has not been produced to an 

adequate standard or scope, it fails to recognise the queueing 

problems at the Clifton Hampden junction or consider air quality and 

environmentally sensitive areas. There are flaws in the accident data. 

Slow turning HGVs would pose a safety hazard on the congested 

A415.  

 

Transport Development Control was originally satisfied with the scope 

and standard of the Traffic Assessment, then later objected to the 

application due to highways impacts, as set out in the report.  

 

12. Health and quality of life – The site is in close proximity to sensitive 

receptors. Noise assessment does not take account of tonal or 

impulsive factors. Concern about amenity impact of floodlighting. 

 

There has been no objection from the Environmental Health Officer. As 

set out in the report, it is considered that potential impacts on amenity 

could be satisfactorily addressed by condition.  

 

13. Water Management – The sequential test provided is not fit for 

purpose, flood model is not capable of accurately predicting floodplain 

levels, predicted increase in flow velocity would increase erosion risk, 

modelling does not assess potential floodplain interactions between 

this development and the proposed new road and river crossing. There 

Page 94



PN6 
 

are a number of areas of weakness in the ES sections on water 

management. 

 

There has been no objection from the Environment Agency or the lead 

local flood authority on flood risk grounds.  

 

14. Agricultural land – Sufficient evidence not provided on the percentage 

of the site that is best and most versatile land and the figures provided 

contain discrepancies. Alternatives that do not led to the loss of BMV 

land have not been properly considered. 

 

Natural England also originally requested further information with 

relation to the information on agricultural land. When this was provided 

they confirmed that they had no objections to the proposals.  

 

15. Rights of Way – Insufficient justification for proposed permanent 

diversion of footpath, proposed new routes do not provide a direct 

access onto the Thames Path and are likely to be affected by flooding. 

There would be harm to the enjoyment of the Thames Path due to 

visual, noise and dust impacts during operations and unnatural lake 

feature following restoration.  Stand off from the path should be 50m 

not 25m as there is a hedgerow providing a natural barrier. 

 

The Countryside Access team also initially queried the permanent 

diversion of the footpath, however following submission of further 

information on this point they had no objections. There has been no 

objection from the Thames Path officer, and the amenity of users of the 

path would be protected by a buffer zone and additional landscape 

planting, secured by condition.  

 

16. Biodiversity – Survey data provided with the application is insufficient to 

assess the impacts.  

 

The Ecology Officer also considered that the biodiversity information 

submitted with the application was insufficient, and further details were 

requested. Following the submission of further information the Ecology 

Officer confirmed that there was no objection on biodiversity grounds. 

 

17. Restoration – The potential contradiction between biodiversity and 

management of bird strike risk is not resolved. It seems inevitable that 

the large lake would lead to pressure for further development which 

would be contrary to Green Belt policy and further impact the 

landscape. Scheme would draw visitors away from the village, contrary 

Page 95



PN6 
 

to the aims of the Neighbourhood Plan. There is no need for further 

water based recreation in this area. 

 

This application does not propose any further development associated 

with the lake. It is considered that overall the restoration could 

potentially attract more visitors to the village through the provision of 

additional access. There has been no objection to the restoration 

proposals from the MOD on bird strike grounds or the Ecology Officer 

on biodiversity grounds. 

 

18. Cumulative Impacts – The ES does not systematically assess 

cumulative impacts with other future development taking place around 

the site.  

Following the submission of additional information as requested, the 

applicant’s EIA is considered adequate. Individual assessments within 

the EIA consider potential cumulative impacts.  

 

19. The objection concludes by listing further information considered to be 

necessary to allow a full assessment of the proposals, a summary of 

the reasons for objecting to the application and a list of requirements 

for conditions should the planning application be granted.  

 

Summary of Bachport response to March 2017 consultation 

 

1. Landscape and visual impact – No winter viewpoints have been 

provided. Key viewpoints have been missed.  Large bunds should have 

been assessed separately. Details of the flood compensation feature 

are incomplete. Does not recognise the extent of landscape change, 

rate that the restored site would mature is overestimated, do not accept 

that footpath 171/15 needs to be diverted.  

 

2. Trees and hedgerows – Tree survey did not inform development of the 

application scheme, some trees have been omitted, does not consider 

cumulative impact, does not include classification of veteran trees, 

hedgerows meet ‘important hedgerow’ criteria. 

 

3. Noise – Further information on temporary works is unsatisfactory, noise 

impacts associated with afteruse too readily dismissed, some noise 

monitoring figures considered to be unreliable.  

 

4. Agricultural land – amount of best and most versatile agricultural land 

has been underestimated, requirement for soil drainage not addressed. 

 

Page 96



PN6 
 

5. Water management – sequential test has not been revisited, number of 

detailed matters of concerned regarding the assessments provided for 

example the model is not reliable enough.  

 

6. Wildlife – insufficient information regarding wintering and migrant birds, 

no additional breeding bird surveys, no consideration of cumulative 

impact on bats, inconsistencies and omissions on the revised ES 

chapter. 

 

7. Traffic – Information submitted does not address concerns previously 

raised. 

 

8. Cumulative impacts - Information submitted does not address concerns 

previously raised. 

 

Further information was sought where considered necessary to 

address Bachport’s remaining concerns, which in some cases were 

shared by the relevant consultee. In each case the relevant consultee 

is now satisfied with the information provided.  

 

Summary of Bachport response to July 2017 consultation 

 

 

9. Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment – Consider that this is not a 

thorough or robust document. Value and importance of existing 

landscape character not recognised and effects of proposed 

development therefore underestimated.  

 

Further information was ought in relation to the LVIA until the 

information provided was sufficient for the Landscape Advisor to 

confirm he no longer objected to the proposals.  

 

10. Visual amenity – No attempt to address the significant visual intrusion 

which would be caused by the bunds. These would be too steep and 

high to be properly maintained. Despite height, they would not screen 

the Fullamoor properties. Visual impact of silt lagoons has not been 

assessed. Retaining all the mature and significant hedgerow and tree 

cover at the site would mitigate the harm, but instead vegetation is to 

be removed and views opened up.  

 

The applicant has proposed additional planting as mitigation for the 

impacts on landscape and visual impact.  

 

 

Page 97



PN6 
 

11. Flood compensation feature – More details should be provided and 

LVIA underplays its impact.  

 

Further details were provided on the area for flood compensation 

following these comments.  

 

12. Trees and hedgerow – Bachport would like a further arboricultural 

assessment by their own advisor. However, the applicant has not 

permitted access to the land for this purpose. 

 

The Council’s Arboricultural Officer has confirmed that the 

arboricultural assessment submitted by the applicant is sufficient and 

there is no need for further assessment work.  

 

13. Noise – still no information provided on the proposed nature of the 

noise controls for temporary works. Therefore, it has not been 

demonstrated that the temporary works would not cause unacceptable 

amenity impact.  

 

There has been no objection from the Environmental Health Officer. 

There would be noise and time limits to the temporary works, in line 

with national policy. Operations would not be permitted at the higher 

noise level associated with temporary works for more than 8 weeks in 

any 12 month period. The noise limit for temporary works is 70 dB. 

 

14. Best and most versatile agricultural land – Bachport continues to 

disagree with the applicant’s assessment of the amount of best and 

most versatile agricultural land on the site. Additional drainage should 

be included in the restoration scheme, rather than the need for it being 

assessed during the aftercare, as proposed by the applicant.  

 

Natural England have confirmed that they have no objection to the 

proposals. 

 

15. Silt lagoons – Remain concerned about the proximity of the silt lagoons 

to residential property and public rights of way. 

 

It is usual for quarries to have silt lagoons and these would be required 

by other legislation to be safe and secure. 

 

16. Wildlife habitats – Some survey requirements from the Regulation 22 

request have not been complied with. There continues to be no 

appropriate quantification of the impact of the proposed development 

Page 98



PN6 
 

on breeding birds in terms of numbers and diversity and impacts on 

vulnerable or protected species. 

 

The Council’s Ecology Officer has considered the information provided 

and following a site meeting with the applicant’s ecologist has accepted 

that some additional information originally required is not needed.  

 

17. Traffic – No further assessment work of the traffic controlled signal 

junction at Clifton Hampden, as originally required in the Scoping 

Opinion. Traffic is the highest source of concern for local residents. The 

Highway Authority recently raised an objection to the proposed access 

arrangements for a new sand and gravel quarry at New Barn Farm, 

Cholsey. The same level of scrutiny should be applied here.  

 

Transport Development Control has objected to this application, as set 

out in the main report. 

 

18. Water Environment – Bachport submitted a technical review of the 

Oxfordshire County Council Drainage/Lead Local Flood Authority 

consultation response.  

 

Further groundwater advice has been sought in response to the 

technical work submitted by Bachport. This further advice has not been 

received at the time of drafting the report; however it will be reported in 

an addendum.  

 

 

Summary of Bachport Response to October 2017 consultation 

 

1. The LVIA supplement does not address the deficiencies in the original 

LVIA.  It fails to appreciate the baseline landscape character, continues 

to ignore the South Oxfordshire Landscape Assessment and does not 

consider SOCS policy CSEN1. Large scale development of any kind is 

inappropriate in areas identified as ‘conserve’ in this document, which 

the application area is. The loss of existing trees and hedgerows is 

underplayed in the LVIA. These should have been retained.  

 

2. Concerned about proposed additional planting – would enclose 

footpaths, remove the connection between Fullamoor Farmhouse and 

the agricultural land to the south, tree screen to west would be 

ineffective, planting to north would not mature in time to be effective, 

not clear that it would be possible to secure planting on land outside of 

applicant’s control. 

 

Page 99



PN6 
 

3. Assessment of landscape impact of bunds is not objective, these would 

affect the landscape character and the openness of the Green Belt. 

Concerned about flood risk in relation to the proposed changes to 

bunds and straw bales. 

 

4. Removal of the concrete plant is welcomed. However, a condition 

would be needed to remove permitted development rights to ensure 

that it is not put up anyway. The layout of the plant site could be 

improved now that the concrete plant is no longer proposed to reduce 

bunding and provide better screening.  

 
5. Development Stage Plans do not clearly show the retention of a ridge 

of high ground to prevent floodwater entering the northern part of the 

floodplain as advised by applicant. Concerned that the proposal to 

manage aquatic vegetation could increase the erosion potential of the 

river during flood events.  

 

6. Application does not show that the quarry proposal would not harm the 

delivery of the river crossing transport scheme, which is safeguarded 

by SOLP 2033.  

 

7. There is no immediate need for new reserves of sand and gravel to be 

permitted. Although there is no maximum landbank level, caution 

should be exercised in interpreting this as meaning that there can be 

no justification for refusing an application for mineral extraction on the 

basis of lack of need. Additional reserves should be found through the 

allocation of sites in the Part 2 plan. 

 

8. The plans show the existing farm track being blocked. If the quarry 

access is to be used for the agricultural operations as a result of this 

development, this should be included in the Transport Statement. 

 
9. There are some inconsistencies in the revised Planning Statement 

which cause uncertainty about the nature of the proposed development 

and its effects. 

 
Although OCC’s Landscape Advisor also initially had some concerns 

about the LVIA methodology and assessments, sufficient information 

has now been submitted for him to remove his in principle objection. 

The applicant has confirmed that the landowner has indicated 

willingness to enter into a Section 106 agreement to secure planting on 

areas outside the control of the applicant. The Environment Agency 

has provided advice on the amended bund configuration and flood risk 

and does not consider that there would be a significant impact.  The 

Page 100



PN6 
 

need for the mineral and the impacts on the proposed Thames crossing 

are covered in detail in the main report. The applicant has confirmed 

that the farmer would use the new quarry access to transport animals, 

and has provided comments from the transport consultants confirming 

that this is not considered to pose a risk to highway safety. Transport 

Development Control has confirmed that the proposed access would 

accommodate those movements appropriately and they would not have 

any significant traffic impact as although they would travel along the 

A415 for a short distance, they would not use the junction in Clifton 

Hampden or Tollgate Road. There are some instances where the 

Planning Statement has not being updated to reflect changes recorded 

elsewhere in the application. However, it is not considered that these 

give rise to uncertainties about what is proposed. The concrete 

batching plant is no longer referenced in the description of 

development and the planning statement is clear that it is no longer 

proposed, so subsequent references included in error can be 

disregarded. The applicant has confirmed that it is the intention to 

maintain a ridge of high ground as set out elsewhere in the application, 

but the Development Stage plans do not include this level of detail. 

Detailed working schemes would be required by condition for each 

phase. The applicant has confirmed that it would not be possible to 

change the location of the processing plant following the removal of the 

concrete plant from the plans, as the processing plant has a bigger 

footprint.  

 

 

Summary of Representation on behalf of residents of Fullamoor 

Farmhouse and 1-4 Fullamoor Barns 

- The operations, including extensive bunding, and the restoration would 

cause wholesale landscape change in an unspoilt and attractive area 

which includes heritage assets, well used footpaths, old hedgerows 

and woodland.  

- Visual intrusion to the properties, which site on elevated land with open 

views over the extraction site, which is not properly assessed in the 

LVIA 

- Location of silt ponds near these properties is of concern as they could 

present a long term quick sand hazard and any fencing to secure this 

would be a further visual intrusion 

- Floodlighting of the plant site could cause light spillage and sky glow 

close to properties. This could also impact bats. 

- Proposed quarry access in close proximity to access to properties and 

potential new access to proposed new road and river crossing 

- Concerned that the quarry proposals prejudice the route options for the 

new road, making it the junction closer to properties 

Page 101



PN6 
 

- Noise and dust would be worse due to the natural amphitheatre effect 

of the topography 

- Concerned about open ended nature of ‘temporary’ works for which the 

noise limit would be raised to 70dB LAeq 1hr 

- Concerned about prospect of soil and overburden storage in front of 

homes for the duration of the works, with visual, noise and dust 

implications. 

- Concerned about noise from reversing bleepers and tonal or impulsive 

factors in the noise from the plant 

- No consideration of additional nuisance should the route for the new 

road and river crossing also pass close to these properties 

- If permission is granted, request conditions as set out in the Bachport 

response. 

 

Representation on behalf of residents of Fullamoor Farmhouse and 1-4 

Fullamoor Barns March 2017 consultation 

- Particular issues of concern are landscape impact, harm to visual 

amenity and noise 

- Comments in earlier submission still stand 

- No winter views have been provided, despite request 

- The bunds needed to mitigate noise and dust would be visually 

intrusive and incongruous in the landscape 

- Concerned about the noise levels during temporary works 

 

Representation on behalf of residents of Fullamoor Farmhouse and 1-4 

Fullamoor Barns July 2017 consultation 

- Principal concerns relate to landscape impact, visual amenity and 

noise, which are interrelated  

- 8 metre bund proposed on length of the Fullamoor properties would be 

visually intrusive and prone to slumping. Maintenance would be noisy 

and invade privacy. Visual impact has not been properly assessed 

- Visual impact on fencing and signage on silt lagoon has not been 

assessed 

- No winter views have been provided, these were required in the 

Regulation 22 request. 

- Fullamoor Farmhouse is being considered for listing as an historic 

building and a decision is pending. Impact on this building not 

adequately considered 

- Not convinced that proposed noise mitigation would be effective – 

properties above the height of bund 

- Not demonstrated that it is realistic to complete temporary works within 

the permitted 8 weeks 

Page 102



PN6 
 

- Concerned that the applicant appears reluctant to do proper 

assessments 

- Also support the Bachport submission 

 

 

Representation on behalf of residents of Fullamoor Farmhouse and 1-4 

Fullamoor Barns October 2017 consultation 

- Support the Bachport comments 

- Previous comments still stand, additional information does not address 

concerns 

- If the purpose of removing the concrete plant was to mitigate visual 

impacts, the plant site are and bunding should be reduced 

- The illumination proposed in the lighting strategy could be highly visible 

and intrusive to the residences 

- Proposed new planting would not screen views into the site from the 

Fullamoor properties as it would take time to develop 

- Continue to have concerns about unnecessary clearance of woodland 

within the application area. Proposed new planting would lead to 

unwelcome outcomes.  

- Do not agree with the LVIA conclusions on the impacts of additional 

planting 

- Noise impacts of changes to bunding have not been assessed 

- A decision is pending for Fullamoor Farmhouse to be added to the list 

of registered historic buildings, potential harm needs to be addressed, 

the farmland outlook is key to the setting 

 

There has been no objection from the Environmental Health Officer or Public 

Health England. It is considered that impacts on residential properties in close 

proximity to the site could be adequately managed through planning 

conditions.  

 

Objections from the United Kingdom Atomic Energy Authority (UKAEA) 
 
October 2017: 

- Concerns about transport and potential dust impact in previous letters 
still stand 

- Acknowledges that concerns about prematurity in relation to the 
OMWCS have been superseded by the adoption of that plan 

- Consider the proposal premature in relation to the South Oxfordshire 
Local Plan, the final publication version of which proposes the removal 
of Culham Science Centre (CSC) from the Green Belt to enable the 
redevelopment and intensification of the site and the allocation of land 
west of CSC for approximately 3500 new homes 

Page 103



PN6 
 

- The allocation of land adjacent to CSC for housing is predicated on a 
new Thames crossing, one of the safeguarded routes passes through 
the proposed quarry site  

- The allocation of land adjacent to CSC would also contribute to a 
Clifton Hampden bypass, which is important to the UKAEA’s plans for 
growth. 

 
The proposed new road crossing is considered in the main report.  
 
April 2017: 

- Additional information does not overcome concerns about dust or 
transport 

- Remain concerned about prematurity in relation to OMWCS and also 
the emerging SODC plan, including the proposal to allocate land for 
3500 new homes west of CSC 

 
The EHO is satisfied that dust can be adequately controlled by condition.  
Transport Development Control has objected to the application and this is 
considered in the main report. The issue of prematurity is also discussed in 
the main report.  

 
May 2016: 
- Effect of wind borne dust on sensitive scientific equipment.  
- Implications of the proposed new link road not considered 
- Premature in relation to the emerging Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste 

Local Plan and SOLP 
- Would deter businesses from locating in the area, contrary to the 

SODC’s policies 
- Culham No 1 identified as a potential site for new housing 
- Concern about traffic 
- Concern that the EIA does not recognise the importance of CSC 
 
Following this objection, an updated air quality assessment was requested to 
take into account the potential impact of airborne dust on science and 
technology businesses located at Culham Science Centre. When consulted 
on this further information, CSC responded that the ES now recognises the 
significance and likely sensitivity to dust at CSC, and efforts have been made 
to assess potential impacts. Although CSC had remaining concerns about the 
assessment criteria used, they acknowledged an absence of recognised dust 
assessment criteria and recommended that should permission be granted, a 
suitable Dust Management and Monitoring Plan (DMMP) should be 
implemented throughout the life of the site. This can be secured by condition. 
The SCS representation had proposed that the site access junction be 
upgraded to a ghost island right turn arrangement. However, this is not 
proposed by the applicant and Transport Development Control commented 
that it is not something that could be insisted upon due to the number of 
turning movements. However, there has subsequently been an objection from 
Transport Development Control and this is discussed in the main report.  
 

Page 104



PN6 
 

It is considered that the businesses and organisations within the Culham 
Science Centre will be adequately protected by virtue of the distance between 
the CSC and this development, and by conditions imposed to protect amenity. 

Page 105



PN6 
 

 
 
Annex 5 - Sequential Test 
 

Introduction 

 

1. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) paragraph 101 states 

that a sequential approach should be used in areas known to be at 

risk from any form of flooding and that the aim of the sequential test 

is to steer new development to areas with the lowest probability of 

flooding. Development should not be permitted if there are 

reasonably available sites appropriate for the proposed 

development in areas with a lower probability of flooding.  

 

2. NPPF paragraph 103 states that local authorities should only consider 

development appropriate in areas at risk of flooding where, 

informed by a specific flood risk assessment following the 

sequential test, it can be demonstrated that within the site the most 

vulnerable development is located in the areas of lowest flood risk, 

unless there are overriding reasons to prefer a different location.  

 

3. OMWCS policy C3 states that development will, wherever possible, 

take place in areas with the lowest probability of flooding and that 

where development takes places in an area of identified flood risk 

this should only be where alternatives in areas of lower flood risk 

have been explored and discounted, using the sequential test and 

exception test as necessary and where a flood risk assessment is 

able to demonstrate that the risk of flooding is not increased from 

any source. 

 

4. As part of the application site extension area falls within Flood Zones 2 

and 3 and the site has not previously been sequentially tested 

through a development plan allocation, it is necessary to undertake 

a sequential test exercise to establish whether there is an 

alternative site in an area of lesser flood risk which could 

accommodate the proposed development and also to establish 

whether the most vulnerable development is located in the areas of 

lowest flood risk within the site.  

 

5. NPPG paragraph 018 (Reference ID: 7-018-20140306) states that, 

‘planning authorities should apply the sequential approach to the 

allocation of sites for waste management and, where possible, 

mineral extraction and processing. It should also be recognised that 

mineral deposits have to be worked where they are (and sand and 

Page 106



PN6 
 

gravel extraction is defined as ‘water-compatible development’ in 

Table 2, acknowledging that these deposits are often in flood risk 

areas). However, mineral working should not increase flood risk 

elsewhere and needs to be designed, worked and restored 

accordingly. Mineral workings can be large and may afford 

opportunities for applying the sequential approach at the site level. 

It may be possible to locate ancillary facilities such as processing 

plant and offices in areas at lowest flood risk. Sequential working 

and restoration can be designed to reduce flood risk by providing 

flood storage and attenuation. This is likely to be most effective at a 

strategic (county) scale.’ 

 

6. The NPPF paragraph 105 indicates that the Local Planning Authority 

Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) will provide the basis for 

applying the Sequential Test.  Oxfordshire County Council Minerals 

and Waste Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment was published 

in August 2015 to support the Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste 

Local Plan – Core Strategy. In March 2015 an initial assessment of 

potential minerals and waste sites and broad areas was undertaken 

in the Initial Assessment Tables.  

 

7. The applicant has provided a sequential test document to provide 

evidence to allow the minerals planning authority to determine 

whether the application site passes the sequential test.  This 

concludes that the site passes the sequential test as there are no 

other reasonably available alternative sites. However, it is the 

responsibility of the minerals planning authority to conduct their own 

sequential test and this is set out below.  

 

Potential Alternative Sites 

 

8. Local Plan evidence base documents have been used to identify 

possible alternative sites.  The applicant has provided details of 44 

alternative sites taken from the March 2015 Initial Assessment 

Tables. 

 

9. The proposed quarry would provide approximately 2.4 million tonnes of 

sand and gravel. Many of the nominated sites have a significant 

lower estimated yield and therefore would not be capable of 

providing an alternative to the development proposed at Fullamoor. 

Therefore, sites containing a significantly (25% or more) lower yield 

were eliminated at stage 1 of the sequential test.  The full list of 

sand and gravel sites assessed including details of their yield is set 

out in Table 1.  

Page 107



PN6 
 

 

10. The applicant’s sequential test eliminated sites with a significantly 

higher or lower yield (+/-25%). However, it is not considered 

appropriate to eliminate sites with a significantly higher potential 

yield as they are considered capable of producing the quantity of 

sand and gravel proposed at the application site. As the estimated 

yield of the application site is 2.4 million tonnes, sites with 1.8 

million tonnes or more can be taken forward for further assessment, 

unless the nomination has been withdrawn. 

 

Table 1 

Site Name and 
Location  

Site Ref. Estimated 
Yield 

(million 
tonnes) 

Site Status Is the yield 
comparable 

Land west of A420, 
Faringdon 

SG-01 0.4 Nomination 
withdrawn 

N/A 

Land west of 
Wicklesham and 

south of A420 

SG-02 0.3 Nomination 
withdrawn 

N/A 

Land adjacent to 
Benson Marina 

SG-03 0.07 Active 
nomination 

No 

Extensions to 
Sutton Wick 

SG-06 0.25 Nomination 
withdrawn 

N/A 

Land at Lower 
Road, Church 
Hanborough 

 

SG-08 

 

2.5 Active 
nomination 

Yes 

Land north of 
Drayton St Leonard 

SG-09 4.5 Active 
nomination 

Yes 

Benson Marina SG-11 0.07 Nomination 
withdrawn 

N/A 

Land South of 
Chazey 

Wood, 
Mapledurham, 

SG-12 3.0 Active 
nomination 

Yes 

Page 108



PN6 
 

Land at Shillingford SG-13 5.3 Active 
nomination 

Yes 

Stonehenge Farm, 
Northmoor 

SG-14 1.7 Nomination 
withdrawn 

N/A 

Dairy Farm, 
Clanfield 

 

SG-15 5.4 Active 
nomination 

Yes 

Land at Culham SG-17 4 Active 
nomination 

Yes 

Bridge Farm, 

Appleford, 

 

  

SG-19 0.5  Active 
nomination 

No 

Land between 
Eynsham & 
Cassington 

 

SG-20 

1.5 Active 
nomination 

No 

Wharf Farm, 
Cassington 

SG-20a 1.6 Active 
nomination 

No 

Land at Eynsham 

 

SG-20b 1.9 Active 
nomination 

Yes 

Sutton Farm, 
Sutton 

 

SG-29 5.0 Active 
nomination 

Yes 

New Barn Farm, 
South of 

Wallingford 

 

SG-33 4.0 

 

Active 
nomination 

Yes 

Land at Friars 
Farm, Stanton 

Harcourt 

 

SG-36 0.4 Active 
nomination 

No 

Land at Grandpont SG-37 1.5 Active 
nomination 

No 

North of Lower 
Radley 

SG-41 1.5 Active 
nomination 

No 

North of Lower 
Radley 

SG-41a 2.3 Not a 
nominated 

site 

N/A 

Page 109



PN6 
 

Nuneham 
Courtenay 

SG-42 4.4 Not a 
nominated 

site 

N/A 

Land at Marcham SG-43 8.7 Not a 
nominated 

site 

N/A 

Land at Little 
Wittenham 

SG-44 24.4 Not a 
nominated 

site 

N/A 

Land at Appleford SG-45 17.7 Not a 
nominated 

site 

N/A 

Land northeast of 
Cholsey 

SG-46 1.5 Not a 
nominated 

site 

N/A 

Land at Wallingford 
Benson 

SG-47 2.5 Not a 
nominated 

site 

N/A 

Land North of 
Didcot Perimeter 

Road, Didcot, 

 

SG-53 0.75 Not a 
nominated 

site 

N/A 

Land south of River 
Thames near 

Radcot 

SG-54a/b 31.0 Not a 
nominated 

site 

N/A 

Thrupp Lane, 
Radley 

 

SG-56 0.2 Nomination 
withdrawn 

N/A 

New Barn Farm, 
Cholsey 

 

SG-57 0.4  Nomination 
withdrawn 

N/A 

Chestlion Farm, 
Clanfield 

 

SG-58 5.0 Active 
nomination 

Yes 

Manor Farm, 
Clanfield 

 

SG-58a 12.0 Active 
nomination 

Yes 

Stadhampton SG-59 1.0 Active 
nomination 

No 

Page 110



PN6 
 

 

 

11. As shown in Table 1, following the elimination of sites which could not 

provide a comparable yield and sites for which the nomination had 

been withdrawn or not taken forward, there were 11 potential 

alternative sites remaining: 

 

SG08 Land at Lower Road Church Hanborough 

SG09 Land North of Drayton St Leonard 

SG12 Land South of Chazey Wood 

SG13 Land at Shillingford 

SG15 Dairy Farm 

SG17 Land at Culham 

SG20b Land at Eynsham 

SG29 Sutton Farm 

SG33 New Barn Farm 

SG58 Chestlion Farm 

SG58a Manor Farm Clanfield 

 

12. Flood Risk status was categorised using a Red, Amber, Green (RAG) 

approach, as used in the Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste Plan 

Background Paper: Flooding and Minerals, to enable a comparative 

appraisal of flood risk at different sites. The criteria for the RAG 

approach was as follows: 

• RED: up to 25% deliverable area in Flood Zone 1 (FZ 1) and more 

than 75% deliverable area in Flood Zone 3 (FZ 3). 

• AMBER: 20-50% deliverable area in Flood Zone 1 (FZ 1) and 30-

75% deliverable area in 

Flood Zone 3 (FZ 3). 

• GREEN: more than 50% in Flood Zone 1 (FZ 1) and less than 

30% in Flood Zone 3 (FZ 3). 

 

13. Not all of the sites fit neatly into these three categories. Where a site 

does not fit any of the definitions exactly the RAG rating has been 

assigned on the basis of the percentage of land in flood zone 3 and 

this has been noted. 

 

White Cross Farm, 
Wallingford 

SG-60 0.5 

 
Active 

nomination 
No 

Mains Motors, 
Ewelme 

SG-61 Not known Not known 
Not known 

Appleford, Didcot,  

 

SG-62 1.1 Active 
nomination 

No 

Page 111



PN6 
 

14. According to the Environment Agency definitions, the application site 

has 53% of land in flood zone 3, 42% in flood zone 2 and 5% in 

flood zone 1. Therefore, it is classified as amber on the basis of the 

percentage in flood zone 3.  

 

15. The applicant’s flood risk assessment includes a flood model, which 

has different flood risk classifications for the site. According to the 

model 56% if the site is in flood zone 3, 24% in flood zone 2 and 

20% in flood zone 1. The site is therefore also classified as amber 

when the flood risk assessment proportions are used.  

 

16. Potential alternative sites with a flood risk classification of red are 

considered to have a higher flood risk status than the application 

extension site and therefore can be eliminated.   

 

Table 2 

 

Site Site 

Ref 

% 

FZ1 

% 

FZ2 

%FZ3 RAG Further 

assessment 

needed? 

Land at Lower 

Road Church 

Hanborough 

SG-

08 

66.63 1.91 31.46 Amber (on basis 

of FZ3) 

Yes 

Land North of 

Drayton St 

Leonard 

SG-

09 

52.24 19.39 28.37 Green Yes 

Land South of 

Chazey Wood 

SG-

12 

0 8.18 91.83 Red No 

Land at 

Shillingford 

SG-

13 

42.47 45.59 11.94 Green (on basis of 

FZ3) 

Yes 

Dairy Farm SG-

15 

40.46 8.71 50.84 Amber Yes 

Land at Culham SG-

17 

14.78 47.43 37.8 Amber (on basis 

of FZ3) 

Yes 

Land at Eynsham SG-

20b 

0 9.37 90.63 Red No 

Sutton Farm SG-

29 

43.9 8.33 47.77 Amber Yes 

New Barn Farm SG-

33 

76.35 20.44 3.21 Green Yes 

Chestlion Farm SG-

58 

94.29 0.67 5.04 Green Yes 

Manor Farm SG- 65.4 6.16 28.43 Green Yes 

Page 112



PN6 
 

Clanfield 58a 

       

 

Application site - 

Fullamoor 

 

 

20 24 56 Amber   

 

17. Following the assessment of potential alternative sites against flood 

risk status, it can be seen that two sites - Land south of Chazey 

Wood and Land at Eynsham – have a higher flood risk that the 

application site and can be eliminated. Therefore, there are nine 

remaining sites to be taken forward for further assessment. 

 

Further Assessment 

 

18. Constraints on the delivery of these sites were identified by checking 

for designated or protected sites and with reference to the 

Preliminary Assessment of Minerals Site Nominations revised in 

April 2016 undertaken in support of the work done for the 

Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste Core Strategy. This document only 

considers sites located within the Strategic Resource Areas 

identified in the draft Core Strategy policy M3. Three of the 

nominations (SG-15, SG-58 and SG-58a) are for land near 

Clanfield, which falls outside these areas, therefore  the 2012 

revision to the Preliminary Sites Assessment was used for these 

sites.  

 

19.  The potential constraints on the alternative sites are set out below.  

 

20. Alternative 1- Land at Lower Road Church Hanborough SG08 – Part of 

the site lies within Church Hanborough conservation area and the 

site adjoins listed buildings and bridges. The site lies less than 1km 

from Cotswolds AONB and within 5km of the Oxford Meadows 

SAC.  

 

21. Alternative 2- Land North of Drayton St Leonard SG09 - The southern 

part of this site is in close proximity to Drayton St Leonard village 

and Berinsfield and potential impacts arising from this would also 

need to be assessed. It contains archaeological remains of 

equivalent value to a scheduled monument. The site comprises best 

and most versatile agricultural land (grade 2) 

 

Page 113



PN6 
 

22. Alternative 3- Land at Shillingford SG13 – This site contains 3 

scheduled monuments and other remains considered of being of 

equivalent value. The presence of valuable archaeological deposits 

is considered to pose a significant constraint on this site. The site is 

in close proximity to the North Wessex Downs AONB.  Parts of the 

site are also in close proximity to Shillingford village and potential 

impacts arising from this would also need to be assessed. The site 

comprises best and most versatile agricultural land (grades 1 and 2) 

 

23. Alternative 4- Dairy Farm SG-15 – The northern part of the site is in 

close proximity to Clanfield village.  

 

24. Alternative 5- Land at Culham SG-17 – This site nomination covers a 

larger area that includes the land in the application site area, 

encompassing additional land to the west.  Although the site 

nomination area contains a lower percentage of land in FZ3, the 

application was made on a smaller area than the site nomination 

due to constraints such the barrow cemetery scheduled monument 

(scheduled in 2014) and in order to safeguard proposed alignments 

for the new road and river crossing. Therefore, it is not considered 

feasible for the proposed development to be provided for in areas of 

the site nomination area with a lesser flood risk.   

 

25. Alternative 6- Sutton Farm SG-29 –the site adjoins Stanton Harcourt 

and Sutton conservation area.  

 

26. Alternative 7- New Barn Farm SG-33- This site is subject to a planning 

application (MW.0094/16) which was submitted in July 2016 and at 

the time of writing this report, is undetermined. The application for 

sand and gravel extraction at New Barn Farm proposes the 

extraction of 2.5 million tonnes of sand and gravel from a 34 hectare 

site over an 18 year period. 

 

27. Alternative 8- Chestlion Farm SG-58 – This site was precluded from 

further assessment in the 2012 preliminary site assessment 

document, on grounds of archaeology advice, distance from lorry 

network and from markets. The site contains valuable 

archaeological deposits considered to pose a significant constraint 

on this site and on the basis of the assessment work which has 

already been undertaken it seems likely that this site would not be 

available for mineral working given that constraint. The eastern 

parts of the site are also in close proximity to Clanfield village and 

potential impacts arising from this would also need to be assessed. 

 

Page 114



PN6 
 

28. Alternative 9- Manor Farm Clanfield SG-58a –This site was precluded 

from further assessment in the 2012 preliminary site assessment 

document, on grounds of archaeology advice, distance from lorry 

network and from markets.  

 

29. There is no certainty that any of the nine potential alternative sites 

identified in Table 2 above are capable of being delivered. With the 

exception of New Barn Farm (SG-33) none of these sites have been 

the subject of a planning application and so would first have to go 

through the planning process. It typically takes months to years for 

an applicant to compile a new planning application and the 

Environmental Impact Assessment for a large minerals 

development. Ecological survey work can often only take place at 

certain times of year and data from a number of years of 

groundwater monitoring work can be required. It would then 

typically take a number of months to determine an application of this 

type after it has been submitted by the applicant.  Therefore, with 

the exception of New Barn Farm, it is considered that the potentially 

alternative sites would not be capable of providing a genuine 

alternative to the application site, as they could only be provided on 

a different timescale.  

 

30. However, the New Barn Farm site could potentially be delivered on the 

same timescale as the application site, as it is also subject to a 

planning application. Following the submission of further information 

and a number of consultation periods, the New Barn Farm 

application is ready for determination.  

 

Conclusions 

 

31. Having considered the constraints on the potentially available 

alternative sites, it is concluded that the majority of the alternative 

extraction sites identified cannot be demonstrated to be capable of 

delivery within the same timescale as the application site. In 

addition, further assessment work is needed in each case and 

should this work be undertaken in the future it is possible it could 

find the alternative sites to be unsuitable, or significantly reduce the 

area of the site which could be worked. However, one alternative 

site, at New Barn Farm is at a similar stage to the application site.   

 

32. The application site cannot pass the sequential test; there is at least 

one reasonably available site appropriate for the proposed 

development in areas with a lower probability of flooding, at New 

Barn Farm, Cholsey.  

Page 115



PN6 
 

 

Page 116



PN6 
 

 
 
 
Annex 6 – European Protected Species  
 
The Local Planning Authority in exercising any of their functions, have a legal 
duty to have regard to the requirements of the Conservation of Species & 
Habitats Regulations 2010 which identifies 4 main offences for development 
affecting European Protected Species (EPS).  
1. Deliberate capture or killing or injuring of an EPS  

2. Deliberate taking or destroying of EPS eggs  

3. Deliberate disturbance of a EPS including in particular any disturbance 
which is likely  
a) to impair their ability –  
 
i) to survive, to breed or reproduce, or to rear or nurture their young, or  
ii) in the case of animals of a hibernating or migratory species, to hibernate or 
migrate; or  
b) to affect significantly the local distribution or abundance of the species to 
which they belong.  
 
4. Damage or destruction of an EPS breeding site or resting place.  
Our records, the habitat on and around the proposed development site and 
ecological survey results indicate that a European Protected Species (otter) is 
likely to be present.  
The mitigation measures detailed within the survey are considered to be 
convincing and in your officers opinion will secure “offence avoidance” 
measures.  
Our records, the habitat on and around the proposed development site and 
ecological survey results indicate that a European Protected Species (bat 
species) may be present.  
Your officers would therefore recommend the following conditions to secure 
the implementation of the offence avoidance measures to ensure that no 
offence is committed:  

 
 
Your officers consider that sufficient information has been submitted with the 
application which demonstrates that measures can be introduced which would 
ensure that an offence is avoided. The application is therefore not considered 
to have an adverse impact upon protected species provided that the stated 
mitigation measures are implemented.  
  
 
 

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



PN7 
 

  
For: PLANNING AND REGULATION COMMITTEE – 27 NOVEMBER 2017 
 
By: DIRECTOR FOR PLANNING AND PLACE 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Division Affected: Benson and Cholsey 

 
Contact Officer: Mary Thompson Tel: 07393 001 257 
 
Location:  New Barn Farm, Cholsey, Wallingford, Oxfordshire 
 OX10 9HA 
 
Application No: MW.0094/16  P16/S2662/CM 
 
District Council Area:  South Oxfordshire 
 
Applicant: Grundon Sand and Gravel Limited 
 
Application Received: 22 July 2016 
 
Consultation Period: 4 August – 9 September 2016 
 31 January – 23 February 2017 
 11 May – 2 June 2017 
 5- 26 October 2017 
 
Contents 
 
Part 1- Facts and Background 
Part 2 – Other Viewpoints 
Part 3 – Relevant Planning Documents 
Part 4 – Assessment and Conclusions 
 
Recommendation: The report recommends that application MW.0094/16  
be approved subject to conditions and a legal agreement. 
 

Development Proposed: 
 

Extraction of sand and gravel with associated processing plant, 
conveyors, office and weighbridge, parking areas. Construction of new 
access onto the A4130. Restoration to agriculture, incorporating two 
ponds, using imported inert materials at New Barn Farm, Cholsey, Near 
Wallingford. 

Page 119

Agenda Item 7



PN7 
 

 
 
 
PART 1- FACTS AND BACKGROUND 
 
Location (see Plan 1) 

 
1. The application site is located approximately 500 metres1 south of the 

edge of Wallingford and 1km north of Cholsey in the south of the county.  
 

Site and Setting 
 
2. The site covers approximately 34 hectares (ha) of agricultural land and is 

roughly square in shape and relatively flat, lying at an elevation of 
between 46 and 47 metres Above Ordnance Datum (AOD). The site is 
bordered to the north east by the A4130 Bosley Way; the south east by 
the Wallingford Road, which links Wallingford and Cholsey; to the south 
west by a drainage ditch, beyond which lies agricultural land; and to the 
north west by the Cholsey and Wallingford Railway, beyond which lies 
agricultural land. There is a solar farm to the east of the northern part of 
the site, on the other side of Wallingford Road.  

 
3. The cluster of farm buildings at New Barn Farm lies 20m to the south 

east of the application area, one of these barns is Grade II Listed.  There 
are two residential properties on the opposite side of the Wallingford 
Road from New Barn Farm. Cox’s Farmhouse, which is a Grade II Listed 
Building, lies approximately 130 metres west of the site boundary on the 
other side of the railway line.  There are other nearby residential 
properties on Brookfield Close in Wallingford, 150 metres to the north 
east on the other side of the A4130.  The Lodge lies east of the site 
boundary, immediately on the opposite side of Wallingford Road. There 
is a day nursery in Elizabeth House, approximately 180 metres east of 
the site. A property named Coachman’s Cottage lies in the same area.  

 
4. The River Thames lies approximately 500 metres to the east, at its 

closest, on the far side of the Wallingford Road and the A329. The site is 
entirely located within Flood Zone 1, which has the lowest probability of 
flooding. According to the Environment Agency (EA)  mapping, the site 
does not lie within a groundwater Source Protection Zone. 

 
5. A Public Right of Way (PROW) no. 167/24/20 cuts across the northern 

corner of the site and then runs down the north western boundary on the 
other side of the railway line (PROW 167/24/10) and extends to the 
northeast towards Winterbrook (PROW 167/24/30). This PROW also 
forms part of the Dame Agatha Christie Trail, which forms a loop 
between Wallingford and Cholsey.  

 

                                            
1
 All distances are approximate 

Page 120



PN7 
 

6. The application site area is approximately 33.8 hectares, including an 
extraction area of 27 hectares and comprises agricultural land, of which 
83% is classified as grades 2 and 3a (best and most versatile (BMV)) 
land. The remainder is grade 3b. The site comprises one large 
agricultural field with trees and/or hedgerows along the boundaries.   

 
7. The site is located approximately 3 km (1.9 miles) from RAF Benson and 

10km (6.2 miles) from RAF Chalgrove and it is therefore within the 
statutory safeguarding zone for managing bird strike risk to aircraft. 

 
8. The site is not located within an Area of Outstanding Beauty (AONB), 

however, the boundary of the Chilterns AONB lies approximately 500 
metres to the east, following the River Thames and the boundary of the 
North Wessex Downs AONB lies approximately 600 metres to the west. 

 
9. Fairmile hospital is a Grade II Registered Park and Garden lying 1.5 km 

south of the site. The application site falls into the impact risk zone for 
Little Wittenham Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and Special 
Area of Conservation (SAC), which lies 4.5 kilometres to the north. The 
closest Local Wildlife Sites are Cholsey March and Pond north of 
Cholsey March, 1.6 km south east of the application site.  

 
10. A gas main and overhead electricity cables cross the site. A water main 

runs along the eastern boundary and a rising sewer main runs along the 
railway fenceline on the north western boundary. The Cholsey Sewage 
Treatment Works lies approximately 700 metres to the south west of the 
site.  

 
11. There are designated conservation areas at Winterbrook (350 metres 

north east), Wallingford (800 metres north east) and Cholsey (1.2km 
south west). The Scheduled Monument of the Saxon town of Wallingford 
comes within 500 metres to the north of the application site.  

 
12. SODC has received an outline planning application for new residential 

development of up to 502 dwellings (amended from 550 dwellings) and a 
new primary school, directly north of the application site, on the other 
side of A4130. This application (reference P16/S4275/O) was considered 
by Committee on 8 January 2017 and there is a resolution to grant 
permission. 

 
Details of Proposed Development  
 
Mineral Extraction 
 
13. It is proposed to extract 2.5 million tonnes (Mt) of sand and gravel at a 

rate of 140 000 tonnes per year. The site would be split into 18 phases 
each taking approximately one year to work.  It is anticipated that the 
mineral will be 5-6 metres deep, beneath 0.5 metre of soils. It is 
proposed to work the site ‘wet’, i.e. without dewatering and for it to be 

Page 121



PN7 
 

progressively restored, using imported inert materials, back to 
agricultural use. 

 
14. If permission is granted it is proposed to commence site preparation 

works and extraction in 2019, with completion of extraction in 2037 and 
completion of restoration in 2039. The maximum depth of working is 
proposed to be 6m at 39m AOD. The mineral would be processed on 
site for use in the construction industry in Oxford and across South 
Oxfordshire, including Abingdon, Didcot and Wallingford. 

 
15. The site would be worked starting with Phase 1 in the north west and 

then from the south west towards the north east. The site would be 
worked wet, without dewatering. Mineral would be worked using an 
excavator and a loading shovel to feed it onto the conveyor for transport 
to the plant site.  

 
16. Soils and overburden would first be stripped from each phase and used 

to create noise and visual attenuation bunds of between 3 and 5 metres 
high. Additional landscaping would be provided prior to the 
commencement of extraction, including hedge planting on the north and 
north west boundaries. Buffer zones would be provided to the receptors 
at The Lodge and New Barn Farm, as well as soil bunds and advance 
planting.  

 
17. It is proposed to re-route the utilities as necessary, following discussion 

with the relevant companies.  
 

18. No operations are proposed in the triangle in the northern corner of the 
site which is cut off by the existing footpath (PROW 167/24/20). 
Therefore, there would be no need to divert this footpath. It is proposed 
to plant a hedge to screen the footpath from the workings.  

 
Restoration and Afteruse 
 
19. The site would be progressively restored using 2.1 Mt  of imported inert 

naturally occurring excavated materials from construction/demolition 
projects in the south of Oxfordshire. This would be used to fill the void 
which would have a maximum depth of 6 metres.  

 
20. The site would be restored to agricultural use, with some additional 

biodiversity enhancements including tree and hedge planting, two 
attenuation ponds and grassland. The site contains mainly Grade 2 and 
3a BMV agricultural land, which will be conserved and replaced upon 
restoration. 

 
21. It is anticipated that landfilling and restoration would be completed 20 

years after the commencement of extraction.  
 

22. Additional woodland planting along Wallingford Road is proposed as part 
of the final restoration.  

Page 122



PN7 
 

 
 
 

Minerals Processing Plant  
 

23. The plant site would be located in the north of the site, close to the 
access point onto the A4130. It would comprise mineral processing plant 
to screen and wash the as dug mineral. 

 
24. A conveyor would be used to transport mineral from the extraction phase 

to the plant site. 
 

25. The processing plant area would also include a site office and 
weighbridge, 15 car spaces, external lighting and a secure compound for 
storage.  

 
26. Mineral would be worked from beneath the plant site as the last 

extraction phase.  
 
Traffic and Access 
 
27. It is proposed to construct a new road access into the site from the 

A4130, which forms a southern bypass of Wallingford. The junction 
would be designed so that vehicles turned into it from the left and turned 
left out of it. HGVs would then use the Hithercroft roundabout to turn 
around to travel east away from the site and the Wallingford Road 
roundabout to turn if travelling from the west on approach to the site.  

 
28. It is estimated that the development would generate a maximum of 120 

HGV movements per day and 22 car movements from staff and visitors.  
 

29. Routeing is proposed to ensure that HGVs do not travel through Cholsey 
or Wallingford. HGVs would exit onto the A4130 and from there remain 
on the strategic road network, towards Didcot or taking the A4074 south 
towards Reading or north towards Oxford.  

 
Hours of Operation 

 
30. The proposed hours of operation would be 07.00-18.00 Monday to 

Friday and 07.00-13.00 on Saturdays. No operations are proposed for 
Sundays or Bank/Public holidays.  

 
Environmental Impact Assessment 

 
31. The application is supported by an Environmental Impact Assessment 

(EIA) and an Environmental Statement (ES) was submitted with the 
application. This covers the range of potential environmental impacts of 
the proposal. A summary of the findings can be found in Annex 3. 

 
 

Page 123



PN7 
 

 
 
 

PART 2 – OTHER VIEWPOINTS 
 
 
32. There were four periods of public consultation. The application was 

originally consulted on in August and September 2016, which resulted in 
requests for further information. A summary of the consultation 
responses can be found in Annex 4 and details of representations can 
be found in Annex 5.  

 
33. Consultation responses are available to read in full on the eplanning 

website.2  
 

PART 3 – RELEVANT PLANNING DOCUMENTS 
 

Relevant planning documents and legislation (see Policy Annex to the 
committee papers) 

 
34. In accordance with Section 70 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990, planning applications must be determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
 
Development Plan Documents 

  
35. The Development Plan for this area comprises: 

 

 Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 
(OMWCS) 

 Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan (saved policies) 
(OMWLP) 

 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (saved policies) (SOLP) 

 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (adopted 2012) (SOCS) 
 

36. The OMWCS was adopted in September 2017 and covers the period to 
2031. The Core Strategy sets out the strategic and core policies for 
minerals and waste development, including a suite of development 
management policies.  It is anticipated that Part 2 of the Plan will include 
Site Allocations and any further development management policies that 
may be necessary in relation to the allocated sites.  

 
37. The OMWLP was adopted in July 1996 and covered the period to 2006. 

46 policies within the OMWLP were ‘saved’ until the adoption of the 
OMWCS and 16 of these policies continue to be saved until the Part 2 
Site Specific document is adopted. The saved policies are non-strategic 
site-related policies and none of them apply to the area proposed in this 

                                            
2
 http://myeplanning2.oxfordshire.gov.uk/swiftlg/apas/run/Wphappcriteria.display 

 

Page 124

http://myeplanning2.oxfordshire.gov.uk/swiftlg/apas/run/Wphappcriteria.display


PN7 
 

planning application. Therefore, they are not relevant to the 
determination of this planning application.  

 
 
Other Policy Documents  
 
38. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is a material 

consideration in taking planning decisions. Relevant sections include 
those on facilitating the sustainable use of minerals, meeting the 
challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change and 
conserving and enhancing the natural environment. 
 

39. The National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) contains specific advice 
on matters including flood risk, minerals, conserving and enhancing the 
historic environment, determining a planning application and natural 
environment. 

 
40. The National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW) provides advice on 

planning for waste management facilities. 
 

41. The Wallingford Neighbourhood Development Plan Area was designated 
on 1 May 2015 and the Cholsey Neighbourhood Development Plan Area 
was designated on 4 August 2016. Both Parish Councils are working on 
draft versions of their neighbourhood plans. 

 
42. The publication version of the emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 

2011-2033 was published on the 11th October 2017. Following the 
publicity period it will be submitted to the Secretary of State after which 
there would be an Examination in Public with a view to adoption in 
summer 2018. Therefore, this emerging plan is a material consideration, 
although as it is not yet adopted its policies should be given limited 
limited weight. 
 
Relevant Development Plan Policies  

 
43. OMWCS: 

 
M2 – Provision for working aggregate minerals 
M3 – Principal locations for working aggregate minerals 
M5 – Working of aggregate minerals 
M10 – Restoration of mineral workings  
W1 – Oxfordshire waste to be managed 
W2 – Oxfordshire waste management targets 
W3 – Provision for waste management capacity and facilities 

required 
W5 – Siting of waste management facilities 
W6 – Landfill and other permanent deposit of waste to land 
C1 – Sustainable development 
C2 – Climate Change 
C3 – Flooding  

Page 125



PN7 
 

C4 – Water environment 
C5 – Local environment, amenity and economy 
C6 – Agricultural land and soils  
C7 – Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
C8 – Landscape 
C9 – Historic environment and archaeology 
C10 – Transport 
C11 – Rights of way 

 
44. SOLP 2011 Saved Policies: 

 
G2 – Protection and enhancement of the environment 
C3 – The River Thames and its valley 
C6 – Biodiversity conservation 
C9 – Landscape features  
CON5 – The setting of listed buildings 
CON7 – Conservation areas 
EP1 – Prevention of polluting emissions 
EP2 – Noise and vibrations 
EP3 – Light pollution 
EP6 – Surface water protection 
EP7 – Groundwater protection 
R8 – Public rights of way 

 
 

45. SOCS: 
 

CSEN1 – Protection of Landscape Character 
CSEN3 – Historic Environment 
CSB1 – Biodiversity 
CSG1 – Green Infrastructure 
CS1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development 

 
 

PART 4 – ASSESSMENT AND CONCLUSIONS 
 
Comments of the Director for Planning and Place 

 
46. The NPPF sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable development 

(paragraph 14), which is supported by policies C1 of the OMWCS and 
CS1 of the SOCS. This means taking a positive approach to 
development and approving an application which accords with the 
development plan without delay, unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. 
 

47. All planning applications must be determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise, in 
accordance with the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. The key 
planning policies are set out above and discussed below in accordance 
with the key planning issues. 

Page 126



PN7 
 

 
 
 

48. The key planning issues are:  
i) Prematurity 
ii) Need for sand and gravel 
iii) Waste 
iv) Location 
v) Landscape and visual impact 
vi) AONB 
vii) Traffic 
viii) Rights of Way  
ix) Potential amenity effects 
x) Flood risk and water environment 
xi) Archaeology and historic environment 
xii) Biodiversity 
xiii) Restoration 
xiv) Soils and agriculture 
xv) Socio-economic impacts 
xvi) Cumulative impact 

 
Prematurity  

 
49. A number of representations have raised an objection to the application 

on the grounds of prematurity, stating that it pre-empts the Oxfordshire 
Minerals and Waste Local Plan. 
 

50. Prematurity is no longer an issue in relation to the Oxfordshire Minerals 
and Waste Local Plan Part 1 – Core Strategy (OMWCS), which was 
adopted in September 2017, after the initial consultation periods but prior 
to the determination of this application.  

 
51. Paragraph 216 of the NPPF states that from the day of publication, 

decision-takers may also give weight to relevant policies in emerging 
plans.’ 

 
52. There is not yet a published draft of the Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste 

Local Plan Part 2, which will include specific sites. Therefore, it is not 
possible to give weight to any policies in that plan and prematurity is not 
a consideration in relation to the Part 2 plan at this stage.  

 
53. The NPPF sets out the presumption in favour of sustainable 

development and the NPPG provides guidance on the circumstances 
where it may be justifiable to refuse planning permission on the grounds 
of prematurity (paragraph 14): 

 
‘…arguments that an application is premature are unlikely to justify a 
refusal of planning permission other than where it is clear that the 
adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, taking the policies in the 

Page 127



PN7 
 

Framework and any other material considerations into account. Such 
circumstances are likely, but not exclusively, to be limited to 
situations where both: 
 
a) the development proposed is so substantial, or its cumulative 
effect would be so significant, that to grant permission would 
undermine the plan-making process by predetermining decisions 
about the scale, location or phasing of new development that are 
central to an emerging Local Plan or Neighbourhood Planning; and 
 
b) the emerging plan is at an advanced stage but is not yet formally 
part of the development plan for the area. 
 
Refusal of planning permission on grounds of prematurity will seldom 
be justified where a draft Local Plan has yet to be submitted for 
examination, or in the case of a Neighbourhood Plan, before the end 
of the local planning authority publicity period. Where planning 
permission is refused on grounds of prematurity, the local planning 
authority will need to indicate clearly how the grant of permission for 
the development concerned would prejudice the outcome of the plan-
making process.’ 
 

54. With regard to part a) the OMWCS paragraph 4.19 identifies a need for 
approximately 5 Mt of additional sand and gravel provision over the plan 
period. This has since increased to about 5.98 Mt due to permitted 
reserves at Thrupp Farm Quarry no longer being included in the 
landbank. The 2.5 Mt of mineral proposed to be produced by this 
development would comprise almost 50% of this identified mineral 
provision. Whilst  it is considered that the development proposed is 
significant in relation to the provision currently identified within the 
OMWCS, it would not satisfy the entire assessed need. It would not 
prejudice the policies of the OMWCS and a policy concerning sharp 
sand and gravel will be required in any event. 

 
55. Further, it is not considered that part b) is met. The Part 1 plan is 

adopted and the Part 2 plan is not yet published in draft form.  

 

56. The Council sought Counsel’s advice on the concerns relating to 
prematurity. Having taken into account the legal advice as well as the 
NPPG, the NPPF, the ongoing need to plan for mineral extraction, and 
all of the representations concerning prematurity, I do not consider that 
this application would undermine the emerging local plan process in the 
circumstances, particularly in light of the very early stage of Part 2 of the 
Core Strategy, and that a refusal on prematurity grounds would not be 
justified. 

 
 Need for mineral 

 
57. The NPPF contains a ‘presumption in favour of sustainable 

development,’ and Section 13 specifically promotes ‘facilitating the 

Page 128



PN7 
 

sustainable use of minerals’. It clearly sets out at paragraph 144 that 
when determining planning applications, local planning authorities 
should ‘give great weight to the benefits of mineral extraction, including 
to the economy’, which is one of the strands of sustainable development.  
 

58. Paragraph 142 of the NPPF states that ‘minerals are essential to support 
economic growth and our quality of life.’ The mineral industry plays a 
large part in the construction industry and is vital to support the current 
demand for new housing, schools, roads and major infrastructure 
projects.  

 
59. Paragraph 145 of the NPPF states that minerals planning authorities 

(MPAs) should plan for a steady and adequate supply of aggregates by, 
amongst other things: 

 

 Preparing an annual Local Aggregate Assessment (LAA); 

 Making provision for the land-won and other elements of their LAA 
in their minerals plans…such provision should take the form of 
specific sites, preferred areas and/or areas of search and locational 
criteria as appropriate; 

 Taking account of National and Sub National Guidelines on future 
provision; 

 Using landbanks of aggregate minerals reserves principally as an 
indicator of the security of supply, and to indicate the additional 
provision that needs to be made for new aggregate extraction and 
alternative supplies in mineral plans; 

 Making provision for the maintenance of landbanks of at least 7 
years for sand and gravel… taking into account productive capacity 
of permitted sites;  

 Ensuring that large land banks bound up in very few sites do not 
stifle competition; and 

 Calculating and maintaining separate landbanks for any aggregate 
materials of a specific type or quality which have a distinct and 
separate market. 

 
60. OMWCS policy M2 requires that planning permissions be granted to 

enable a landbank to be maintained for sharp sand and gravel with at 
least 7 years supply in accordance with the annual requirement rate in 
the most recent LAA, taking into account the need to maintain sufficient 
productive capacity to enable that rate to be realised. It also states that 
provision will be made to enable the supply of 1.015 million tonnes per 
annum (mtpa) of sharp sand and gravel. 
 

61. OMWCS policy M2 identifies the total requirement over the Plan Period 
2014 to 2031 for sharp sand and gravel to be 18.270 Mt. Taking into 
account sales in 2014 and 2015, permitted reserves at the end of 2015 
(excluding those that are expected to be worked after the plan period) 
and permissions granted in 2016, OMWCS paragraph 4.19 identifies a 
need for a further 5 mt of sharp sand and gravel over the plan period. 
Taking into account sales from 2016 and permitted reserves at the end 

Page 129



PN7 
 

of 2016, this has now been recalculated as 5.979 mt. The increase in the 
remaining requirement is due to permitted reserves at Thrupp Farm 
Quarry no longer being included in the landbank due to the planning 
permission going into suspension.  
 

62. The NPPG makes it clear that landbanks are principally a monitoring tool 
to provide MPAs with early warning of possible disruption to the 
provision of an adequate and steady supply of aggregate. It should be 
used as a trigger for a MPA to review the current provision and consider 
a review of the allocation of sites. At paragraph 82, the NPPG says that 
low landbanks may be an indicator that suitable applications should be 
permitted as a matter of importance.  

 
63. The NPPG makes it clear that there is no maximum landbank level and 

each application for minerals extraction must be considered on its own 
merits (paragraph 84). It goes on to set out reasons why an application 
for mineral extraction might be brought forward where an adequate 
landbank exists, these include: 

 Significant future increases in demand that can be forecast with 
reasonable certainty; 

 The location of the consented reserve is inappropriately located 
relative to the main market areas; 

 Known constraints on the availability of consented reserves that 
might limit output over the plan period. 

 
64. The Aggregates Monitoring Survey 2016: Quarry Sales and Reserves in 

Oxfordshire shows that permitted reserves of sharp sand and gravel in 
Oxfordshire totalled 11.383 Mt at the end of 2016. No additional reserves 
have been granted permission so far in 2017. Sales of sharp sand and 
gravel in 2016 are recorded as 651 000 tonnes and although they fell 
back from this level in 2015, from 2009 there has been a trend of 
increasing sales. The average of 10 years sales of sharp sand and 
gravel (2007-2016) was 595 000t and the average of 3 years sales 
(2014-2015) was 686 000t. The current Local Aggregate Assessment 
provision rate for sharp sand and gravel, in the Oxfordshire Local 
Aggregate Assessment 2014, is 1.015 Mt per annum. Based on this 
figure (in line with OMWCS policy M2), the landbank for sharp sand and 
gravel at the end of 2016 was 11.2 years.  
 

65. Therefore, new permissions are not currently needed to maintain a 
landbank of at least 7 years. However, the NPPF is clear that a 7 year 
landbank is a minimum and not a maximum level to be maintained. The 
fact that the landbank is currently more than 7 years is not a reason to 
refuse planning permission. 

 
66. Objections have been raised in representations received regarding the 

lack of need for mineral. However, as set out above, landbanks are a 
minimum and provide an indicator for when reserves are critically low. 
They are not to be used as a reason to refuse applications for further 
mineral extraction.  

Page 130



PN7 
 

 
 

67. Approximately half of the current permitted reserves of sharp sand and 
gravel are at a single site (Gill Mill Quarry) and those reserves are 
expected to be worked over a period up to 2036.  Therefore, it would not 
be possible for Oxfordshire’s production of sharp sand and gravel to be 
maintained at the LAA level of 1.015 mtpa throughout the theoretical 
period of the current landbank (11.2 years available from the end of 
2016), since the reserves at other sites are expected to be worked out 
within a shorter period. Some quarries are expected to be worked out in 
less than 7 years (the minimum landbank period required by the NPPF), 
which would result in a decrease in production as quarries close. 
Currently, it is expected that production capacity will fall below the policy 
M2 provision level (LAA requirement) of 1.015 mtpa in 2019. In 
accordance with OMWCS policy M2, and the NPPF paragraph 145 
requirement that MPAs should ensure that large landbanks bound up in 
very few sites do not stifle competition, consideration must be given to 
the need to maintain sufficient productive capacity to enable the annual 
requirement rate in the LAA to be realised. 

 
68. In view of this, notwithstanding the current sharp sand and gravel 

landbank being significantly more than 7 years, there is a strong 
argument that there is a need for further reserves to be permitted to 
ensure the continuation of a steady and adequate supply of aggregates 
at the required level established in the LAA, and in accordance with 
OMWCS policy M2. 

 
69. The Inspector’s Report on the Examination of the Core Strategy 

(Appendix A – Interim Report, paragraph 117) noted that Oxfordshire is 
an area likely to experience considerable growth with potential housing 
construction well above recent rates.  

 
70. National policy and guidance make it clear that the existence of a 

landbank greater than 7 years is not in itself justification for a refusal of 
permission. It also indicates that the productive capacities of the sites 
that make up the landbank, and the consequent limitations this imposes 
on overall output, and having a large part of the landbank contained at a 
single site are factors that may justify additional reserves being permitted 
notwithstanding the existence of a landbank of more than 7 years. 
 

71. OMWCS policy M5 (first paragraph) is also relevant. This states the 
circumstances in which permission will be granted for the working of 
aggregate minerals in advance of the Site Allocations Document being 
adopted, these being where it would contribute towards meeting the 
requirement for provision in policy M2, provided the proposal is in 
accordance with the locational strategy in policy M3. The application site 
lies within ‘The Thames and Lower Thame Valleys area from Oxford to 
Cholsey’ sharp sand and gravel strategic resource area that is identified 
in policy M3 as a principal location for aggregate minerals extraction. 
The last paragraph of policy M3 seeks to achieve an approximately 

Page 131



PN7 
 

equal split of production capacity for sharp sand and gravel between 
northern and southern Oxfordshire by 2031. The current situation is that 
significantly more than half of permitted reserves and production 
capacity are at sites in northern Oxfordshire, whereas the split of 
demand between northern and southern Oxfordshire is believed to be 
approximately 50:50. To achieve an equal split of production capacity 
between northern and southern Oxfordshire, policy M3 seeks to locate 
approximately 75% of the additional tonnage requirement in southern 
Oxfordshire and 25% in northern Oxfordshire. The application would 
contribute towards achieving this and would be in line with the spatial 
strategy in policy M3. 
 

72. This is also supported by NPPG paragraph 084, which includes amongst 
the reasons why an application for mineral extraction might be brought 
forward where an adequate landbank exists: ‘The location of the 
consented reserve is inappropriately located relative to the main market 
areas.’ 
 
Waste 
 

73. Policy W1 of the OMWCS states that provision will be made for waste 
management facilities that provide capacity that allows Oxfordshire to be 
net self-sufficient in the management of its principal waste streams. The 
proposed development would contribute to meeting this need as it would 
provide a suitable facility for the disposal of 1.4 million m3 of naturally 
occurring excavated material primarily from within Oxfordshire in order to 
restore a mineral site back to high grade agricultural land. 
 

74. OMWCS policy W2 sets out the targets for the diversion of various waste 
streams from landfill. The policy includes a target of 25% for the 
permanent deposit of inert waste other than for disposal to landfill. A 
footnote states that this includes the use of inert waste in backfilling of 
mineral workings. The proposed development would contribute towards 
achieving this target as it would involve the use of inert waste in 
backfilling a mineral working, thus diverting that inert waste from 
disposal for landfill.  

 
75. OMWCS policy W3 sets out the need for at least 326,800tpa of 

additional waste management capacity up to 2031 and states that 
specific sites to meet this requirement will be allocated in the Minerals 
and Waste Local Plan: Part 2 – Site Allocations Document. This 
application would help the County meet its targets for the use of CDE 
waste to backfill a mineral working. 

 
76. OMWCS policy W5 states that priority will be given to siting waste 

management facilities on land which is at an active mineral working or 
landfill site. This policy supports the location of an inert waste disposal 
facility at an active mineral working.  

 

Page 132



PN7 
 

77. OMWCS policy W6 states that priority will be given to the use of inert 
waste that cannot be recycled as infill material to achieve the satisfactory 
restoration and after use of active or unrestored quarries. This policy 
supports the proposal to use inert waste to achieve a satisfactory 
restoration.  

 
78. The proposed development is considered to be in accordance with policy 

relating to waste disposal as it provides a suitable location for the use of 
inert waste in restoration, which diverts it from disposal.  
 
Location 

 
79. The application site lies within ‘The Thames and Lower Thame Valleys 

area from Oxford to Cholsey’ sharp sand and gravel strategic resource 
area that is identified in policy M3 of the OMWCS as a principal location 
for aggregate minerals extraction within which sites for mineral working 
will be allocated in the Part 2 Minerals and Waste Local Plan. 
 

80. Policy M3 seeks to rebalance supply and demand of sharp sand and 
gravel across the County, by setting out that site allocations will be 
located such that approximately 25% of additional tonnage requirements 
will be in northern Oxfordshire and 75% in southern Oxfordshire. The 
current situation is that significantly more than half of permitted reserves 
and production capacity are at sites in northern Oxfordshire (and mainly 
within West Oxfordshire District) whereas the split of demand between 
northern and southern Oxfordshire is believed to be nearer 50:50.  This 
indicates that any additional reserves and production capacity should 
preferably be provided within southern Oxfordshire, as set out in 
paragraphs 4.28 – 4.30 of the OMWCS. This application would therefore 
help to achieve this aim, enabling local supplies of aggregate for planned 
housing and economic growth in this part of the county, including the 
Science Vale area and therefore accord with policy M3.  
 

81. Mineral can only be worked where it is found. At this time the Site 
Allocations Plan (Part 2 of the Core Strategy) is not yet available, even in 
a draft form.  
 

82. OMWCS policy M5 states that prior to the adoption of the Part 2 
Minerals and Waste Local Plan permission will be granted for the 
working of aggregate minerals where it would contribute towards the 
requirement for provision identified in policy M2 and is in accordance 
with the locational strategy in policy M3 and the core policies for 
minerals and waste (C1-C12). The proposed development would 
contribute towards the requirement for provision as identified within 
policy M2 and as discussed elsewhere in this report, it is also considered 
to accord with policies C1 – C12. 

 
83. Policy W5 gives priority to the siting of waste management facilities on 

sites including active mineral workings, the proposal will accord with this 

Page 133



PN7 
 

policy if planning permission is granted for the development including 
mineral extraction.  

 
 
 Landscape and Visual Impact 

 
84. NPPF paragraph 115 states that great weight should be given to 

conserving landscape and scenic beauty in Areas of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty (AONBs), which (along with National Parks) have the highest 
status of protection in relation to landscape and scenic beauty. 
 

85. Policy C8 of the OMWCS requires that minerals development respects 
and where possible enhances local landscape character and are 
informed by landscape character assessment. It states that proposals 
shall include adequate and appropriate measures to mitigate adverse 
impacts.   

 
86. The development site is currently agricultural land located to the south of 

Wallingford and approximately 500m west of the River Thames. It falls 
within the National Character Area 108 ‘Upper Thames Clay Vales’, 
South Oxfordshire Character Area ‘4, River Thames Corridor’ and the 
Flat, Open Farmland landscape character type. The North Wessex 
Downs AONB is located approximately 600m to the west and southwest 
of the site, while the Chilterns AONB lies approximately 500m to the 
east, the boundary following the River Thames. The site is in effect 
framed by these two AONBs and although it is located outside of the 
designated areas, it does lie within their setting. This matter is discussed 
further below. 

 
87. The application is accompanied by an Environmental Statement, which 

includes a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA). The LVIA 
states that the landscape of the study area is in good condition and has 
a coherent pattern, despite the presence of discordant features such as 
the A4130. It concludes that there will be a high adverse effect on the 
landscape character type, high adverse effect on the Grade II Listed 
New Barn Farm and medium adverse effect on the Grade II Listed Cox’s 
Farmhouse, high adverse effect on PROW 167/24/20 and medium 
adverse effect on the Dame Agatha Christie Trail, medium adverse 
effect on the scenic qualities of the site and a low adverse effect on the 
tranquillity of the site and Cholsey Wallingford Railway during the 
operational phase. However, the works are temporary and the long term 
effects are considered to be beneficial. Mitigation measures to reduce 
landscape and visual impacts during the operational phase include soil 
screen bunds located close to New Barn Farm in the south of the site, 
close to The Lodge along the eastern boundary, as well as along the 
western boundary, along the west of the plant site and bordering the 
access road. Additional planting is proposed along the eastern, south 
eastern, south western and western boundaries of the site.  

 

Page 134



PN7 
 

88. Of the 33 viewpoints assessed, 11 would experience adverse effect and 
5 of those are considered ‘substantial to moderate’ or ‘substantial’, the 
majority are a consequence of the views of the screen bunds and not of 
the operational area or plant site. These effects would also be temporary 
and reversible. 

 
89. Concerns have been raised by Parish Councils (represented by 

Communities Against Gravel Extraction (CAGE)) that the LVIA fails to 
appreciate the historic context of the site, being part of open, flat 
farmland separating ancient settlements. They consider that the loss of 
views across this landscape due to bunds and hedges has not been 
adequately assessed. However, the Environmental Strategy Officer was 
satisfied with the LVIA methodology and assessments.  

 
90. SOLP policy C3 states that the distinctive character of the River Thames 

and its valley will be maintained and where possible enhanced. 
Proposals for any form of development which detracts from its special 
character will not be permitted. Policy C9 states that development will 
not be permitted if it would cause the loss of a landscape feature which 
makes an important contribution to the local scene, or contains important 
wildlife habitat, or has important historical value. 

 
91. The proposed development would involve the current agricultural site 

being worked for mineral over a period of 18 years. The site would be 
worked in a phased manner, with the mineral being dug and the phase 
restored behind it. The site would be restored back to agricultural land 
with measures to conserve the soil resource, with some additional 
habitat being created for biodiversity benefit. The site is not particularly 
sensitive in terms of landscape value and therefore, although the 
proposed development would result in some impacts on landscape 
character, these would be temporary and their duration would be 
reduced by the phased working and prompt restoration. There would be 
no significant landscape feature lost as a result of the development and 
wildlife habitats would be improved upon restoration. 

 
92. SOLP policy G2 states that the district’s countryside, settlements and 

environmental resources will be protected from adverse developments. 
SOCS policy CSEN1 states that the district’s distinct landscape 
character and key features will be protected against inappropriate 
development and where possible enhanced. High priority will be given to 
conservation and enhancement of the AONBs and planning decisions 
will have regard to their setting. The landscapes and waterscapes of the 
River Thames corridor will be maintained and where possible enhanced. 

 
93. The Environmental Strategy Officer does not object to the proposals on 

landscape grounds, but remains to be convinced that the upper parts of 
working machinery would not be visible from the public right of way on 
Cholsey Hill, which could lead to a moderate adverse impact during the 
operational phase. However, this viewpoint is not within the AONB.  

 

Page 135



PN7 
 

94. The proposed development includes mitigation measures designed to 
minimise any potential landscape and visual impacts where possible. 
Although there is likely to be an adverse visual effect during the 
operational phase of the development, this will cease upon completion of 
the works and as the site will be restored back to agricultural land, with 
some biodiversity enhancements, there is considered to be an 
improvement upon restoration. Therefore, the proposal is considered to 
comply with the relevant landscape policies.  

 
AONB 

 
95. Paragraph 115 of the NPPF places great weight on “conserving 

landscape and scenic beauty in National Parks, the Broads and Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONBs), which have the highest status of 
protection in relation to landscape and scenic beauty.” Paragraph 116 
states that planning permission for major development in these areas 
should be refused except in exceptional circumstances. The 
development site is located outside of the North Wessex Downs and 
Chilterns AONBs, although it does lie within their setting. 
 

96. Policy C8 of the OMWCS states that great weight will be given to 
conserving the landscape and scenic beauty of AONBs, with high priority 
given to the enhancement of their natural beauty. Policy CSEN1 of the 
SOCS, requires that planning decisions have regard to the setting of 
AONBs. It goes on to say that “Proposals which support the economies 
and social well-being of the AONBs and their communities, including 
affordable housing schemes, will be encouraged provided they do not 
conflict with the aims of conservation and enhancement.” 

 
97. The Chilterns Conservation Board (CCB) object to the application due to 

the visual impacts on the setting of the AONB as well as the landscape 
character impacts. The North Wessex Downs AONB board comment 
that the application site lies within the setting of the AONBs, that there 
will be distant views of the site from the upland areas to the west and 
south and that proposed new planting will take time to establish and 
have real screening benefits. 

 
98. The Chilterns AONB Management Plan policy L7 states that ‘the quality 

of the setting of the AONB should be conserved by ensuring the impact 
of adjacent development is sympathetic to the character of the Chilterns’. 

 
99. The Environmental Strategy Officer initially requested an update to the 

LVIA to consider views from the higher ground within the two AONBs. 
This information was provided and the Environmental Strategy Officer is 
satisfied with the findings that there would not be a significant impact on 
the setting of the AONBs from these points.  

 
100. Whilst it is considered that the development would have an impact upon 

the setting of the AONBs in terms of distant views from some parts 
during the operational period, this is reduced by the working of the site in 

Page 136



PN7 
 

a phased manner, which will minimise the amount of land out of 
agricultural use at any one time. The proposed restoration is back to 
agriculture, with additional planting and biodiversity enhancements 
around the boundaries of the site. Therefore, in the longer term there will 
be some improvements to the site, which should be seen as a positive to 
the AONBs’ settings. Impacts on the AONBs are not likely to be 
significant.   

 
Traffic 

 
101. NPPF paragraph 32 states that all development that generates a 

significant amount of movements should be supported by a Transport 
Statement or Transport Assessment. Decisions should take account of 
whether opportunities for sustainable transport modes have been taken 
up, safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved and whether 
improvements can be undertaken within the transport network that cost 
effectively limit the significant impacts of the development. It goes on to 
state that development should only be refused on transport grounds 
where the residual cumulative impacts of the development are severe.  
 

102. Policy C10 of the OMWCS states that minerals development will be 
expected to make provision for safe and suitable access to the advisory 
lorry routes shown on the Oxfordshire Lorry Routes Maps. It also 
requires that where minerals will be transported by road, they should be 
located so as to minimise road distance to locations of demand. The 
proposed development would serve the local area, including Wallingford, 
Didcot, Oxford and other parts of south Oxfordshire. 

 
103. Regarding sustainable transport modes, it is considered that there are 

no practical opportunities for more sustainable transport modes at this 
site. Although it is in close proximity to a railway line, there is no rail 
head or siding to facilitate loading or unloading. Although the site is also 
within 1 kilometre of the River Thames, river transport is not a feasible 
option as the site is not adjacent to the river and a number of roads lie 
between the site and the river. In addition there are no loading facilities 
and the mineral worked here is bound for local markets and so transport 
by river is not practical to take the mineral to construction sites in the 
local area. 

 
104. Access to the site is proposed off the A4130 Bosley Way, which serves 

as the southern bypass of Wallingford. A new access is proposed to be 
located 235m west of the A4130 junction with Wallingford Road. A ‘left 
in, left out’ access arrangement is designed to prevent traffic queuing 
behind vehicles turning right into the site. Instead, vehicles would need 
to turn around at the Wallingford Road roundabout and approach the site 
from the east, turning left into the new access. Likewise, vehicles exiting 
would need to turn left out of the site and use the Hithercroft Road 
roundabout to travel back towards the east. The development is 
proposed to generate 120 HGV movements per day (60 in, 60 out) 

 

Page 137



PN7 
 

105. The Highways Authority considers that the proposals, including the 
access design; ‘left in, left out’ arrangement; visibility splays; wheel wash 
facilities and proposed HGV movements would have minimal impact on 
the local highway network and therefore, subject to recommended 
conditions and a legal agreement to secure the routeing of vehicles and 
highway and access works, no objections are raised. An objection 
related to the site access design was removed following the submission 
of further information. 

 
106. Subject to the conditions and routeing agreement as recommended by 

the Highways Officer it is considered that the proposed development is 
in accordance with the NPPF and policy C10 of the Core Strategy. 

 
 Rights of Way 
 
107. NPPF paragraph 75 states that planning policies should protect and 

enhance public rights of way and access and local authorities should 
seek opportunities to provide better facilities for users, for example by 
adding links to existing rights of way networks including National Trails. 

 
108. OMWCS policy C11 states that the integrity and amenity value of the 

rights of way network shall be maintained and where possible routes 
shall be retained in situ in a safe and usable condition. Improvements 
and enhancements will be generally encouraged and public access 
sought to restored mineral workings. 

 
109. SOLP policy R8 states that the retention and protection of the existing 

rights of way network will be sought and where possible proposals to 
improve it will be supported.  

 
110. As stated above, no public rights of way are proposed to be stopped up 

or diverted as a result of the development. As such the Countryside 
Access Team have requested that a suitable buffer zone be placed 
between public footpath 167/24/20 which runs through the northern 
corner of the site and any additional planting or operational phases. The 
application proposes a 10 metre buffer zone between hedges, trees and 
footpaths and the extraction areas in order to protect ecology. It is 
considered that this would also be a suitable width of buffer to protect 
the amenity of users of the footpath. As such, it is recommended that a 
planning condition be placed on any forthcoming consent requiring a 10 
metre buffer between footpaths, hedges and trees and the extraction.   
 

111. Subject to the proposed condition, it is considered that the development 
accords with the relevant rights of way policies, as the existing rights of 
way network would be retained and the amenity of users would be 
protected, in accordance with relevant development plan policy.  

  
Potential Amenity & Health Impacts 
 

Page 138



PN7 
 

112. Policy C5 of the OMWCS states that proposals for minerals development 
shall demonstrate that it will not have an adverse effect on the local 
environment; human health and safety; residential amenity; and the local 
economy from impacts including noise, dust, visual intrusion, light 
pollution, traffic and air quality. 
 

113. NPPF paragraph 125 states that by encouraging good design planning 
decisions should limit the impact of light pollution from artificial light on 
local amenity, intrinsically dark landscapes and nature conservation.  

 
114. NPPF paragraph 144 states that when determining planning 

applications, planning authorities should ensure that there are no 
unacceptable adverse impacts on human health and that any 
unavoidable noise, dust and particle emissions are controlled, mitigated 
or removed at source. Local planning authorities should establish 
appropriate noise limits for extraction in proximity to noise sensitive 
properties.  

 
115. NPPF paragraph 143 states that in preparing Local Plans, local planning 

authorities should, when developing noise limits, recognise that some 
noisy short term activities, which might otherwise be regarded as 
unacceptable, are unavoidable to facilitate minerals extraction. In the 
absence of an adopted Local Plan which specifies noise limits, this is 
considered to also be relevant to decision making.  

 
116. SOLP policy EP1 states that proposals which would (by reason of smell, 

fumes, smoke, soot, ash, dust, grit, or other forms of polluting emissions) 
have an adverse effect on people and other living organisms, the 
atmosphere, the land, underground water supplies or watercourses will 
not be permitted, unless effective mitigation measures will be 
implemented. 

 
117. SOLP policy EP2 states that proposals which would have an adverse 

impact on occupiers by reason of noise or vibrations will not be 
permitted, unless effective mitigation measures will be implemented.  

 
118. SOLP policy EP3 states that proposals for new floodlighting or other 

external lighting which would have an adverse effect on neighbouring 
residents, the rural character of the countryside or biodiversity will not be 
permitted, unless effective mitigation measures will be implemented.  

 
119. The planning application is accompanied by an Environmental 

Statement which addresses noise, air quality and dust, traffic and 
lighting. 

 
120. The Noise Assessment, Noise Addendum and additional information 

submitted in response to consultee comments/requests measures the 
baseline conditions at the nearest sensitive receptors, calculates the 
predicted worst case noise levels generated by the development and 
assesses the potential impacts associated with the proposal. Mitigation 

Page 139



PN7 
 

measures proposed in order to reduce noise levels to an acceptable 
level, include the erection of soil bunds close to New Barn Farm, The 
Lodge, Cox’s Farm, along the northern boundary of the site and along 
the western side of the plant site and along both sides of the internal 
access road. The potential effect upon of the proposed residential 
development at Winterbrook, to the north of the proposed mineral 
working, and the cumulative impacts of both developments were given 
careful consideration by the applicant, SODC and OCC. Following 
changes to the phasing and an additional bund being located along the 
north western boundary of the site, and subject to conditions to limit 
noise levels, the Environmental Protection Officer (EPO) is satisfied and 
therefore raises no objection to the development. 
 

121. The application states that any external lighting will be limited to the 
plant site in order to ensure a safe working environment during poor 
lighting conditions, likely to be the start and end of the working day 
during the winter months. Other than lighting on individual plant and 
machinery, the excavation and infill operations will not be lit and 
therefore operations will cease when there is insufficient light. It is 
recommended that should consent be granted, a condition be included 
requiring details of lighting to be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the MPA. 

 
122. Following concerns raised during the initial consultation period, including 

from residents of nearby houses concerned about the health impacts of 
air emissions, an addendum to the Air Quality and Dust Assessment was 
provided in December 2016. This includes traffic emission modelling. 
There was also a further assessment dated May 2017 with an 
addendum dated September 2017. The assessment work includes 
consideration of potential impacts to air from NOx (associated with 
Heavy Duty Vehicle (HDV) traffic and Non-Road Mobile Machinery 
(NRMM)); PM10 (associated with road traffic and quarry operations); 
and disamenity dust. The submissions include an assessment of the 
potential impacts upon the prospective receptors at Winterbrook, the 
closest of which is circa 75m to the north/northeast.  

 
123. The assessment shows that one receptor could experience Moderate 

Adverse impacts, with others experiencing no more than a Slight 
Adverse effect. The mineral will be worked wet and standard mitigation 
measures are proposed, such as seeding of soil storage bunds, 
minimising dusty activities in dry and windy conditions, wetting haul 
roads- and internal speed limits. With the addition of enhanced mitigation 
such as ensuring that no bare ground or potentially dusty material is 
stockpiled within 100m of the proposed new receptors to the north, or if a 
water sprinkler system were in place to minimise the risk of dust 
generation, the assessment concludes that the overall impact is 
considered to be not significant. It is recommended that a Dust 
Management Plan (DMP) is required by condition. 
 

Page 140



PN7 
 

124.  The EPO has provided a response confirming no objection subject to a 
contribution towards extra NO2 monitoring along the A4074 and the 
submission of a dust management plan. The final response from the 
public health team, following liaison with Public Health England, confirms 
that they have no objections to the application, subject to a condition for 
a dust management plan covering both operating and non-operating 
hours.  
 

125. The EPO has confirmed that it is appropriate to use wind rose data from 
RAF Benson. It is accepted standard practice to use the closest 
meteorological station and in her view this would not alter the results 
significantly such that different advice on mitigation would be given.  

 
126. Concerns have been raised about amenity impacts on users of the 

Agatha Christie trail and Wallingford and Cholsey Heritage Railway. It is 
not considered that there would be significant effects on the amenity of 
people travelling around the edge of the site by foot or train. As set out 
above, a 10 metre buffer is proposed from footpaths, which is 
satisfactory to the rights of way team. A 15 metre buffer is proposed from 
the railway, which would also be secured by condition and is considered 
to be satisfactory.  

 
127. Assessment of the visual impact, traffic and impacts upon the water 

environment are considered elsewhere within this report. It is considered 
that, subject to conditions as set out within Annex 1, that there would be 
no unacceptable adverse impacts as a result of noise, lighting, dust or 
air quality, including in terms of public health, in accordance with the 
NPPF. It is considered that the development would accord with policies 
EP1, EP2 and EP3 of the SOLP and policy C5 of the OMWCS.  
 
Flood Risk and Water Environment 

 
128. OMWCS policy C3 states that development should take place in areas 

with the lowest probability of flooding. The application site is located 
within Flood Zone 1, which has the lowest probability of flooding, less 
than 1 in 1,000 annual probability of flooding, and as such a sequential 
test is not required. OMWCS policy C4 requires that applications 
demonstrate no unacceptable adverse impact on the quantity or quality 
of surface or groundwater resources required for habitats, wildlife and 
human activities; water abstraction; flow of groundwater; and 
waterlogged archaeological remains. It goes on to say that the River 
Thames and other water courses of significant landscape, nature 
conservation or amenity value should be adequately protected from 
unacceptable adverse impacts. 
 

129. Policy EP1 of the SOLP states that proposals should not have an 
adverse effect on underground water supplies or watercourses, similarly 
SOLP policy EP7 protects groundwater resources. SOLP Policy EP6 
requires that development accords with sustainable drainage principles. 

 

Page 141



PN7 
 

130. The application is supported by a Hydrological Impact Assessment (HIA) 
and Flood Risk Assessment (FRA). The sand and gravel deposits are 
classed as a Secondary A Aquifer by the EA, defined as ‘permeable 
layers capable of supporting water supplies at a local rather than 
strategic level, and in some cases forming an important source of base 
flow to rivers’. The Chalk and Upper Greensand bedrock is defined as a 
Principal Aquifer, which ‘usually provide a high level of water storage. 
They may support water supply and/or river base flow on a strategic 
level.’ 

 
131. Groundwater levels are between 1.8 and 3.3m below ground level and 

the sand and gravel to be extracted lies 5-6m below ground. No 
dewatering is proposed and therefore the mineral will be worked ‘wet’, 
i.e. dug from below the water table. This will mean the level of impact on 
the quantitative water environment is considered to be ‘negligible’ and 
therefore there would be no significant impact. There is considered to be 
a minor impact upon the private groundwater abstraction on Wallingford 
Road to the east of the site, which is 80m downgradient. As this is minor, 
no mitigation measures are considered necessary. No impact is 
anticipated on groundwater levels during extraction as the site will not be 
dewatered, however, the proposed inert infill will result in a lower 
permeability than the current sand and gravel, which will present a 
partial barrier to groundwater flow. This may result in a small (0.4m) rise 
in groundwater up-gradient of the site. This could affect a pond close to 
the western boundary of the site, near Cox’s Farm and may result in new 
ponds forming in surface depressions in this area. Mitigation measures 
are proposed including the construction of a French drain along part of 
the north western boundary, between the working area and the private 
railway line for a distance of approximately 200m, which will connect into 
the existing drain along the southwestern boundary of the site at a point 
downstream of the railway culvert.  

 
132. The HIA states that as the restoration using imported inert materials will 

require an Environmental Permit from the EA, likely to be a Recovery 
Permit, and it will have strict Waste Acceptance Criteria (WAC), which 
would act to reduce the risk of potentially contaminated material being 
imported. This is assessed as of ‘moderate’ significance on the 
groundwater quality at the Wallingford Road private water supply, 
therefore mitigation measures are proposed, including the provision of 
an alternative water supply, if required. This could be secured by Section 
106 agreement.  

 
133. Policy C2 of the OMWCS requires that proposals take account of climate 

change for the lifetime of the development. This includes accounting for 
anticipated more frequent, short duration, high intensity rainfall events 
and periods of long duration rainfall in the future. The FRA takes account 
of recommended increases in annual rainfall parameters as a result of 
climate change.  In terms of the NPPF Flood Risk Vulnerability 
Classification, the proposed use of mineral extraction comprises a ‘water 
compatible’ classification. As the site lies within Flood Zone 1, it is 

Page 142



PN7 
 

considered very unlikely to be subject to fluvial flooding. The EA’s ‘Risk 
of flooding from surface water’ map indicates a number of small ‘low risk’ 
areas associated with topographic low points. Low risk flood depths are 
typically <300m, which are likely to be accommodated within the quarry 
void and therefore it is considered that the risk is very low. Upon 
restoration at levels close to existing, surface water flow paths will be to 
the south west. Surface water flood risk, groundwater flood risk and flood 
risk posed by interaction with mains leakage are all considered to be not 
significant. 

 
134. As the site will be worked ‘wet’ there will be no water discharged off site. 

Proposed soil bunds would be located within the site and away from ‘low 
risk’ surface water flood areas. There is the possibility of increased run-
off rates and infiltration during extraction and increased run-off rates that 
could increase flood risk downstream and increased groundwater levels 
up-stream, although both are considered to be low or very low risk. 

 
135. Surface water run-off from the post-development site would be 

attenuated via a small network of ditches, linking to two ponds, one in 
the east and one in the south of the site. The discharge rate from the 
attenuation features to the existing drainage ditch will be the ‘greenfield’ 
rate minus 3l/s to allow for potential increase in flows as a result of 
groundwater discharge. The total combined storage of attenuation ponds 
and ditches would be 7,500m3, which would provide for the 1 in 100-
year event plus climate change, for a storm duration of 6 hours. 

 
136. The Lead Local Flood Authority does not raise a drainage objection to 

the application, stating that the EA will control the imported material via 
an Environmental Permit and monitor groundwater quality, and that the 
anticipated rise in groundwater will be reduced by the proposed drain 
and would not unduly affect local properties. 
 

137. It is therefore considered that, subject to the mitigation measures as 
proposed, the proposed development would not result in adverse 
impacts to the surface or groundwater quantity or quality and accords 
with the NPPF and policies EP1, EP6 and EP7 of the SOLP and C2, C3 
and C4 of the OMWCS. 
 
Archaeology and Historic Environment 

 
Archaeology 

 
138. OMWCS policy C9 states that minerals and waste development will not 

be permitted unless it is demonstrated, including where necessary 
through prior investigation, that they or associated activities will not have 
an unacceptable adverse impact on the historic environment.   

 
139. NPPF paragraph 141 states that planning authorities should require 

developers to record and advance understanding of the significance of 
any heritage assets to be lost. Para 144 of the NPPF states that there 

Page 143



PN7 
 

should be no unacceptable adverse impacts on the historic environment 
from mineral development. 
 

140. Policy CSEN3 of the SODC Core Strategy seeks to conserve and 
enhance historic assets. 

 
141. A Cultural Heritage Assessment was submitted with the original 

application, followed by a Geophysical Survey Report and 
Archaeological Evaluation Report in response to the Regulation 22 
Request and a Historical Environment letter in response to a request for 
further information from SODC’s Conservation Officer.  

 
142. The archaeological field evaluation revealed two broad periods of 

historic activity, the Bronze Age and the medieval/post medieval period. 
Two Bronze Age burials were found, a single crouched inhumation and 
a single cremation within a collared urn. No trace of barrows was found 
in association with either of the two burials. The trenching and the 
geophysical survey results suggest a sparse Bronze Age landscape 
with a number of trackways and possible enclosures.  

 
143. Evidence of the post medieval Wallingford to Cholsey road was found 

but this appears to have been unmetalled with some evidence of 
flanking ditches. There is some evidence of ditches that formed a 
drainage system to relieve winter flooding. 
 

144. The LVIA states that the Grade I, II and II* Listed Buildings, Scheduled 
Ancient Monuments, Registered Park and Gardens and Conservation 
Area within the study area of the development site are likely to have no 
affect from the proposed development due to the distance from the site 
and the intervening landform. 
 

145. Six Scheduled Monuments (SMs) lie within 2km of the site, but each one 
is over 1km away and with no visual relationship with the site. It is 
therefore considered that there would be no adverse effects upon the 
SMs as a result of the proposed development. 

 
146. The County Archaeology Team responded to say that none of the 

features revealed by the evaluation are of such importance to preclude 
the principle of mineral extraction but further investigation and 
monitoring will be required if consent is granted. Therefore, they 
recommend a programme of archaeological works to be required by 
condition. 

 
147. Historic England considers that the proposed development will not 

have significant adverse impacts on designated sites and therefore has 
no objection. 

 
148. The proposals are considered to be in accordance with relevant 

policies relating to potential archaeological remains and with the NPPF.   
 

Page 144



PN7 
 

Listed Buildings  
 
149. The development has the potential to affect the setting of a number of 

listed buildings. The closest of which are the Grade II Listed barn at New 
Barn Farm, which lies just 20m from a proposed bund and 50m from the 
limit of the extraction area, and the Grade II Listed Building at Cox’s 
Farm, which lies approximately 130m from the site boundary. 

 
150. Section 66 (1) of the Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas Act 1990 

states that in considering whether to grant planning permission for 
development which affects a listed building or its setting, the local 
planning authority shall have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 

 
151. Paragraph 132 of the NPPF states that great weight should be given to 

the asset’s conservation. It goes on to say that “significance can be 
harmed or lost through alteration or destruction of the heritage asset or 
development within its setting.” At paragraph 133, the NPPF states that 
consent should be refused, where development will lead to substantial 
harm or total loss of significance of a designated heritage asset, unless 
the substantial harm or loss is necessary to achieve substantial public 
benefits that outweigh that harm or loss. Paragraph 134 states that 
where development will lead to less than substantial harm, this harm 
should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal. 

 
152. SOLP policy CON5 states that proposals which would adversely affect 

the setting of a listed building will be refused.  
 

153. SODC’s Conservation Officer responded with three main concerns 
regarding Listed Buildings: 

 
1) That a change in the use of the land around New Barn Farm will 

have a more substantial impact than has been recognised and will 
need to be mitigated in a meaningful way. The applicant responded 
to this by saying that the proposed development is temporary and 
reversible, that the site will be restored to agriculture and to similar 
levels to existing and that this end of the site will be one of the 
earliest phases to be worked and restored. Whilst, the applicant 
does not propose any further mitigation in response to the 
Conservation Officer’s comments, the County Archaeologist does 
not raise any objections in this regard.  

2) That the proposal makes no use for the barn and would make it 
difficult for appropriate alternatives to come forward. The 
Conservation Officer suggests that a conservation management 
plan and safeguarding plan should be put in place to ensure the 
short and long term conservation of this building. The applicant has 
responded to say that the barn is currently used to store farm 
machinery and will continue to perform an agricultural function to 
serve the remaining adjoining agricultural land. This is considered 

Page 145



PN7 
 

acceptable and in keeping with the proposed restored use of the 
site. It is not considered that the proposed development would 
impact upon the existing use of the barn. 

3) That a heavy reliance has been placed on indivisibility within the 
report, which provides a limited understanding of the setting of 
heritage assets. The applicant has responded by explaining the 
mitigation measures such as buffer zones and bunding to reduce 
impacts such as visual and noise; and that the site access is 
located away from the Listed Buildings.  

 
154. The development would not result in direct impact to any Listed Building, 

although there would be an impact upon the setting of the Grade II 
Listed Buildings at New Barn Farm and Cox’s Farm during the 
operational phase of the development. However upon restoration, it is 
considered that the setting would be restored unharmed.  
 

155. The ES notes that the setting of the listed building at New Barn Farm is 
divorced from the application site due to modern agricultural buildings 
and the fact that its doors are orientated away from the development. 
Temporary screening bunds would reduce effects during operations. The 
listed building at Cox’s Farm is separated from the site by the railway 
line.  

 
156. It is not considered that other Listed Buildings within the vicinity of the 

site would be affected by the proposed development due to their 
separation from the site by distance and/or features such as topography, 
roads and other built development.  

 
157. Therefore, it is considered that any harm to the setting of listed buildings 

during the temporary operational period would be less than substantial, 
in accordance with the NPPF. The less than substantial harm would be 
outweighed by the public benefits that mineral extraction would bring in 
serving the construction industry. 

158. In their final consultation response, the Conservation Officer suggested a 
management procedure be put in place for the maintenance of the listed 
barn within the site ownership. The legal responsibilities of the 
landowner for the ongoing maintenance of the listed building are outside 
the scope of this planning permission.  

 
Setting of Conservation Areas 

 
159. SOLP policy CON7 states that permission will not be granted for 

development which would harm the character or appearance of a 
conservation area.  
 

160. SOCS policy CSEN3 states that designated heritage assets, including 
Scheduled Monuments and conservation areas, will be conserved and 
enhanced for their historic significance and their important contribution to 
local distinctiveness, character and sense of place. 

 

Page 146



PN7 
 

161. Three Conservation Areas (CAs) are considered: Cholsey, which lies 
1.2km south west, Winterbrook, which lies 350m to the north east and 
Wallingford, which is 800m to the north east. 

 
162. Each of the CAs are separated by features such as topography, roads 

and other built development. Vehicles associated with the development 
are not proposed to use roads through the CAs and there is not 
anticipated to be any further direct or indirect effects upon the character 
and appearance of the CAs or their settings. Therefore it is considered 
that the development is compliant with policies CON7 and CSEN3 and 
the NPPF.  

 
 Biodiversity 
 
163. Policy C7 of the OMWCS reflects the requirement within the NPPF to 

conserve and where possible provide a net gain in biodiversity. 
The highest level of protection will be given to sites and species of 
international nature conservation importance and in all other cases 
development that would result in significant harm will not be permitted 
unless the harm can be avoided, adequately mitigated or, as a last 
resort, compensated for to result in a net gain in biodiversity. Proposals 
shall demonstrate how the development will make an appropriate 
contribution to the maintenance and enhancement of local habitats, 
biodiversity or geodiversity, including contributing to the objectives of the 
Conservation Target Areas wherever possible. Satisfactory long-term 
management arrangements for restored sites shall be included in 
proposals. 
 

164. SOLP policy G2 states that the district’s countryside and environmental 
resources will be protected from adverse development. SOLP policy C6 
states that the maintenance and enhancement of the diversity resource 
will be sought and full account of the effects on wildlife will be taken. 
Where there is any significant loss in biodiversity new habitat will be 
required to ensure there is no net loss.  
 

165. NPPF paragraph 109 states that the planning system should contribute 
to and enhance the natural and local environment by minimising impacts 
on biodiversity and providing net gains in biodiversity where possible, 
including by establishing coherent ecological networks that are more 
resilient to current and future pressures.  

 
166. NPPF paragraph 118 states that when determining planning 

applications, planning authorities should aim to conserve and enhance 
biodiversity by refusing planning permission if significant harm cannot be 
avoided and by encouraging opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in 
and around developments.  

 
167. Paragraph 118 also states that planning permission should be refused 

for development resulting in the loss or deterioration in irreplaceable 

Page 147



PN7 
 

habitats, including ancient woodland, unless the need for, and benefits 
of, the development in that location clearly outweigh the loss. 

 
168. SOCS policy CSB1 states that a net loss of biodiversity will be avoided 

and opportunities for net gain will be sought. The highest level of 
protection will be given to sites and species of international importance 
but damage to nationally and locally important sites and species will be 
avoided unless the importance of the development outweighs the loss.  
Policy CSG1 requires that new development takes into account the 
relationship to existing green infrastructure and where appropriate 
contributes to improvements. Net loss of green infrastructure and 
biodiversity will be avoided. 

 
169. The District Council responded to say that they are keen to ensure that 

Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity are protected and enhanced 
wherever possible. The main consideration is that the proposals 
minimise impacts on biodiversity and where possible lead to a net gain. 

 
170. The Arboricultural Officer notes that no trees are to be removed as a 

result of the development and recommends conditions requiring the 
protection of trees and the submission of a detailed restoration scheme. 

 

171. An Ecological Impact Assessment (EcIA) is submitted with the 
application which included an extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey and 
Phase 2 Surveys of reptiles, bats and invertebrates. The protected 
species recorded and suitability of habitats identified indicates ‘local 
level’ of importance. Within the EcIA habitat change was considered to 
be the largest direct impact from the proposed development. As the site 
would be worked in phases, impact of change would be gradual and it 
would be progressively restored. The site is proposed to be restored to 
arable land with additional woodland and hedgerow planting. Subject to 
protected species mitigation, including exclusion fencing for Common 
Lizard, ecologist checks for breeding birds and updated badger survey to 
reconfirm absence and as recommended by the County Ecology Officer, 
there are no objections regarding ecological issues. 

 
172. Natural England advise that this application may provide opportunities to 

incorporate features into the design which are beneficial to wildlife, such 
as the incorporation of roosting opportunities for bats or the installation 
of bird nest boxes. Such measures would enhance the biodiversity of the 
site in accordance with paragraph 118 of the NPPF and Section 40 of 
the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act (2006). 

 
173. As the site is proposed to be restored back to agricultural land, there is 

limited opportunity for restoration to nature conservation. However the 
applicant has included some aspects of biodiversity enhancement within 
the restoration scheme, which include additional hedgerow and tree 
planting, including woodland along the south eastern boundary, ponds 
and rough grassland. As such it is considered that the development 

Page 148



PN7 
 

accords with the OMWCS policy C7, the NPPF, policies G2 and C6 of 
the SOLP and policies CSB1 and CSG1 of the SOCS. 

 
 
 
 

 Restoration 
 
174. OMWCS policy M10 states that mineral workings shall be restored to a 

high standard and in a timely and phased manner to an afteruse which is 
appropriate to the location and delivers a net gain in biodiversity. It 
contains criteria which the restoration must take into account.  

 
175. Policy W6 of the OMWCS refers to provision being made for inert waste 

disposal at existing facilities and sites that will be allocated in the Sites 
Allocations Document (Part 2 of the Local Plan). It goes on to say that 
priority will be given to the use of inert waste that cannot be recycled as 
infill material to achieve the restoration and after use of active or 
unrestored quarries.  
 

176. NPPF paragraph 144 states that local planning authorities should 
provide for restoration and aftercare at the earliest opportunity, to the 
highest environmental standards. NPPW paragraph 7 states that land 
raising or landfill sites should be restored to beneficial after uses at the 
earliest opportunity and to high environmental standards through the 
application of appropriate conditions where necessary.  
 

177. The development proposals include the restoration of the site using 
imported inert material, back to agricultural land. The site will be worked 
and restored in a phased manner, thereby ensuring minimum impact on 
the agricultural operation and restoration of the site in a timely manner. 
As such, the development accords with the NPPF and policies M10 and 
W6 of the OMWCS. 

 
178. A number of queries and objections have been made to the application 

regarding the lack of information of the method of restoration, lining of 
the site and proposed infill materials. The applicant has stated that they 
propose the site to be worked as a recovery operation (which would be 
regulated under the EA, who categorise the site as ‘low risk’ in land-use 
planning terms) and therefore it would not be necessary to line the site 
with clay or any other geological barrier to minimise the risk of pollution 
to groundwater. The applicant states that the inert material will consist of 
uncontaminated naturally occurring materials, which will primarily consist 
of subsoils. They also state that these materials will be tested at the 
point of origin, unsuitable material will be turned away and if unsuitable 
material is found within a load, it will be removed and stored in a 
quarantine area before being removed from site and disposed of at an 
approved facility. This will be undertaken in accordance with the 
Environmental Permit, which will stipulate the types of material that are 
acceptable and require monitoring. Contractors delivering material to the 

Page 149



PN7 
 

site will be required to be a registered waste carrier under the Control of 
Pollution (Amendment) Act 1989. 
 
 
 
 

Birdstrike 
 
179. Paragraph 144 of the NPPF states that mineral development should not 

result in unacceptable adverse impacts on aviation safety. The 
application is located 3km from RAF Benson and therefore the MOD was 
consulted on the application plans to confirm whether they had concerns 
about an increase in risk of bird strike, due to habitat creation. 

 
180. The development would involve the creation of open areas of water 

during the operational phase of the development, as the mineral is 
worked ‘wet’. The restoration scheme also includes the creation of two 
new ponds, although they are not particularly large in area. The applicant 
has submitted a draft Bird Management Plan, which incorporates 
measures proposed to deter large dense flocks of birds and/or large 
species including gulls and waterfowl. The MOD is satisfied   

 
181. Following the submission of the draft Bird Management Plan with the 

Regulation 22 response, the MOD confirmed that they are satisfied with 
the content, although recommend some changes to trigger levels. It is 
recommended that the Bird Management Plan is controlled via a Legal 
Agreement to ensure it is implemented for the duration of the 
development, subject to which, the development is considered 
acceptable in terms of birdstrike and therefore compliant with the NPPF. 

 
Soils and Agriculture 

 
182. Policy C6 of the OMWCS states that the presence of best and most 

versatile (BMV) agricultural land should be taken into account, the 
permanent loss of BMV land will only be permitted where there is an 
overriding need and provision should be made to maintain agricultural 
land quality, soil quality  and for the long-term conservation of soils. 

 
183. The NPPF paragraph 143 states that worked land should be reclaimed 

at the earliest opportunity taking into account the safeguarding of the 
best and most versatile agricultural land to conserve soil resources, 
amongst other considerations including biodiversity and recreation. 
NPPF paragraph 112 states that local planning authorities should take 
into account the economic and other benefits of the best and most 
versatile agricultural land.  

 
184. The application is accompanied by an Agricultural Land Classification 

and Soils Resources Report, which concludes that the site comprises 
primarily Grade 2 and Subgrade 3a land and makes recommendations 

Page 150



PN7 
 

for soil handling and storage so as to preserve the integrity and 
characteristics of the soils. 

 
185. Natural England considers that the small amount of non-agricultural 

restoration is acceptable, provided that the methods used in the 
restoration and aftercare would enable the land to retain the high quality 
soil resource. However, the submitted soil handling, restoration and 
aftercare proposals do not meet their requirements and request that  
conditions are placed on any forthcoming consent to address the points 
raised in their response, to safeguard soil resources and promote a 
satisfactory standard of reclamation. 

 
186. Subject to the conditions recommended by Natural England regarding 

soil handling, stripping, storage and replacement, it is considered that 
the development accords with policy C6 of the OMWCS and NPPF 
paragraphs 112 and 143.  

 
Socio-economic Impacts 

 
187. A number of objections have been raised in relation to the impacts on 

tourism in the area, especially in relation to the Dame Agatha Christie 
Trail and Cholsey and Wallingford Railway. The Dame Agatha Christie 
Trail is a circular walking route between Cholsey and Wallingford which 
uses the footpath on the north west site boundary and the footway along 
the Wallingford Road to the east of the site boundary. The Cholsey and 
Wallingford Railway is a 2.5 mile long heritage railway on a former 
branch line, which runs tourist services on some weekends.   
 

188. The SOLP contains a number of policies relating to tourist related 
development, including TSM1 which states that the prosperity of the 
area’s tourist industry will be supported through  encouraging enterprises 
based on the conservation and enjoyment of the inherent qualities and 
heritage of the area. However, this policy does not directly address the 
consideration of proposals with the potential to have an impact on 
existing tourist attractions and facilities. The concern of objectors is that 
the development proposed here will be detrimental to existing attractions 
which encourage visitors to the area. 

 
189. It is not considered that the proposed development would have direct 

significant detrimental impacts on the attractiveness of the area for 
visitors specifically interested in Agatha Christie or the Heritage Railway. 
It is considered unlikely that potential visitors to either of these 
attractions would be put off from pursuing their interest because of the 
presence of a quarry in the vicinity. Although there would be a change to 
the landscape setting of the trail and railway, the development would not 
prevent people from visiting and using those features. The quarry would 
not be worked on Saturday afternoons, Sundays or Bank and Public 
Holidays, when it could be expected that there would be more 
recreational visitors. The quarry would be worked in phases and so at 
any point in time the workings would be small in scale compared to the 

Page 151



PN7 
 

scale of the application site. Passengers on the train would view the 
workings only briefly and views from the train would predominantly be of 
agricultural land.  

 
190. The ES includes a consideration of socio-economic impacts, including 

potential impacts on the Agatha Christie Trail and the railway. It also 
includes details of the socio-economic benefits to the area due to 
additional employment and the supply of aggregate to local markets. As 
set out above, it is not considered that there would be significant impacts 
on users of the rights of way.  

 
191. Overall, it is not considered that there would be a significant impact on 

the tourism industry in the local area as a result of this development. 
There is the potential for socio-economic benefits from employment and 
aggregate supply.  

 
 Cumulative Impact 
 
192. NPPF paragraph 143 states that in relation to minerals, local plans 

should set out environmental criteria to assess planning applications 
against and the cumulative effect of multiple impacts from individual sites 
in a locality should be taken into account.  

 
193. The individual assessments undertaken as part of the EIA take into 

account the potential cumulative effects from the following proposed 
developments: 

 proposed extraction of 500,000 tonnes of sand and gravel and 
restoration to a marina on land at White Cross Farm, Wallingford 
(planning application not yet received); 

 proposed residential development comprising 555 dwellings, a 
primary school and a new access onto the A4130 Calvin Thomas 
Way / Bosley Way on land to the west of Wallingford (Site B); and  

 proposed extraction of mineral with restoration to agriculture and 
nature conservation including lakes on land at Fullamoor 
Plantation, Clifton Hampden. 

 
194. A planning application for 550 residential dwellings (amended to 502 

dwellings), a primary school and new access on land to the north of the 
A4130 Bosley Way, was submitted in January 2017 and therefore this 
was also assessed in terms of potential cumulative impacts. Further 
mitigation measures have been incorporated into the development 
design, including changes to the phasing of the development and the 
erection of a soil screen bund along the north western boundary of 
Phase 1, if this development is granted planning permission, in order to 
reduce noise, air quality and visual impacts to an acceptable level. 

 
Conclusions 
 
195. As set out above, the development accords with the Development Plan 

as a whole and with individual policies within it, as well as with the 

Page 152



PN7 
 

NPPF. It is considered to be sustainable development in terms of 
environmental, social and economic terms. The proposed development 
would be  beneficial in terms of contributing towards Oxfordshire’s supply 
of sharp sand and gravel and providing a high quality restoration. It is 
considered that potential impacts can be adequately addressed through 
planning conditions and legal and routeing agreements as proposed. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
196. It is RECOMMENDED that subject to: 

 
(i) a Section 106 legal agreement to include matters set out in 

Annex 2; 
(ii) a routeing agreement to ensure that HGV movements 

associated with the new development accord with the County 
Council’s Lorry Routeing Strategy; and that 

(iii) that the Director for Planning and Place be authorised to 
refuse the application if the legal agreement referred to in (i) 
above is not completed within 10 weeks of the date of this 
meeting on the grounds that it would not comply with OMWCS 
policy M10 and the guidance set out in paragraph 118 of the 
NPPF in that there would not be satisfactory provisions for the 
long term management of the restored site. 

 
application no. MW.0094/16 be approved subject to conditions to 
be determined by the Director for Planning and Place to include 
the matters set out in Annex 1 to this report. 
 

SUSAN HALLIWELL 
Director Planning and Place 
 
November 2017

Page 153



PN7 
 

 

P
age 154



PN7 
 

P
age 155



PN7 
 

Annex 1 – Draft Conditions  
 

1. Complete accordance with all plans unless amended by the 
requirements of other conditions; 

2. Commencement within 3 years; 
3. End date for extraction (19 years after commencement);  
4. Restoration in accordance with approved plans within 24 months of end 

of mineral working;  
5. No operations or HGV movements outside of operating hours 

proposed; 
6. Removal of all associated plant and development upon cessation of 

mineral working; 
7. Depth of working as proposed; 
8. Detailed restoration schemes for each phase to be submitted prior to 

working in that phase;  
9. Detailed working schemes for each phase to be submitted prior to 

working in that phase;  
10. 5 year aftercare, in accordance with aftercare scheme to be submitted 

and approved; 
11. Submission of details of access, and implementation; 
12. Submission of details of visibility splays, and implementation; 
13. Submission and implementation of a Traffic Management Plan; 
14. Turning and parking areas within the site shall be provided prior to first 

occupation; 
15. No mud or dust on highway; 
16. Sheeting of lorries; 
17. No gates within 18m of highway; 
18. Access road to be maintained during development and removed 

afterwards; 
19. A sign shall be erected advising lorry drivers of left in, left out 

arrangement; 
20. Restriction of permitted development rights; 
21. Maximum noise limits at the closest dwellings, as specified in ES; 
22. Maximum noise limit for temporary operations measured at the closest 

dwellings, as specified in ES; 
23. Noise monitoring; 
24. No reversing bleepers other than white noise; 
25. Submission and implementation of dust management plan covering 

operational and non-operational hours, including monitoring provisions; 
26. Vehicles, plant and machinery shall be serviced and maintained in 

accordance with the manufacturer’s instructions; 
27. Submission and implementation of detailed planting scheme; 
28. Only naturally occurring materials are to be used in restoration; 
29. Soil screen bunds shall be erected and maintained in accordance with 

approved plans; 
30. Additional bund for phase 1 should permission for new residential 

development at Winterbrook be issued;  
31. Submission and implementation of a scheme for protected species 

mitigation;  
32. Buffer zone between right of way and working phases (10m); 

Page 156



PN7 
 

33. Buffer zones for railway (15m); 
34. Buffer zone for hedges and trees (10m); 
35. Submission and implementation of scheme for tree and hedgerow 

protection;  
36. Ramping of excavations to minimise risk of death and injury to 

mammals; 
37. No lighting other than in accordance with an approved scheme; 
38. No external lighting on the southwest boundary and buffer zone; 
39. Submission and implementation of scheme for fencing south western 

boundary buffer for protection of ditch; 
40. Written Scheme of Investigation for archaeology ; 
41. Staged programme of archaeological investigation; 
42. Submission and implementation of scheme of soil movement; 
43. Soil handling operations carried out in accordance with approved 

documents; 
44. Submission of plan showing bund locations and soil types; 
45. Soil shall only be moved when in a dry and friable condition; 
46. Measures to prevent the spread of soil borne animal or plant diseases; 
47. No soil handling when puddles on the surface; 
48. No soil handling between October and March inclusive; 
49. Haul routes only on locations to be approved; 
50. Handling methods for topsoil; 
51. Soil stripping depths in accordance with approved details; 
52. Subsoil substitute soils shall be stripped and stored separately; 
53. Written notification shall be provided of the intention to strip soils; 
54. Soil storage bund criteria for agricultural soil storage; 
55. Soil storage bunds intended to remain in situ for more than 6 months 

shall be grassed and subject to weed control;  
56. All topsoil, subsoil, and soil forming material shall be retained on the 

site; 
57. Recovery of pockets of soil forming material for use during restoration;  
58. Restored soil depths as approved; 
59. Stones to be picked and removed from site; 
60. Notification of commencement of final subsoil placement; 
61. Imported soils shall be stored separately, free of large objects and 

identified as suitable; 
62. Implementation of approved final settlement contours; 
63. Refuelling of mobile plant on hardstanding only; 
64. Fuel storage only in double sided tank, on concrete base and bunded; 
65. Plant shall be maintained;  
66. Submission and implementation of scheme for dealing with 

hydrocarbon spills; 
67. Construction of a French drain along north west boundary; 
68. Ensure drainage from adjacent areas is not impaired; and 
69. Submission, approval and implementation of details of local liaison 

committee. 
 

Page 157



PN7 
 

 
 
Annex 2 – Section 106 legal agreement heads of terms 
 
- Bird management plan 
- 20 year funded long term management plan 
- Contribution of £2000 towards SODC undertaking 5 years of additional NO2 
monitoring along the A4074 using diffusion tubes, implementation of mitigation 
if required. 
- In the event of a sustained deterioration to water quality at identified private 
water supply, commitment to undertake a water quality assessment to identify 
the likely cause and to provide an alternative supply if the cause is found to be 
the quarry; 
- Commitment to carry out necessary highway works under Section 278 of the 
Highways Act to provide access to the site; 
 

Page 158



PN7 
 

 
 
Annex 3 - Environmental Statement 

 
 
1. An Environmental Statement was submitted with the planning 

application.  
 

2. Chapter 1 sets out the background to the Environmental Statement. 
Chapter 2 covers the site description and history including mineral 
reserves and geology and utilities. Chapter 3 sets out the proposed 
development, including a consideration of bird strike risk. Chapter 4 
covers the potential environmental impacts. This includes a 
consideration of alternative sites and methods of working, cumulative 
impacts and climate change. Chapter 5 contains the conclusions.  

 
3. The assessments of environmental impacts are included in 

appendices. Appendix 2 is the Ecological Impact Assessment 
including a range of habitat and species surveys. It concludes that the 
largest direct impact would be habitat change and this would be 
negative but not significant as the habitat would be gradual and the 
final restoration would create new habitat. Mitigation measures are 
proposed including lizard fencing, updated surveys and a check of 
vegetation for nesting birds prior to removal.  

 
4. Appendix 3 considers agricultural land classification and soil 

resources. This provides a detailed account of the condition of soil 
across the site and makes recommendations for soil handling.  

 
5. Appendix 4 is the Hydrological and Hydrogeological Impact 

Assessment. This concludes that impacts to most receptors would be 
negligible during extraction, although groundwater levels up-gradient 
of the site would be raised in places as the site is restored. There is 
also a risk to groundwater quality through accidental inclusion of 
contaminated material. A French drain is proposed for the western 
boundary to mitigate the groundwater level rise. Some residual risks 
to a private water supply on Wallingford Road would be mitigated by 
provision of an alternative water supply if required.  

 
6. Appendix 5 contains the Flood Risk Assessment, this considers the 

risk of flooding to and from the site in relation to fluvial, groundwater, 
surface water and sewer/water mains. It is concluded that the 
proposal satisfies the flood risk requirements of the NPPF and 
technical guidance.  

 
7. Appendix 6 is the Air Quality and Dust Assessment. This includes 

mitigation measures for dust. It is concluded that subject to the 
proposed mitigation residual effects would be minimal and unlikely to 
cause adverse air quality or dust impacts. Further assessment work 
was provided following requests from consultees and the Regulation 

Page 159



PN7 
 

22 requests, including an addendum dated December 2016, an 
additional Air Quality and Dust Assessment dated June 2017 and an 
addendum dated September 2017. The June 2017 assessment 
concludes that the proposed workings can be operated in a manner 
unlikely to cause adverse air quality or dust impacts in their vicinity, 
and that the overall impact of the development is considered to be not 
significant. The September 2017 addendum contains a PM10 

monitoring study to establish baseline PM10  concentrations for the 
proposed development. It concludes that background levels are 
below the annual and daily objectives and that it is unlikely that the 
quarry would lead to an exceedance.  

 
8. Appendix 7 is the noise assessment. This suggests noise limits for 

various locations and shows that with noise mitigation measures, 
noise levels at those properties should be less than the limits. The 
mitigation includes 4 metre high screening bunds close to Willow 
Cottage, The Lodge and Cox’s Farm. Cumulative noise impacts are 
also considered.  

 
9. Appendix 8 is a Cultural Heritage Assessment. This considers direct 

and indirect impacts on heritage assets in the area including 
Scheduled Monuments, Conservation Areas and listed buildings 
within 2 km of the application area and a geophysical survey. This 
find that there is the potential for direct impacts on archaeology, but 
this could be mitigated through the implementation of a written 
scheme of investigation. It concludes that there would be no 
significant residual effects upon known features of cultural heritage.  

 
10. Appendix 9 is the Landscape and Visual Assessment. This concludes 

that there would be no long term effect on the River Thames Corridor 
character area or Flat Open Farmland landscape type. It concludes 
that in terms of landscape value there would be no significant effect 
on the AONBs due to the distance from the boundary and vegetation 
screening. It concludes that there would be an impact on the setting 
of listed buildings, but this would be temporary for the duration of 
works only. The impact of the extraction on the setting of the listed 
buildings would be mitigated by the bunds, but these would 
themselves have an impact. There would also be an impact on the 
footpath on the north west boundary due to bunds blocking views and 
an impact on the tranquillity and scenic qualities of the site. 33 
viewpoints are assessed for impacts on visual amenity and it is 
concluded that there would be an adverse impact on 11 of them.  

 
11. Appendix 10 contains the Transport Statement. This concludes that 

the proposed development would be a modest generator of traffic 
which would have minimal detrimental effects on the local highway 
network. This includes a Stage 1 Road Safety Audit of the proposed 
new junction.  

 

Page 160



PN7 
 

12. Further information in respect of the ES was requested under 
Regulation 22 of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental 
Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011. Further to that request, the 
applicant submitted a further statement with appendices in January 
2017. 

 
13. In summary, the Regulation 22 information included an 

Archaeological Evaluation Report, the raw data to accompany the 
previously submitted geophysical survey, an addendum to the Air 
Quality and Dust Assessment, an updated noise assessment, an 
addendum to the Ecological Impact Assessment providing information 
on badgers, a Draft Landscape Aftercare Management Plan, soil 
handling information, an addendum to the Landscape and Visual 
Impact Assessment and a draft bird management plan.  

 
14. A second Regulation 22 request was made in July 2017. This 

required further information on dust monitoring and site access 
design. This information was provided in September 2017.  

 
15. All Environmental Statement and Regulation 22 documents are 

available to view on the e-planning website.  
 

Page 161



PN7 
 

 
Annex 4 – Consultation Responses Summary 
 
South Oxfordshire District Council 

 
1. South Oxfordshire District Council (SODC) responded initially to say 

that regarding policy, there was insufficient information to assess the 
application and requested further information on noise, emissions and 
vibrations; and ecology. 
 

2. They commented that the approach to restore the former “flat, open 
farmland” landscape diversity and structure in accordance with policy 
CSEN1 of the SODC Core Strategy would be desirable. They also 
comment that, it is considered inappropriate in the open countryside  
and along the river corridor as it is a large-scale development. 
However, subject to the recommended mitigation and restoration 
strategy, they do not object on landscape grounds. 

 
3. The Environmental Protection Officer on Air Quality requested 

detailed air quality modelling works to be carried out to fully assess 
the air quality impacts of the development, particularly taking account 
of the proximity to the Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) in 
Wallingford. The applicant provided an addendum to the Air Quality 
Assessment, which includes traffic emission modelling and as such 
the EPO has provided the following further advice: 

 
“Based on the impacts of the HGV’s on the local road network, the 
current high levels of NO2 recorded on the surrounding roads I can 
confirm mitigation is required. This is in order to protect public health 
from the cumulative impact of small developments. I also have 
concerns over the potential dust impacts of the development on 
existing and proposed new receptors.  
 
“I have no objections to the principle of the application providing the 
following conditions are adhered to; 

 Contributions towards extra NO2 monitoring along the A4074 are 
required in the form of section 106 agreements. 

 No development shall take place until a detailed scheme for the 
control of dust emanating from the site, so as not to cause undue 
disturbance to the occupants of nearby residential properties has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.” 

 
4. The Environmental Protection Officer on Noise, requested baseline 

noise monitoring on a Saturday morning; continuous monitoring over 
several days at the nearest property to the development site; and that 
the L90 background levels should be calculated using the most 
occurring value rather than the average. 

 

Page 162



PN7 
 

5. The Environmental Protection Officer on noise provides further 
comments in response to the additional information provided by the 
applicant regarding noise, stating that it addresses his concerns and 
recommends a condition be included regarding the erection of a 4m 
high bund along the northwest and northeast boundaries of Phase 1 
in the situation that this phase is worked at the same time as newly 
constructed dwellings at Winterbrook become occupied. 

 
6. The District Forestry Officer recommended that the semi-mature 

planting along the northern and eastern boundaries are retained and 
fenced off during operations and that additional planting should be 
required along the southern and western boundaries. 

 
7. The District Ecology Officer had no concerns subject to the protected 

species mitigation as set out within the Ecological Impact 
Assessment (EcIA) being implemented.  

 
8. SODC’s subsequent response to the second consultation raised an 

objection on the grounds of prematurity, they state that the 
application pre-empts the inspector’s final report on the Oxfordshire 
Minerals and Waste Core Strategy and the allocation of sites in the 
future Part 2 Minerals and Waste Local Plan. 

 
9. The Environmental Protection Officer requested some further 

information on noise levels in relation to 24 Wallingford Road, which 
is much closer to the plant site than Cox’s Farm and The Lodge.  

 
10. Planning application P16/S4275/0 was submitted to SODC in January 

2017 for 550 residential dwellings, a primary school and new access 
on land to the north of the A4130 Bosley Way and therefore north of 
the proposed mineral extraction site at New Barn Farm. The 
development, if permitted, would result in residential receptors being 
located 65m from the plant site. As neither site is allocated, SODC 
strongly encourages the applicants of both sites to seek a combined 
mitigation solution. 

 
11. The Environmental Protection Officer’s final comments were that any 

noise issues could be resolved by a 4 metre bund which would only 
be necessary if the new residential development north of the 
application site goes ahead.  

 
12. The Conservation Officer requested further work on heritage assets, 

in particular on New Barn Farm. The Conservation Officer’s final 
comments were to re-inforce that the listed barn would be within the 
ownership of the site and the legal responsibility for the listed building 
and its ongoing maintenance lies with Grundon. They urged that a 
management procedure is put in place to ensure that the barn is 
appropriately maintained.  

 

Page 163



PN7 
 

13. October 2017 – The Environmental Health Officer confirmed that 
previous comments stand. Require a condition for NO2 monitoring 
and submission of a full dust management plan prior to the 
commencement of work.  
 

14. CAGE (Communities Against Gravel Extraction) has responded to 
the application on behalf of Cholsey Parish Council, Wallingford Town 
Council, Aston Tirrold Parish Council, Aston Upthorpe Parish Council, 
Brightwell-cum-Sotwell Parish Council, North Moreton Parish Council 
and Moulsford Parish Council. CAGE object to the application on the 
following grounds: 

 
1) Lack of demonstrable need for mineral – not required to meet 

the landbank 
2) Archaeological Heritage Impacts – consider further work should 

be done prior to determination 
3) Proposed working method by wet pit working  
4) Impact of operations at RAF Benson – bird strike risk 
5) Proposed method of restoration using waste and risk of pollution 

to groundwater 
6) Potential flooding issues – concerned about potential rise in 

groundwater levels 
7) Quality of mineral – concerned that aggregate is not good quality 

and therefore deliverability is open to doubt 
8) Impacts on tourism and leisure – concerned about impacts on 

Dame Agatha Christie Trail in terms of noise, dust and impacts 
on views from hedges and bunds. Also concerned about impact 
on Cholsey and Wallingford heritage railway in terms of loss of 
views and stability of track bed. Concerned about noise impacts 
on people using Hithercroft Sports Park during festivals.  

9) Use of RAF Benson Wind Rose to assess noise and air quality 
impacts – concerned that it is not correlated to actual site 
conditions 

10)  Impacts on two AONBs 
11)  Traffic impacts – nearby roundabouts are approaching capacity, 

impacts on cyclists not adequately assessed, impact of dust on 
pedestrians and cyclists on Wallingford Road 

12)  Lack of consideration of alternative sites – traffic assessment is 
not compliant in this respect 

13)  Lack of detail in consideration of socio-economic impacts – 
particularly negative impacts on tourism and leisure.  

 
15. Wallingford Town Council object to the application on the grounds 

as raised by CAGE. 
 

16. Cholsey Parish Council object to the application for the following 
reasons: 

1) Quality of mineral 
2) Proximity to and impact on the AONBs 
3) Archaeological impacts and lack of information 

Page 164



PN7 
 

4) Noise 
5) Dust 
6) Traffic impacts 
7) Premature 
8) Other sites available 
9) Concern that there is a lack of inert material for infilling 
10) Concern that working the site wet could lead to contamination of 

the local aquifer and localised flooding 
11) Clay lining will cause flooding 
12) Impact on amenity, the Agatha Christie Trail and the Cholsey 

and Wallingford (heritage) railway. 
 

17. In the second round of consultation, Wallingford Town Council and 
Cholsey Parish Council provided a joint response. They continue to 
object to the application, stating that the additional documents 
supplied in response to the Regulation 22 request do not address all 
of the major weaknesses that were previously identified. 

 
18. Rights of Way Officer - no diversions are required and therefore no 

comments to make. 
 

19. Arboricultural Officer  - notes that the application states that no 
trees will be removed as a result of the development and 
recommends the following conditions: 

 

 No works of site clearance, or development shall take place unless 
or until a scheme for the protection of trees has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Mineral Planning Authority, to 
include details of the method of protection around the perimeter of 
the trees remaining on site. The protection measures shall be 
erected, retained and maintained throughout the development, from 
site clearance until all plant, equipment and surplus materials have 
been removed from the site, in accordance with BS 5837:2012 
Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction – 
Recommendations. Nothing shall be stored or placed in the area 
protected and the ground levels within these areas shall not be 
altered. There shall be no use of plant or heavy earth moving 
equipment within the protected areas. Upon completion of the 
restoration the protection measures shall be removed off site. 

 

 No extraction shall commence in any of the phases as shown in 
DG/GC/NBF/MIN/03, until a Detailed Restoration Scheme for that 
phase has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
Minerals Planning Authority. The Detailed Restoration Schemes 
must be based on up to date arboricultural best practice and no 
more than two years old. No restoration work shall take place other 
than in accordance with the approved detailed restoration 
schemes. The Detailed Restoration Scheme relating to trees for 
each phase shall include suitable actions and appropriate 
timeframes regarding planting (species, size, spacing, protection, 

Page 165



PN7 
 

soil improvement), aftercare (weeding, watering, inspection (pests 
and diseases, vigour), formative pruning, replacement). 

 
20. Archaeological Officer - initially responded requesting that the desk 

based assessment (DBA) needed to be revised to include all 
available sources, for example more recent aerial photography and to 
better process the Lidar data. They also requested a full report 
following the Geophysical Survey, to include the unprocessed and 
trace data and grey scale plots. 

 
21. The County Archaeologist responded to the second consultation 

having reviewed the Geophysical Survey and Archaeological 
Evaluation Report and attended site during the evaluation. He 
commented that, whilst features were revealed, none were of such 
importance to preclude the principle of mineral extraction, although 
further investigation and monitoring will be required if permission is 
granted. Therefore, conditions are recommended requiring a 
programme of archaeological work. 
 

22. Ecology Officer - initially responded with an objection, now 
withdrawn, stating lack of information/clarification. Information on how 
net loss of biodiversity would be avoided and how impacts on reptiles 
would be avoided, including what buffer zones would be provided. It 
is advised that a minimum of 5m is provided as a buffer between the 
hedge and soil mound on the north-western edge of the site and a 
minimum of 8 metres to non-main river watercourses. 

 
23. The County Ecology Officer further recommends a condition to 

ensure tree and hedge protection; suggests considering a small 
reedbed at the outfall of the southern attenuation pond to improve 
water quality; and requests 6m margins to the site boundaries within 
the restoration proposals.  

 
24. Natural England passed on a report from a local resident of a recent 

sighting of Otter within Hithercroft Brook or Ditch, close to Wallingford 
Road, close to the south/southwestern boundary of the site. In 
response to this, the County Ecology Officer consulted Natural 
England’s standing advice and reviewed the Ecological Survey, which 
indicated that the watercourse does not contain suitable habitat for 
otters, so it is likely to be a ‘commuting route’. As such, the County 
Ecology Officer recommends a condition requiring a 10m buffer along 
the watercourse, fencing to ensure the buffer remains undisturbed, no 
lighting along the southwest boundary and ramped workings to avoid 
accidental harm. 

 
25. Brightwell cum Sotwell Parish Council object to the application for 

the following reasons: 
 
 
 

Page 166



PN7 
 

Water Environment  

 L
ack of details regarding the lining of the site prior to infilling  

 D
ewatering has not been considered 

 C
oncerns regarding settlement and subsequent impact on 
surface water drainage and agricultural production 

             Transport 

 L
ack of transport modelling 

 I
ncorrect assumption regarding even split for HGV trips 

 T
A doesn’t assess roads other than the Wallingford ring road 

 F
ailure to assess sustainable transport method i.e. by rail 

 
26. Countryside Access Team - would like to see any potential 

reduction in enjoyment of members of the public using Footpath 
167/24/20 to be kept to a minimum by the inclusion of a suitable 
buffer zone between the public right of way and working phases. 
Footpath 167/24/20 follows the north western site boundary and 
Winterbrook Lane, which cuts through the northern corner of the site. 
They also request that additional planting should be set back from the 
public right of way so that it does not grow out and encroach across 
the footpath. 

 
27. In response to the consultation on the further information they stated 

that there should be a fence to separate the footpath users from the 
workings.  The fence should be set back from the edge of 
Winterbrook Lane to avoid a claustrophobic feel to the route.  

 
28. Lead Local Flood Authority - has the following comments: 

 Water quality – digging out the sand and gravel wet and then 
infilling with inert material will cause some pollution to the ground 
water flows – EA will have to give an Environmental Permit for the 
infill and would monitor the material fill. 

 Ground water will raise due to the porosity of the inert material – it 
is suggested that the ground water will raise up to 0.4m but the 
proposed filter drains will help to reduce this height. Also this 
locally raised level will not unduly affect any local properties. 

 I agree that they have not been monitoring the local water levels 
for very long, but I do not see what additional information a longer 
monitoring would provide. 

 
29. He concludes that as the EA will be monitoring the quality of the 

ground water and all the material used in the infilling, he has no 
drainage objection to this quarry site. 

Page 167



PN7 
 

 
30. In response to the consultation on the further information, he stated 

that the filter drain must be constructed alongside of the  railway line 
before backfilling commences. Ground water levels must be 
monitored outside the site during excavation and restoration to see 
the effects on the surrounding areas and if effects are noted then 
remedial action should be undertaken.  

 
31. Campaign to Protect Rural England (CPRE) comments on need, 

landbank and the rate of supply, stating that reserves are adequate. 
 

32. Crowmarsh Parish Council object to the application for the following 
reasons: 

 
1) Premature – it should wait for the adoption of the Oxfordshire 

Core Strategy 
2) Traffic – HGVs will cause further congestion 
3) Air Quality – pollution from HGVs 
4) Impact upon AONBs 

 
33. Ministry of Defence (MOD) is principally concerned with potential 

increase in birdstrike risk to aircraft operations as a result of the 
creation of wetland habitats through the restoration of mineral 
extraction sites. They do not consider that the two proposed ponds 
included within the restoration proposals would result in increased 
birdstrike risk, although they are concerned about the proposed 
method of working the site without dewatering, as this will create a 
large body of water. They therefore request that a bird management 
plan is maintained so the site is free of gulls and waterfowl, which 
should also make provision for access to the site for inspection by the 
MOD to verify bird populations and to disperse bird populations 
considered to be an unacceptable hazard. 

 
34. Following the submission of a draft Bird Management Plan with the 

Regulation 22 response, the MOD confirmed that they are satisfied 
with the content, although require that the trigger level for Geese and 
Swans be reduced from 100 to 20 and that a trigger for Gulls and 
Lapwings be included at 100 each. 

 
35. Environment Agency (EA) have assessed the proposed 

development as having a low environmental risk [in planning land-use 
terms] and therefore have no comments to make. However, they 
have advised that the proposal is likely to require an Environmental 
Permit and they advise that “strict importation criteria and additional 
safeguards may be required…[which] is especially so if material is 
proposed to be deposited in locations that will be sub water table.” 

 
36. Environmental Strategy Officer states that it is important to 

consider the views of the site from the AONBs on higher ground 
against the surrounding more natural landscape features. He 

Page 168



PN7 
 

requested that the ZTV (Zone of Theoretical Visibility) be recalculated 
using the highest point of features such as plant and bunds and that 
viewpoints from higher ground be provided. He comments that the 
proposed screening hedgerow along the north western boundary, 
adjacent to footpath 167/24/20 and the railway, will not provide 
substantial screening benefits until it is mature, which is likely to be 
towards the end of operations. Screening will be more dependent 
upon the soil bunds, which are an unnatural feature in this flat and 
relatively open landscape. He requested further input from the 
applicant on how to maximise the biodiversity value of the ponds and 
the supply ditches; confirmation of the width of rough grass margins; 
and suggested there is an opportunity to provide in-field biodiversity 
features, such as beetle banks (low narrow grassland). 

 
37. A further response from the Environmental Strategy Officer 

recognises the changes made in the revised LVIA. With regard to the 
impact on the setting of the AONBs, the Officer states: 

 
“Views from higher ground within the two AONBs have been 
examined as requested and do not appear to show a significant 
adverse impact on the setting of the AONBs from these points.  This 
is without prejudice to any further comments the AONBs may have on 
the wider setting of the AONB, the sustainability and cumulative 
impacts of the proposals.” 

 
38. Further, he comments that the viewpoint from public right of way 

167/22/20 on Cholsey Hill is within the ZTV and the assessment 
indicates that the site is not visible from this location. The Officer 
remains to be convinced that the upper parts of plant will not be 
visible, although if they were, in his opinion the visual impact would 
be moderate adverse during the operational phase. 

 
39. With regards to the Draft Aftercare Management Plan, the Officer 

seeks a 5 + 20 year management period to be guided by a 
management plan to include environmental mitigation measures and 
measures to enhance soil condition, in order to protect and enhance 
the valued landscape and soils. Further, he comments that the 
applicant does not provide further insight on the opportunities for 
additional biodiversity / Green Infrastructure gain, which would benefit 
the scheme. 

 
40. Highways Authority commented (November 2017) that there is no 

objection subject to conditions and legal agreements to control the 
routeing of HGVs and securing the highway works needed for the 
access. Conditions requested include approval of site access and 
visibility splays, a traffic management plan, gates to be set back 18m 
from highway, no mud on road. 

 
41.  Initially commented that the access proposals with a left in/left out 

arrangement would prevent development traffic physically crossing 

Page 169



PN7 
 

and interrupting traffic flows on the A4130, which is seen as a 
positive; the proposed visibility splays of 2.4m x 215m; the routeing of 
HGV’s on the Strategic Roads; the parking and turning provision; and 
the wheel wash are all acceptable. Further, the proposed 120 two-
way daily HGV movements are considered acceptable and will have 
minimal impact on the local highway network. Subject to conditions 
and a legal agreement to secure the routeing of vehicles and highway 
and access works, no objections are raised. 

 
42. In July 2017 a new highways objection was raised, due to concerns 

about the site access design. This was resolved following the 
submission of further information showing amended access detail.   

 
43. Historic England responded to say that the application should be 

determined in accordance with national and local policy guidance and 
specialist conservation advice. 

 
44. Natural England (NE) No objection. Considers that the proposed 

development will not have significant adverse impacts on designated 
sites and therefore has no objection. NE considers that the small 
amount of non-agricultural restoration acceptable, provided that the 
methods used in the restoration and aftercare would enable the land 
to retain the high quality soil resource. However, the submitted soil 
handling, restoration and aftercare proposals do not meet their 
requirements. Therefore, any permission should be subject to 
conditions to address the points raised in their response, to safeguard 
soil resources and promote a satisfactory standard of reclamation. 
They provide advice on landscape matters, including regarding 
consideration of the nearby AONBs and the need to conserve and 
enhance the area’s natural beauty. They advise that the proposal 
provides an opportunity to improve connectivity within the wider 
landscape and that further improvements could be made to the 
watercourse and the riparian habitat that runs along the southwest of 
the site. They also recommend further biodiversity enhancements. 

 
45. North Wessex Downs AONB have commented that although the 

site lies outside of the North Wessex Downs and Chilterns AONBs, it 
does lie within their setting. They make the following points: 

 
1) Evergreens are not native and therefore while they provide a 

quick and all year round screening effect, are discouraged. 
2) Any new planting will not have a real screening effect for 5-10 

years. 
3) Buffer zones should be increased to ensure minimal disruption 

to biodiversity corridors. 
4) There does not appear to be a demand for sand & gravel that 

would warrant approval within this sensitive location. 
5) Restoration proposal should include landscape and biodiversity 

gains/enhancements. 

Page 170



PN7 
 

6) There would be long distance views of the site from the upland 
areas of Cholsey Hill to the west and Lollington Hill  and 
Moulsford Downs to the south. 

 
46. Chilterns Conservation Board object to the application due to the 

visual impacts on the setting of the AONB as well as the landscape 
character impacts. 

 
47. OCC Public Health (in consultation with Public Health England) – 

No objection, subject to a condition for a Dust Management Plan 
covering both operational and non-operational hours.  

 
48.  Previously they were unable to comment on whether the 

development would exceed health based standards and required 
further information, which was provided.   

 
49. South Moreton Parish Council do not have any comments to make. 

 

Page 171



PN7 
 

 
 
 
 
Annex 5 - Representations Summary 
 
197. 53 representations were received in response to this application during 

the initial consultation, including from local residents, the Wallingford 
Museum and The Historical and Archaeological Society, and from Kemp 
& Kemp LLP on behalf of Berkeley Homes. 

 
198. 7 of those representations are in support of the application, raising the 

following points: 

 Local stocks being used to supply local developments, which 
reduces transportation 

 Generating local jobs 

 Local roads are suitable 

 Dust suppression measures 

 Traffic not using village roads 

 Local supply means fewer trucks making long journeys 

 Meeting need for housing, schools etc in local area i.e. Didcot, 
Cholsey, Benson and Wallingford 

 Well-hidden site due to existing trees 

 Temporary nature of workings, therefore not a ‘blot’ on the 
landscape 

 The site has no significance to the Agatha Christie trail 

 Nature conservation benefits offered 
 
199. One representation is neutral, making comments on the proposed 

method for transporting the mineral and recommending the use of the 
adjacent railway.  
 

200. A further 8 representations were received during the October 2017 
consultation. Those who had previously made comments were informed 
that there was no need to write in again, unless they wanted to comment 
on the further information. These comments re-iterated previous 
concerns, especially in relation to dust and associated health impacts. 
Concerns raised included that the latest addendum to the air quality 
assessment does not alleviate concerns as dust will inevitably be 
produced and concerns about inaccuracies and inadequacies in that 
report. One representation was from a Grundons employee supporting 
the development for reasons of job security. The others were objections.  

 
201. 45 of the representations object to the application for reasons including 

the following points, which are addressed in italics.  
 

 Traffic impacts, including to pedestrians and cyclists crossing the 
roundabout at the end of the Wallingford Road; adding to existing 
congestion; double use of HGV’s turning left out of the site and 

Page 172



PN7 
 

having to use the roundabout to turn back in an easterly direction; 
impacts on villages and towns; dangerous railway crossing. 
 
The impact on traffic has been assessed in the Environmental 
Statement (ES) and this assessment has been reviewed by the 
County Council’s Transport Development Control Team, who do 
not object.  The ES addressed potential impacts on cyclists and 
pedestrians and traffic impacts for key links onto Wallingford 
bypass. Routeing is proposed to ensure that HGVs do not 
unnecessarily travel through village and town centres.  
 

 Anti-social working hours proposed – from 7am and on Saturday 
morning 
 
The hours proposed are in line with standard quarry operating 
hours for Oxfordshire. There would be no working or vehicle 
movements on Saturday afternoons (after 1pm), Sundays or on 
bank or public holidays.  
 

 Noise pollution, including that noise from lorries has not been 
assessed and that the assessment is based on a high level of 
screening 
 
The noise impact of the proposed operations has been assessed in 
the Environmental Impact Assessment and this assessment has 
been reviewed by the District Council’s Environmental Health 
Team, who has not objected to this application. Further detail is 
provided in the report.  
 
The ES calculates noise levels with and without mitigation. Bunds 
are proposed to mitigate noise. The ES calculation methods 
included an assessment of lorries. Conditions can be used to 
control noise, for example to ensure noise is kept below set levels 
and to require the use of white noise for reversing bleepers on all 
lorries at the site.  
 

 Duration – 20 years, concern that it would be extended 
 
The application proposes 18 phases, each taking one year to work. 
An appropriate end date would be secured by planning condition. If 
working does not take place as fast as anticipated the applicant 
would either need to make an application to change the end-date 
condition, or to change the restoration to leave mineral in the 
ground but finish extraction on time. Any application submitted 
would be assessed on its merits at that time. 

 

 Premature – should wait until the Local Plan is adopted 
 

Page 173



PN7 
 

Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan Part 1 has been 
adopted since the consultation period. This is covered in detail in 
the main report. 

 

 Need – no further minerals required at this time; mineral demand 
likely to be lower than projected due to Brexit 
 
The policy position on need for mineral is set out in detail in the 
main report.  
 

 Method of working – wet working will lead to a difficulty in achieving 
a high quality restoration, risk to groundwater if the site is not lined 
and tipping into water would produce high levels of dust 
 
There has been no objection from the Environment Agency, who 
would be responsible for issuing a permit for the waste disposal 
element, in terms of the proposed method of restoration. Dust 
impacts have been assessed in the ES.  
 

 Lack of details i.e. the height of soil bunds and trees planted,  
 
The Minerals Planning Authority is satisfied that sufficient 
information has been provided to allow the application to be 
determined. Further detail would be required through planning 
condition, should permission be granted.  
 

 Insufficient mitigation – tree screening will be diminished in winter 
 
Inevitably, screening vegetation is less effective during the winter 
months. However, the screening along the Wallingford Road and 
A4130 has been in place for some years and therefore is well 
established and provides a good level of visual mitigation. A soil 
storage bund is proposed between the extraction and Cox’s 
Farmhouse to the north west, which would provide visual screening 
year round.  
 

 Location of processing plant will result in greater noise and air 
quality impacts as it is closer to housing and the gap in the 
screening created by the site entrance 
 
The applicant has confirmed that the location of the processing 
plant near the site entrance would reduce dust by reducing HGV 
movements across the site. As set out elsewhere, the noise and 
dust impacts of the development on sensitive receptors have been 
assessed through the ES.  
 

 Visual impact, including on the nearby AONB; including the scale of 
the processing plant; including in relation to River Thames; 
including in the context of the site separating ancient settlements 
 

Page 174



PN7 
 

The ES includes a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment. 
There has been no objection from the Environmental Strategy 
Officer. The ES concludes that there would be no significant impact 
on the AONBs, which are over 500 metres away and views are 
screened by vegetation and landform.   
 

 Impact upon the Green Belt 
 
This site is not located within the Green Belt 
 

 Impact on tourism and on historical and archaeological interest 
including the Dame Agatha Christie trail and the Cholsey and 
Wallingford  Heritage Railway 

 Assessment of socio-economic impact in ES is inadequate and 
potential detrimental impact on tourism in the area is not 
recognised 
 
Impacts on local tourism, including on the Dame Agatha Christie 
Trail and the Cholsey and Wallingford Heritage Railway are 
considered in the main report. It is not considered that the 
development would give rise to significant impacts.  
 

 Effect of dust and noise on amenity of people walking along the 
Agatha Christie trail and the Wallingford to Cholsey cycleway 
 
The Environmental Health Officer has assessed the impact of dust 
and noise from the development on nearby properties and has not 
objected to the proposals. The potential impact of dust and noise 
on users of rights of way in the area is considered to be less 
significant than the potential impact on residents as people would 
be moving through the landscape and not exposed for long 
durations. Conditions can be used to protect the amenity of those 
using the rights of way. There has been no objection from the rights 
of way team. It is common for footpaths to run alongside quarries 
and this has not caused problems elsewhere in the county. It is 
understood that the Wallingford to Cholsey cycleway is not yet in 
place, but would run on the other side of a hedge to the quarry, 
which would mitigate some noise and dust.   
 

 Unallocated site 
 
The Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan Core Strategy Part 
2 Site Allocations Document has not yet been published even in 
draft form and therefore no sites are allocated for sand and gravel 
extraction in Oxfordshire. However, applications which have been 
submitted must be determined.  
 
 
 
 

Page 175



PN7 
 

 Quality of the mineral 
 
The applicant has confirmed that the deposit at New Barn Farm 
has been tested for quality and is suitable for construction and 
concrete uses.  
 

 Proximity to existing and proposed new housing in Wallingford 
 
The ES has taken into account potential impacts on the nearest 
residential properties. It also includes an addendum covering the 
application for new residential development north of the site and 
the A4130.  
 

 Potential risk to water environment and groundwater quality; site 
needs to be lined prior to waste importation; hydrological and 
hydrogeological assessments not adequate 
 
Impacts on the water environment are assessed in the ES. There 
has been no objection from the Lead Local Flood Authority, or the 
Environment Agency. The site would not need to be lined for waste 
recovery using inert material.  
 

 Impact on public health, particularly those with asthma, young 
children (nearby nursery) and the elderly (nearby nursing home). 

 Air pollution adding to existing air pollution issues in Wallingford 
 
The ES includes a comprehensive Air Quality and Dust 
Assessment, which concludes that there would be no significant 
impacts. Public Health England via the County Council’s Public 
Health Team were consulted on this application and requested 
further information so that the health impacts could be fully 
assessed. Following the submission of additional assessment work 
they have confirmed that they have no objections to the proposals.  
 

 Assessment work submitted for historic environment and 
archaeology not adequate 
 
Additional information was submitted with respect to aerial 
photography and lidar data in response to the Regulation 22 
request. Following the submission of further information, the 
Archaeology Officer confirmed that they have no objection to the 
development.  
 
 

 Air quality and noise assessments rely on RAF Benson wind rose 

 Air quality and dust assessments contain errors 
 

 
The Environmental Health Officer has specifically confirmed that the 
use of the RAF Benson wind rose is appropriate as it is the nearest 

Page 176



PN7 
 

reporting station to the site. They have not asked for any further 
amendments or clarification to the air quality and dust assessment.  

 

 Impact on RAF Benson – proposed ponds risk air safety 
 

There has been no objection from RAF Benson, subject to a 
requirement for a Bird Management Plan.  

 

 Loss of house value 
 
This is not a material planning consideration. 
 

 Would be unable to use garden due to dust concerns  

 Development would lead to increased costs of living in property due 
to dust impacts – need for air conditioning and filtration, hire of 
venues if can’t use home or garden for parties, running tumble 
dryer, cost of employing  a gardener, additional window and car 
cleaning 

 Effect of dust on vulnerable people in close proximity – including 
Mongewell Park nursery (in Elizabeth House), Winterbrook nursing 
home, Wallingford Community Hospital 

 Impact of dust on the adjacent solar farm 
 
The dust impacts at the principal dust receptor locations, including 
the solar farm to the east of the site, have been assessed in the ES 
and there has been no objection from the Environmental Health 
Officer.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 177



PN7 
 

 
 

Annex 6 – European Protected Species  
 
The Local Planning Authority in exercising any of their functions, have a legal 
duty to have regard to the requirements of the Conservation of Species & 
Habitats Regulations 2010 which identifies 4 main offences for development 
affecting European Protected Species (EPS). 
 

1. Deliberate capture or killing or injuring of an EPS 
2. Deliberate taking or destroying of EPS eggs 
3. Deliberate disturbance of a EPS including in particular any disturbance 

which is likely  
a) to impair their ability – 

i) to survive, to breed or reproduce, or to rear or nurture their 
young, or 
ii) in the case of animals of a hibernating or migratory species, to 
hibernate or migrate; or 

b) to affect significantly the local distribution or abundance of the 
species to which they belong.  

 4.  Damage or destruction of an EPS breeding site or resting place.   
 
Ecological survey results indicate that a European Protected Species is likely 
to be present.  
 
The mitigation measures detailed within the survey are considered to be 
convincing and in your officers opinion will secure “offence avoidance” 
measures.  
 
The recommendation:  
 
Your officers consider that sufficient information has been submitted with the 
application which demonstrates that measures can be introduced which would 
ensure that an offence is avoided. The application is therefore not considered 
to have an adverse impact upon protected species provided that the stated 
mitigation measures are implemented.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 178



PN8 
 

 
For: PLANNING AND REGULATION COMMITTEE – 27 NOVEMBER 2017 
 
By: DIRECTOR FOR PLANNING AND PLACE 

 

Development Proposed: 
 
Section 73 application to continue the operation of Dix Pit Recycled Aggregate 
Facility permitted by planning permission no. 16/04166/CM (MW.0140/16) 
without complying with condition 6 thereby allowing an increase in the 
maximum tonnage of waste material imported to site to 175,000 tonnes per 
annum  

 
Division Affected:                  

 
Eynsham 

Contact Officer:                      David Periam                        Tel:      07824 545378 
Location:  Sheehan Recycled Aggregates Plant site Dix Pit, 

Stanton Harcourt, Witney OX29 5BB 
Application No: MW.0073/17              District Ref: 17 

 
Applicant: Sheehan Haulage and Plant Hire Ltd  
District Council Area:            West Oxfordshire DC     
Date Received:                           15th September 2017 
Consultation Period:                  28th September – 19th October 2017 

     
Contents: 

• Part 1 – Facts and Background 

• Part 2 – Other Viewpoints  

• Part 3 – Relevant Planning Documents 

• Part 4 – Analysis and Conclusions 

Recommendation Summary:  
 
Approval. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 179

Agenda Item 8



PN8 
 

Part 1 – Facts and Background 

Location (see Site plan 1) 
 

1. The village of Stanton Harcourt lies about 200 metres to the north east of the 
application site and the towns of Witney and Eynsham are located about 5 
kilometres (3 miles) to the north west and north east respectively. Oxford is 
about 10 kilometres (6 miles) to the east. The West Oxfordshire District Local 
Plan landscape character assessment places the application site within the 
Lower Windrush Valley and Eastern Thames Fringes Landscape Character 
Areas. The Oxfordshire Wildlife and Landscape Study identifies the site as 
falling within the landscape areas of Lowland Village Farmlands and River 
Meadowlands and the particular local landscape character of Stanton Harcourt. 

 
2. The application site is the existing recycling aggregates facility which covers an 

area of 5.1 hectares. The existing site comprises a processing plant for making 
recycled aggregate from construction and demolition waste (a ‘wet’ recycling 
plant or ‘wash plant’ involving washing the waste with water and separating it 
into different sized recycled aggregate via a series of conveyors). It adjoins to 
the east the Controlled Reclamation Landfill site (Con Rec).  

 

3. In addition, there is a landfill site to the east, while further to the south there is a 
former block making works (Conbloc), a waste transfer station, a household 
waste recycling centre and various workshops and small scale industrial units. 
All these units are served by a purpose-built, tarmacked haul road running up to 
Blackditch near the junction with the B4449. Blackditch also provides access to 
the Lakeside (Oasis) Industrial Estate on the edge of Stanton Harcourt about 
700 metres to the north-east of the application site. A fishing lake run by the 
Vauxhall Angling Club lies to the west. Agricultural land lies to the north-west 
and north-east. 

 

4. Beard Mill, which is a grade II listed building, lies approximately  446 metres 
(320 metres to the property boundary) to the north-west of the existing Recycled 
Aggregates Plant site site. It is separated from the application sites by the 
B4449 and a lake.  There are other properties on the northern side of the 
B4449. 

 

5. Stanton Harcourt Public Bridleway 12 has recently been permanently diverted 

from its previous route which was immediately to the north of and partly within 

the application site so that it now passes to the west of the recycling plant along 

the River Windrush.    

 
 History 

 
6. The original application for the recycled aggregates plant [Ref: MW.0091/09, DC 

Ref: 09/0330/P/CM] was refused on 28 September 2009 but granted on appeal 
on 23 March 2011. A revised application for the facility [Ref: MW.0184/12, DC 
Ref: 12/1638/P/CM] was granted planning permission on 21 March 2013. This is 
accompanied by a routeing agreement which requires lorries associated with 

Page 180



PN8 
 

the facility to not travel through Sutton during the morning and afternoon peak 
hours. A section 73 application addressing changes to the site’s lighting was 
approved in 2015 (Ref: MW.0069/13, DC Ref: 13/0837/P/CM). A further full  
planning application to planning permission for an extension to the recycled 
aggregates plant area [Ref: MW.0003/14, DC Ref: 14/0142/P/CM] along with 
commensurate variations of conditions attached to permission no. MW.0184/12 
was refused planning permission but granted planning permission on appeal in 
early 2016. The most recent planning permission for variations to conditions and 
a small extension to the north to incorporate a wheel bath [Ref: MW.0140/16, 
DC Ref: 16/04166/CM] was granted in 2017 and is the planning permission to 
which variation of condition 6 is now applied for. This permission is also subject 
to the routeing requirements set out above. A non-material amendment 
application [Ref: MW.0089/17 ] to the current planning permission in order to re-
locate the fencing and gates to enclose the wheel bath area is currently under 
consideration. 

Details of the Development 
 

7. The applicant proposes to vary condition 6 of the planning permission which 
currently restricts the facility to the importation of a maximum of 100,000 tonnes 
of waste material in any calendar year. It is proposed that the wording of the 
condition be varied to allow a maximum of 175,000 tonnes of waste material to 
be imported in any calendar year. No other changes to the planning permission 
are proposed. The applicant states that if planning permission is granted then a 
further 12 people would be directly employed. 
 

8. In support of the application it is stated that since commissioning the plant the 
applicant has found it necessary to keep developing or altering the site to 
improve its efficiency and achieve the optimum outcomes in recycled aggregate 
production. To maximise efficiency it is now necessary to increase production 
and this can be done with no discernible additional impact on the environment. 
No more land or storage space and no further fixed plant would be required. It is 
advised that the Environmental Permit issued by the Environment Agency 
permits up to 250,000 tonnes of waste to be managed at the site. The applicant 
therefore considers that the Environment Agency believes that the Site can be 
effectively controlled and can operate safely and the environment within which it 
operates can be protected from harm even if it were proposed to operate at a 
much higher output than that proposed in this application. Because the proposal 
can be accommodated within the site’s existing boundaries and by the plant’s 
existing capacity the development may also overcome the need to establish 
other recycling plants perhaps on greenfield sites in less favourable locations.  

 

9.  The applicant considers that the only potential impact which the proposal could 
have arises from an increase in vehicle numbers going to and from the site. The 
proposal itself will not generate additional use of materials or more vehicles on 
Oxfordshire’s roads because the need for construction materials at construction 
sites and the need to remove superfluous waste materials from those sites is 
determined, not by the availability of a waste site, but by the economy.  This 
proposal would reduce the construction industry’s reliance on virgin sands and 
gravels and reduce the numbers of vehicles travelling further afield to dispose of 

Page 181



PN8 
 

construction wastes. It should reduce vehicle mileage overall on Oxfordshire’s 
roads. The application is supported by a Transport Assessment which 
concludes that this would have no significant impacts on the highway. The 
additional lorries which will carry the extra waste materials entering the Site or 
processed materials leaving will be a maximum of 54 two-way movements per 
day (5 to 6 per hour) subject to daily variation, based on the assumption that the 
loaded lorry bringing raw materials leaves empty. This equates to an overall 
increase in traffic flow on the B4449 at any time of a maximum of around 3% at 
hours of lowest existing flows in late morning. In highway operational terms the 
B4449 currently operates well within capacity and could accommodate the small 
increase in HGV numbers.  
 

10. Any permission granted to the application would be subject to the terms of the 
existing routeing agreement which restricts vehicles visiting the site from 
passing through Sutton at peak hours between 7.30 am and 9.00 am and 4.30 
pm and 6.00 pm other than for local deliveries within Sutton or if directed, for 
example by the police due to an accident. There would therefore continue to be 
no movements through Sutton at peak hours as no movements are in any 
instance permitted in either direction. It is stated the applicant takes the routeing 
agreement very seriously and has recently purchased new software to combine 
with its existing vehicle tracking equipment so that any breaches of the routeing 
agreement can be readily identified and addressed. It is admitted that some 
breaches have been identified and the applicant is determined to prevent these 
from happening in future. 
 

11. The applicant considers that the proposed variation of condition is in compliance 
with both development plan policies, including M1, W1 and C10 and national 
planning policy including section 4 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
which supports sustainable development. 

 
Part 2 – Other Viewpoints 

 
Representations 
 

12. Three objections have been received to the application citing the following 
grounds: 
 
i) The B4449 is of insufficient width, is bendy, has no cycle lane and is not 

designed to accommodate HGVs. The existing traffic causes 
considerable, ongoing damage to the road necessitating regular repairs 
and consequent expense to the OCC budget.  
 

ii) There would be an increased danger to other road users including cyclists. 
 

iii) The pavements in Sutton village are extremely narrow and pedestrians  
and school children alighting at the bus stop, and crossing the road, are 
regularly terrorised by HGVs speeding through the village well in excess 
of the 30 MPH limit inches from where they're walking.  
 

Page 182



PN8 
 

iv) The current 100 tonnes limitation should be scrapped altogether; 
permitting a 75% increase in tonnage would be a scandal and 
demonstrate beyond doubt the council favours the interest of commercial 
enterprises over the health and safety of the constituents it is elected to 
serve. 

 

v) Environmental damage to properties along the B4449; 
 

vi) Noise, vibration and other pollution to residents of properties along the 
B4449; 

 
  Consultations 

 
13. Transport Development Control: Oxfordshire County Council, as the Local 

Highways Authority, do not object to the application. The applicant has 
included a thorough Transport Assessment which includes a detailed turning 
count at the junction of Blackditch and the B4449. There were 67 HGV 
movements associated with Dix Pit HGVs, so a 75% increase would result in 
an additional 50 movements. A worst-case of 54 movements has been 
calculated assuming an even spread through the year, so it can be assumed 
that the count is representative.  The count demonstrates that three-quarters 
of the Dix Pit HGVs travel to/from the east, through the village of Sutton. 
Therefore, this will equate to approximately 38 extra HGV movements over a 
12-hour period. As these trips are banned during the peak hours by a routeing 
agreement, it will average out at around two additional movements per hour in 
each direction outside of peak hours. This represents an increase of roughly 
14% in the total number of HGVs passing through Sutton in a 12-hour period 
(eastbound has the highest flows, up from 127 to 145). When compared to the 
overall traffic flow eastbound through Sutton, the additional HGV trips would 
result in a 1% increase in vehicles. Therefore, although the extra HGV 
movements may be noticeable, it is not considered to be reason for objection. 
 

14. County Council’s Ecology Officer – No objection.   

15. West Oxfordshire District Council: Having considered the amendment, WODC 
has no objection. However, the District Council has concerns with the 
significant increase of waste being delivered to the site in any calendar year, 
specifically the impact of the increase in traffic, vehicular movements and 
noise on the amenity of those in the neighbouring villages. 
 

16. No other consultation responses have been received on the application. 
 

Part 3 – Relevant Planning Documents 
 

Relevant planning documents and legislation (see Policy Annex to the 
committee papers) 

 
17. Planning applications should be decided in accordance with the Development 

Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
 

Page 183



PN8 
 

18. The relevant development plan documents are: 
 

 Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 
(OMWCS) 

 Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan (saved policies) (OMWLP) 

 West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (saved policies ((WOLP) 
 

19. The OMWCS was adopted in September 2017 and covers the period to 2031. 
The Core Strategy sets out the strategic and core policies for minerals and 
waste development, including a suite of development management policies.  It 
is anticipated that Part 2 of the Plan will include Site Allocations and any 
further development management policies that may be necessary in relation 
to the allocated sites.  
 

20. The OMWLP was adopted in July 1996 and covered the period to 2006. 46 
policies within the OMWLP were ‘saved’ until the adoption of the OMWCS and 
16 of these policies continue to be saved until the Part 2 Site Specific 
document is adopted. The saved policies are non-strategic site-related 
policies.  

 
21. Other material considerations are: 

 
i) The Emerging West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011-2031 (EWOLP) was 

submitted to the Planning Inspectorate for independent examination in July 
2015. The first hearing sessions were held in November 2015, following 
which the examination was suspended until December 2016 to allow further 
work to be undertaken in relation to housing need. The Council consulted 
upon the Proposed Modifications in December 2016.  Stage 3 of the 
examination hearings took place in July 2017. The District Council is now 
undertaking further work. The plan is therefore at an advanced stage and it is 
appropriate to consider draft policies which are relevant to this development. 

 
ii) The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and National Planning 

Policy for Waste are also material considerations.  
 

Relevant Policies  
 

22. The relevant policies are: 
 
OMWCS  
 
M1 -  Recycled and secondary aggregate 
W1 – Oxfordshire Waste to be managed 
W2 – Oxfordshire Waste Management targets 
W3 – Provision for waste management capacity and facilities required 
W4 – Locations for facilities to manage the principal waste streams 
W5 - Siting of waste management facilities 
C1 -   Sustainable Development 
C2 – Climate Change 
C5 –  Local environment, amenity & economy 

Page 184



PN8 
 

C10 – Transport 
 
OMWLP 1996 
 
SH2 – Transport impact in Sutton 
SH3 – Routeing agreements 
 
WOLP 2011  
 
BE2 – General Development Standards 
BE3 – Movement and parking 
BE18 - Pollution 
T1 – Traffic generation 

 
    EWOLP  

OS1 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
EH6 – Environmental Protection 
 

Part 4 – Analysis and Conclusions 
 
Comments of the Director for Planning and Place 

 
23. The reason given for the existing condition 6 which limits the importation to 

100,000 tonnes per calendar year is: “To control the amount of HGV traffic on 
the local road network and in the interests of road safety.” I consider that the 
key issues to be considered are: 
i)  whether the development is in general compliance with OMWCS 

policies with regard to waste management including increasing waste 
recycling and the production of secondary aggregate material; 

ii) whether the additional impact of a further 75,000 tonnes per annum, 
which is a considerable increase on the existing limitation, would have 
an unacceptable impact in terms of highway safety and the capacity of 
the local road network; and 

iii)  whether there would be a significant and unacceptable additional 
impact on the amenity of local residents and other road users. 

 
Waste management 

 
24. The existing planning permission provides for the recycling of up to 100,000 

tonnes of waste material per annum with the production of secondary 
aggregate material. The proposed development is to increase this to 175,000 
tonnes per annum. It therefore accords with the aims of OMWCS policy M1 
which states that so far as is practicable, aggregate mineral supply to meet 
the demand in Oxfordshire should be from recycled and secondary aggregate 
minerals in preference to primary aggregates, that provision will be made for 
facilities for the production and supply of 0.926 million tonnes per annum and 
that the production and supply of recycled and secondary aggregates will be 
encouraged so as to enable the maximum delivery of recycled and secondary 
aggregate within Oxfordshire. It also accords with the aims of OMWCS policy 
W1 which states that provision will be made for waste management facilities 

Page 185



PN8 
 

that allow Oxfordshire to be net self-sufficient in the management of its 
municipal waste, commercial and industrial waste, and construction, 
demolition and excavation waste over the period to 2031. Further it accords 
with the aims of OMWCS policy W2 which states that provision will be made 
for capacity to manage Oxfordshire’s principal waste streams to provide for 
the maximum diversion of waste from landfill. The target given for the period 
to 2030 is 70% for construction, demolition and excavation waste. It also 
follows that it is in compliance with the aim of policies. 
 

25. OMWCS policy W3 sets out the need for at least 326,800tpa of additional 
waste management capacity up to 2031 and states that specific sites to meet 
this requirement will be allocated in the Minerals and Waste Local Plan: Part 
2 – Site Allocations Document. This application would help the County meet 
its targets for the recycling of construction, demolition and excavation waste. 
 

26. OMWCS policy W4 states that strategic waste management facilities, which 
are those managing 50,000 tonnes per annum of waste or more, should 
normally be located in or close to the county’s major urban areas which 
includes Oxford. The site chiefly serves waste generated in Oxford and the 
surrounding area. OMWCS policy W5 supports the location of waste 
management sites at sites already in that use. As a variation to a planning 
permission for an existing facility, the application complies with that policy. 
 

27. OMWCS policy W5 states that priority will be given to siting waste 
management facilities on land which is at an active mineral working or landfill 
site. This policy supports the location of an inert waste disposal facility at an 
active mineral working.  
 

Highway capacity and safety 
 

28. NPPF paragraph 32 states that all development that generates a significant 
amount of movements should be supported by a Transport Statement or 
Transport Assessment. Decisions should take account of whether 
opportunities for sustainable transport modes have been taken up, safe and 
suitable access to the site can be achieved and whether improvements can 
be undertaken within the transport network that cost effectively limit the 
significant impacts of the development. It goes on to state that development 
should only be refused on transport grounds where the residual cumulative 
impacts of the development are severe.  

 
29. Policy C10 of the OMWCS states that waste development will be expected to 

make provision for safe and suitable access to the advisory lorry routes 
shown on the Oxfordshire Lorry Routes Maps. Policy C10 goes on to state 
that waste management and recycled aggregate facilities should as far as 
practicable be in locations that minimise the road distance from the main 
source(s) of waste, using roads suitable for lorries, taking into account that 
some facilities are not economic or practical below a certain size and may 
need to serve a wider than local area. It also requires that proposals for waste 
development that would generate significant amounts of traffic will be 
expected to be supported by a transport assessment or transport statement, 

Page 186



PN8 
 

as appropriate, including mitigation measures where applicable and that 
where development leads to a need for improvement to the transport network 
to achieve this, developers will be expected to provide such improvement or 
make an appropriate financial contribution.  It also states that where 
practicable minerals and waste developments should be located, designed 
and operated to enable the transport of minerals and/or waste by rail, water, 
pipeline or conveyor. 

 
30. WOLP policy T1 states that proposals which would generate significant levels 

of traffic will not be permitted in locations where travel by means other than 
private car is not realistic.  Saved OMWLP policy SH2 states that planning 
permission will not be granted for development which would significantly 
increase traffic in Sutton, or prolong significant traffic intrusion, unless the 
Sutton Bypass has been constructed and brought into use. Saved OMWLP 
policy SH3 states that the County Council will seek routeing agreements to 
limit the use of the A415 through Standlake and southwards over Newbridge. 
 

31. The application is supported by a Transport Assessment and, as set out 
above, the Highways Authority considers that the proposed development 
would be acceptable and has no objection to the application. The B4449 
through Sutton is one of the advisory lorry routes identified on the Oxfordshire 
Lorry Routes map. The existing waste management facility serves an area in 
the south of the county but includes Oxford. 
 

32. Whilst I note the concerns raised by local residents with regard to the danger 
caused by HGVs passing through Sutton to pedestrians and cyclists I do not 
therefore consider that an objection to the application in terms of highway 
safety or capacity could be sustained. With regard to the provisions of policies 
SH2 and SH3, whilst these are saved policies and still part of the 
development plan, the more recent OMWCS policy C10  identifies the B4449 
as an advisory lorry route and the site does benefit from a safe and suitable 
access to it via the Blackditch. Regarding sustainable transport modes, it is 
considered that there are no practical opportunities for more sustainable 
transport modes at this site which is not close to any railway or waterway.  
 

33. It is therefore considered that the proposed development is generally in 
accordance with the NPPF and the above development plan policies with 
regard to highway capacity and safety. 
 

Amenity 

34. Policy C5 of the OMWCS states that proposals for waste development shall 
demonstrate that it will not have an adverse effect on the local environment; 
human health and safety; residential amenity; and the local economy from 
impacts including noise, dust, visual intrusion, light pollution, traffic and air 
quality. Policy BE2 of the WOLP states that new development should clearly 
respect and, where possible, improve the character and quality of its 
surroundings and provide a safe, pleasant, convenient and interesting 
environment. Policy BE3 of the WOLP states that development should make 
provision for the safe movement of people and vehicles whilst minimising 

Page 187



PN8 
 

impact upon the environment. Policy BE18 of the WOLP seeks to prevent 
development which would generate unacceptable levels of pollution and 
policy BE19 of the WOLP seeks to prevent development causing significant 
noise disturbance. EWOLP policy EH6 makes similar provision. Paragraph 7 
of the NPPW states that in determining waste planning applications 
consideration should be given to the impact on amenity.   
 

35. Objection has been raised with regard to the amenity impacts of the 
application through traffic passing through Sutton in terms of noise, vibration 
and other pollution both to local residents and other road users but also to 
properties and through the proximity of traffic to pedestrians on narrow 
pavements.  
 

36. Members will recall that at the meeting of this committee on 16th October 
2017, an oral report was presented at the request of the local member with 
regard to alleged breaches of the existing routeing agreement. Since that 
time, your officers have carried out five periods of monitoring during peak 
hours when the routeing agreement restricts vehicles leaving or visiting the 
site passing along the B4449 through Sutton. On one of these, on 23rd 
October, officers recorded five breaches well within the 7.30 am to 9.00 am 
restricted period and three which were on the cusp of 9.00 am and which the 
applicant’s tracking records record as having been just after 9.00 am. No 
breaches were recorded on any of the other four monitoring periods, three of 
which were subsequent to 23rd October. As set out above, the applicant has 
maintained their commitment to seeking to ensure compliance with the 
routeing agreement and following the breaches identified issued a note to all 
contractors as follows: 

“It has been noted that contractor lorries went through Sutton on 23rd October 
between 07:30 – 09:00. 
This is strictly prohibited as stated on site signage when entering and exiting 
Dix Pit. 
 
The routing restriction states that under no circumstance can any HGV 
vehicle visiting Sheehan’s Dix Pit site travel through Sutton between 
7.30am – 9.00am and 4.30pm – 6pm. 
This includes during the school holidays. 
 
Failure to comply with this restriction will result in an official warning, and 
subsequent financial penalties and ultimate site ban. 
 
I appreciate this is a firm stance, however this is an obligation made by the 
company to the local planning authority which must be adhered to. 
 

We appreciate your co-operation.” 

 

37. The applicant has not requested that the routeing agreement be removed and 
so it will continue to apply should planning permission be granted to this 
application by virtue of a clause which states it will continue to apply to any 
planning permissions varying the terms of the permission. I am therefore 

Page 188



PN8 
 

satisfied that the applicant is now using its best endeavours to secure 
compliance with the agreement. Clearly if no vehicles to or from the site pass 
through Sutton at peak times then they are not during those times causing any 
impact on amenity. 
 

38. Clearly there would be additional HGV traffic associated with the site outside 
peak hours should planning permission be granted to this application and to it 
then being implemented. The application states that the maximum additional 
HGV traffic projected  would be 54 movements per day, 27 in, 27 out, which 
equates to 5 to 6 additional vehicle movements per operational hour. The 
traffic associated with the current limitation of 100,000 tonnes per calendar 
year, which was originally attached to the first permission granted on appeal 
and which has been carried forward on each subsequent planning permission 
for the site, has clearly been judged to be acceptable previously although this 
is not to say that the concerns raised in objection by local residents are not 
reflective of the impact of traffic passing through Sutton. As officers have 
observed during their site monitoring, the B4449 is clearly a well-used road 
during peak hours and HGVs unconnected with the application site were 
observed passing through Sutton in both directions, some considerably larger 
than the tipper lorries which would generally be associated with the 
application site. 
 

39. To suggest that there is no noticeable impact on the amenity of local residents 
from the existing traffic, particularly where the B4449 passes through Sutton is 
therefore unrealistic, but the vehicle movements associated with the 
application site are a relatively small proportion of these and even with the 
proposed increase, this would continue to be the case. For planning 
permission to be refused on amenity grounds it would therefore be necessary 
to demonstrate that the additional vehicle movements proposed, which would 
be outside peak hours, would have a significant and detrimental impact over 
and above the existing situation which has been considered previously to be 
acceptable. Whilst I have considerable sympathy with the concerns of local 
residents and which have been often expressed by the local member, I do not 
consider that a refusal of planning permission on this ground could be 
sustained on appeal. 
 

40. Some consideration must also be given as to whether there would be any 
significant additional impact on amenity arising from the additional level of 
waste handling and processing works on site which would occur should the 
application be approved and implemented. The applicant has stated that there 
would be no requirement for additional fixed plant or additional storage areas. 
An extension to the site was granted on appeal following a public inquiry in 
January 2016 and this has been implemented and is in use. Other than the 
variation of condition proposed, all other conditions including those which 
require compliance with the approved drawings, hours of operation and noise 
levels would continue to apply. I do not therefore consider there would be any 
additional significant impact on amenity arising from the works on site as a 
consequence of this application. 

 

Page 189



PN8 
 

Sustainability 

41. The NPPF sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable development, 
which is supported in policy OS1 of the EWOLP and policy C1 of the 
OMWCS. OMWCS policy C2 requires waste development to take account of 
climate change for the lifetime of the development from construction through 
operation and decommissioning. The proposed variation would clearly 
increase the use of fossil fuels through the generation of the additional vehicle 
movements proposed and to this extent it would make an additional albeit 
limited contribution to increased CO2 emissions. In the balance however, it 
would facilitate up to a 75% increase in the amount of waste material imported 
and recycled as secondary aggregate materials, some of which could then be 
used to displace the need for primary aggregate materials to be extracted and 
used albeit in a limited way when the overall demand for mineral is taken into 
consideration. It is considered that the application would have limited impacts 
in Climate Change terms but overall it continues to be a sustainable 
development in economic, social and environmental terms which should be 
supported. 

 
Conclusions 
 

42. The development proposed in application no. MW.0073/17 is acceptable. 
Therefore planning permission should be granted subject to the requested 
revised wording of condition 6 but with all other conditions continuing to apply 
other than as may be amended should Non-material amendment application 
no. MW.00889/17 be granted.  
  

Recommendation 
 

43 The Committee is RECOMMENDED to approve Application MW.0073/13 
subject to the existing conditions other than as may be amended should 
non-material amendment application no. MW.00889/17 be granted and to 
condition 6  reading as follows: 

 
 No more than 175,000 tonnes of waste shall be imported to the site in 

any calendar year. Records of imports, sufficient to be monitored by the 
Waste Planning Authority shall be kept on site and made available to the 
Waste Planning Authority's officers on request. Separate records shall 
be kept on site of any topsoil or other soil materials imported solely for 
use in the restoration of the Controlled Reclamation Site permitted 
subject to planning permission no. MW.0141/16 (16/04159/CM). 
 

 
SUE HALLIWELL 
Director for Planning  and Place 

 
November2017

Page 190



PN8 
 

 

Page 191



PN8 
 

 

 
Annex 2 - European Protected Species       
  
The County Planning Authority in exercising any of their functions, have a legal duty 
to have regard to the requirements of the Conservation of Species & Habitats 
Regulations 2010 which identifies 4 main offences for development affecting 
European Protected Species (EPS).  
 

1. Deliberate capture or killing or injuring of an EPS  

2. Deliberate taking or destroying of EPS eggs  

3. Deliberate disturbance of a EPS including in particular any disturbance which is 
likely  
a) to impair their ability –  
 
i) to survive, to breed or reproduce, or to rear or nurture their young, or  
ii) in the case of animals of a hibernating or migratory species, to hibernate or 
migrate; or  
b) to affect significantly the local distribution or abundance of the species to which 
they belong.  
 
4. Damage or destruction of an EPS breeding site or resting place.  
 
Our records indicate that European Protected Species are unlikely to be present. 

Therefore no further consideration of the Conservation of Species & Habitats 

Regulations is necessary. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 192



PN9 
 

For: PLANNING AND REGULATION COMMITTEE – 27 NOVEMBER 
2017 
 
By: DIRECTOR FOR PLANNING AND PLACE 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Division Affected:  Chalgrove and Watlington 
 
Contact Officer:  Kevin Broughton Tel: 07979 704458 
 
Location:  Great Milton (C Of E) Primary School, High Street, 

Great Milton, Oxford, Oxfordshire, OX44 7NT 
 
Applicant:   Oxfordshire County Council 
 
Application No:  R3.0064/17  District ref No: P17/S3180/CC 
 
District Council Area:  South Oxfordshire  
 
Date Received:  21 August 2017  
 
Consultation Period: 7 September 2017 – 28 September 2017 
 
Contents: 

• Part 1 – Facts and Background 

• Part 2 – Other Viewpoints  

• Part 3 – Relevant Planning Documents 

• Part 4 – Analysis and Conclusions 

Recommendation:   Approval 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Development Proposed: 
 

Demolition of an existing one and a half classroom prefabricated 
modular building and the installation of a two classroom 
prefabricated modular building for a temporary period of 5 years. 
The works to include drainage and creation of fire appliance hard-
standing access where the existing prefabricated modular building 

is located. 

Page 193

Agenda Item 9



PN9 
 

• Part 1 – Facts and Background 

 Location (see site plan Annex 1) 
 
1. Great Milton Primary School is located centrally in the linear village of 

Great Milton 2km (1.4miles) south east of Wheatley. The whole village, 
including the school site is within the Oxford Green Belt. The school 
site is adjacent to, but outside the Great Milton Conservation Area. 
 

2. The site is bounded by allotments to the north, a substantial tree belt  
with open fields beyond to the east, public playground to the south, and 
housing to the west. The nearest house is 90m away on the far side of 
the existing school building. 
 

3. The school is predominantly of single storey construction, brick built 
with a dual pitched roof.  
 

4. The site for the proposed temporary classroom unit is at the rear of the 
school on informal green play space. 
 

Details of the Development 
 

5. The proposed prefabricated modular building would provide 2 
classrooms and associated toilets, cloak area and store rooms for a 
temporary period of five years. 
 

6. The proposal would include the demolition of an existing prefabricated 
modular building, containing a single classroom and a withdrawal 
room, adjacent to the northern boundary of the school. The unit had a 
temporary planning permission up to 30th June 2017.  A condition 
survey identified that the existing modular unit has reached the end of 
its economic life. 
 

7. The area currently occupied by the temporary classroom unit would be 
used to create an access for fire appliance vehicles.  
 

8. Great Milton Primary School has a Published Admission Number of 25. 
There is continued demand for places at the school and in order to 
ensure a sufficiency of places the applicant would like the school to be 
able to operate with an admission number of 30. This cannot be 
provided with the current accommodation. The proposal would address 
this by replacing the existing unit with a two classroom unit, allowing 
the admission numbers to rise to 30. 
 

9. Consideration was given to locating the new building on the footprint of 
the existing building, but there are existing well established trees next 
to the existing building. Other options were appraised, involving 
consultation with the parish council and local county councillor, and the 
proposed location was decided on by the applicant.  
 

Page 194



PN9 
 

10. The proposed new building would be 16.9m (long) x 8.3m (wide) x 
3.6m (high) providing 140.27 m2 of gross new floor space in an overall 
application site area of 330 m2. It would be of flat roof construction, with 
a grey felt roof. The building would be cream in colour  with white 
windows and doors. 
 

11. The following features have been included to increase energy 
efficiency and reduce costs: openable windows to promote natural 
passive cross ventilation; a wall mounted gas fired fully modulating 
condensing boiler to feed Low Surface Temperature (LST) radiators 
and provide the hot water required in the classroom; and automatic 
lighting controls and incorporated with new LED lamp technology. 
 

12. Ground investigation conclude that the sub-soils in this vicinity are of a 
silty fine sand down to a depth of 3m, and the sub-strata is suitable for 
discharge of surface water via a 2.8m³ proprietary crate soakaway 
system. 
 

13. The applicant put the following case for Very Special Circumstances in 
the Green Belt: there are no alternative development opportunities 
outside the Green Belt area as this is a village school that lies within a 
Green Belt area; and although there is a new build, there would also be 
the removal of a similar, though slightly smaller, modular building. 
 

14. Access into and around the building has been considered in the 
application: the building would be single storey with access ramps; 
contrasting materials will be used to help those with visual impairment;  
and there would be level surfaces and double leaf doors to aid the 
movement of wheelchair users. 

 
Part 2 – Other Viewpoints  

 Representations 
 

15. There have been no third party representations.  
 

Consultations 
 

16. SODC Planning  – no objection 
 

17. SODC Environmental Health Officer – no objection. 
 

18. Great Milton Parish Council – supports the application. 
 

19. Natural England – no comments. 
 

20. OCC (Highway Authority) – no objection subject to a revised travel plan 
being produced. 
 

21. OCC (Archaeology) – no archaeological constraints. 

Page 195



PN9 
 

 
22. OCC (Protected Species Officer) – no comments. 

 
23. OCC (Minerals Policy) – no comments. 

 
24. OCC (Arboriculture) – no objection.  

 
Part 3 – Relevant Planning Documents 

Relevant planning policies (see Policy Annex to the committee 
papers) 

 
25. Planning applications should be decided in accordance with the 

Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 

26. The relevant Development Plan policies are: 
 
South Oxfordshire Core Strategy – December 2012 (SOCS) 
 
CS1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
CSM1: Transport 
CSM2: Transport Assessments and Travel Plans 
CSEN1: Landscape 
CSEN2: Green Belt 
CSQ3: Design 
CSG1: Green infrastructure 
CSB1: Conservation and improvement of biodiversity 
 
South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP) 
 
G2: Protection and enhancement of the environment 
C4: Development in the countryside and on the edge of settlements 
C6: Biodiversity conservation 
GB4: Visual amenity 
EP6: Surface water protection 
D7: Access for all 
CF2: Provision of community facilities and services 
 
Other Material Considerations are: 
 
Draft South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2033 (SOLP2031) 
The final version of the emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan has 
been consulted on but has not yet been submitted for independent 
examination. It can therefore only be given limited weight at this stage. 
 
TRANS2: Promoting Sustainable Transport and accessibility 
TRANS4: Transport assessments, Transport Statements and Travel 
Plans 
ENV1: Landscape and countryside 
DES8: Promoting sustainable design 

Page 196



PN9 
 

CF2: Provision of community Facilities and Services 
 
The Government’s National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was 
published on 27 March 2012. This is a material consideration in taking 
planning decisions. The CLG letter to the Chief Planning Officers dated 
15 August 2011 is also relevant. 
 

• Part 4 – Analysis and Conclusions 

Comments of the  Director for Planning and Place 
  

27. The CLG letter to the Chief Planning Officers dated 15th August 2011 
set out the Government’s commitment to support the development of 
state funded schools and their delivery through the planning system.  
The policy statement states that: 
“The creation and development of state funded schools is strongly in 
the national interest and that planning decision-makers can and should 
support that objective, in a manner consistent with their statutory 
obligations.”  State funded schools include Academies and free schools 
as well as local authority maintained schools. 

 
It further states that the following principles should apply with 
immediate effect: 

 There should be a presumption in favour of the development of 
state-funded schools; 

 Local Authorities should give full and thorough consideration to 
the importance of enabling the development of state funded 
schools in their planning decisions; Local Authorities should 
make full use of their planning powers to support state-funded 
schools applications; 

 Local Authorities should only impose conditions that clearly and 
demonstrably meet the tests as set out in Circular 11/95; 

 Local Authorities should ensure that the process for submitting 
and determining state-funded schools’ applications is as 
streamlined as possible; 

 A refusal of any application for a state-funded school or the 
imposition of conditions, will have to be clearly justified by the 
Local Planning Authority. 

 
This has been endorsed as part of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

28. Policy CS1 of the SOCS sets out the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development which states that planning applications that 
accord with the policies of the development plan will be approved 
unless other material considerations indicate otherwise. Policy CF2 of 
the SOLP, and policy CF2 of the SOLP 2033 state that proposals that 
would result in the provision of additional community facilities within 
settlements will be permitted. 
  

Page 197



PN9 
 

29. The application should therefore be approved unless there are policy or 
material considerations that dictate otherwise. The main issue is the 
development within the Green Belt which makes the proposal a 
departure from the development plan and therefore it has come before 
the Committee even though there have been no objections to it. 
 
Green Belt 
 

30. Policy CSEN2 of the SOCS states that the special character and 
landscape setting of Oxford will be protected by the Oxford Green Belt, 
and that planning permission will not be granted for development within 
the Oxford Green Belt that is contrary to national policy guidance in the 
NPPF and the purposes of including land within the Green Belt. The 
NPPF states that considerable weight should be given to any harm to 
the Green Belt, and that development should not be approved except 
in Very Special Circumstances. The development is not one of the 
listed exceptions to Green Belt policy and so is inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt and Very Special Circumstances must 
therefore exist for the application to be approved.  

 
31. The proposed development is required in order to increase the intake 

for the school in line with identified need. The school is a village facility 
and therefore has to be located within the village which is all within the 
Green Belt. The proposed development includes the removal of 
another building within the Green Belt, although there would be an 
increase in the footprint of the development. Neither the new building 
nor the fire appliance access could be provided other than at the 
school site. As there is no alternative to siting the unit in the Green 
Belt, and there is an identified local need, there is in my opinion Very 
Special Circumstances for the development in the Green Belt. 
 

32. Policy GB4 of the SOLP states that where new development is 
permitted, either within or where it would be conspicuous from the 
Green Belt, it should be designed and sited in such a way that its 
impact on the open nature, rural character and visual amenity of the 
Green Belt is minimised.  
 

33. The proposed unit would sit within the existing school site and within 
the village. It would be seen in that context from the surrounding Green 
Belt, and would not impact on its open nature or the rural character.  
 
Other Issues 
 

34. Policy CSM1 of the SOCS seeks, among other things, to encourage 
the use of sustainable modes of transport. Policy TRANS2 of the SOLP 
2033 also seeks to promote sustainable transport. Policy CSM2 further 
states that development proposals should include a travel plan where 
appropriate, as does policy TRANS4 of the SOLP 2033. 
  

Page 198



PN9 
 

35. The County as Highway authority have requested a revised travel plan 
be included in any planning permission granted. A condition could be 
attached requiring a revised travel plan be submitted within 6 months of 
the occupation of the new building which would give time for the effects 
of the extra pupils to be included in the updated plan. 
 

36. Policy CSEN1 of the SOCS and policy ENV1 of the SOLP 2033 seek to 
protect the landscape character of the district. Policy G2 of the SOLP 
seeks to protect the district’s countryside and settlements from adverse 
development. Policy C4 of the SOLP states that development on the 
edge of settlements which would damage attractive landscape will not 
be permitted. 
 

37. The proposed development would be a standard temporary classroom 
unit, but as stated above it would be within the context of the school 
site and its village location. The trees to the east of the site would 
screen the development from the surrounding countryside.  
 

38. Policy CSQ3 of the SOCS seeks good design for new developments. 
Policy DES8 of the SOLP 2033 seeks to promote sustainable design. 
The proposed building is a standard unit and not high quality in terms 
of design. It does however incorporate some environmental design 
concepts in terms of energy saving. In its location to the rear of the 
school, and given its temporary nature it is not contrary to the design 
policies. 
 

39. Policies CSG1 and CSB1 of the SOCS, policy C6 of the SOLP, and 
policy EN3 of the SOLP 2033 state that a net gain in biodiversity will be 
sought and that a net loss through development proposals will be 
avoided. The proposal does not lead to a loss of biodiversity, but it also 
does not include any measures to increase biodiversity. The applicant 
has stated that they would provide bird boxes as directed by the OCC 
Protected Species Officer. With a condition requiring the details of at 
least two bird boxes, the development would provide an increase in 
biodiversity and would comply with those policies. 
 

40. Policy EP6 of the SOLP states that developers should demonstrate 
that the development has a sustainable drainage system. The proposal 
includes a soakaway that is based on ground investigations on the site 
and is therefore compliant with policy EP6. 
 

41. Policy D7 of the SOLP seeks for new public buildings to include 
accessibility for all included in their design. The proposal includes 
design features for wheelchair, and sight impaired users. It is therefore 
compliant with policy D7. 

 
Conclusions 
 

42. The proposed development would provide an improvement to a local 
community facility. There are Very Special Circumstances for the 

Page 199



PN9 
 

inappropriate development in the Green Belt, and there are no 
overriding policy or material considerations that would lead to a refusal 
of the application. The proposal should therefore be granted planning 
permission in accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
  

43 It is RECOMMENDED that planning permission for application no. 
R3.0033/17 be approved subject to conditions to be determined by 
the Director of Planning and Place to include the following: 
 

I. Detailed compliance. 
II. Temporary period of 5 years. 

III. School Travel Plan to be submitted and approved within 6 
months of the date of occupation of the building. The 
approved scheme to be implemented. 

IV. Prior to the first occupation of the development a scheme 
for the location of at least two bird boxes shall be submitted 
and approved. The approved scheme to be implemented. 
 

 
SUSAN HALLIWELL 
Director of Planning and Place 
 
November 2017
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 200



PN9 
 

European Protected Species  
 
The habitat on and around the proposed development site indicate that 
European Protected Species are unlikely to be present. Therefore no further 
consideration of the Conservation of Species & Habitats Regulations is 
necessary. 
 
Compliance with National Planning Policy Framework  
 
In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF Oxfordshire County 
Council take a positive and proactive approach to decision making focused on 
solutions and fostering the delivery of sustainable development. We work with 
applicants in a positive and proactive manner by; offering a pre-application 
advice service, which the applicant took advantage of in this case updating 
applicants and agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of their 
application and where possible suggesting solutions. Additional information on 
the plans and in the supporting statement were sought from the applicant at 
an early stage which helped to assess the application in terms of Green Belt 
and other policies. 
 

Page 201



PN9 
 

 

Page 202



PN10 
 

PLANNING & REGULATION COMMITTEE – 27 NOVEMBER 2017 
 

Policy Annex (Relevant Development Plan and other Policies) 
 
Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan 1996 – Saved Policies (OMWLP): 
 
POLICY SH2:  TRAFFIC IMPACT IN SUTTON 
 
Planning permission will not be granted for mineral extraction or waste disposal, 
including development which would intensify existing workings, where the 
development would lead to a significant increase in traffic in Sutton or prolongation of 
significant traffic intrusion, unless the Sutton bypass has been constructed and 
brought into use.  If necessary, weight restrictions will be placed within the village 
following construction of the bypass. 
 
POLICY SH3:  ROUTEING AGREEMENTS  
 
The County Council will seek routeing agreements with operators in order to limit the 
use of the A415 through Standlake and southwards over Newbridge.  The preferred 
routes will be the A415 north of Standlake to the Ducklington bypass, or the B4449 
via the Blackditch, Sutton and Eynsham bypasses. 
 
Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste Core Strategy  
 
POLICY M1: RECYCLED AND SECONDARY AGGREGATE  
 
So far as is practicable, aggregate mineral supply to meet demand in Oxfordshire 
should be from recycled and secondary aggregate materials in preference to primary 
aggregates, in order to minimise the need to work primary aggregates. 
 
The production and supply of recycled and secondary aggregate, including that 
which improves waste separation and the range or quality of end products, will be 
encouraged so as to enable the maximum delivery of recycled and secondary 
aggregate within Oxfordshire. Where practicable, the transport of recycled and 
secondary aggregate materials (both feedstock and processed materials) from 
locations remote from Oxfordshire should be by rail. 
 
Provision will be made for facilities to enable the production and/or supply of a 
minimum of 0.926 million tonnes of recycled and secondary aggregates per annum. 
 
Sites which are suitable for facilities for the production and/or supply of recycled and 
secondary aggregates at locations that are in accordance with policies W4 and W5 
and other relevant policies of this Plan and of other development plans will be 
allocated in the Minerals and Waste Local Plan: Part 2 – Site Allocations Document. 
Permission will be granted for such facilities at these allocated sites provided that the 
requirements of policies C1 – C12 are met.  
 
Permission will normally be granted for recycled and secondary aggregate facilities 
at other sites, including for temporary recycled aggregate facilities at aggregate 
quarries and landfill sites, that are located in accordance with policies W4 and W5 

Page 203

Agenda Item 10



PN10 
 

and that meet the requirements of policies C1 – C12, taking into account the benefits 
of providing additional recycled and secondary aggregate capacity and unless the 
adverse impacts of doing so significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits. 
Where permission is granted for such a facility at a time-limited mineral working or 
landfill site this will normally be subject to the same time limit as that applying to the 
host facility and the site shall be restored in accordance with the requirements of 
policy M10 for restoration of mineral workings at the end of its permitted period. 
Except where a new planning permission is granted for retention of the facility 
beyond its permitted end date, temporary facility sites shall be restored at the end of 
their permitted period. 
 
Sites for the production and/or supply of recycled and secondary aggregate will be 
safeguarded under Policy M9 and/or W11 and safeguarded sites will be defined in 
the Site Allocations Document. 
 
POLICY M2: PROVISION FOR WORKING AGGREGATE MINERALS  
 
Provision will be made through policies M3 and M4 to enable the supply of:  

 sharp sand and gravel - 1.015 mtpa giving a total provision requirement of 
18.270 million tonnes  

 soft sand - 0.189 mtpa giving a total provision requirement of 3.402 million 
tonnes  

 crushed rock - 0.584 mtpa giving a total provision requirement of 10.512 million 
tonnes 

from land-won sources within Oxfordshire for the period 2014 – 2031 inclusive. 
 
Permission will be granted for aggregate mineral working under policy M5 to enable 
separate landbanks of reserves with planning permission to be maintained for the 
extraction of minerals of: 

 at least 7 years for sharp sand and gravel; 

 at least 7 years for soft sand; 

 at least 10 years for crushed rock; 
in accordance with the annual requirement rates in the most recent Local Aggregate 
Assessment, taking into account the need to maintain sufficient productive capacity 
to enable these rates to be realised. 
 
POLICY M3: PRINCIPAL LOCATIONS FOR WORKING AGGREGATE MINERALS 
 
The principal locations for aggregate minerals extraction will be within the following 
strategic resource areas, as shown on the Policies Map: 
 
Sharp sand and gravel 
in northern Oxfordshire (Cherwell District and West Oxfordshire District): 

 The Thames, Lower Windrush and Lower Evenlode Valleys area from 
Standlake to Yarnton; 

in southern Oxfordshire (South Oxfordshire District and Vale of White Horse District): 

 The Thames and Lower Thame Valleys area from Oxford to Cholsey; 

 The Thames Valley area from Caversham to Shiplake. 
 

Soft sand 

Page 204



PN10 
 

 The Corallian Ridge area from Oxford to Faringdon; 

 The Duns Tew area. 
 

Crushed rock 

 The area north west of Bicester; 

 The Burford area south of the A40; 

 The area east and south east of Faringdon. 
 
Specific sites (new quarry sites and/or extensions to existing quarries) for working 
aggregate minerals within these strategic resource areas will be allocated in the 
Minerals & Waste Local Plan: Part 2 – Site Allocations Document, in accordance 
with policy M4. 
 
Specific sites for extensions to existing aggregate quarries (excluding ironstone) 
outside the strategic resource areas may also be allocated in the Minerals & Waste 
Local Plan: Part 2 – Site Allocations Document provided they are in accordance with 
policy M4. 
 
Sites allocated for sharp sand and gravel working (including both new quarry sites 
and extensions to existing quarries, including any extensions outside the strategic 
resource areas), to meet the requirement in policy M2 will be located such that 
approximately 25% of the additional tonnage requirement is in northern Oxfordshire 
and approximately 75% of the additional tonnage requirement is in southern 
Oxfordshire, to achieve an approximately equal split of production capacity for sharp 
sand and gravel between northern and southern Oxfordshire by 2031. 
 
POLICY M5: WORKING OF AGGREGATE MINERALS 
 
Prior to the adoption of the Minerals & Waste Local Plan: Part 2 – Site Allocations 
Document, permission will be granted for the working of aggregate minerals where 
this would contribute towards meeting the requirement for provision in policy M2 and 
provided that the proposal is in accordance with the locational strategy in policy M3 
and that the requirements of policies C1 – C12 are met. 
 
Permission will be granted for the working of aggregate minerals within the sites 
allocated further to policy M4 provided that the requirements of policies C1 – C12 are 
met. 
 
Permission will not be granted for the working of aggregate minerals outside the 
sites allocated further to policy M4 unless the requirement to maintain a steady and 
adequate supply of aggregate in accordance with policy M2 cannot be met from 
within those sites and provided that the proposal is in accordance with the locational 
strategy in policy M3 and the requirements of policies C1 – C12 are met. 
 
Permission will exceptionally be granted for the working of aggregate minerals 
outside the sites allocated further to policy M4 where extraction of the mineral is 
required prior to a planned development in order to prevent the mineral resource 
being sterilised, having due regard to policies C1 –C12. 
 

Page 205



PN10 
 

Permission will exceptionally be granted for borrow pits to supply mineral to 
associated construction projects, having due regard to policies C1 – C12, provided 
that all of the following apply: 

 the site lies on or in close proximity to the project area so that extracted 
mineral can be conveyed to its point of use with minimal use of public 
highways and without undue interference with footpaths and bridleways; 

 the mineral extracted will only be used in connection with the project; 

 it can be demonstrated that supply of the mineral from the borrow pit 
would have less environmental impact than if the mineral were supplied from 
an existing source; 

 the borrow pit can be restored without the use of imported material, 
other than that generated by the project; and 

 use of the borrow pit is limited to the life of the project. 
 

Notwithstanding the preceding paragraphs, permission for working of ironstone for 
aggregate use will not be permitted except in exchange for an agreed revocation (or 
other appropriate mechanism to ensure the non-working) without compensation of 
an equivalent existing permission in Oxfordshire containing potentially workable 
resources of ironstone and where there would be an overall environmental benefit. 
 
POLICY M10: RESTORATION OF MINERAL WORKINGS 
 
Mineral workings shall be restored to a high standard and in a timely and phased 
manner to an after-use that is appropriate to the location and delivers a net gain in 
biodiversity. The restoration and after-use of mineral workings must take into 
account: 

 the characteristics of the site prior to mineral working; 

 the character of the surrounding landscape and the enhancement of local 
landscape character; 

 the amenity of local communities, including opportunities to enhance green 
infrastructure provision and provide for local amenity uses and recreation; 

 the capacity of the local transport network; 

 the quality of any agricultural land affected, including the restoration of best 
and most versatile agricultural land; 

 the conservation of soil resources 

 flood risk and opportunities for increased flood storage capacity; 

 the impacts on flooding and water quality of any use of imported material in 
the proposed restoration; 

 bird strike risk and aviation safety; 

 any environmental enhancement objectives for the area; 

 the conservation and enhancement of biodiversity appropriate to the local 
area, supporting the establishment of a coherent and resilient ecological 
network through the landscape-scale creation of priority habitat; 

 the conservation and enhancement of geodiversity;   

 the conservation and enhancement of the historic environment; and 

 consultation with local communities on options for after-use. 
 

Page 206



PN10 
 

Planning permission will not be granted for mineral working unless satisfactory 
proposals have been made for the restoration, aftercare and after-use of the site, 
including where necessary the means of securing them in the longer term. 
 
Proposals for restoration must not be likely to lead to any increase in recreational 
pressure on a Special Area of Conservation. 
 
POLICY W1: OXFORDSHIRE WASTE TO BE MANAGED 
 
Provision will be made for waste management facilities to provide capacity that 
allows Oxfordshire to be net self-sufficient in the management of its principal waste 
streams – municipal solid waste (or local authority collected waste), commercial and 
industrial waste, and construction, demolition and excavation waste – over the period 
to 2031. 
 
The amounts of waste for which waste management capacity needs to be provided 
is as follows: 
 
Forecasts of waste for which waste management capacity needs to be provided 
2016 – 2031 (million tonnes per annum) 
 

Waste Type 2016 2021 2026 2031 

Municipal Solid Waste 
 

0.32 0.34 0.36 0.38 

Commercial and Industrial 
Waste 

0.54 0.56 0.57 0.58 

 
These forecasts will be kept under review and updated as necessary in the 
Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste Annual Monitoring Reports.  
 
Provision for facilities for hazardous waste, agricultural waste, radioactive waste and 
waste water/sewage sludge will be in accordance with policies W7, W8, W9 and 
W10 respectively. 
 
POLICY W2: OXFORDSHIRE WASTE MANAGEMENT TARGETS 
 
Provision will be made for capacity to manage the principal waste streams in a way 
that provides for the maximum diversion of waste from landfill, in line with the 
following targets: 
 
 Oxfordshire waste management targets 2016 – 2031 
 

  

Year 

2016 2021 2026 2031 

M
U

N
I

C
IP

A
L

 

W
A

S
T

E
 Composting & food 

waste treatment 
29% 32% 35% 35% 

Page 207



PN10 
 

Non-hazardous 
waste recycling 

 

33% 33% 35% 35% 

Non-hazardous 
residual waste 
treatment 

 

30% 30% 25% 25% 

Landfill 

(these percentages 
are not targets but 
are included for 
completeness) 

8% 5% 5% 5% 

Total 100% 100% 100% 100% 

C
O

M
M

E
R

C
IA

L
 &

 I
N

D
U

S
T

R
IA

L
 W

A
S

T
E

 

Composting & food 
waste treatment 

5% 5% 5% 5% 

Non-hazardous 
waste recycling  

 

55% 60% 65% 65% 

Non-hazardous 
residual waste 
treatment 

 

15% 25% 25% 25% 

Landfill 

(these percentages 
are not targets but 
are included for 
completeness) 

25% 10% 5% 5% 

Total 100% 100% 100% 100% 

C
O

N
S

T
R

U
C

T
IO

N
,D

E
M

O
L

IT
IO

N
 &

  
 

E
X

C
A

V
 A

T
IO

N
 W

A
S

T
E

 Proportion of 
Projected Arisings 
taken to be Inert* 

80% 80% 80% 80% 

Inert waste recycling 

(as proportion of 
inert arisings) 

55% 60% 65% 70% 

Permanent deposit 
of inert waste other 
than for disposal to 
landfill** 

25% 25% 25% 25% 

Page 208



PN10 
 

(as proportion of 
inert arisings) 

Landfill 
(as proportion of 
inert arisings) 
(these percentages 
are not targets but 
are included for 
completeness) 

20% 15% 10% 5% 

Total 
(inert arisings) 

100% 100% 100% 100% 

Proportion of 
Projected Arisings 
taken to be Non-
Inert* 

20% 20% 20% 20% 

Composting 

(as proportion of 
non-inert arisings) 

5% 5% 5% 5% 

 

Non-hazardous 
waste recycling 

(as proportion of 
non-inert arisings) 

55% 60% 65% 65% 

Non-hazardous 
residual waste 
treatment 

(as proportion of 
non-inert arisings) 

15% 25% 25% 25% 

Landfill 

(as proportion of 
non-inert arisings) 

(these percentages 
are not targets but 
are included for 
completeness) 

25% 10% 5% 5% 

Total 
(non-inert arisings) 

100% 100% 100% 100% 

* It is assumed that 20% of the CDE waste stream comprises non-inert materials 

(from breakdown in report by BPP Consulting on Construction, Demolition and 

Excavation Waste in Oxfordshire, February 2014, page 7). The subsequent targets 

are proportions of the inert or non-inert elements of the CDE waste stream. 

Page 209



PN10 
 

** This includes the use of inert waste in backfilling of mineral workings & operational 

development such as noise bund construction and flood defence works. 

 

Proposals for the management of all types of waste should demonstrate that the 
waste cannot reasonably be managed through a process that is higher up the waste 
hierarchy than that proposed. 
 
POLICY W3: PROVISION FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT CAPACITY AND 
FACILITIES REQUIRED 
  
Provision will be made for the following additional waste management capacity to 
manage the non-hazardous element of the principal waste streams:  
 
Non-hazardous waste recycling: 

 by 2021: at least 145,400 tpa 

 by 2026: at least 203,000 tpa 

 by 2031: at least 326,800 tpa 
 
Specific sites for strategic and non-strategic waste management facilities (other than 
landfill) to meet the requirements set out in in this policy, or in any update of these 
requirements in the Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste Annual Monitoring Reports, at 
locations that are in accordance with policies W4 and W5 and other relevant policies 
of this Plan and of other development plans will be allocated in the Minerals and 
Waste Local Plan: Part 2 – Site Allocations Document. Other sites which are suitable 
for strategic and non-strategic waste management facilities and which provide 
additional capacity for preparation for re-use, recycling or composting of waste or 
treatment of food waste (including waste transfer facilities that help such provision) 
at locations that are in accordance with policies W4 and W5 and other relevant 
policies of this Plan and of other development plans will also be allocated in the 
Minerals and Waste Local Plan: Part 2 – Site Allocations Document. 
 
Permission will be granted at allocated sites for the relevant types and sizes of waste 
management facilities for which they are allocated provided that the requirements of 
policies C1 – C12 are met. 
 
Permission will normally be granted for proposals for waste management facilities 
that provide capacity for preparation for re-use, recycling or composting of waste or 
treatment of food waste (including waste transfer facilities that help such provision) 
at other sites that are located in accordance with policies W4 and W5 and that meet 
the requirements of policies C1 – C12, taking into account the benefits of providing 
additional capacity for the management of waste at these levels of the waste 
hierarchy, and unless the adverse impacts of doing so significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits. Where permission is granted for such a facility at a time-
limited mineral working or landfill site this will normally be subject to the same time 
limit as that applying to the host facility and the site shall be restored in accordance 
with the requirements of policy M10 for restoration of mineral workings at the end of 
its permitted period. Except where a new planning permission is granted for retention 
of the facility beyond its permitted end date, temporary facility sites shall be restored 
at the end of their permitted period. 
 

Page 210



PN10 
 

Proposals for non-hazardous residual waste treatment will only be permitted if it can 
be demonstrated that the development would not impede the movement of waste up 
the hierarchy and that it would enable waste to be recovered at one of the nearest 
appropriate installations, and provided that the proposal is located in accordance 
with policies W4 and W5 and meets the requirements of policies C1-C12. Account 
will be taken of any requirements for additional non-hazardous residual waste 
management capacity that may be identified in the Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste 
Annual Monitoring Reports in the consideration of proposals for additional non-
hazardous residual waste management capacity for the principal waste streams. 
 
Proposals for disposal by landfill will be determined in accordance with policy W6. 
 
POLICY W4: LOCATIONS FOR FACILITIES TO MANAGE THE PRINCIPAL 
WASTE STREAMS 
 
Facilities (other than landfill) to manage the principal waste streams should be 
located as follows: 
 
a) Strategic waste management facilities should normally be located in or close to 

Banbury, Bicester, Oxford, Abingdon and Didcot, as indicated on the Waste 
Key Diagram. Locations further from these towns may be appropriate where 
there is access to the Oxfordshire lorry route network in accordance with Policy 
C10. 

 
b) Non-strategic waste management facilities should normally be located in or 

close to Banbury, Bicester, Oxford, Abingdon and Didcot, the other large towns 
(Witney and Wantage & Grove) and the small towns (Carterton, Chipping 
Norton, Faringdon, Henley-on-Thames, Thame and Wallingford), as indicated 
on the Waste Key Diagram. Locations further from these towns may be 
appropriate where there is access to the Oxfordshire lorry route network in 
accordance with Policy C10. 

 
c) Elsewhere in Oxfordshire, and particularly in more remote rural areas, facilities 

should only be small scale, in keeping with their surroundings. 
 
The locations for strategic and/or non-strategic waste management facilities around 
Oxford, Abingdon, Didcot and Wantage and Grove exclude the Oxford Meadows, 
Cothill Fen, Little Wittenham and Hackpen Hill Special Areas of Conservation and a 
200 metre dust impact buffer zone adjacent to these SACs. 
 
As indicated on the Waste Key Diagram, strategic and non-strategic waste 
management facilities (that comprise major development) should not be located 
within Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty except where it can be demonstrated 
that the ‘major developments test’ in the NPPF (paragraph 116), and as reflected in 
policy C8, is met. 
 
POLICY W5: SITING OF WASTE MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
 
Priority will be given to siting waste management facilities on land that: 

 is already in waste management or industrial use; or 

Page 211



PN10 
 

 is previously developed, derelict or underused; or 

 is at an active mineral working or landfill site; or 

 involves existing agricultural buildings and their curtilages; or 

 is at a waste water treatment works. 
Waste management facilities may be sited on other land in greenfield locations 
where this can be shown to be the most suitable and sustainable option. 
 
POLICY W6: LANDFILL AND OTHER PERMANENT DEPOSIT OF WASTE TO 
LAND 
 
Non-hazardous waste 
 
Provision for disposal of Oxfordshire’s non-hazardous waste will be made at existing 
non-hazardous landfill facilities which will also provide for the disposal of waste from 
other areas (including London and Berkshire) as necessary. Further provision for the 
disposal of non-hazardous waste by means of landfill will not be made.   
 
Permission may be granted to extend the life of existing non-hazardous landfill sites 
to allow for the continued disposal of residual non-hazardous waste to meet a 
recognised need and where this will allow for the satisfactory restoration of the 
landfill in accordance with a previously approved scheme. 
 
Permission will be granted for facilities for the management of landfill gas and 
leachate where required to fulfil a regulatory requirement or to achieve overall 
environmental benefit, including facilities for the recovery of energy from landfill gas. 
Provision should be made for the removal of the facilities and restoration of the site 
at the end of the period of management. 
 
Inert waste 
 
Provision for the permanent deposit to land or disposal to landfill of inert waste which 
cannot be recycled will be made at existing facilities and in sites that will be allocated 
in the Minerals and Waste Local Plan: Part 2 – Site Allocations Document. Provision 
will be made for sites with capacity sufficient for Oxfordshire to be net-self-sufficient 
in the management of inert waste. 
 
Priority will be given to the use of inert waste that cannot be recycled as infill material 
to achieve the satisfactory restoration and after use of active or unrestored quarries. 
Permission will not otherwise be granted for development that involves the 
permanent deposit or disposal of inert waste on land unless there would be overall 
environmental benefit. 
 
General 
 
Proposals for landfill sites shall meet the requirements of policies C1 – C12. 
 
Landfill sites shall be restored in accordance with the requirements of policy M10 for 
restoration of mineral workings. 

 
 

Page 212



PN10 
 

 
POLICY C1: SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 
 
A positive approach will be taken to minerals and waste development in Oxfordshire, 
reflecting the presumption in favour of sustainable development contained in the 
National Planning Policy Framework and the aim to improve economic, social and 
environmental conditions of the area. 
 
Planning applications that accord with the policies in this plan will be approved, 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Where there are no policies 
relevant to the application, or relevant plan policies are out of date, planning 
permission will be granted unless material considerations indicate otherwise, taking 
into account whether: 

 any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the proposed development when 
assessed against the National Planning Policy Framework; or 

 specific policies in the National Planning Policy Framework indicate that the 
development should be restricted. 

 
POLICY C2: CLIMATE CHANGE 
 
Proposals for minerals or waste development, including restoration proposals, 
should take account of climate change for the lifetime of the development from 
construction through operation and decommissioning. Applications for development 
should adopt a low carbon approach and measures should be considered to 
minimise greenhouse gas emissions and provide flexibility for future adaptation to 
the impacts of climate change. 
 
POLICY C3: FLOODING 
 
Minerals and waste development will, wherever possible, take place in areas with the 
lowest probability of flooding. Where development takes place in an area of identified 
flood risk this should only be where alternative locations in areas of lower flood risk 
have been explored and discounted (using the Sequential Test and Exceptions Test 
as necessary) and where a flood risk assessment is able to demonstrate that the risk 
of flooding is not increased from any source, including: 

 an impediment to the flow of floodwater; 

 the displacement of floodwater and increased risk of flooding elsewhere; 

 a reduction in existing floodwater storage capacity; 

 an adverse effect on the functioning of existing flood defence structures; and 

 the discharge of water into a watercourse. 
 

The opportunity should be taken to increase flood storage capacity in the flood plain 
where possible, particularly through the restoration of sand and gravel workings. 
 
POLICY C4: WATER ENVIRONMENT 
 
Proposals for minerals and waste development will need to demonstrate that there 
would be no unacceptable adverse impact on or risk to: 

Page 213



PN10 
 

 The quantity or quality of surface or groundwater resources required for habitats, 
wildlife and human activities; 

 The quantity or quality of water obtained through abstraction unless acceptable 
provision can be made; 

 The flow of groundwater at or in the vicinity of the site; and 

 Waterlogged archaeological remains. 
 
Proposals for minerals and waste development should ensure that the River Thames 
and other watercourses and canals of significant landscape, nature conservation, or 
amenity value are adequately protected from unacceptable adverse impacts. 
 
POLICY C5: LOCAL ENVIRONMENT, AMENITY AND ECONOMY 
 
Proposals for minerals and waste development shall demonstrate that they will not 
have an unacceptable adverse impact on: 

 the local environment; 

 human health and safety; 

 residential amenity and other sensitive receptors; and 

 the local economy; 
 including from: 

 noise; 

 dust; 

 visual intrusion; 

 light pollution; 

 traffic; 

 air quality; 

 odour; 

 vermin; 

 birds; 

 litter; 

 mud on the road; 

 vibration; 

 surface or ground contamination; 

 tip and quarry-slope stability; 

 differential settlement of quarry backfill; 

 subsidence; and 

 the cumulative impact of development. 
 
Where necessary, appropriate separation distances or buffer zones between 
minerals and waste developments and occupied residential property or other 
sensitive receptors and/or other mitigation measures will be required, as determined 
on a site-specific, case-by-case basis. 
 
POLIVY C6: AGRICULTURAL LAND AND SOILS 
 
Proposals for minerals and waste development shall demonstrate that they take into 
account the presence of any best and most versatile agricultural land.  
 

Page 214



PN10 
 

Significant development leading to the permanent loss of best and most versatile 
agricultural land will only be permitted where it can be shown that there is a need for 
the development which cannot reasonably be met using lower grade land and where 
all options for  reinstatement without loss of quality have been considered taking into 
account other relevant considerations. 
 
Development proposals should make provision for the management and use of soils 
in order to maintain agricultural land quality (where appropriate) and soil quality, 
including making a positive contribution to the long-term conservation of soils in any 
restoration. 
 
POLICY C7: BIODIVERSITY AND GEODIVERSITY 
 
Minerals and waste development should conserve and, where possible, deliver a net 
gain in biodiversity. 
 
The highest level of protection will be given to sites and species of international 
nature conservation importance (e.g. Special Areas of Conservation and European 
Protected Species) and development that would be likely to adversely affect them 
will not be permitted. 
 
In all other cases, development that would result in significant harm will not be 
permitted unless the harm can be avoided, adequately mitigated or, as a last resort, 
compensated for to result in a net gain in biodiversity (or geodiversity). In addition: 
 
(i) Development that would be likely to have an adverse effect on a Site of Special 

Scientific Interest (either individually or in combination with other development) 
will not be permitted except where the benefits of the development at this site 
clearly outweigh both the impacts that it is likely to have on the Site of Special 
Scientific Interest and any broader impacts on the national network of Sites of 
Special Scientific Interest. 

 
(ii) Development that would result in the loss or deterioration of irreplaceable 

habitats, including ancient woodland and aged or veteran trees, will not be 
permitted except where the need for and benefits of the development in that 
location clearly outweigh the loss. 

  
(iii) Development shall ensure that no significant harm would be caused to: 

-       Local Nature Reserves; 
-       Local Wildlife Sites; 
-       Local Geology Sites; 
-       Sites of Local Importance for Nature Conservation; 
-       Protected, priority or notable species and habitats, 

except where the need for and benefits of the development in that location 
clearly outweigh the harm. 

 
All proposals for mineral working and landfill shall demonstrate how the development 
will make an appropriate contribution to the maintenance and enhancement of local 
habitats, biodiversity or geodiversity (including fossil remains and trace fossils), 
including contributing to the objectives of the Conservation Target Areas wherever 

Page 215



PN10 
 

possible. Satisfactory long-term management arrangements for restored sites shall 
be clearly set out and included in proposals. These should include a commitment to 
ecological monitoring and remediation (should habitat creation and/or mitigation 
prove unsuccessful). 
 
POLICY C8: LANDSCAPE 
 
Proposals for minerals and waste development shall demonstrate that they respect 
and where possible enhance local landscape character, and are informed by 
landscape character assessment. Proposals shall include adequate and appropriate 
measures to mitigate adverse impacts on landscape, including careful siting, design 
and landscaping. Where significant adverse impacts cannot be avoided or 
adequately mitigated, compensatory environmental enhancements shall be made to 
offset the residual landscape and visual impacts. 
 
Great weight will be given to conserving the landscape and scenic beauty of Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and high priority will be given to the 
enhancement of their natural beauty. Proposals for minerals and waste development 
within an AONB or that would significantly affect an AONB shall demonstrate that 
they take this into account and that they have regard to the relevant AONB 
Management Plan. Major developments within AONBs will not be permitted except in 
exceptional circumstances and where it can be demonstrated they are in the public 
interest, in accordance with the ‘major developments test’ in the NPPF (paragraph 
116). Development within AONBs shall normally only be small-scale, to meet local 
needs and should be sensitively located and designed. 
 
POLICY C9: HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT AND ARCHAEOLOGY 
 
Proposals for minerals and waste development will not be permitted unless it is 
demonstrated, including where necessary through prior investigation, that they or 
associated activities will not have an unacceptable adverse impact on the historic 
environment. 
 
Great weight will be given to the conservation of designated heritage assets: 
Blenheim Palace World Heritage Site; scheduled monuments; listed buildings; 
conservation areas; historic battlefields; registered parks and gardens; and non-
designated archaeological assets which are demonstrably of equivalent significance 
to a scheduled monument; and the setting of those assets. 
 
Where an application would affect a non-designated heritage asset, the benefits of 
the proposal will be balanced against the scale of harm to or loss of the heritage 
asset and its significance. 
 
Where, following assessment of an application, the loss (wholly or in part) of a 
heritage asset is considered acceptable in principle, the applicant will be required to 
record and advance understanding of that asset, proportionate to the nature and 
level of the asset’s significance, and to publish their findings. 
 

Page 216



PN10 
 

Proposals for mineral working and landfill shall wherever possible demonstrate how 
the development will make an appropriate contribution to the conservation and 
enhancement of the historic environment. 
 
POLICY C10: TRANSPORT 
 
Minerals and waste development will be expected to make provision for safe and 
suitable access to the advisory lorry routes shown on the Oxfordshire Lorry Route 
Maps in ways that maintain and, if possible, lead to improvements in: 

 the safety of all road users including pedestrians; 

 the efficiency and quality of the road network; and 

 residential and environmental amenity, including air quality. 
 
Where development leads to a need for improvement to the transport network to 
achieve this, developers will be expected to provide such improvement or make an 
appropriate financial contribution. 
 
Where practicable minerals and waste developments should be located, designed 
and operated to enable the transport of minerals and/or waste by rail, water, pipeline 
or conveyor. 
 
Where minerals and/or waste will be transported by road: 
 
a) mineral workings should as far as practicable be in locations that minimise the 

road distance to locations of demand for the mineral, using roads suitable for 
lorries, taking into account the distribution of potentially workable mineral 
resources; and 

 
b) waste management and recycled aggregate facilities should as far as 

practicable be in locations that minimise the road distance from the main 
source(s) of waste, using roads suitable for lorries, taking into account that 
some facilities are not economic or practical below a certain size and may need 
to serve a wider than local area. 

 
Proposals for minerals and waste development that would generate significant 
amounts of traffic will be expected to be supported by a transport assessment or 
transport statement, as appropriate, including mitigation measures where applicable. 
 
POLICY C11: RIGHTS OF WAY 
 
The integrity and amenity value of the rights of way network shall be maintained and 
if possible it shall be retained in situ in safe and useable condition. Diversions should 
be safe, attractive and convenient and, if temporary, shall be reinstated as soon as 
possible. If permanent diversions are required, these should seek to enhance and 
improve the public rights of way network. 
 
Improvements and enhancements to the rights of way network will generally be 
encouraged and public access sought to restored mineral workings, especially if this 
can be linked to wider provision of green infrastructure. Where appropriate, 

Page 217



PN10 
 

operators and landowners will be expected to make provision for this as part of the 
restoration and aftercare scheme. 
 
POLICY C12: GREEN BELT 

 
Proposals that constitute inappropriate development in the Green Belt, will not be 
permitted except in very special circumstances. ‘Very special circumstances’ will not 
exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and 
any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other considerations. 

 
Conditions may be imposed on any permission granted to ensure that the 
development only serves to meet a need that comprises or forms an ‘other 
consideration’ in the Green Belt balance leading to the demonstration of very special 
circumstances. 
 
South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 Saved Policies 
 
POLICY G2:  PROTECTION AND ENHANCEMENT OF THE ENVIRONMENT 
 
The district’s countryside, settlements and environmental resources will be protected 
from adverse developments. 
 
POLICY GB4:  VISUAL AMENITY 
 
Where new development is permitted, either within or where it would be conspicuous 
from the Green Belt, it should be designed and sited in such a way that its impact on 
the open nature, rural character and visual amenity of the Green Belt is minimised. 
 
POLICY C3:  THE RIVER THAMES AND ITS VALLEY 
 
The distinctive character of the River Thames and its valley and the settlements on 
its banks will be maintained and, where appropriate, enhanced.  Proposals for any 
form of development which detracts from its special character will not be permitted 
 
 
POLICY C4:  DEVELOPMENT IN THE COUNTRYSIDE AND ON THE EDGE OF 
SETTLEMENTS 
 
Development which would damage the attractive landscape setting of the 
settlements of the district will not be permitted.  The effect of any proposal on 
important local landscape features which contribute to the visual and historic 
character and appearance of a settlement will be considered. 
 
POLICY C6:  BIODIVERSITY CONSERVATION 
 
In considering proposals for development, the maintenance and enhancement of the 
biodiversity resource of the district will be sought.  Full account of the effects of 
development on wildlife will be taken.  Where there is any significant loss in 
biodiversity as part of a proposed development, the creation and maintenance of 

Page 218



PN10 
 

new landscape features, habitat links and wildlife corridors of appropriate scale and 
kind will be required to ensure there is no net loss in biodiversity resources. 
 
POLICY C9:  PROTECTION OF LANDSCAPE 
 
Any development that would cause the loss of landscape features will not be 
permitted where those features make an important contribution to the local scene, 
and/or provide all or part of an important wildlife habitat and/or have important 
historical value.  Where features are retained within the development site, conditions 
will be used to ensure that they are protected during development and have 
sufficient space to ensure their survival after development. 
 
POLICY CF2:  PROVISION OF COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND SERVICES 
 
Proposals that would result in the provision of additional community facilities or 
services within settlements will be permitted, provided that there are no overriding 
amenity, environmental or traffic objections to the proposals and that there is no 
conflict with the other policies in this plan. 
 
POLICY CON5:  THE SETTING OF LISTED BUILDINGS 
 
Proposals for development which would adversely affect the setting of a listed 
building will be refused. 
 
POLICY CON7:  PROPOSALS AFFECTING A CONSERVATION AREA 
 
Planning permission will not be granted for development which would harm the 
character or appearance of a conservation area. 
 
The following will be required when considering proposals for development in 
conservation areas: 
 
(i) the design and scale of new work to be in sympathy with the established 

character of the area; and 
(ii) the use of traditional materials, whenever this is appropriate to the character 

of the area. 
 
The contribution made to a conservation area by existing walls, buildings, trees, 
hedges, open spaces and important views will be taken into account.  Proposals for 
development outside a conservation area which would have a harmful effect on the 
conservation area will not be permitted. 
 
POLICY D7:  ACCESS FOR ALL 
 
Proposals for new buildings to which the public have access must include in their 
design and external layout appropriate measures to ensure adequate access for 
those with impaired mobility, hearing or sight.  The safety and access requirements 
of those with impairments should also be taken into account in the design and layout 
of new roads, parking areas, footways, pedestrian routes, cycleways, traffic 
management measures and pedestrian-priority areas. 

Page 219



PN10 
 

 
POLICY EP1:  PREVENTION OF POLLUTING EMISSIONS 
 
Proposals which would (by reason of smell, fumes, smoke, soot, ash, dust, grit, or 
other forms of polluting emissions) have an adverse effect on people and other living 
organisms, the atmosphere, the land, underground water supplies or watercourses 
will not be permitted, unless effective mitigation measures will be implemented. In 
addition, development will not be permitted near to an existing or proposed polluting 
use, unless effective mitigation measures will be implemented to ensure that there 
would be no adverse effect on the health and amenity of future occupiers. 
 
POLICY EP2:  NOISE AND VIBRATIONS 
 
Proposals which would by reason of noise or vibrations have an adverse effect on 
existing or proposed occupiers will not be permitted, unless effective mitigation 
measures will be implemented.  In addition, noise sensitive development will not be 
permitted close to existing or proposed sources of significant noise or vibrations. 
 
POLICY EP3:  LIGHT POLLUTION 
 
Proposals for new floodlighting and other external lighting that would have an 
adverse effect on neighbouring residents, the rural character of the countryside or 
biodiversity will not be permitted, unless effective mitigation measures will be 
implemented. 
 
POLICY EP6:  SURFACE WATER PROTECTION 
 
Developers will be required, wherever practicable, to demonstrate that the surface 
water management system on any development accords with sustainable drainage 
principles and has been designed as an integral part of the development layout.  The 
system should effectively mitigate any adverse effects from surface water un-off and 
flooding on people, property and the ecological value of the local environment. 
 
POLICY EP7:  GROUNDWATER PROTECTION 
 
Development that may have an adverse effect upon groundwater resources will not 
be permitted unless effective preventative measures are taken to ensure that the 
quality and quantity of these resources are maintained. 
 
POLICY R8:  PUBLIC RIGHTS-OF-WAY 
 
The retention and protection of the existing public rights-of-way network will be 
sought and where appropriate proposals to improve it will be supported. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 220



PN10 
 

South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2012  

 
POLICY CS1:  PRESUMPTION IN FAVOUR OF SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 
 
Planning applications which accord with the policies in the Development Plan 
(including, where relevant, Neighbourhood Plans) will be approved without delay, 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
Planning permission will also be granted where relevant policies in the Development 
Plan are out of date or silent unless: 
 

 Any adverse impacts of the proposal would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh its benefits when assessed against the policies in the National Planning 
Policy Framework taken as a whole; or 

 Specific policies in the Framework or other material considerations indicate that 
development should be restricted. 

 
POLICY CSM1:  TRANSPORT 
 
The Council will work with Oxfordshire County Council and others to: 
 
(i) in partnership with the Vale of White Horse District Council, actively seek to 

deliver the transport infrastructure and measures which improve movement in 
Didcot and within the Didcot/Wantage and Grove corridor, in particular linking 
Didcot with the major employment sites at Harwell and Milton Park as identified 
in the County Council’s LTP3 SVUK area Strategy and Southern Central 
Oxfordshire Transport Study; 

(ii) actively seek to ensure that the impact of new development on the strategic 
and local road network, in particular the Milton, Chilton and Marcham  junctions 
of the A34 and the road links and junctions identified in the Council’s Evaluation 
of Transport Impact and County Council’s Southern Central Oxfordshire 
Transport Study is adequately mitigated (see Policy CSM2); 

(iii) support improvements for accessing Oxford; 
(iv) work with the authorities affected by cross Thames travel in the Reading area 

to ensure that traffic and environmental conditions in South Oxfordshire are 
improved by the implementation of measures which also improve access to 
Reading; 

(v) support measures which enable modal shift to public transport, cycling and 
walking particularly where these support the network of settlements in the 
district; 

(vi) promote and support traffic management measures and environmental 
improvements which increase safety, improve air quality, encourage the use of 
sustainable modes of transport and/or make our towns and villages more 
attractive; 

(vii) adopt a comprehensive approach to car parking aimed at improving the 
attraction of our town and village centres; 

(viii) encourage the use of sustainable modes of transport; 
(ix) promote electronic communications allowing businesses to operate throughout 

the district and to provide services and information which reduce the need to 
travel and encourage sustainable modes of transport; and 

Page 221



PN10 
 

(x) cater for the needs of all users. 
 
POLICY CSM2:  TRANSPORT ASSESSMENTS AND TRAVEL PLANS 
 
Proposals for new developments which have transport implications that either arise 
from the development proposed or cumulatively with other proposals will need to 
submit a transport assessment.  Appropriate provision for works and/or contributions 
will be required towards providing an adequate level of accessibility by all modes of 
transport and mitigating the impacts on the transport network. 
 
The assessment should (notwithstanding OCC requirements): 
 
(i) illustrate accessibility to the site by all modes of transport; 
(ii) show the likely modal split of journeys to and from the site; 
(iii) detail the proposed measures to improve access by public transport, cycling 

and walking to reduce the need for parking and reduce transport impacts; 
(iv) illustrate the impact on the highway network and the impact of proposed 

mitigation measures where necessary; and 
(v) include a travel plan where appropriate. 
 
Travel plans will be required, implemented and monitored (notwithstanding OCC 
requirements): 
 
(i) for all major developments comprising residential, employment, shopping or 

leisure uses or services; and 
(ii) for other small developments comprising residential, employment, shopping or 

leisure or education facilities which would generate significant amounts of 
travel. 

 
POLICY CSEN1:  LANDSCAPE 
 
The district’s distinct landscape character and key features will be protected against 
inappropriate development and where possible enhanced: 
 
(i) Where development is acceptable in principle, measures will be sought to 

integrate it into the landscape character of the area. 
(ii) High priority will be given to conservation and enhancement of the Chilterns 

and North Wessex Downs Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONBs) and 
planning decisions will have regard to their setting.  Proposals which support 
the economies and social well-being of the AONBs and their communities, 
including affordable housing schemes, will be encouraged provided they do not 
conflict with the aims of conservation and enhancement. 

(iii) The landscapes and waterscapes of the River Thames corridor will be 
maintained and where possible enhanced as will the setting and heritage of the 
river for its overall amenity and recreation use. 

 
POLICY CSEN2:  GREEN BELT 
 
The special character and landscape setting of Oxford will be protected by the 
Oxford Green Belt, the boundary is shown on the Adopted Policies Map. 

Page 222



PN10 
 

 
A local review of the Green Belt will take place at Berinsfield. 
 
Policy CSR1 allows for limited amounts of new housing through infilling in some 
Green Belt villages however planning permission will not be granted for development 
within the Oxford Green Belt that is contrary to national policy guidance in the NPPF 
and the purposes of including land within the Green Belt. 
 
The following are key previously developed sites in the Green Belt: 
 

 Oxford Brookes University campus at Holton 

 Culham Science Centre 

 Culham No. 1 Site 

 Sandford Sewage Treatment Works 
 
POLICY CSEN3:  HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT 
 
The district’s designated historic heritage assets, both above and below ground such 
as: 

 nationally designated assets including listed buildings, historic parks and 
gardens, historic battlefields and Scheduled Ancient Monuments; 

 conservation areas; and 

 their settings 
will be conserved and enhanced for their historic significance and their important 
contribution to local distinctiveness, character and sense of place. 
This will be carried out through: 

 conservation area appraisals/reviews; 

 management plans; 

 designating new conservation areas where appropriate; 

 the determination of planning, listed building consent and other relevant 
applications. 

Proposals for development that affect non-designated historic assets will be 
considered taking account of the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of 
the heritage asset. 
 
POLICY CSQ3:  DESIGN 
 
Planning permission will be granted for new development that is of a high quality and 
inclusive design that: 
 

 responds positively to and respects the character of the site and its surroundings, 
particularly the historic significance and heritage values of the historic 
environment, enhancing local distinctiveness and ensuring that new development 
is of a scale, type and density appropriate to the site and its setting; 

 improves the quality of the public realm with well designed external areas, and, 
where appropriate a clear structure of open spaces; 

 provides and/or links into green infrastructure where available; 

 is designed to create safe communities and reduce the likelihood and fear of 
crime; 

Page 223



PN10 
 

 creates a distinctive sense of place and is easy to understand through the use of 
vistas, landmarks and focal points; 

 ensures high levels of accessibility and ease of use by all modes of transport 
both within the site and with the wider area, also making sure that any new 
development is properly integrated with existing development ensuring 
accessibility to local services; and 

 is adaptable to changing requirements and constructed with materials appropriate 
to the area. 

 
All proposals for new development should be accompanied by a design and access 
statement to show how they have responded to the above criteria. 
 
POLICY CSG1:  GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
A net gain in green infrastructure including biodiversity will be sought through 
developer works, developer contributions and the targeted use of other funding 
sources. 
 
Proposals for new development must demonstrate that they have taken into account 
the relationship of the proposed development to existing green infrastructure and/or 
the proposals will be required to contribute to the delivery of green infrastructure 
and/or the improvement of existing assets including Conservation Target Areas in 
accordance with the standards in the South Oxfordshire Green Infrastructure 
Strategy and Didcot Natural Greenspaces Study. 
 
A net loss of green infrastructure including biodiversity through development 
proposals will be avoided. 
 
POLICY CSB1:  CONSERVATION AND IMPROVEMENT OF BIODIVERSITY 
 
A net loss of biodiversity will be avoided, and opportunities to achieve a net gain 
across the district will be actively sought. 
 
Opportunities for biodiversity gain, including the connection of sites, large-scale 
habitat restoration, enhancement and habitat re-creation will be sought for all types 
of habitats, with a primary focus on delivery in the Conservation Target Areas. 
 
The highest level of protection will be given to sites and species of international 
nature conservation importance (Special Areas of Conservation and European 
Protected Species). 
 
Damage to nationally important sites of special scientific interest, local wildlife sites, 
local nature reserves, priority habitats, protected or priority species and locally 
important geological sites will be avoided unless the importance of the development 
outweighs the harm and the loss can be mitigated to achieve a net gain in 
biodiversity. 
 
Other Material Considerations are: 
 
 

Page 224



PN10 
 

South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2033 (SOLP2031) 
 
POLICY TRANS2:  PROMOTING SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT AND 
ACCESSIBILITY: 
 
The Council will work with Oxfordshire County Council and others to: 
 
i) Ensure that where new development is located close to, or along, existing 

strategic public transport corridors, bus and/or rail services can be 
strengthened in response to increases in demand for travel and freight 

ii) Plan positively for rail improvements within the area that support improved 
connectivity to areas of new development 

iii) Ensure new development is designed to encourage walking and cycling, not 
only within the development, but also to nearby facilities, employment and 
public transport hubs 

iv) Support provision of measures which improve public transport (including Park 
& Ride), cycling and walking networks within and between towns and villages 
in the district 

v) Promote and support improvements to the transport network which increase 
safety, improve air quality, encourage use of sustainable modes of transport 
and/or make our towns and villages more attractive 

vi) Adopt an approach to the provision and management of car parking aimed at 
improving the attraction of our town and village centres 

vii) Ensure the needs of all users, including those with impaired mobility are 
planned for in development of transport improvements. 

 
POLICY TRANS3:  SAFEGUARDING LAND FOR STRATEGIC TRANSPORT 
SCHEMES 
 
Land is safeguarded to support the delivery of the following identified transport 
schemes: 
 

 Clifton Hampden bypass 

 A new Thames road crossing between Culham and Didcot Garden Town 

 Didcot Northern Perimeter Road 

 Science bridge, Didcot 

 (A4310/B4493) Didcot Central transport corridor improvements 

 Southern Didcot Spine Road 

 A4130 road safety improvements 

 A4074/B4015 (Golden Balls) Junction Improvements 

 A bypass for Stadhampton 

 A bypass for Watlington 

 A bypass for Benson 

 A bypass for Southern Abingdon 

 A new Park and Ride site at Sandford to the south-east of Oxford  
 
New development in these areas should be carefully designed having regard to 
matters such as building layout, noise insulation, landscaping, the historic 
environment and means of access. 

Page 225



PN10 
 

 
Any proposals for development that may reasonably be considered to impact upon 
the delivery of the identified schemes should demonstrate the proposal would not 
harm their delivery. 
 
Planning permission will not be granted for development that would prejudice the 
construction or effective operation of the transport schemes listed above. 
 
The impact of these schemes will be subject to thorough assessment as their 
feasibility is further developed in more detail.  This will include full environmental and 
archaeological assessments working in association with the relevant statutory 
bodies. 
 
POLICY TRANS4:  TRANSPORT ASSESSMENTS, TRANSPORT STATEMENTS 
AND TRAVEL PLANS 
 
Proposals for new developments which have significant transport implications that 
either arise from the development proposed or cumulatively with other proposals will 
need to submit a transport assessment or a transport statement, and where relevant 
a Travel Plan.  These documents will need to take into account Oxfordshire County 
Council guidance and Planning Practice Guidance and where appropriate, the scope 
should be agreed with Highways England.  Appropriate provision for works and/or 
contributions will be required towards providing an adequate level of accessibility by 
all modes of transport and mitigating the impacts on the transport network.  Careful 
consideration should be given to the cumulative impact of relevant development both 
in South Oxfordshire and adjacent authorities, and how this links to planned 
infrastructure improvements.  This should take into account the latest evidence base 
work, which, where relevant, will inform the scoping of the Transport Assessment 
and Travel Plan. 
 
The transport assessment or transport statement should, where relevant: 
 
i) Illustrate accessibility to the site by all modes of transport; 
ii) show the likely modal split of journeys to and from the site; 
iii) detail the proposed measures to improve access by public transport, cycling 

and walking to reduce the need for car travel and reduce transport impacts; 
iv) illustrate the impact on the highway network and the impact of proposed 

mitigation measures where necessary; 
v) include a travel plan (that considers all relevant form of transport including 

accessible transport for people with disabilities) where appropriate; and 
vi) outline the approach to parking provision. 
 
In accordance with the guidance, travel plans will be required, implemented and 
monitored: 
 
i) for all large scale major developments comprising residential, employment, 

shopping or leisure uses or services; and 
ii) for other small developments comprising residential, employment, shopping, 

leisure, or education facilities which would generate significant amounts of 
travel. 

Page 226



PN10 
 

 
POLICY ENV1:  LANDSCAPE AND COUNTRYSIDE 
 
The district’s landscape, countryside and rural areas will be protected against 
inappropriate development and where possible enhanced. 
 
i) Planning permission will only be granted for major development* in the 

Chilterns and North Wessex Downs Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(AONB) in exceptional circumstances and where it can be demonstrated to be 
in the public interest. 

ii) Development which supports economic growth in rural areas will be supported 
provided it conserves and enhances the landscape, countryside and rural 
areas. 

iii) Development will only be permitted where it protects or enhances: 
a. the landscapes, waterscapes, cultural heritage and user employment of 

the River Thames, its tributaries and flood plains; 
b. the attractive landscape setting of settlements or the special character and 

landscape setting of Oxford.  Design must  conform to the South 
Oxfordshire Design Guide, “made” Neighbourhood Development Plans, 
the Oxfordshire Historic Landscape Characterisation Project and where 
appropriate, by landscape, visual impact assessment and AONB 
management plans; 

c. local landscape features such as trees (including individual trees, groups 
of trees and woodlands), hedgerows, watercourses and water bodies that 
contribute to locally distinctive landscapes, amenity and biodiversity or 
have important historical value; 

d. the landscape setting and positive features of rivers and riverbanks.  
Outside settlements, proposals for mooring stages will not be permitted.  
Proposals for posts, earthworks or facing river banks with piles and 
planking will not be permitted.  Where it is necessary to protect a riverbank 
from erosion, the protective measures must be designed to maintain and 
enhance the special character of the river and its environment. 

 
*For the definition of major development in the AONB please refer to paragraph 116 
of the NPPF. 
 
POLICY ENV3:  BIODIVERSITY – NON DESIGNATED SITES, HABITATS AND 
SPECIES 
 
Development that will conserve, restore and enhance biodiversity in the district will 
be permitted.  All development should provide a net gain in biodiversity where 
possible and should result as a minimum of a no net loss of biodiversity.  All 
proposals should be supported by evidence to demonstrate a biodiversity net gain 
using a recognized biodiversity accounting metric. 
 
Development proposals which would result in a net loss of biodiversity will only be 
considered if they can demonstrate that alternatives which avoid impacts on 
biodiversity, such as avoidance and on site mitigation, have been fully explored.  In 
the absence of alternative sites or layouts, development proposals must include 
adequate mitigation measures to achieve a net gain of biodiversity.  Where harm 

Page 227



PN10 
 

cannot be prevented or adequately mitigated, appropriate compensation measures 
will be sought, as a last resort, through planning conditions  or planning obligations 
(depending on the circumstances of each application) to offset the loss by 
contributing to appropriate biodiversity projects to achieve an overall net gain for 
biodiversity. 
 
Planning permission will only be granted if impacts on biodiversity can be avoided, 
mitigated or compensated. 
 
POLICY DES8:  EFFICIENT USE OF RESOURCES 
 
New development is required to make provision for the effective use of natural 
resources where applicable, including: 
 
i) the efficient use of land, with densities of at least 30 dwellings per hectare, 

taking account of local circumstances including access to local services and 
facilities and local character.  Proposals which seek to deliver higher quality 
and higher density development which minimizes land take will be 
encouraged; 

ii) minimizing waste and making adequate provision for the recycling, 
composting and recovery of waste on site; 

iii) using recycled and energy efficient materials; 
iv) maximizing passive solar heating, lighting, natural ventilation, energy and 

water efficiency and rhe re-use of materials; 
v) making efficient use of water, for example through rainwater harvesting and 

grey water recycling; 
vi) causing no deterioration in, and where possible, achieving improvements in 

water quality; 
vii) taking account of, and if located within an AQMA, is consistent with the 

council’s Air Quality Action Plan; 
viii) ensuring that the land is of a suitable quality for development and that 

remediation of contaminated land is undertaken where necessary; 
ix) avoiding the development of the best and most versatile agricultural land, 

unless it is demonstrated to be the most sustainable choice from reasonable 
alternatives, by first using areas of poorer quality land in preference to that of 
a higher quality; 

x) re-using vacant buildings and redeveloping previously developed land, 
provided the land is not of a high environmental value. 

 
POLICY CF2:  PROVISION OF COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND SERVICES 
 
Development proposals for the provision of new or extended community facilities and 
services will be supported, particularly where: 
 
i) they are located within or adjacent to the built-up area of an existing 

settlement; 
ii) they would clearly meet an identified local need; and 
iii) they are accessible for all members of the community and promote social 

inclusion. 
 

Page 228



PN10 
 

West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011  

 
POLICY BE2:  GENERAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 
 
New development should respect and, where possible, improve the character and 
quality of its surroundings and provide a safe, pleasant, convenient and interesting 
environment. 
 
Proposals for new buildings and land uses should clearly demonstrate how they will 
relate satisfactorily to the site and its surroundings, incorporating a landscape 
scheme and incidental open space as appropriate. 
 
A landscape scheme accompanying detailed proposals for development should 
show, as appropriate, hard and soft landscaping, existing and proposed underground 
services, a phasing programme for implementation and subsequent maintenance 
arrangements. 
 
Proposals will only be permitted if all the following criteria are met: 
 
Quality of Development and Impact upon the Area: 
 
a) the proposal is well-designed and respects the existing scale, pattern and 

character of the surrounding area; 
b) new buildings or extensions to existing buildings are designed to respect or 

enhance the form, siting, scale, massing and external materials and colours of 
adjoining buildings, with local building traditions reflected as appropriate; 

c) the proposal creates or retains a satisfactory environment for people living in 
or visiting the area, including people with disabilities; 

d) existing features of importance in the local environment are protected and/or 
enhanced; 

e) the landscape surrounding and providing a setting for existing towns and 
villages is not adversely affected; 

f) in the open countryside, any appropriate development will be easily 
assimilated into the landscape and wherever possible, be sited close to an 
existing group of buildings. 

 
Crime: 
 
g) good design has been used to help reduce the opportunities for crime. 
 
 
Energy and Resources: 
 
h) regard has been given to: 
 

i) principles of energy and resource conservation; 
ii) provision for sorting and storage facilities to facilitate recycling of 

waste. 

 
 

Page 229



PN10 
 

POLICY BE3:  PROVISION FOR MOVEMENT AND PARKING 
 
Development should make provision for the safe movement of people and vehicles, 
whilst minimising impact upon the environment.  Within built-up areas priority should 
be given to pedestrians, cyclists and public transport. 
  
Proposals will only be permitted if all the following criteria are met: 
 
a) safe and convenient circulation of pedestrians and cyclists, both within the 

development and externally to nearby facilities, with provision to meet the 
needs of people with impaired mobility as appropriate; 

b) safe movement of all vehicular traffic both within the site and on the 
surrounding highway network; 

c) provision for the increased use of public transport as appropriate to the scale 
of development; 

d) provision for the parking of vehicles, including bicycles and motorcycles, in 
accordance with the standards in Appendix 2. 

 
Development which would have a significant impact on the highway network will not 
be permitted without the prior submission of a Transport Assessment. 
 
POLICY BE18:  POLLUTION 
 
Planning permission will not be permitted for development which could give rise to 
unacceptable levels of pollution, unless adequate mitigation measures are provided 
to ensure that any discharge or emissions will not cause harm to users of land, 
including the effects on health and the natural environment. 
 
POLICY T1:  TRAFFIC GENERATION 
 
Proposals which would generate significant levels of traffic will not be permitted in 
locations where travel by means other than the private car is not a realistic 
alternative. 
 
Draft West Oxfordshire Local Plan (DWOLP) 
 
POLICY EH6:  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 
 
Proposals which are likely to cause pollution or result in exposure to sources of 
pollution or risk to safety, will only be permitted if measures can be implemented to 
minimise pollution and risk to a level that provides a high standard of protection for 
health, environmental quality and amenity.  The following issues require particular 
attention: 
 
Air quality 
 
The air quality within West Oxfordshire will be managed and improved in line with 
National Air Quality Standards, the principles of best practice and the Air Quality 
Management Area Action Plans for Witney and Chipping Norton. 
 

Page 230



PN10 
 

 
Contaminated land 
 
Proposals for development of land which may be contaminated must incorporate 
appropriate investigation into the quality of the land.  Where there is evidence of 
contamination, remedial measures must be identified and satisfactorily implemented. 
 
Hazardous substances, installations and airfields 
 
Development should not adversely affect safety near notifiable installations and 
safeguarded airfields. 
 
Artificial light 
 
The installation of external lighting and proposals for remote rural buildings will only 
be permitted where: 
 
i) the means of lighting is appropriate, unobtrusively sited and would not result 

in excessive levels of light; 
ii)  the elevations of buildings, particularly roofs, are designed to limit light spill; 
iii) the proposal would not have a detrimental effect on local amenity, character of 

a settlement or wider countryside, intrinsically dark landscapes or nature 
conservation. 

 
Noise 
 
Housing and other noise sensitive development should not take place in areas where 
the occupants would experience significant noise disturbance from existing or 
proposed development. 
 
New development should not take place in areas where it would cause unacceptable 
nuisance to the occupants of nearby land and buildings from noise or disturbance. 
 
Water resources 
 
Proposals for development will only be acceptable provided there is no adverse 
impact on water bodies and groundwater resources, in terms of their quantity, quality 
and important ecological features. 
 
Waste 
 
Planning permission will be granted for appropriately located development that 
makes provision for the management and treatment of waste and recycling, in 
accordance with the Oxfordshire Joint Municipal Waste Strategy and local waste 
management strategy. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 231



PN10 
 

POLICY OS1:  PRESUMPTION IN FAVOUR OF SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 
 
Planning applications that accord with the policies in this Local Plan (and, where 
relevant, with policies in Neighbourhood Plans) will be approved, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
Where there are no policies relevant to the application or relevant policies are out of 
date at the time of making the decision then the Council will grant permission unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise – taking into account whether: 
 

 Any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the National 
Planning Policy Framework taken as a whole; or 

 Specific policies in that Framework indicate that development should be 
restricted. 

Page 232


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	6 Proposed extraction of sand, gravel and clay including the creation of new access road, processing plant, offices with welfare accommodation, weighbridge and silt water lagoon system with site restoration to agriculture and nature conversation including lakes with recreational afteruses and the permanent diversion of footpath 171/15 and creation of new footpaths on land at Fullamoor Plantation, Clifton Hampden, Abingdon, OX14 3DD - Application No. MW.0039/16
	7 Proposed extraction of sand and gravel with associated processing plant, conveyors, office and weighbridge, parking areas. Construction of new access onto the A4130. Restoration to agriculture, incorporating two ponds, using imported inert materials on land at New Barn Farm, Cholsey, Nr Wallingford, Oxfordshire, OX10 9HA - Application No. MW.0094/16
	8 Section 73 application to continue the operation of Dix Pit Recycled Aggregate Facility permitted by planning permission no. 16/04166/CM (MW.0140/16) without complying with condition 6 thereby allowing an increase in the maximum tonnage of waste material imported to site to 175,000 tonnes per annum at Sheehan Recycled Aggregates Plant, Dix Pit, Stanton Harcourt, Witney, OX29 5BB - Application No. MW.0073/17
	9 Demolition of an existing one and a half classroom prefabricated modular building and the installation of a two classroom prefabricated modular building, to include drainage and creation of fire appliance hard-standing access where the existing prefabricated modular building is located at Great Milton (C Of E) Primary School, High Street, Great Milton, Oxford, Oxfordshire, OX44 7NT - Application No. R3.0064/17
	10 Relevant Development Plan & other Policies

